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PART I
 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on our current
expectations about our business and industry and include statements regarding our strategies, products and product capabilities. In some cases, these
statements may be identified by terminology such as “may,” “will”, “should,” “expects,” “could,” “intends,” “might,” “plans,” “anticipates,”
“targets,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “projects,” “potential,” or “continue,” or the negative of such terms and other comparable
terminology. Examples of such statements include our expectations for future operating and financial trends and results. Our forward-looking
statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause our results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be
materially different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause or contribute to such differences
include, among others, those discussed in this report in Item 1A “Risk Factors.” Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the
date of this report. Except as may be required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events after the
date of this report. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

We have applied for trademark registration of, and claim trademark rights in, “Magellan” and “Hansen Medical Magellan.” We have obtained
trademark registration for, and claim trademark rights in “Artisan Extend,” “Hansen Medical,” “Hansen Medical (with Heart Design),” “Heart
Design (Logo),” “Sensei,” “Lynx,” “Artisan,” “Instinctive Motion,” “Fine Force Technology” and “IntelliSense.” This report also includes other
trademarks, service marks and trade names of other companies.

Overview
We develop, manufacture and sell a new generation of medical robotics designed for accurate positioning, manipulation and stable control of catheters

and catheter-based technologies. While earlier generations of medical robotics were designed primarily for manipulating rigid surgical instruments, our
technology is designed to enable and improve medical procedures that are reliant upon flexible tools like guide wires, catheters, sheaths, balloons and stents.

Our Sensei  Robotic Catheter System, or Sensei system, is designed to allow physicians to instinctively navigate flexible catheters with solid stability
and control in interventional procedures within the atrial heart chambers. Instinctive navigation refers to the ability of our Sensei system to enable physicians
to direct the movements of a robotic catheter like our currently marketed Artisan  Control Catheter and Artisan Extend™ Control Catheter, or Artisan
catheters, and our Lynx  Robotic Ablation Catheter, or Lynx catheter, to a desired anatomical location in a way that is natural and inherently simple. We
believe our Sensei system and its corresponding disposable catheters enable physicians to perform procedures that historically have been difficult or time
consuming to accomplish routinely with manually-controlled, hand-held catheters and catheter-based technologies, or that we believe could be accomplished
only by the most skilled physicians. We believe that our Sensei system has the potential to benefit patients, physicians, hospitals and third-party payors by
improving outcomes and permitting complex procedures to be performed interventionally.

Our Magellan  Robotic System is a proprietary peripheral vascular interventional platform that, used in combination with the Magellan™ Robotic
Catheters, has the potential to provide endovascular specialists with vessel navigation, catheter stability during the manual delivery and placement of
therapeutic devices, reduced procedural radiation exposure and fatigue, and precise robotic control of distal catheter tips. The Magellan Robotic System with
the Magellan Robotic Catheter, or “Vascular System”, cannulates peripheral vessels with a proprietary technology that delivers simultaneous and independent
distal tip control of a catheter and a sheath as well as robotic manipulation of standard guide wires, from a centralized, remote workstation. This technology is
designed to provide a robotically stabilized conduit for the manual placement and delivery of other companies’ therapeutic devices. Additionally, the Magellan
Robotic System is designed to allow for sufficient extension inside the body to access hard to reach, distal peripheral anatomy.
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For the most part, catheters and catheter-based technologies have used blood vessels and other tubular anatomic structures as “highways” to constrain
and guide their movement to specific parts of the body. However, we believe that physicians have limited ability to accurately control the distal working tips of
these manually-controlled, hand-held instruments, which may hinder the physician’s ability to perform procedures that require precise navigation and
stability of catheters in tortuous vessels. These issues are magnified in larger open spaces such as the atria and ventricles of the heart and large diameter blood
vessels of the body such as the aorta where the navigation of the tip of the catheter is no longer aided by vessel walls.

We believe our technology has additional applications outside of the fields of electrophysiology, or EP, and peripheral vascular intervention. We plan to
investigate the advancement of our technology into these markets so that the benefits of flexible robotics and instinctive control can be experienced by a larger
group of physicians and patients.

Electrophysiology
Electrophysiology, or EP, is the study of electrical impulses through the heart. EP is focused primarily on diagnosing and treating cardiac arrhythmias,

which are conditions in which electrical impulses within the heart vary from the normal rate or rhythm of a heartbeat. Such conditions may be associated with
significant risks to patients. Our Sensei system and Artisan catheter are labeled and marketed for manipulation, positioning and control of certain mapping
catheters during EP procedures, a critical step in the identification of the heart tissue generating abnormal heart rhythms that may require ablation or other
treatment. We believe our products have the potential to improve the efficiency, consistency of results and ease of performing many catheter-based
interventional procedures. Our initial focus in EP procedures outside the United States is for the diagnosis and treatment of patients who suffer from abnormal
heart rhythms, or arrhythmias. Our products are currently labeled and marketed in the United States for manipulation, positioning and control of certain
mapping catheters in the atria of the heart connected with these procedures, and in the European Union and certain other countries for manipulation,
positioning and control of diagnostic and therapeutic catheters within the atria of the heart. Atrial fibrillation, which is the most common form of arrhythmia,
results from abnormal electrical impulses that cause a rapid, irregular heartbeat within the upper chambers of the heart, leading to ineffective pumping of the
blood through the heart, as well as complications that include a significantly increased risk of stroke. According to a forecast by Millennium Research Group
in 2008, approximately six million people in the United States and the European Union alone suffer from atrial fibrillation.

Many patients with atrial fibrillation are initially treated with drug therapies, which may cause significant side effects. Patients who are either not
responsive to drug therapy or are unhappy with its side effects may be candidates for catheter-based ablation treatments. However, we believe non-robotic
catheter-based approaches have significant drawbacks that we believe directly relate to the difficulty of manually controlling the catheters. These drawbacks
include success rates of only approximately 75 percent and risks such as lengthy procedure times, which can lead to extensive radiation exposure for the
physician and the patient. We believe that many of the electrophysiologists in the United States do not regularly perform these catheter-based procedures
because of the difficulty of manual technique, lack of clinical data and the complexity and time-consuming nature of treating atrial fibrillation.

Most of the procedures completed to date using our Sensei system involved mapping and ablation of cardiac tissue to treat atrial fibrillation. The use of
the Sensei system and Artisan catheter in the United States for ablation procedures has been done on an off-label basis. Without FDA clearance for labeling
that includes certain ablation procedures, this use (and any use other than manipulation, positioning and control of certain mapping catheters during EP
procedures) is considered an off-label use of our products, and we are prohibited from labeling or promoting our products, or training physicians for such off-
label use. Off-label use is possible because physicians are not precluded from using an FDA-cleared product in the practice of medicine beyond the scope of its
cleared indications. To address this issue, we have received approval of an Investigational Device Exemption, or IDE, to investigate the use of our Sensei
system and Artisan Control Catheter in the treatment of
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atrial fibrillation in a clinical study designed to support a submission to the FDA to obtain clearance or approval for the expansion of our current labeling in
the United States beyond mapping. The study was planned to involve approximately 300 patients and involves the ablative treatment of atrial fibrillation. The
study includes a seven-day follow-up for safety and a one-year follow-up for efficacy at intervals of 90, 180, and 365 days. We enrolled our first patient in
May 2010 and approximately 50 patients have been enrolled to date. A proposed modification to the study protocol was submitted to FDA for review in
January 2013, to reduce the required sample size. The modified study, which plans to enroll a minimum of 125 additional subjects, was approved by the
FDA in August 2013 and 19 additional patients have been enrolled to date. If successful, we intend to use the data from this study to support a submission to
the FDA to obtain clearance for use in atrial fibrillation procedures.

We believe that our Sensei system may improve a physician’s ability to perform certain EP procedures because of its ability to provide stable robotic
control of the working tip of catheters and flexible instruments. Based on our experience with previous catheter and catheter-based procedures, the results of the
procedures performed with our Sensei system and feedback from the physicians that have used our Sensei system, we believe that our Sensei system offers
significant benefits over conventional catheter-based technologies.

Peripheral Vascular
An additional and more recent focus of our robotic catheter technology has been the endovascular treatment of vascular disease, an area that we expect to

be a key growth driver for the business. Endovascular procedures are catheter-based procedures done in the arterial and venous vasculatures and include
interventions involving the abdominal and thoracic aortic grafting as well as access, percutaneous transluminal angioplasty, or PTA, atherectomy and stenting
of branches of the aorta and arterial system including the coronary and carotid arteries and the iliac, femoral, popliteal, infra popliteal renal and mesenteric
vessels. To address this market, we have developed our Magellan Robotic System and associated Magellan Robotic Catheters which is based on our Sensei
system and preserves the open architecture featured in the Sensei system to allow for the subsequent use of some 6Fr therapeutic devices on the market today.
We believe this platform and its clinical capability has the potential to open new markets for Hansen by providing vascular surgeons, interventional
cardiologists, and interventional radiologists with accurate control of the catheter tip to enable vessel navigation, helping them to perform more complex catheter
based procedures in a systematic way. In July 2011, we received CE Mark for our Magellan Robotic System and in October 2011 received a CE Mark for the
Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories designed for use with the Magellan Robotic System. We received FDA clearance for the marketing of our
Magellan Robotic System including the catheter and accessories in June 2012 and we received FDA clearance for the marketing of our Magellan 6Fr Robotic
Catheter in February 2014.

We also believe that robotic control of flexible instruments has potential application to a broad range of interventional procedures. We have investigated
expanding the uses for our technology beyond EP procedures to additional interventional applications in peripheral vascular and cardiovascular diseases.
Consistent with this strategy, we have investigated the application of robotic delivery techniques to endovascular interventions such as angioplasty and
stenting, as well as structural heart applications such as percutaneous aortic valve replacement and mitral valve repair.

Background

Over the past thirty years, one of the most significant medical trends has been the development of less traumatic or minimally invasive methods of
diagnosing and treating disease. These less traumatic methods have largely fallen into two groups:
 

 
•  Minimally invasive surgery, which reduces the size of incisions in body walls, generally results in fewer complications, shorter hospitalization

and recovery times and substantially reduced pain and suffering. These procedures generally use rigid instruments.
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•  Interventional procedures, which minimize trauma by using blood vessels and other tubular anatomic structures such as the nose, mouth,

urethra, rectum and cervix as “highways” to guide flexible instruments such as catheters to the area of treatment.

Minimally invasive surgery reduces the trauma of open surgery, and interventional procedures cause even less trauma and can reach many areas of the
body that rigid-instrument robotic surgery cannot. Each year, catheter-based technologies are used for millions of interventional diagnostic and therapeutic
medical procedures worldwide. However, manually-controlled hand-held catheter delivery devices, even in the hands of the most skilled specialists, have
inherent instrument control limitations. In traditional interventional procedures, devices are manually manipulated by physicians, who twist and push the
external ends of the instrument in an iterative process that attempts to thread the internal end of the instrument through tubular anatomic structures to a specific
treatment site. Manual control of the working tip of the catheter becomes increasingly difficult as more turns are required to navigate the instrument to the
treatment site. These control problems are significant in constrained tubular spaces such as blood vessels and become even more difficult in unconstrained
spaces such as the atria and ventricles of the heart and large diameter blood vessels such as the aorta and tortuous vessels commonly seen in patients with
vascular disease. In addition, while sophisticated imaging, mapping and location-sensing systems have provided visualization for interventional procedures
and allowed physicians to treat more complex conditions using flexible instruments, the substantial lack of integration of these information systems requires
the physician to mentally integrate and process large quantities of information from different sources in real time during an interventional procedure. These
systems display data differently, requiring physicians to continuously reorient themselves to the different formats and displays as they shift their focus from
one data source to the next while at the same time manually controlling an inherently difficult-to-control catheter.

The Hansen Medical Solution
Our systems principally consist of two modules: a physician control console and a patient-side module that can be easily connected to most procedure

tables and do not require any specialty room designs. Physicians sit at the control console outside the radiation field and use their hands to instinctively control
the motion of and navigate our disposable catheters, which are attached to the patient-side module. Our catheters are designed to accurately deliver third-party
catheters and catheter-based technologies to specific sites in a broad range of procedures.

We believe our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System, combined with our disposable catheters, overcome the limitations of hand-held navigation
catheters. We designed our systems to have the following attributes:
 

 

•  Instinctive control. Our systems utilize computer-controlled robotics to directly translate the motions of the physician’s hands from our control
console into corresponding accurate manipulations of the catheters and catheter-based technologies inside the body. We believe the instinctive
robotic control of the catheters may be easier to use than manual catheter approaches and therefore have the potential to reduce procedure times,
improve efficacy and enable newer or additional procedures to be performed through catheter navigation. In addition, we believe this instinctive
control enables physicians to be trained in the use of our system in a relatively short period of time which can increase the number of physicians
who are capable of performing these catheter-based procedures.

 

 

•  Variable force at the catheter tip. To effectively perform a broad range of catheter-based procedures, physicians must have the ability to apply
variable force at the working tip of the catheters and other catheter-based technologies. We designed our disposable electrophysiology catheter
products to provide variable support while maintaining the flexibility required to navigate the catheter. In addition, we have developed our
proprietary IntelliSense  force-sensing technology to measure and display the amount of force being applied by a catheter throughout the procedure.
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•  Stability. We believe our systems provide the accuracy and control required for diagnosing or treating a number of conditions in which the stable
and repeated placement of a catheter is necessary for an effective outcome, such as against a specific location on the inner wall of a beating heart
and in the peripheral vasculature. Our Magellan Robotic System also allows for independent, individual robotic control of the distal tips of both
the outer sheath and the inner leader catheter, as well as robotic manipulation of standard guide wires.

 

 

•  Compatibility with third-party devices and imaging and navigation systems.  Our catheters, based on an open architecture system, do not
require physicians to use a set of proprietary therapeutic catheters made by a specific manufacturer. Although we have received clearance in the
U.S. for use of our Sensei system with only two specified mapping catheters, our Artisan catheter incorporates a center lumen that is designed to
be compatible with some currently approved third-party catheters. Our Sensei system is compatible with the leading imaging and navigation
systems. This enables us to potentially achieve clearance for a broader range of devices for use with our Sensei system than we have achieved thus
far. Similarly, the Magellan Robotic Catheter is compatible with imaging, navigation and therapeutic third-party devices; it preserves the open
architecture featured in the Sensei system to allow for the subsequent use of some 6Fr therapeutic devices on the market today.

 

 

•  Adaptability. Our systems primarily consist of two modules: a physician control console and a patient-side module that can be connected to most
procedure tables and do not require any specialty room designs. In addition, the system includes a portable electronics rack. These modules can
be wheeled between procedure rooms and reinstalled by a Hansen service technician, and do not require a dedicated space, any special facility
modification or magnetic shielding to prevent interference for their use.

We believe that our robotic solution may offer the potential for substantial benefits to patients, physicians, hospitals and third-party payors including:
 

 •  improving control, consistency and stability in catheter-based procedures;
 

 
•  permitting access to complex existing cases and enabling broad use of catheter-based treatments  for diseases where catheters are rarely used

today, if at all;
 

 •  enabling more physicians to perform complex interventional procedures  through ease of use and reduced training time;
 

 
•  reducing X-ray radiation exposure by allowing the primary physician to conduct procedures away from the radiation field in an adjacent room

which greatly reduces their radiation exposure; and
 

 
•  increasing hospital efficiency by allowing for additional cases to be performed in one day as a result of reduced physician fatigue and reduced

risk of physician back and neck problems from heavy lead protective clothing. Our robotic solutions allow physicians to sit comfortably at our
control console during a procedure instead of standing at table-side.

Since the 2007 commercial launch of our Sensei system, clinical studies have been performed outside the United States comparing robotic versus
manual procedures and describe differences in efficacy and treatment outcomes, procedure times, power use and power settings, complication rates, and
fluoroscopy time (exposure to radiation). A growing body of evidence from these clinical studies, in which over 1,000 atrial fibrillation patients have been
treated, demonstrates:
 

 •  Technical success in delivering therapeutic modality and
 

 •  Similar or lower complication rate as compared to manual cases.

Presently, there are two active studies to assess and to further describe the use of flexible robotic navigation for atrial arrhythmia. One study is occurring
outside the United States and one study is occurring in the United
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States under an FDA approved IDE. These studies are being conducted prospectively as well as retrospectively; multi center as well as multi operator. The
studies are being performed to report on the previously reported complication rates of major cardiac events such as tamponade and pericardial effusion and
esophageal lesions as well as long term follow up data to assess the durability of the procedure using the Sensei system and Artisan catheter. As additional
studies conclude and a greater body of cases are performed, we believe there will be greater empirical data for the acceptance and adoption of our products and
technology.

Our Products

Sensei system
Our Sensei system is principally comprised of two modules: a physician control console and a patient-side module that can be connected to most

procedure tables. The control console can be located inside the Electro-Physiology Laboratory, or EP lab, and close to the patient or outside the EP lab in a
separate location shielded from radiation. The control console features an instinctive motion controller, which robotically controls the patient-side module to
move the catheter within the patient anatomy. Our robotics technology uses sophisticated software and system control algorithms to command the motion of
our catheters. Having navigated the catheter to the targeted area, the physician uses instinctive controls to place the working tip of the control catheters to the
desired location.

Our patient-side module is a robotic manipulator actuated by motors that control pull-wires in our catheters. The manipulator is mounted on an
articulating, or pivoting, arm that is in turn mounted to the procedure table in the EP lab or other treatment room. The manipulator may be directed over the
patient during a procedure and thus positioned optimally for that procedure.

We received CE Mark approval for our Sensei system in the fourth quarter of 2006 and made our first commercial shipments to the European Union in
the first quarter of 2007. In May 2007, we received CE Mark approval for our Artisan Control Catheter and also received U.S. Food & Drug Administration,
or FDA, clearance to market and promote our Sensei system and Artisan Control Catheter in the United States for manipulation, positioning and control of
certain mapping catheters during electrophysiology, or EP, procedures. To better define the scope of our initial mapping clearance, the FDA also required that
we label these products for the United States with language stating that their safety and effectiveness for use with ablation catheters have not been established
in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias including atrial fibrillation. Our Sensei system and our Artisan catheter have been used in the United States for
ablation procedures in an off-label manner.

To assist physicians in applying the appropriate force with the catheter tip, we have developed our proprietary IntelliSense Fine Force Technology  to
measure and display the amount of force in grams transmitted along the shaft of the catheter as a result of catheter tissue contact. We obtained premarket
notification, or 510(k) clearance, from the FDA for this feature in 2008. In the third quarter of 2009, we introduced Sensei X, our next generation Sensei
system. We received CE Mark for our Lynx  catheter in July 2010. In July 2011, we received CE Mark for our Magellan Robotic System and in October 2011
received a CE Mark for the Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories designed for use with the Magellan Robotic System. We received FDA clearance
for the marketing of our Magellan Robotic System including the catheter and accessories in June 2012 and we received FDA clearance for the marketing of our
Magellan 6Fr Robotic Catheter in February 2014. We recognized revenue on our first Sensei system in the second quarter of 2007 and on our first Magellan
Robotic System in the first quarter of 2012. Our end customers for these systems range from large university medical centers to community hospitals and
many systems were shipped to distributors outside the United States.

Magellan Robotic System
Our Magellan Robotic System is similarly comprised of two modules: a physician control console and a patient-side robotic arm that can be connected to

most procedure tables. The control console can be located
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inside the lab and close to the patient or outside in a separate location shielded from radiation. The control console features an instinctive motion controller,
which robotically controls the patient-side module to accurately move the catheter within the patient anatomy. Our robotics technology uses sophisticated
software and system control algorithms to command the motion of our catheters. The Magellan Robotic System controls the proprietary Magellan Robotic
Catheter, which is a telescoping, robotically steerable catheter designed to facilitate remote catheter navigation and vessel cannulation, and to provide a
robotically stabilized sheath for manual delivery of therapeutic devices.

Our patient-side module is a robotic manipulator actuated by motors that can control the remote insertion, rotation, and bend of the Magellan Robotic
Catheter, as well as the remote insertion and rotation of a standard-sized guide wire. The manipulator is mounted on an articulating, or pivoting, arm that is in
turn mounted to the procedure table in the interventional lab or hybrid operating room. The manipulator may be adjusted for optimal positioning over the
patient.

Artisan catheter
Our disposable Artisan catheter and guide catheter assembly consists of a telescoping set of control catheters that are integrated to provide the desired

motion of the tip of a diagnostic or therapeutic catheter that is inserted through the center lumen of the Artisan catheter. In this manner, the Artisan assembly is
designed to accurately control the movement of a third-party catheter chosen by the physician. As a result, physicians are not limited to using particular
proprietary catheters. In addition, the center lumen of the Artisan catheter is designed to allow physicians outside the United States to adapt and expand the
procedures they can perform as other manufacturers invent new therapeutic or diagnostic catheters. Each Artisan catheter is designed to be used only once and
then discarded.

Our disposable Artisan catheter and guide are designed to move together or independently, and can move with multiple degrees of freedom when attached
to the robotically-controlled motors of our Sensei system. In addition, our Artisan catheter has a programmable chip that prevents use of an Artisan catheter
that has been previously used and that restricts other control catheters from being plugged into our Sensei system patient-side module. In May 2007, we
received CE Mark approval for our Artisan Control Catheter and also received FDA clearance for the marketing of our Artisan catheter for manipulation,
positioning and control of certain mapping catheters during electrophysiology procedures. In fall of 2009, we introduced our Artisan eXtend catheter, which
provides improved flexibility and ease of use and included a new flush assembly. However, some of the catheters experienced a leak in the new flush
assembly. Although no patient is known or suspected to have experienced any consequences associated with the leak in the new flush assembly, we voluntarily
recalled all of the catheters that included the new flush assembly and reported the events to the FDA in accordance with applicable regulations. A newly-
designed Artisan Extend Control Catheter was cleared and introduced into the market in 2012.

Lynx catheter
We began shipping our proprietary Lynx catheter outside of the United States in September 2010. This limited market roll out of the Lynx catheter, a

standard sized, flexible, integrated irrigated ablation catheter that can be controlled by our Sensei system without the need for an Artisan catheter was the
culmination of our development work on improvements in catheter design, flexibility, and control, and in the development program of the irrigated RF ablation
tip. The feedback from physicians from our limited market roll out confirmed that the quality of ablation, cooling capabilities, and navigation and control
capabilities of this catheter are consistent with our requirements. We commenced broader commercialization activities outside of the United Sates in January
2011. We believe the Lynx catheter will provide users the opportunity to use a flexible, integrated, irrigated ablation product that also affords them the
opportunity of reducing the disposable procedure cost.
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Magellan Robotic Catheter
Our Magellan Robotic Catheter was designed to accompany our Magellan Robotic System for the treatment of vascular disease. Our disposable Magellan

Catheter consists of a telescoping set of control catheters that are integrated to provide the desired motion of the tip of a diagnostic or therapeutic catheter that is
inserted through the center lumen of the catheter. It allows for independent, individual robotic control of the distal tips of both the outer sheath and the inner
leader catheter, as well as robotic manipulation of standard guide wires. Its low profile, robotically steerable catheter is compatible with some 6Fr treatment
catheters and it has robotic sheath stabilization for therapy delivery. In addition, we received FDA clearance for the marketing of our Magellan 6Fr Robotic
Catheter in February 2014. The Company will begin a limited release of the Magellan 6Fr Robotic Catheter, collecting clinical and procedure data over a broad
set of cases over the next several months, and anticipates a more wide-scale release later in 2014.

CoHesion  3D Visualization Module
Our CoHesion 3D Visualization Module, or CoHesion Module, is a software interface between our Sensei system and the St. Jude Medical EnSite

System for EP procedures. It is designed to provide physicians with 3D visualization to augment their ability to move a catheter throughout the atria, as well as
increase control over placement of the catheter in specific locations. The CoHesion Module expands the utility of the EnSite and Sensei systems to provide
physicians with a comprehensive and easy-to-use remote navigation and mapping system for EP procedures. Key features of the CoHesion Module include:
 

 •  importation of EnSite 3D geometry into the Sensei system’s main navigation window;
 

 •  localization of the percutaneous catheter tip within the EnSite 3D geometry; and
 

 •  instinctive navigation of the localized catheter tip by the catheter.

Published clinical studies have shown that the use of the CoHesion Module results in the reduction of radiation exposure to the patient compared to
conventional procedures. The CoHesion Module became commercially available in the European Union in the first quarter of 2008 and we obtained FDA
clearance for the CoHesion Module in the United States at the end of the second quarter of 2008.

The EnSite system is a computer-based technology marketed worldwide that facilitates EP procedures by creating real-time 3D graphical displays or
maps of cardiac structures and arrhythmias. These maps are designed to provide the visual guidance necessary to navigate catheters used during EP
procedures. Two-dimensional technologies such as fluoroscopy or ultrasound can also be used to assist physicians with guiding catheters inside the heart, but
provide limited information regarding the three-dimensional space inside the heart. Combining the Sensei and EnSite technologies provides physicians with 3D
visualization that augments their ability to confidently move a catheter throughout the heart, as well as increase control over placement of the catheter in
specific locations. The EnSite System is used by EP clinicians during EP procedures to create 3D models of their patients’ cardiac anatomy and then to
visualize catheters used in those procedures as they are navigated to critical anatomical targets. The system collects and organizes activation and voltage data
from the inner surface of the heart, which allows physicians to visualize arrhythmias on the 3D model and more easily determine a treatment strategy.
Localization of our Artisan catheter within the EnSite System’s 3D map gives physicians the ability to move the catheter deliberately and accurately while
seeing specifically, in three dimensions, the location of the catheter inside the heart. We believe this integrated functionality enables clinicians of varying skill
levels to effectively treat complex cardiac arrhythmias.

Our Strategy
Our goal is to establish our technology as the leading robotic platform for complex interventional catheter-based procedures for cardiovascular and

peripheral vascular diseases. We believe our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System will accomplish this objective by potentially improving outcomes,
reducing physician
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fatigue which may allow for additional cases to be performed in one day, reducing radiation exposure for primary physicians and reducing overall procedure
costs and hospital expenditures. We also believe that we will be able to increase the number of procedures treated with catheter-based approaches and enable
more doctors to perform such procedures. We market our products in the United States through a direct sales force of regional sales employees, supported by
clinical sales representatives who provide training, clinical support and other services to our customers. Outside the United States, primarily in the European
Union, we use a combination of a direct sales force and distributors to market, sell and support our products.

Elements of our strategy include:
 

 

•  Focus commercial, clinical, and engineering activities to drive adoption and utilization of the Magellan platform in vascular applications
and the Sensei technology in electrophysiology. We have focused our efforts on projects with the highest level of clinical value and which we
believe will have attractive returns on investment. We have also oriented our investments in marketing and clinical resources to better educate the
physician community as to the benefits of our technology. We believe that through both simultaneous broad and focused physician interaction,
publications of our clinical experiences, dissemination of those experiences, and engagement of current and new users, we can positively affect
system utilization. We also believe that committing to utilization and physician interaction we will also drive improvements in adoption of the
technology.

 

 

•  Target key institutions and thought leaders to encourage adoption of our systems.  We are currently focusing our marketing efforts on the
academic and community hospitals where the majority of procedures are performed. We believe these efforts will benefit those hospitals which
adopt our technology by reinforcing their reputations as centers of excellence in their local markets in the specialties that benefit from procedures
performed with our systems. In late 2013, we began to place increased commercial emphasis on communicating the clinical and economic value of
our Magellan Robotic System to physicians and administrators in the U.S. community hospital setting.

 

 

•  Continue ongoing research and development efforts to broaden our technology platform and extend our leadership.  We intend to enhance
and maintain our technology leadership with focused research and development efforts. Currently, we sell systems for EP procedures and for the
treatment of vascular diseases. We believe that these platforms and their clinical capability could provide us access to significant markets. We
believe that a robotic system with flexibility, in terms of tools and disposables, has the potential to allow us to broadly address market needs for
both complex interventions as well as simpler cases.

 

 
•  Increase use of our systems. Following the initial placement within a given hospital, we endeavor to expand the number of physicians who use

our systems. Our goal is to increase usage per system, leading to higher volume sales of our disposable catheters and sales of additional systems
at each hospital. Through December 31, 2013, we estimate approximately 13,000 procedures have been performed using our systems.

 

 

•  Expand potential applications for our systems.  We have commenced post-marketing studies to provide evidence for the benefits which we
believe our technology brings to the clinician, which should help to drive adoption of our technology. Studies are currently under way in Europe
comparing the safety, usability and success of the treatment of atrial fibrillation with our Sensei system to manual techniques. In addition, we
have received FDA approval to investigate the use of our Artisan Control Catheter in the treatment of atrial fibrillation in an IDE clinical study
designed to support a submission to the FDA to obtain clearance or approval for the expansion of our current labeling in the U.S. beyond
mapping. The study was planned to involve approximately 300 patients and involves the treatment of atrial fibrillation. We enrolled our first
patient in May 2010 and approximately 50 patients have been enrolled to date. A proposed modification to the study protocol was submitted to
FDA for review in January 2013, to reduce the required sample size. The modified study, which plans to enroll a minimum of 125 additional
subjects, was approved by the FDA in August 2013 and 19 additional patients have been enrolled to date. The study includes a seven-day follow-
up for safety and a one-year follow-up for efficacy at intervals of 90, 180, and 365 days.
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•  Leverage the open architecture of our platforms.  We believe that our broad compatibility with key imaging and visualization technologies will
facilitate adoption of our systems in the marketplace. We also believe that adoption of both of our systems will be enhanced because physicians
will be able to use existing approved catheters in the lumen of our robotic catheters. We plan to collaborate with manufacturers of disposable
interventional products and imaging equipment to optimize compatibility with future enhancements of our systems. Further, our open architecture
allows us to benefit from third-party development efforts that advance current catheter and imaging technologies. For example, we are encouraged
with the recent movement within imaging technology companies to create a convergence of surgical operating rooms and interventional suites into
hybrid interventional operating labs. We believe this convergence of imaging for intervention and operative intervention is consistent with our
strategy to create increased efficacy, safety and efficiency through the pairing of visualization and imaging technology with our flexible robotics.

Our Sensei system and Artisan catheter were cleared by the FDA for manipulation and control of certain mapping catheters in electrophysiology
procedures. This robotic catheter system is compatible with fluoroscopy, ultrasound, 3D surface map and patient electrocardiogram data. In the United States,
the Sensei system is not approved for use in guiding ablation procedures; this use remains investigational. The U.S. product labeling therefore provides that
the safety and effectiveness of the Sensei system and Artisan catheter for use with cardiac ablation catheters in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, including
atrial fibrillation, have not been established. Our future business prospects, however, will depend on the use of our Sensei system in the treatment of atrial
fibrillation and other cardiovascular procedures. Depending upon regulatory requirements and our understanding of the needs of the physician community, we
plan to seek future clearances or approvals for labeling that includes certain ablation procedures. Without such clearance or approval, each of these uses is
considered an off-label use of our Sensei system, and we are prohibited from labeling or promoting our Sensei system, or training physicians, for such off-
label use. Due to these legal constraints, our sales and marketing efforts focus on the general technical attributes and benefits of our Sensei system and its use
to map the atrial anatomy. As a result of promotional limits based on our labeling and the competitive nature of the market, some hospitals or physicians may
not adopt our Sensei system or use our products unless and until we are able to broaden the scope of FDA clearance for our products. In addition, if the FDA
determines that we have engaged in off-label promotion, we could be subject to significant liability. See Item 1A — Risk Factors — “ We may incur significant
liability if it is determined that we are promoting off-label use of our products in violation of federal, state and countries regulations in the United
States or elsewhere” and “If we fail to comply with healthcare laws and regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations
and financial condition could be adversely affected .”

Clinical Focus

Electrophysiology
Electrophysiology, or EP, is the study of electrical impulses through the heart. EP is focused primarily on diagnosing and treating cardiac arrhythmias,

which are conditions in which electrical impulses within the heart vary from the normal rate or rhythm of a heartbeat. Such conditions may be associated with
significant risks to patients. Drug therapies have traditionally been used as initial treatments but they often fail to adequately control the arrhythmia and may
have significant side effects. As a result, a significant unmet medical need for long-term solutions persists.

Severe heart rhythm disturbances were historically treated by highly invasive open chest heart surgery and are therefore typically only performed in
conjunction with other procedures unrelated to the arrhythmia such as coronary artery bypass surgery or valve replacement and, as such, the total procedure
can be very expensive. While generally very effective, these procedures are extremely traumatic for the patient, and usually require long hospital stays followed
by a significant period of convalescence. Minimally invasive surgical procedures for the treatment of severe heart rhythm disturbances, including some which
are robotically controlled, were devised to
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add visualization and instrument control using an endoscope in order to reduce the trauma for the patient. While these minimally invasive surgical techniques
have been used for a number of anti-arrhythmic procedures, we believe the results have been mixed and the trauma to the patient and procedure cost remain
high.

Interventional electrophysiology further advanced these surgical procedures in EP labs through visualization provided by real-time X-ray imaging, often
enhanced by electro-anatomic mapping and intracardiac ultrasound. These advances enable physicians to insert and navigate catheters into the vasculature,
then into the open chambers of the heart to deliver diagnostic and therapeutic technologies.

In EP mapping and ablation procedures, physicians have traditionally used specialized hand-held catheters. These catheters are manually navigated
using a system of mechanical control cables to first map the electrical signals within the patient’s heart and then to ablate the heart tissue to eliminate
arrhythmias. Generally, ablation is accomplished by applying radiofrequency energy or electrical energy, or freezing the diseased tissue giving rise to the
arrhythmia, usually through a catheter which creates a small scar that is incapable of generating or conducting heart arrhythmias. EP procedures have proven
highly effective at treating arrhythmias at sites accessible through the vasculature. According to Millennium Research Group, in studies conducted 2008 and
2009, approximately 265,000 EP procedures for diagnosis and treatment of arrhythmias were forecasted to have been conducted in the United States and
approximately 150,000 such procedures in the UK, France, Germany and Italy in 2010.

Control of the hand-held devices used in these EP procedures requires significant skill, because navigation in the blood vessels and the chambers of the
heart can be difficult. The path that the interventional device must follow to arrive at the treatment site can be complex and tortuous and can include crossing
the septum of the heart. Existing hand-held devices are limited in their ability to accurately navigate the tip of the mapping and ablation catheter to the treatment
site on the heart wall, to keep the catheter in the targeted place and maintain adequate tissue contact within a beating heart to effect treatment and perform
complex ablations within the left atrium of the heart. Physicians using manually-controlled, hand-held devices often utilize a range of different catheters and
sheaths in an attempt to find the right device or combination of devices for the procedure being performed. Our Sensei system has been designed to address the
challenges associated with the use of current hand-held devices in performing many EP procedures.

We believe the instinctive robotic control of our Sensei system may provide greater accuracy, tip stability and control, reduce the variability of procedure
times and improve the efficacy of EP procedures, including:
 

 

•  General mapping and ablation.  A physician typically performs a diagnostic procedure in which the electrical signal patterns of the heart wall are
mapped to identify the heart tissue generating the aberrant electrical signals. Mapping allows the physician to measure the timing and strength of
the electrical activity. Following the mapping procedure, the physician may then use an ablation catheter to disable the aberrant electrical signal or
signal path, restoring the heart to its normal rhythm. In cases where an ablation is anticipated, physicians generally choose an ablation catheter
and perform both the mapping and ablation with the same catheter.

 

 

•  Atrial fibrillation. The most common arrhythmia is atrial fibrillation, which is characterized by rapid, disorganized contractions of the heart’s
upper chambers, the atria. Atrial fibrillation leads to ineffective pumping of the blood through the heart and significantly increases the risk of
stroke. According to Millennium Research Group in 2008, over 3.3 million people in the United States currently suffer from atrial fibrillation.
Despite wide-spread use of catheters by interventional cardiologists for the past 10 years, approximately 60,000 ablation treatments of atrial
fibrillation were forecasted to have been performed in the United States in 2010 according to a Millennium Research Group study from 2008. We
believe that the number of atrial fibrillation procedures has the potential to grow if quicker, effective and easier to accomplish interventional
treatments are available. We believe that due primarily to the difficulties of accurately controlling the manual catheter, the efficacy of ablation to
treat atrial fibrillation is reported to be only approximately 75% according to Millennium Research
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Group studies from 2008 and the procedure has significant risks, including stroke. As a result, atrial fibrillation ablations are generally only
performed by very experienced physicians. We believe that many of the electrophysiologists in the United States do not regularly perform these
catheter-based procedures because of their complexity and time-consuming nature and evolving clinical data. These procedures often last three to
seven hours because of their complexity. The length of these procedures exposes the physician and staff to extensive radiation, requiring them to
wear heavy lead vests for many hours at a time. In addition, there is only one catheter approved by the FDA for the treatment of a particular sub-
set of patients with atrial fibrillation. In February 2009, Biosense Webster, a Johnson & Johnson company, obtained FDA approval of a
premarket approval, or PMA, for the NAVISTAR  THERMOCOOL  Catheter for the treatment of drug refractory recurrent symptomatic
paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, when used with compatible three-dimensional electroanatomic mapping systems. As noted above, our Sensei system
has not been cleared in the United States for use with ablation catheters or for the treatment of atrial fibrillation. We are required by the FDA to
label our products with language specifying that the safety and effectiveness of our products for use with cardiac ablation catheters, in the
treatment of cardiac arrhythmias including atrial fibrillation, has not been established.

The following table summarizes arrhythmias we believe could benefit from use of our Sensei system. All data regarding prevalence is based on forecasts
by Millennium Research Group for 2010 made in 2008:
 

Form of Arrhythmia   Definition   U.S. Prevalence   
Location and Success Rate

of Ablation Therapy

Atrial Fibrillation (AF)

  

Rapid, disorganized beating of the
upper chambers or atria of the heart.
The ventricle or lower chamber of
the heart cannot respond to the
increased pace, so blood pools in
the atria leading to a three to five
times increased risk of stroke. Heart
failure will eventually occur if AF is
left untreated. This arrhythmia may
occur intermittently, or it may be
permanent.

  

3.3 million

  

In this arrhythmia, the
ablation therapy is
performed primarily in
the left atrium. Since
this arrhythmia can
arise from multiple
electrical sites, the
goal is to electrically
isolate those sites from
the rest of the left
atrium, thereby forcing
the heart’s normal
conduction pathway to
take over. Success
rates are
approximately 50% to
75%.

Atrial Flutter

  

Rapid, but organized and
predictable pattern of beating of the
atria. As with AF, the ventricles
cannot respond to all of the atrial
beats, so blood pools in the atria,
increasing the risk of stroke.

  

70,000

  

Unlike AF, atrial
flutter arises from a
single electrical wave
that circulates rapidly
throughout the right
side of the heart.
Ablation is used to
interrupt this circuit
and is successful in
approximately 80% of
cases.
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Form of Arrhythmia   Definition   U.S. Prevalence   
Location and Success Rate

of Ablation Therapy

Atrioventricular Nodal Reentrant
Tachycardia (AVNRT)

  

In AVNRT the abnormal signal
begins in the atria and transfers to
the atrioventricular node, or AV
node. Instead of conducting down to
the ventricle, the signal is returned
to the atria.   

307,000

  

In AVNRT, the
ablation therapy is
performed in the right
atrium. Treatment
success rate is
approximately 98%.

Ventricular Tachycardia (VT)

  

Ventricular tachycardia arises from
the lower chambers of the heart. It is
characterized by heart rates over 100
beats per minute, but heart rates
often approach 200 beats per
minute. At this rate, very little blood
is pumped out of the heart to the
brain and other organs. Extremely
fast VT can be fatal.

  

uncertain due to
overlap with
ventricular fibrillation

  

Lesions are placed in
either the left or right
ventricle depending on
where the arrhythmia
arises. Treatment
success rate is
approximately 50 to
75% in patients with
structural heart
disease.

Wolff-Parkinson-White

  

An arrhythmia caused by an
abnormal bridge of tissue that
connects the atria and ventricles of
the heart. This accessory pathway
allows electrical signals to go back
and forth between the atria and the
ventricles without passing through
the AV node. If the signal travels
back and forth, very fast heart rates
and life threatening arrhythmias can
develop.   

approximately 0.3% of
the general population

  

Lesions for this
arrhythmia are placed
in the right side of the
heart. Ablation is the
accepted form of
curative therapy for
symptomatic patients
with success rates from
approximately 88% to
99%.

In 2008, it was projected by Millennium Research Group that over 6 million people will have atrial fibrillation, 140,000 will have atrial flutter, and
380,000 will have both atrial fibrillation and flutter in the U.S. by 2035.

Vascular Market
Peripheral vascular disease presents a significant market opportunity for us. Patients with peripheral vascular disease can suffer from decreased blood

flow which can lead to disability and amputation, stroke or blood clots, and death. The rates of diabetes, hypertension, atherosclerosis, and obesity are also
on the rise worldwide and are contributors to the growth rate of vascular disease in an aging population. Endovascular procedures are catheter-based
procedures done in the arterial and venous vasculatures and include interventions involving the abdominal and thoracic aortic grafting as well as access PTA,
atherectomy and stenting of branches of the aorta and arterial system including the carotid arteries and the iliac, femoral, popliteal, renal and
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mesenteric vessels. In 2013, Millennium Research Group forecasted that approximately 1.1 million of these procedures would be performed in the United
States alone in 2013. In addition, in 2008, Millenium Research Group forecasted that in 2010, an additional 3.4 million of these procedures would be
performed in the heart, for treatment of coronary artery disease. For comparison, in 2008, Millennium Research Group forecasted that approximately 265,000
electrophysiology procedures would be performed in the United States per year with approximately one third to one quarter of those for atrial fibrillation.

We believe that our technology has the potential to improve efficacy, safety and efficiency for a number of procedures that can generally be grouped into
the category of endovascular therapies. From simple, straightforward procedures, to complex, challenging endovascular procedures, we believe robotic catheter
control has the potential to (1) allow endovascular physicians to perform procedures less invasively, (2) reduce radiation exposure to physician and reduce
procedural fatigue, and (3) reduce the likelihood of prolonged procedure times.

Complex vascular procedures, which we estimate range from 10% to 20% of endovascular interventions, have limited technical success, longer
procedure times and fluoroscopy use, and expose the patient to significantly increased risks of adverse events and extended hospitalizations. We believe that
the individual robotic control of the distal tips of both the outer sheath and the inner leader catheter, as well as robotic manipulation of standard guide wires
can enable navigation to the anatomical area of interest inside an artery and can facilitate placement of a stent, graft or other therapeutic or implantable device.
In particularly diseased or tortuous arteries, facilitation of steering of the catheter may assist in avoiding contact with atheromatous (and calcification) disease
present in the vessel wall, may facilitate procedures that are now difficult to do and could impact outcomes. For some patients with particularly challenging
anatomy or lesions, robotic catheter control may enable endovascular procedures in situations that might conventionally have been treated surgically. In these
circumstances, we believe there may be significant benefits to the physician and hospital. In addition, similar to EP applications, we believe the use of robotic
catheter control can lead to material reductions in radiation exposure to the physician, and potentially the patient, in the treatment of vascular disease. Remote
navigation using the Sensei system has already demonstrated reductions in radiation exposure to the physician in electrophysiology applications. Finally,
robotic catheter control (for simpler or off-the-shelf devices) has the potential to provide the improvements in radiation exposure reduction and 3D visualization
of anatomic targets for more straightforward endovascular or interventional cases.

We also believe there is the potential to convert surgical cases to endovascular cases using robotic catheter control, an innovation that could, if achieved,
materially affect the course of endovascular disease management.

Our Magellan Robotic System has been designed and engineered to meet the needs of vascular surgeons, interventional cardiologists, interventional
radiologists and interventional neuro-radiologists, and extends the current Hansen Sensei architectural achievements in robotic catheter manipulation, catheter
design, robotic capabilities, instinctive control, and data visualization. The architecture is intended to constitute a platform that we believe will extend our
robotic capabilities significantly, and therefore depart from the current Sensei architecture in the following ways:
 

 
1. Our Magellan Robotic Catheter is smaller in diameter, has thinner walls, is more flexible, and is able to accommodate standard therapeutic

device delivery; it is also longer, enabling it to reach distal anatomy.
 

 

2. We believe novel robotic technology with substantially more control mechanisms and visualization technology will provide a broader base of
capabilities to selectively employ in a suite of tools for endovascular intervention and, in the future, structural heart interventions. The bedside
robotic system, which includes the rack, bedside robot, setup joint and bedside box, has been designed to allow for independent, individual
robotic control of the distal tip, manipulating more delicate catheters with more degrees of freedom over longer travel distances as well as
enabling the manipulation of guide wires.
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We anticipate that our Magellan Robotic System will be used in a variety of endovascular interventions, which may include some of the vascular
applications described below. To date, The Magellan Robotic System has been used in approximately 300 endovascular procedures. We will first focus on
addressing the lower extremity and thoraco-abdominal markets, which include endovascular treatment of the ilio-femoro-popliteal disease, and renal, celiac and
mesenteric artery disease. We also intend to pursue robotic catheters for the diagnosis and treatment of disease in the coronary, carotid, and neurovascular
areas with future development.

Potential endovascular interventions
Lower Extremity Artery Interventions. Critical limb ischemia, or CLI, occurs when the patient’s lower extremity arteries, such as femoral, popliteal,

and below-the-knee arteries, cannot carry sufficient oxygen to ensure proper metabolism. This may limit the patient’s ability to perform common activities
such as walking or climbing stairs. If untreated, CLI often results in limb amputation. According to Millennium Research Group, the number of angioplasty
and stenting procedures of the ilio-femoro-popliteal and infrapopliteal segment in the US and in portions of Europe (the UK, France, Germany and Italy) in
2013 was forecasted to be approximately 565,300 and 332,500, respectively. The lower extremity market continues to be a fast-growing market showing
device and technique innovation. While a broad range of therapeutic tools is available to the endovascular specialist, acute iliac bifurcations, tortuous iliac
arteries, and chronic total occlusions, or CTOs, appear to remain key contributors to procedure complexity and unpredictability. We believe that the control at
the catheter tip and the increased stability provided by the Vascular System may simplify the navigation of complex iliac bifurcation and other anatomic
branch points and areas of tortuosity, minimize time from femoral stick to angioplasty or stenting, and result in shorter, more predictable procedure times. In
addition, the Vascular System has the potential to provide a systematic approach for navigation of the iliac bifurcations and access to the contralateral leg,
which may reduce the physician’s dependency on proper guide wire and catheter selection, and may reduce delays or technical failures. We also believe that by
providing user-friendly and individual control of a guide wire and the catheter tip and through the provision of increased catheter support, the Vascular
System may allow the crossing of CTOs, reduce the volume of conversions to bypass surgery, reduce procedure time and radiation exposure and enable more
endovascular specialists to expand their practice to include the treatment of complex vascular disease.

Renal, Mesenteric and Celiac Artery Interventions . According to Millennium Research Group, the number of renal artery stenting procedures
forecasted in 2013 in the U.S. and in Europe was approximately 52,300 and 15,700, respectively. There has been an ongoing controversy on the superiority of
renal artery stenting over medical therapy, and one of the concerns associated with renal artery stenting has been the risk of embolization caused by the
dislodgement of embolic debris during manipulation of conventional catheters. We believe that providing instinctive steering of the catheter and accurate
manipulation of the catheter tip to avoid point contact with the vessel wall may positively impact outcomes of renal, mesenteric and celiac artery stenting.

Abdominal and Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Repair. Abdominal aortic aneurysms, or AAAs, were forecasted to be the 13 -leading cause of death in the
US in 2010. Millennium Research Group estimated in 2008 that there are over 1.2 million people with an AAA in the US and only about 200,000 are
diagnosed. According to a Millennium Research Group study, in 2013, the number of abdominal and thoracic aneurysm endovascular repairs performed in
the US and in Europe was forecasted to be approximately 60,260 and 26,650, respectively. Endovascular aneurysm repair, or EVAR, has been growing
rapidly and cannibalizing surgical repair, because it has proven to be a minimally invasive procedure with similar effectiveness to surgical grafting and fast
recovery times, which reduce costs of convalescence and perioperative complications and make EVAR a cost-effective solution to medical institutions.

EVAR, however, is in part technically challenging in situations where cannulation of portions of the graft must be achieved under fluoroscopy, or vessel
embolization must be achieved prior to deployment of the endograft. The complex anatomy and the difficulty of controlling guide wires and catheters in an
enlarged, diseased aorta may produce significant variability in procedure times, fluoroscopy use, and complication rates in
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patients needing pant leg grafts, or fenestrated or branched grafts. We believe that our Vascular System may be able to provide a more systematic approach to
vessel and graft cannulation, which may result in shorter, more consistent procedure times, and reduce radiation exposure and use of contrast.

Carotid Artery Stenting. Carotid artery stenting, or CAS, is an alternate therapy to surgical carotid endarterectomy, and may be performed by the
interventional cardiologist, the interventional radiologist, or the vascular surgeon. According to Millennium Research Group, the number of carotid artery
stenting procedures forecasted in 2013 in the US and in Europe was approximately 30,200 and 22,900, respectively. The growth of CAS has been hindered by
controversial clinical results. Carotid artery stenting is a procedure that requires, in many cases, navigation of tortuous anatomy, placement of multiple
devices in sequence to achieve procedural success, and manipulation of these devices at a distance to achieve appropriate placement and long-term efficacy. We
believe that by enabling fine control of the catheter tip and increased catheter stability, our Vascular System may provide a systematic approach for navigation
of the aortic arch, improve access consistency for physicians treating complex arches and tortuous carotid anatomy, resulting in more consistent procedure
times, and reducing physician’s fatigue caused by the lack of control of the distal end of conventional catheters.

Coronary Artery Interventions and Chronic Total Occlusion Crossing. According to Millennium Research Group in 2008, the number of
percutaneous coronary interventions forecasted in 2010 in the US and in Europe was approximately 1,000,000 and 740,000, respectively.

Based on physician interviews we have conducted, technical difficulties associated with coronary artery stenting seem to originate from the lack of
stability of the distal section of the guiding catheter and from limited ability of catheters and guide wires to cannulate acutely angulated coronary branches. We
believe that by providing stability and steering at the tip of the catheter, as well as instinctive driving of the catheter, the Vascular System may facilitate branch
cannulation. We also believe that active catheter control through tip steering and catheter pull wire manipulation can provide increased stability at the site of
intervention and may decrease the risk of having the guiding catheter be dislodged out of the coronary artery during guide wire manipulation and therapy
delivery.

Potential value of our Magellan Robotic System
Value to the hospital. We believe our Magellan Robotic System provides hospitals with the opportunity to deliver better patient care by providing an

alternative to conventional endovascular technique using our flexible robotic technology. By reducing procedure times and streamlining endovascular
interventions, physician procedural fatigue is reduced and our Magellan Robotic System could help hospitals increase their catheter laboratory utilization and
throughput and manage case scheduling more efficiently. We also believe that converting surgical cases to endovascular cases may have a significant effect on
length of stay, and may reduce radiation exposure. The Magellan Robotic System also has the potential to improve inventory management, by reducing the
number of conventional catheters and guide wires required to be in stock. As part of our sales efforts, we have developed a financial model to assist hospitals
in estimating the potential return on investment from purchasing a Magellan Robotic System. The model quantifies potential cost savings to be achieved from
increased predictability of procedure times through the avoidance of overtime and other costs related to procedure time overruns, the contribution from potential
improved lab utilization, and the potential incremental profit contribution that may arise from an increase in patients drawn to a hospital by our system.

Value to the physician. We believe that by providing an instinctive, controlled, systematic approach to vessel navigation, our Magellan Robotic System
may reduce the number of catheter and guide wire exchanges required to complete endovascular interventions, simplify catheter and guide wire selection, and
minimize the challenges provided by the lack of control of the distal end of conventional catheters. The Magellan Robotic System also has the potential to lower
the learning curve for endovascular interventions and enable physicians of varying skill levels to perform more complex cases. Finally, by enabling remote
catheter control and vessel navigation, and by providing an ergonomically friendly environment, the Magellan Robotic System may help reduce physician’s
skeletal fatigue and exposure to harmful radiation.
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Value to the patient. We believe that our Magellan Robotic System for vascular applications may be able to provide patients with an alternative to
conventional catheter-based interventions. By limiting the need for the operator to rely on vessel wall interactions to cannulate and navigate vessels with the
catheter, patients may benefit from shorter procedure time and accurate delivery of therapy. In addition, we believe that a robotic system for vascular
applications may reduce the volume of conversions to surgery, and allow complex cases to be performed using the less invasive, endovascular approach.

Other potential applications in interventional cardiology
Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement (TAVR). Transcatheter aortic valve replacement represents an emerging alternative therapy for high-risk and

inoperable patients with severe valve disease, and may offer advantages over open heart surgery. For example, non-surgical heart valve replacement may
minimize complications associated with general anesthesia, opening the chest wall and the use of heart-lung bypass machines. Percutaneous aortic valve
replacement using a catheter-based approach may enable surgeons to perform procedures under local anesthesia in a cardiac catheterization lab. This may be a
preferred alternative for high-risk valve disease patients who otherwise have no choice but open heart surgery, and more importantly, for those patients with
life-threatening valve disease who cannot undergo surgery. We believe that the controlled and precise access and deployment that robotics can provide in an
endovascular aortic valve replacement has the potential for enabling current surgical valve candidates to be treated less invasively.

Valve Repair. Heart valve disease is a common disorder which is characterized by a progressive deterioration of one or more of the heart’s valvular
structures. Repair of heart valves has historically been accomplished by open heart surgery. Although often very successful in improving valve function,
surgery of heart valves is associated with a risk of death and even if successful requires a long post-operative recovery. As a result, cardiologists tend to wait
as long as possible before resorting to surgery in patients with deteriorating valve function. There is increasing interest in treating valve disease with less
invasive means in order to enable treatment earlier in the disease process and potentially slow or stop the progression of heart failure. In recent years, catheter-
based procedures have been developed to repair valves in a surgical manner. We believe that as these procedures develop, physicians will require a new
generation of catheters that can be used like surgical tools and which can be precisely controlled. As a result, there may be an opportunity for us to participate
in the development of a new generation of procedures in cardiac valve intervention as an alternative to conventional cardiac surgery, potentially offering a safer
and more cost-effective approach to the early treatment of heart valve disease.

Left Atrial Appendage Occlusion. One of the significant clinical risks associated with atrial rhythm abnormalities is the development of blood clots in
the atrial chamber which can result in stroke. The anatomic portion of the left atrium, referred to as the left atrial appendage, or LAA, is particularly
susceptible to clot formation. One approach to elimination of the risk of clot formation in the LAA is the use of catheter-based devices that block blood flow
and pooling of blood in the LAA, and thereby reduce clotting risk in the atrium. These devices are believed to work well if they are properly positioned and
oriented at the opening of the LAA, however, placement can be exceedingly challenging with conventional catheter techniques. We believe that our robotic
technology may be able to simplify the process of delivering these devices.

Biventricular Lead Placement . Pacemakers have been used in cardiology for many years to treat rhythm abnormalities and improve cardiac function.
More recently, many physicians have concluded that pacing of both ventricles of the heart in synchrony is, in many patients, more effective than pacing one
ventricular location. This technique requires that one of the pacing leads be positioned at an optimal location in the wall of the left ventricle. In order to deliver
the left ventricular lead, cardiologists often use a catheter based approach that delivers the pacing lead by introducing a cannula or tube into the coronary
sinus, a vein that runs along the outside of the heart. Navigating this coronary sinus vein requires significant catheter manipulation, and also requires stability
of the catheter tip when the proper anatomic location is reached. We believe that our Sensei system may be able to simplify the placement of biventricular leads
in their optimal location, particularly for physicians with limited experience with this technique.
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Ventricular Injection Therapy. Many chronic heart conditions lead to progressive deterioration in heart function, often resulting in a debilitating and
eventually fatal disease referred to as congestive heart failure, or CHF. In CHF, the heart muscle becomes less efficient, the chambers of the heart begin to dilate
and cardiac function tends to deteriorate. As the heart muscle becomes weaker, the heart has to work harder to pump an adequate amount of blood. The harder
the heart works, the more damage is done to its structure and function. Clinicians treat CHF with a variety of drugs that decrease blood volume and increase
contractility of the heart muscle. However, there is increasing investigation into techniques which attempt to repair the muscle cells that have been damaged
through the direct injection of growth factors or healthy cells into injured muscle. These techniques have shown some ability to replace damaged muscle but
often demand the precise control of a needle injector inside the heart. We believe that our Sensei system may be able to provide a very efficient means for more
easily performing ventricular injection at the specific locations where clinicians desire to deliver drug and cell therapies.

Although the FDA has granted 510(k) clearance for the use of the Sensei system in mapping heart anatomy, we will not be able to label or promote either
the Sensei system or the Magellan Robotic System or train physicians in their use for any of the above applications unless separate 510(k) clearance or
premarket application, or PMA, approval from the FDA is obtained for each such application. See Item 1A — “Risk Factors —  If we fail to maintain
necessary FDA clearances/approvals and the CE Certificates of Conformity marks for our medical device products, or if future clearances, approvals
or the delivery of CE Certificates of Conformity are delayed, we will be unable to commercially distribute and market our products.”

Research and Development
As of December 31, 2013, our research and development team consisted of 31 people and our regulatory, clinical and quality team consisted of 31

people. We have assembled an experienced team with recognized expertise in robotics, mechanical and electrical engineering, software, control algorithms,
systems integration and disposable device design, as well as significant clinical knowledge and expertise.

Our research and development efforts are focused in the following major areas:
 

 •  continuing to enhance the capabilities of our Magellan Robotic System and Magellan Robotic Catheters and related accessories;
 

 
•  continuing to enhance the capabilities of our existing Sensei system and our Artisan and Lynx catheters through ongoing product and software

development;
 

 •  developing new capabilities for our robotic technology;
 

 •  designing new proprietary disposable interventional devices for use with our Sensei system and our Magellan Robotic System; and
 

 
•  developing new applications for our technology and related additions to our Sensei system and our Magellan Robotic System, new control

catheters, or integration with other imaging technologies or other modalities.

Our research and development team works independently and with other manufacturers of EP lab equipment to integrate our open architecture platform
with key imaging, location sensing and information systems in the EP labs. We also collaborate with a number of highly regarded electrophysiologists and
cardiologists in key clinical areas in search of new applications for our technology. We plan to use a similar strategy for incorporation into endovascular labs.

We have historically spent a significant portion of our capital resources on research and development. Our research and development expenses were
$16.1 million, $16.1 million and $12.2 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, which included credits of $10.6 million in 2011, related to funds
received from our extended joint development agreement with Philips. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors — We may not be able to further develop our
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Magellan Robotic System as planned, which could significantly harm our ability to achieve future regulatory approvals and market acceptance ” and “
— Our products and related technologies can be applied in different applications, and we may fail to focus on the most profitable areas or we may be
unable to address successfully financial and technology risks associated with new applications, including applications for the vascular market.”

Sales and Marketing
We market, sell and support our products in the United States through a direct sales force of regional sales employees, supported by clinical account

managers who provide training, clinical support and other services to our customers. Outside the United States, primarily in the European Union, we use a
combination of a direct sales force and distributors to market, sell and support our products. We have established sales subsidiaries in the United Kingdom
and Germany and have hired sales representatives in the UK and Germany. We currently have distribution agreements in Australia, Belarus, Bulgaria, Czech
Republic, Denmark, France, Germany Italy, Indonesia, Netherlands, New Zealand, Poland, Russia, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Slovakia, South Africa,
Spain and Ukraine. A summary of our financial information by geographic location is found in Note 13, “Segments,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. Our international operations and sales subject us to a variety of risks; see Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” for further discussion.

As of December 31, 2013, we had a direct sales force, clinical support team and marketing team of 42 employees. We use the same sales and marketing
force to drive sales of both our Sensei system and our Magellan Robotic System.

Our sales and marketing process consists of two important steps: selling systems directly to the customer, and leveraging our installed base of systems
to drive recurring sales of disposable interventional devices, software and services.

Our end users fall into three broad categories:
 

 
•  leading academic institutions  with physician thought leaders who are interested in performing complex new procedures enabled or simplified by

our system;
 

 •  high-volume non-academic regional centers  interested in the benefits of our system; and
 

 
•  medium and low volume community hospitals  that are competing for patients, attempting to minimize referrals of complex cases to other centers

and focusing on gaining market share in their regional markets.

Many hospitals are part of an integrated delivery network, or IDN, and/or a group purchasing organization, or GPO. When possible, we focus on
leveraging opportunities in which we believe a sale to one member of an IDN or GPO creates interest and drives competition within that group. We also focus
sales and marketing development activities where strategic synergies or competition exist between our current installed base and other area hospitals.

Following the initial sale of a system to a hospital, we endeavor to expand the number of physicians who use our systems at that hospital. We believe
these efforts will benefit early-adopting hospitals by increasing their market share in the procedures and specialties that benefit from procedures performed
with our systems. We expect these efforts to increase demand for our disposable products among hospitals, physicians and referring physicians.

Sales of medical capital equipment generally follow a staged sales process that includes the following:
 

 •  generating initial customer interest;
 

 •  gaining commitment from the customer, which often involves a formal written proposal;
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 •  helping the customer secure formal budget approval for the system purchase;
 

 •  receiving a formal purchase order from the customer after its approval process is complete and after sales terms have been agreed upon; and
 

 •  installation of the system at the customer’s site and providing physician and staff training so it is used properly.

Our systems utilize proprietary control catheters, as well as software tailored to specific clinical applications. After a system is installed and initial
training has been completed, we provide ongoing support in order to increase customers’ familiarity with system features and benefits, with the goal of
increasing usage of the system. More frequent usage will result in increased consumption of our disposable catheters. One year of customer support is included
with each system. Thereafter, we market extended service contracts to continue to provide support and we anticipate that service beyond the basic warranty
will increasingly be an important additional source of revenue.

We expect that our relationships with physician thought leaders in the fields of electrophysiology and vascular disease will continue to be an important
element of our selling efforts. These relationships are often built around research collaborations that enable us to better understand and articulate the most
useful features and benefits of our system as well as to develop new solutions to long-standing challenges in interventional electrophysiology and peripheral
vascular disease. We plan to continue to provide support for and collaborate with highly regarded physicians in order to accelerate market awareness and
adoption of our systems. Beginning in the third quarter of 2012, we initiated a limited commercial evaluation program to allow certain key accounts to install
and utilize our systems for a limited trial period while the purchase opportunity is being evaluated by the hospital.

We have developed a comprehensive solution to assist our customers in marketing their new Sensei system and robotic electrophysiology program. The
Flexible Robotics program is a broad based and robust toolkit designed to assist our customer hospitals in using the development of a robotic electrophysiology
program as a tool to market the hospital’s quality, commitment to patient care and innovation. The program is a virtual toolbox that contains both the
programmatic and content elements that are designed to plan, initiate, and execute public relations and outreach campaigns, influence and change referral
patterns to improve market share in the hospital’s catchment area, enliven hospital personnel and patients around the benefits of our innovative robotic
technology, and develop substantial awareness of the technology and the physicians employing it. We have experienced a number of hospital level examples of
the benefits that this program brings to all of our constituents and believe it will be an important component of the drive to adoption and utilization of the
technology. We have also developed these tools for use in our distributor channels. Leveraging off our experience with the Sensei system, we have developed a
program to similarly market our Magellan Robotic System. See Item 1A — “Risk Factors —  If we fail to comply with healthcare laws and regulations, we
could face substantial penalties and our business, operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.”

Customer Service and Support
As of December, 31, 2013, we had a customer service and support team of 9 employees. These employees form a call center, a network of field service

engineers and a service parts logistics repair and delivery system. We also outsource the after-hours portion of our call center, including weekends and
holidays, to an answering service. This infrastructure provides a single point of contact for our customers via telephone and email and enables us to provide
online, telephone and on-site technical support services 24 hours a day, seven days a week. In addition, we now offer post-warranty maintenance plans for our
customers to manage their on-going support needs. We plan to expand our technical training and support capabilities as our installed base continues to grow.
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Manufacturing
As of December 31, 2013, we had a manufacturing team of 47 employees. We manufacture our systems and catheters using a combination of in-house

manufacturing and third-party contract manufacturers. Some of the components for our systems are single sourced. We may not be able to quickly establish
additional or replacement suppliers for our single-source components, in part because of FDA requirements and because of the custom nature of the parts we
utilize. Any supply interruption for any of these components or interruptions at our contract manufacturers could limit our ability to manufacture our
products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In 2008, we moved into a new facility, thus increasing our ability to produce systems and catheters. However, we still face technical challenges in our
manufacturing processes, including manufacturing cost reductions, equipment design and automation, material procurement, problems with production
yields and quality control and assurance. Developing our current manufacturing capacity has required the investment of substantial funds and additional
changes in the future to reduce manufacturing costs or to adapt our capacity to market fluctuations may require the investment of substantial additional funds
and the hiring and retaining of management and technical personnel who have the necessary manufacturing experience. We may not successfully complete any
future required change in manufacturing ability on a timely basis or at all.

Lead times for materials and components ordered by us and our contract manufacturers vary and depend on factors such as the specific supplier,
contract terms and demand for a component at a given time. We and our contract manufacturers acquire materials, complete standard subassemblies and
assemble fully configured systems based on sales forecasts. If orders do not match forecasts, we and our contract manufacturers may have excess or
inadequate inventory of materials and components. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors — If we are unable to manufacture our systems and catheters in a manner
that yield sufficient gross margins, we will be unable to achieve profitable commercialization ” and “— We have limited experience in manufacturing
and assembling our products and may encounter problems at our manufacturing facilities or otherwise experience manufacturing delays that could
result in lost revenue or diminishing margins.”

The Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System
Our systems incorporate a number of custom parts and components that we have designed and which are manufactured to our specifications by third

parties. Our manufacturing strategy for our systems is to assemble some critical subsystems in-house while outsourcing less critical subsystems, and to
complete the final assembly and testing of those components in-house in order to control quality.

Artisan, Lynx and Magellan catheters and guide catheter assembly
Our catheters consist almost entirely of custom parts which we have designed and are manufactured either by us or by contract manufacturers to our

specifications. We currently assemble catheters in-house. We outsource the manufacture of certain other disposable products, including sterile drapes used
with our system in EP procedures. We also manufacture prototype disposables to facilitate future product development.

Software
We develop the software components of our systems, including control and application software, both internally and with integrated modules which we

purchase or license from third parties. We perform final testing of software products in-house prior to commercial release.

Regulatory framework

Our manufacturing facilities operate under processes designed to meet the FDA’s requirements under the Quality System Regulation. We underwent an
FDA inspection, which employed the Quality System Inspection
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Technique, or QSIT, in July 2010 and received two inspectional observations. The agency accepted our responses and the inspection was closed. If the FDA
were to find that we are not operating in compliance with applicable regulations, we could be subject to FDA enforcement action including, but not limited to:
 

 •  untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;
 

 •  unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions;
 

 •  customer notifications for repair, replacement, refunds;
 

 •  recall, detention or seizure of our products;
 

 •  operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
 

 
•  refusing or delaying our requests for 510(k) clearance, investigational device exemptions (IDE) to perform clinical studies or premarket approval

of new products or modified products;
 

 •  operating restrictions;
 

 •  withdrawing 510(k) clearances or IDE/PMA approvals that have already been granted;
 

 •  refusal to grant export approval or issue export documentation for our products; or
 

 •  criminal prosecution.

Our existing quality management system passed a European Notified Body audit in 2012, and it was determined that we are in compliance with the
requirements of ISO 13485 standard. Through such compliance with the ISO 13485 standard, we benefit from a presumption of conformity with the relevant
quality system requirements laid down in the Annexes to Council Directive 93/42/EEC concerning medical devices (Medical Devices Directive). If we fail to
maintain compliance with the FDA requirements or maintain compliance with the ISO 13485 standard and the relevant quality system requirements laid down
in the Annexes to the Medical Devices Directive in the future, we may be subject to enforcement action by the FDA and the competent authorities of the
European Economic Area (EEA), the suspension or withdrawal of our CE Certificate of Conformity by our Notified Body or we may be required to cease all
or part of our manufacturing operations for some period of time until we can demonstrate that appropriate steps have been taken to comply with such
standards.

Our facility and our clinical investigational sites operate under procedures that govern the conduct and management of FDA-regulated clinical studies
under 21 CFR Parts 50 and 812, and Good Clinical Practices. The FDA may conduct Bioresearch Monitoring (BiMo) inspections of us and/or our clinical
sites to assess compliance with 21 CFR Parts 50 and 812, our procedures, and the clinical protocol. If the FDA were to find that we or our clinical
investigators are not operating in compliance with applicable regulations, we could be subject to the above FDA enforcement action as well as refusal to accept
all or part of our data in support our 510(k) or PMA and/ or we may need to conduct additional studies.

Our manufacturing facility also has been inspected and licensed by the California Department of Health Services, or CDHS, and remains subject to re-
inspection at any time. Failure to maintain a license from the CDHS or to meet the inspection criteria of the CDHS would disrupt our manufacturing processes.
If an inspection by the CDHS were to indicate that there are deficiencies in our manufacturing process, we could be required to take remedial actions at
potentially significant expense, and our facility may be temporarily or permanently closed.

Force Dimension Development and Supply Agreement
On November 9, 2004, we entered into a Development and Supply Agreement with Force Dimension Sàrl, a Swiss limited liability company. Pursuant

to the terms of the agreement, Force Dimension manufactures and supplies to us specially-configured motion controllers in accordance with a predefined
pricing matrix. We may
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terminate the agreement for any reason upon 30 days notice to Force Dimension, provided that we will remain obligated to purchase all delivered and ordered
master input devices at the time of such termination. Either party may terminate the agreement for a material breach by the other party if the material breach is
not cured within 90 days of notice of the material breach. Force Dimension is a single-source supplier for the motion controllers in our Sensei system and our
Magellan Robotic System.

Reimbursement
We expect that healthcare facilities and physicians in the United States will continue to bill various third-party payors, such as Medicare, Medicaid,

other governmental programs and private insurers, for services performed using our products. We believe that procedures performed with our products are
generally already reimbursable under governmental programs and most private plans and claims for services using our products are generally reimbursed
under existing billing codes. We cannot be certain, however, that current coverage, coding and reimbursement policies of third-party payors will continue or the
extent to which future changes to coding, coverage and reimbursement policies will affect some or all of the procedures that would use our robotic systems.

Future legislation, regulation or coverage and reimbursement policies of third-party payors may adversely affect the demand for our products (currently
marketed and under development) and limit our ability to profitably sell our products. For example, the Budget Control Act of 2011, enacted on August 2,
2011, established a process to reduce federal budget deficits through an automatic “sequestration” process beginning in January 2013 if deficit reductions
targets were not otherwise reached. Under the terms of the Budget Control Act, sequestration imposes across-the-board cuts to a wide range of federal
programs, including but not limited to Medicare payments to plans and providers (subject to a 2% cap), in the years 2013 to 2021. Sequestration was delayed
by two months, however, under the American Taxpayer Relief Act, which was enacted on January 2, 2013. Medicare payments to medical providers and
health plans were reduced by 2% beginning in April 2013. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013, enacted on December 26, 2013, extends these cuts to 2023.
Such changes to the reimbursement rates for procedures in which our products are used, or alternative budget proposals that include reductions in health care
spending, could adversely impact our business. In addition, the Medicare payment systems for hospitals (inpatient and outpatient) and physicians are
updated annually and reimbursement rates can vary from year to year based on a number of legislative, regulatory, and/or other policy changes. For example,
there is a statutory formula known as the sustainable growth rate (SGR) formula for determining annual payment updates for physicians’ professional
services. For several years, this statutory formula has resulted in significant decreases to physician reimbursement, but Congress has repeatedly enacted
legislation to temporarily block the cuts. Most recently, Congress included a provision in the Pathway for SGR Reform Act of 2013, enacted on December 26,
2013, to prevent a scheduled 20.1% cut from going into effect; instead, Medicare physician payment rates generally increased by 0.5% through March 31,
2014. If Congress fails to intervene in the future to block schedule physician reimbursement reductions under the SGR formula, or if future legislation
decreases Medicare payments to physicians, it could adversely impact our business.

Reimbursement for the treatment of patients with our products in EEA countries is governed by complex mechanisms established on a national level in
each country. These mechanisms vary widely between the EEA countries. Moreover, these mechanisms evolve constantly, reflecting the efforts of these
countries to reduce public spending on healthcare. As a result, obtaining reimbursement for the treatment of patients with medical devices has become more
and more challenging. We cannot, therefore, guarantee that the treatment of patients with our products would be reimbursed in any of these countries.

We are aware that physicians may elect to use products we sell for off-label indications, including, for example, the use of our Sensei system for
procedures to treat atrial fibrillation in the United States. Currently there is only one catheter which is approved by the FDA for the treatment of a particular
sub-set of patients with atrial fibrillation. In February 2009, Biosense Webster, a Johnson & Johnson company, was granted marketing approval to the
NAVISTAR  THERMOCOOL  Catheter for the treatment of drug refractory recurrent
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symptomatic paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, when used with compatible three-dimensional electroanatomic mapping systems. We believe that both physicians
and hospitals are currently reimbursed for these and certain other procedures even when the procedures are performed off-label using other manufacturers’
products. We cannot be certain, however, that third-party payors will continue to provide coverage and/or reimbursement to physicians and hospitals for off-
label use of products to treat atrial fibrillation or any other procedures. In addition, we cannot be certain that third-party payors will not require extensive
clinical support showing the efficacy and cost effectiveness of off-label uses of our products before providing coverage and reimbursement for such
procedures. If such support is required, we may not be able to satisfy such requests within the limitations of our FDA cleared labeling or the intended
purposes for which our devices are CE marked.

Intellectual Property
Since our inception, our strategy has been to patent the technology, inventions and improvements that we consider important to the development of our

business and technology. Our intellectual property portfolio, including patents and patent applications that we own or license, covers key aspects of our Sensei
system and catheter products, as well as other technology that we have under development. As a result, we believe that we are building an extensive intellectual
property portfolio to protect the fundamental scope of our technology, including our robotic technology, navigational methods, procedures, systems, disposable
interventional devices and our three dimensional integration technology. As of December 31, 2013, we licensed or owned 103 issued U.S. patents and 120
pending U.S. patent applications, 41 granted foreign patents and over 63 pending foreign applications. We also share the rights to a number of patents and
patent applications under the September 2005 cross license agreement and the January 2010 cross license agreement with Intuitive Surgical, Inc., or Intuitive,
which in turn shares rights to certain of our patents and pending patent applications pursuant to the cross license agreements. In addition, we received a license
to certain patents and patent applications licensed or owned by Luna Innovations Inc., or Luna, as part of the litigation settlement entered in January 2010.
Some of our rights in these patents licensed from Luna have in turn been sublicensed to Philips in connection with our February 2011 agreements. We also
have a number of invention disclosures under consideration and several new patent applications that are being prepared for filing, and we continue to gain the
benefit of certain new patent applications and patents by virtue of the cross license agreement with Intuitive. Accordingly, we anticipate that the number of
pending patent applications and patents in our portfolio will increase.

In addition to our existing patent coverage that we expect to build upon, we believe it would be technically difficult and costly to reverse engineer our
products and technology. Further, we have developed substantial know-how in robotic design and robotic instrument control which we maintain as trade
secrets or copyrighted software.

Further successful commercializing of our Sensei system, our Magellan Robotic System and any other products we may develop, will depend in part on
our not infringing patents held by third parties. It is possible that one or more of our products, including those that we have developed in conjunction with
third parties, infringes existing patents. From time to time, we receive letters from one or more third parties alleging that certain aspects of our systems infringe
issued patent(s) or asking us to consider licensing their patent rights. While we do not believe that our systems infringe any valid and enforceable patent of any
third party, there can be no assurance that any third party will not take further action, such as filing a patent infringement lawsuit, including a request for
injunctive relief, to bar the manufacture and sale of our systems in the United States or elsewhere. There also can be no assurance that we will not seek to take
the initiative in defending ourselves by instituting litigation against such third party challenges.

We have applied for trademark registration of, and claim trademark rights in, “Magellan” and “Hansen Medical Magellan.” We have obtained
trademark registration for, and claim trademark rights in “Artisan Extend,” “Hansen Medical,” “Hansen Medical (with Heart Design),” “Heart Design
(Logo),” “Sensei,” “Lynx,” “Artisan,” “Instinctive Motion,” “Fine Force Technology” and “IntelliSense.” This report also includes other trademarks, service
marks and trade names of other companies.
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Cross License Agreement with Intuitive Surgical
On September 1, 2005, we entered into a cross license agreement with Intuitive. Pursuant to this agreement, Intuitive granted us a co-exclusive,

worldwide license in the field of intravascular approaches for the diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular, neurovascular and peripheral vascular diseases.
In return, we granted Intuitive a co-exclusive, worldwide license in the fields of endoscopic, laparoscopic, thoracoscopic or open diagnosis and/or surgical
procedures, including endoluminal applications in gastrointestinal, respiratory, ear, nose and throat, urologic and gynecologic surgery. These licenses cover
our and Intuitive’s patents and patent applications that were filed on or prior to the date of the agreement, as well as later filed divisionals, continuations and
continuations in part with respect to the matters that were part of the original patents and patent applications as of the date of the agreement, but not any other
later-filed patents and patent applications. In addition, these licenses cover all trade secrets and other know-how that we and Intuitive disclosed to each other
prior to the date of the agreement. Each party retained full rights to practice its own technology for all purposes. As consideration for the licenses granted by
Intuitive, we issued 125,000 shares of our Series B preferred stock to Intuitive in 2005 (which converted into 125,000 shares of our common stock at the time
of our initial public offering) and owe royalties to Intuitive on certain product sales, including annual minimum royalties of $200,000. We will not receive any
royalties or other compensation from Intuitive under the agreement.

Each party has agreed not to engage in activities outside its licensed field that, to its knowledge, would infringe the other party’s licensed patents.
Although we believe that there are opportunities for us to operate outside the licensed field of use without the use of the Intuitive intellectual property, Intuitive,
from time to time has told us that it believes certain of our past activities that have fallen outside the licensed field have infringed its intellectual property rights.
Although we disagree with Intuitive’s position, we presently remain focused within our licensed field and so have agreed to inform Intuitive before commencing
any further outside clinical investigations for endoluminal applications or engaging in external technology exhibitions at non-intravascular conferences. There
can be no assurance that Intuitive will not challenge any activities we engage in outside the intravascular space and we cannot be sure that in the event of such
a challenge we would be able to reach agreement with Intuitive on whether activities outside our licensed field may be conducted without the use of Intuitive’s
intellectual property. Any disputes regarding a party’s potential infringement of the other party’s licensed patents that cannot be resolved through discussions
between the parties will be settled by litigation. If such litigation results in a judgment of infringement that cannot be appealed and the infringing party fails to
cease such infringement within a specified cure period, the non-infringing party will have the right to terminate the agreement. The parties have also agreed on a
procedure under which either party may, but is not obligated to, ask an arbitration panel to make a binding determination as to whether or not a new product
being developed by such party would, if commercialized outside such party’s licensed field, infringe any issued patents of the other party.

The agreement may be terminated by either party for bankruptcy of the other party. We also have the right to terminate the agreement at any time on or
after March 1, 2018, and if we exercise this termination right, the licenses granted to us by Intuitive will terminate, but the licenses granted by us to Intuitive
will survive. Neither party is permitted to terminate the agreement based on a breach by the other party, except in the event of the other party’s failure to cease
infringing activity as described above or to remedy a significant payment default that has been established through a court judgment that cannot be appealed. If
a party terminates the agreement for one of these types of breaches, the licenses granted by this party will terminate, but the licenses granted to this party will
survive. In the absence of any early termination, the agreement will expire upon the expiration of the last to expire of the patents licensed under the agreement.

On January 12, 2010, in association with the agreements signed as a result of our settlement with Luna Innovations, Inc, we entered into a cross license
agreement with Intuitive, under which we and Intuitive granted each other royalty-free, non-exclusive licenses within the medical robotics field to certain fiber
optic shape sensing/localization technology owned or in-licensed by each party as of the effective date of the agreement or within the five-year period after the
effective date of the agreement. The non-exclusive licenses can only be sublicensed in connection with each party’s respective products, except for our right to
sublicense for single degree of freedom medical devices.
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In addition, we and Intuitive granted each other royalty-free, co-exclusive licenses within the medical robotics field to certain fiber optic shape-
sensing/localization technology developed in whole or in part by Luna for each party. The co-exclusive licenses can only be sublicensed in connection with
each party’s respective products, except that we may freely sublicense single degree of freedom medical devices. We have the right, along with Intuitive, to
enforce the co-exclusively licensed intellectual property. The term of this agreement is until the expiration of the last to expire of the patents licensed under the
agreement, unless extended or shortened by mutual agreement.

In October 2012, we signed an amendment to our license agreement with Intuitive Surgical under which Intuitive Surgical paid us a $20 million
licensing fee. The amendment of the license agreement is an update to the co-exclusive cross license agreement signed by the companies in 2005. Under the
terms of the amended agreement, Intuitive Surgical’s existing co-exclusive rights to our patent portfolio to certain non-vascular procedures have been extended to
include patents filed or conceived by us subsequent to the original 2005 agreement up to and including the period three years subsequent to the amendment
though we have no obligations to conduct any research activities under the amendment. In addition, the first sentence of the definition of “Hansen Field of Use”
was modified by the Amended License Agreement to read: “Hansen Field of Use” means the research, development, manufacture, use, sale, promotion,
distribution and importation of medical devices and systems for intravascular approaches for the diagnosis and/or treatment of cardiovascular,
neurovascular, and peripheral vascular diseases, wherein the distal end of the medical device or system, after entering a blood vessel, remains within the blood
vessel or branches of the blood vessel for the delivery of the diagnostic or therapeutic modality for which the device or system is being used.” We retain the
right to use our intellectual property for all clinical applications, both vascular and non-vascular.

License Agreement with Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories
On March 7, 2003, we entered into a License Agreement with Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories, Inc., or Mitsubishi. Pursuant to this agreement,

we obtained an exclusive, worldwide license to certain Mitsubishi patents and related know-how for use in the field of therapeutic or diagnostic vascular or
endoluminal intervention involving robotics, automation or telemanipulation. In consideration for such license, we issued 9,375 shares of our common stock
to Mitsubishi and paid commercialization milestones. Additionally, we owe minimum annual royalties of $100,000 which reduces to $55,000 if the license
becomes non-exclusive and royalties on certain product sales, subject to an annual royalty cap. Under the agreement, we are obligated to use reasonable
commercial efforts to commercialize royalty-bearing products. The agreement may be terminated by Mitsubishi in the event of an uncured material breach by
us. In addition, we can terminate the agreement for any reason with advanced written notice to Mitsubishi.

License Agreement with Luna Innovations, Inc.
On January 12, 2010, we entered into license agreement with Luna. Under the license agreement, Luna granted us a co-exclusive (with Intuitive), royalty-

free, fully paid, perpetual and irrevocable license to Luna’s fiber optic shape sensing/localization technology within the medical robotics field. The license can
only be sublicensed in connection with our products, except that we can grant full sublicenses to third parties for single degree of freedom medical devices.
Intuitive received a corresponding co-exclusive license within the medical robotics field from Luna under a separate license agreement between Intuitive and
Luna. Under the license agreement, Luna also granted to us a royalty-free, fully paid, perpetual and irrevocable license to Luna’s fiber optic shape-
sensing/localization technology for non-robotic medical devices, which license is exclusive (and fully sublicenseable) within the orthopedics, vascular, and
endoluminal fields and otherwise co-exclusive with Luna. We have the right along with Intuitive to enforce the intellectual property licensed by Luna within the
medical robotics field.

The license agreement provides for us to grant to Luna a nonexclusive, sublicenseable, royalty-free, fully paid, perpetual and irrevocable license under
certain of our fiber optic shape sensing/localization technology
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outside of the medical robotics field and outside the orthopedics, vascular and endoluminal fields. In this agreement, Luna confirmed our ownership of certain
intellectual property developed in whole or in part by Luna under the parties’ prior development agreement as well as ownership of certain Hansen patents in
the event it is determined that any Luna personnel are inventors with respect to such patents.

In January 2014, Luna sold to Intuitive substantially all of its assets related to its medical shape sensing business, including all of patents and patent
applications used or useful for its fiber optical shape sensing and localization technology. Luna’s transfer of technology to Intuitive was made subject to their
existing licenses and related obligations with us and Philips.

Agreements with Philips
In the fourth quarter of 2009, we entered into an extended joint development agreement with Philips. Under the terms of the agreement, we have, with

support and collaboration from Philips, developed a vascular robotics platform and associated catheters, or “Vascular System”. The Vascular System does
not include our Sensei Robotic Catheter System or any system used for endoluminal, cardiac or other non-vascular procedures. Pursuant to the agreement,
Philips partially funded our development costs based upon our achievement of development milestones for the Vascular System and will receive royalties
based on sales of the Vascular System subject to caps. In February 2011, we amended the extended joint development agreement, which increased the amount
of funding provided by Philips for the development of the Vascular System and extended and increased the royalties to be paid to Philips. We reached the final
milestone under the agreement and received our final payment from Philips in October 2011. We will pay Philips royalties based on the number of Magellan
Robotic Systems and Magellan Robotic Catheters that are sold, subject to caps, through October 2017.

In November 2009, we entered into agreements with Philips to co-develop integrated products. In December 2009, we entered into an extended joint
development agreement with Philips. Under the terms of the extended joint development agreement, we have, with support and collaboration from Philips,
developed a vascular robotics platform and associated catheters, or Magellan Robotic System. The Magellan Robotic System does not include our Sensei
system or any system used for endoluminal, cardiac or other non-vascular procedures.

Pursuant to the Agreement, Philips partially funded our development costs based upon our achievement of development milestones for the Magellan
Robotic System and will receive royalties based on sales of the Magellan Robotic System subject to caps. In February 2011, we amended the extended joint
development agreement. The amendment of the extended joint development agreement increased the amount of funding provided by Philips for the development
of the Magellan Robotic System and extended and increased certain royalty fees to be paid to Philips based on sales of the Magellan Robotic System subject to
caps. Funding received from Philips under this agreement including $8.0 million received from the original agreement and $6.0 million associated with the
amendment in February 2011 was recognized as a reduction to research and development costs ratably as milestones were met through the end of the term of
the agreement, which was in October 2011. We will pay Philips royalties based on the number of Magellan Robotic Systems and Magellan Robotic Catheters
that are sold, subject to caps, through October 2017.

In February 2011, we entered, directly and through a wholly-owned subsidiary, into patent and technology license, sublicense and purchase agreements
with Philips to allow them to develop and commercialize the non-robotic applications of our Fiber Optic Shape Sensing and Localization, or FOSSL,
technology. Under the terms of the agreements, Philips has the exclusive right to develop and commercialize the FOSSL technology in the non-robotic vascular,
endoluminal and orthopedic fields. Philips also receives non-exclusive rights in other non-robotic medical device fields, but not to any multi-degree of freedom
robotic applications. If Philips does not meet certain specified commercialization obligations, we have the rights to re-acquire the licenses granted to Philips for
pre-determined payments, which payments in the aggregate would be greater than the upfront payment amounts we received from Philips in connection with
the agreements related to the FOSSL technology. The agreement also contains customary representations, warranties and indemnification provisions by each
party.
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Each party may terminate the agreements for material breach by the other party. Philips also has the right to terminate the agreement and its rights under the
agreement if we are acquired by a competitor of the relevant business unit of Philips. In connection with the agreements, we received upfront payments of $23.0
million and will be eligible to receive up to an additional $78.0 million in future payments associated with the successful commercialization by Philips or its
collaborators of products containing FOSSL technology. Approximately two-thirds of these potential future payments could arise from Philips’ sublicensing
the FOSSL technology and approximately one-third of the potential future payments are based on Philips’ royalty obligations on its sales of products
containing the FOSSL technology. We would receive less than half of Philips’ proceeds for its sublicensing FOSSL technology, if and following Philips
entering into an applicable sublicensing transaction. Philips’ FOSSL-related royalty obligations are calculated on a consistent annual basis between 2014 and
2020 and arise in any year only to the extent that Philips achieves a substantial number of commercial placements of FOSSL-enabled products in the calendar
year.

Competition
The markets for medical devices are intensely competitive and are characterized by rapid technological advances, frequent new product introductions,

evolving industry standards and price erosion.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our market include:
 

 •  safety, efficacy and high-quality performance of products;
 

 •  integration with a three-dimensional visualization methodology;
 

 •  ease of use and comfort for the physician;
 

 •  cost of capital equipment and disposable products, including the cost of installation and maintenance;
 

 •  eligibility for coverage and reimbursement;
 

 •  procedure times and improved clinical outcomes for patients;
 

 •  effective sales, marketing and distribution;
 

 •  brand awareness and strong acceptance by healthcare professionals, hospital administration and patients;
 

 •  training, service and support and comprehensive education for patients and physicians; and
 

 •  intellectual property leadership and superiority.

We consider our primary competition for our robotic systems to be in the following areas:
 

 

•  Drug therapies. Drug therapy is currently considered the first line treatment for electrophysiological conditions such as atrial fibrillation. As a
result, physicians typically attempt to treat these conditions with drugs designed to control heart rate and heart rhythm before indicating
interventional procedures. Among atrial fibrillation patients, approximately 40 percent respond to drug therapies per Millennium Research Group
studies conducted in 2008 and, as a result, are not considered candidates for interventional treatment. Therefore, we face competition with the
companies who currently market or are developing drugs or gene therapies to treat electrophysiological conditions such as atrial fibrillation. We are
not currently aware of drug therapies under development that have the potential to improve the success rate of drug treatment for
electrophysiological conditions such as atrial fibrillation. However, to the extent that more effective drug therapies are developed and approved for
use in treating these conditions, we will face increased competition.

 

 
•  Manual catheter-based interventional techniques.  The vast majority of interventional EP and peripheral vascular procedures performed today

are performed with several types of hand-held catheters including Medtronic, Inc.’s Cryoablation products for EP and manual sheaths and
guiding
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catheters for peripheral vascular procedures. These products evolve rapidly, and their manufacturers are constantly attempting to make them more
efficacious in performing the broad range of endovascular procedures conducted by endovascular physicians.

 

 

•  Magnetic guidance systems for steering catheters.  Stereotaxis, Inc. markets a system that has been on the market in the United States and in
Europe since 2003 and that uses magnets to control the working tip of catheters and other control catheters during interventional EP and other
procedures. Because the system was introduced prior to our Sensei system and has a significant installed base, we believe it currently leads the
market for guidance systems for controlling the working tip of catheters and catheter-based technologies.

 

 

•  New approaches. We expect to face competition from companies that are developing new approaches and products for use in interventional
procedures. Some of these companies may attempt to use robotic techniques to compete directly with us, such as Corindus, Inc. and Catheter
Robotics, Inc. We believe, however, that several of these solutions merely involve robotic control of typical manual devices like off the shelf wires
and catheters. We believe that, solely from a clinical perspective, the inability to more effectively control these devices robotically at their tip is a
significant departure from the value we have realized through the application of flexible robotics. Many potential competitors also have an
established presence in the field of interventional cardiology, including the major imaging, capital equipment and disposables companies that are
currently selling products in the EP and vascular lab.

The use of catheters and catheter-based technologies is common for a broad range of interventional procedures in cardiology, vascular and in other
medical specialties. Other companies may market guidance systems for use in complex vascular procedures as well as other uses outside of EP. In addition,
we believe that Intuitive is developing a system to guide flexible medical devices in fields such as urology, gynecology, gastrointestinal disease, and other
medical fields outside of cardiology. While they may not use our patents in EP, cardiology or vascular procedures, Intuitive may attempt to compete directly
with us in EP and cardiology, and will likely compete with us if we decide to offer products outside of our licensed field of treating cardiovascular,
neurovascular and peripheral vascular diseases. We also face competition from large medical device companies that have significantly greater financial and
human resources for product development, sales and marketing, and patent litigation. Large medical device companies such as Johnson & Johnson, St. Jude
Medical, Boston Scientific and others, as well as a variety of smaller innovative companies, such as Stereotaxis, Inc., are also expected to be targeting the EP
and cardiology markets for guiding flexible medical devices. Increased competition could result in price reductions, reduced net revenue and profit margins
and loss of market share, any of which could harm our business. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” for further discussion of risks regarding competition.

Government Regulation

The healthcare industry, and thus our business, is subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign regulation. Some of the pertinent laws have not
been definitively interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of interpretations. In addition, these laws and
their interpretations are subject to change.

Both federal and state governmental agencies continue to subject the healthcare industry to intense regulatory scrutiny, including heightened civil and
criminal enforcement efforts. As indicated by work plans and reports issued by these agencies, the federal government will continue to scrutinize, among other
things, the billing practices of healthcare providers and the marketing of healthcare products. The federal government also has increased funding in recent
years to fight healthcare fraud, and various agencies, such as the U.S. Department of Justice, the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and
Human Services, or OIG, and state Medicaid Fraud Control Units, are coordinating their enforcement efforts.
 

29



Table of Contents

We believe that we have structured our business operations and relationships with our customers to comply with all applicable legal requirements.
However, it is possible that governmental entities or other third parties could interpret these laws differently and assert otherwise. In addition, because there is a
risk that our products are used off label, we believe we are subject to increased risk of prosecution under these laws and by these entities even if we believe we
are acting appropriately. We discuss below the statutes and regulations that are most relevant to our business and most frequently cited in enforcement actions.

U.S. Food and Drug Administration Regulation
The FDA strictly regulates medical devices under the authority of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, and the regulations

promulgated under the FFDCA. The FFDCA and the implementing regulations govern, among other things, the following activities relating to our medical
devices: preclinical and clinical testing, design, manufacture, safety, efficacy, labeling, storage, record keeping, sales and distribution, postmarket adverse
event reporting, recalls, and advertising and promotion.

Our medical devices are categorized under the statutory framework described in the FFDCA. This framework is a risk-based system that classifies
medical devices into three classes from lowest risk (Class I) to highest risk (Class III). In general, Class I devices are subject to only general controls (e.g.,
labeling, medical devices reporting, and prohibitions against adulteration and misbranding) and, in some cases, to the 510(k) premarket clearance
requirements. Class II devices generally require 510(k) premarket notification clearance before they may be commercially marketed in the United States. Class
II devices also may be subject to special controls such as performance standards and FDA guidelines that are not applied to Class I devices. Most Class III
devices require FDA approval of a premarket application, or PMA, prior to commercial distribution. Class III devices are those deemed by the FDA to pose the
greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-supporting or implantable devices, or devices deemed not substantially equivalent to a previously cleared 510(k)
device. Both premarket clearance and PMA applications are subject to the payment of user fees paid at the time of submission for FDA review. The current use
of our Sensei/Artisan and Magellan are classified in Class II, but future applications, such as ablation in treatment of specific arrhythmias could be Class III.

The 510(k) Clearance Process. In the 510(k) process, the FDA reviews a premarket notification and determines whether or not a proposed device is
“substantially equivalent” to a previously cleared 510(k) device or a device that was in commercial distribution before May 28, 1976 for which the FDA has
not yet called for the submission of premarket approval applications, referred to as a “predicate device.” In making this determination, the FDA compares the
proposed device to the predicate device. If the new device is substantially equivalent in intended use and safety and effectiveness to the predicate device, the
new device may be cleared for marketing. The FDA’s 510(k) clearance pathway usually takes from four to 12 months, but it can last longer and clearance is
never guaranteed. In reviewing a premarket notification, the FDA may request additional information, including clinical data. Recent changes to FDA’s
expectations for data support for 510(k) clearance may require the submission of more clinical or pre-clinical data than has previously been required. After a
device receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a major change in its
intended use, requires a new 510(k) clearance or could require PMA approval. The FDA requires each manufacturer to make this determination in the first
instance, but the agency can review any such decision. If the FDA disagrees with a manufacturer’s decision not to seek a new 510(k) clearance, the agency
may retroactively require the manufacturer to seek 510(k) clearance or PMA approval. The FDA also can require the manufacturer to cease marketing and/or
recall the modified device until 510(k) clearance or PMA approval is obtained. Also, the manufacturer may be subject to significant regulatory fines or
penalties.

In May 2007, the FDA cleared our Sensei system and Artisan Control Catheter for promotion for use in mapping the heart anatomy with two specified
mapping catheters. When the FDA cleared our technology for promotion in the U.S., it concluded that there is a reasonable likelihood that our products will be
used for an intended use not identified in the proposed labeling and that such uses could cause harm. The FDA therefore required that we label our products in
the United States with language spelling out that the safety and
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effectiveness of our products for use with cardiac ablation catheters, in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias including atrial fibrillation, have not been
established. Although FDA did not require contraindication of this use in the labeling, the FDA, with supporting data (for example, based on observed trends
in postmarket adverse event reports,) could later choose to require a specific contraindication for use in cardiac ablation procedures. We plan to seek FDA
clearance or approval for labeling that includes ablation procedures.

In 2012, the FDA cleared our Magellan Robotic System for use to facilitate navigation to anatomical targets in the peripheral vasculature. Our FDA
cleared labeling does not further specify the scope of the targets within the peripheral vasculature that are encompassed in the 510(k) clearance. FDA could
disagree with our interpretation of the scope of this clearance. If the FDA concludes that our promotional materials exceed the scope of this clearance, the agency
may retroactively require us to seek 510(k) clearance or PMA approval. The FDA also can require us to cease marketing for any claims beyond the scope of
the clearance and can take other enforcement actions as outlined above.

We cannot assure you that the FDA will grant 510(k) clearance or PMA approval to promote our Magellan and Sensei system and disposable Artisan
and Magellan families of catheters for other uses including for ablation procedures, or what additional data, beyond the on-going clinical trial, the FDA will
require us to submit as part of the 510(k) process or PMA process for other uses. While 510(k) clearance would be preferable, the FDA could even deny
510(k) clearance to promote our system for other uses and require us to seek PMA approval.

The PMA Approval Process. A PMA must be submitted if the device cannot be cleared through the 510(k) process. The PMA process is generally
more costly and time consuming than the 510(k) process. A premarket approval application must be supported by extensive data including, but not limited to,
technical, preclinical, clinical trials, manufacturing and labeling to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the device for its
intended use. After a premarket approval application is sufficiently complete, the FDA will accept the application and begin an in-depth review of the
submitted information. By statute, the FDA has 180 days to review the “accepted application”, although, generally, review of the application can take between
one and three years and it may take significantly longer. During this review period, the FDA may request additional information or clarification of information
already provided. Typically, the FDA will convene an advisory panel meeting to seek review of the data presented in the PMA for novel devices. The panel’s
recommendation is given great weight, but is not dispositive of the agency’s decision. Prior to approving the PMA, the FDA will conduct an inspection of the
manufacturing facilities and a number of the clinical sites where the supporting study was conducted. The facility inspection evaluates the company’s
compliance with the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, which impose elaborate testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures in
the manufacturing process. The FDA may approve the PMA with post approval conditions intended to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the device
including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion, sale and distribution. Failure to comply with the conditions of approval can result in
material adverse enforcement action, including the loss or withdrawal of the approval. Even after approval of a PMA, a new PMA or PMA supplement is
required in the event of a modification to the device, its labeling or its manufacturing process. Supplements to a PMA often require the submission of the same
type of information required for an original PMA, except that the supplement is generally limited to that information needed to support the proposed change
from the product covered by the original PMA.

Clinical Trials. Clinical trials are generally required to support a PMA application and are sometimes required for 510(k) clearance. Such trials, if
conducted in the United States, generally require an investigational device exemption application, or IDE, approved in advance by the FDA for a specified
number of patients and study sites, unless the product is deemed an non-significant risk device eligible for more abbreviated IDE requirements. Clinical trials
are subject to extensive monitoring, recordkeeping and reporting requirements. Clinical trials must be conducted under the oversight of an institutional review
board, or IRB, for the relevant clinical trial sites and must comply with FDA regulations, including but not limited to those relating to good clinical practices.
To conduct a clinical trial, we also are required to obtain the patients’ informed consent that complies with FDA requirements, state and federal privacy
regulations and human subject protection regulations.
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We, the FDA or the IRB could suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a belief that the risks to study subjects outweigh the
anticipated benefits. Additionally, we may decide at any time, for business or other reasons, to terminate a study. Even if a trial is completed, the results of
clinical testing may not adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the device, may be equivocal, or may otherwise not be sufficient to obtain FDA
clearance or approval to market the product in the U.S. Following completion of a study, we would need to collect, analyze and present the data in an
appropriate submission to the FDA, either a 510(k) premarket notification or a PMA. In addition, FDA may perform a BIMO inspection of a study and if it
finds deficiencies, we will need to expand resources to correct those deficiencies, which may delay clearance or approval or the deficiencies may be so great that
FDA could refuse to accept all or part of our data or trigger enforcement action.

We have received an IDE approval to investigate the use of our Sensei system and Artisan family of catheters in the treatment of atrial fibrillation in a
clinical study designed to support the expansion of our current labeling in the U.S. beyond mapping. The study was planned to involve approximately 300
patients and involves the treatment of atrial fibrillation. We enrolled our first patient in May 2010 and approximately 50 patients were enrolled as of January
2013. A proposed modification to the study protocol was submitted to FDA for review in January 2013. The modified study, which plans to enroll a minimum
of 125 additional subjects, was approved by the FDA in August 2013 and 19 patients have been enrolled to date. The study includes a seven-day follow-up
for safety and a one-year follow-up for efficacy at intervals of 90, 180, and 365 days.

Pervasive and Continuing Regulation . After a device is placed on the market, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include:
 

 
•  product listing and establishment registration (with the payment of associated user fees), which helps facilitate FDA inspections and other

regulatory action;
 

 
•  Quality System Regulation, or QSR, which requires manufacturers, including third-party manufacturers, to follow stringent design, testing,

control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during all aspects of the development and manufacturing process;
 

 •  labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions against the promotion of products for uncleared, unapproved or off-label uses or indications;
 

 
•  clearance of product modifications that could significantly affect safety or efficacy or that would constitute a major change in intended use of

cleared devices;
 

 •  approval of product modifications that affect the safety or effectiveness of approved devices;
 

 
•  medical device reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers comply with FDA requirements to report if their device may have caused

or contributed to a death or serious injury, or has malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the
malfunction of the device or a similar device were to recur;

 

 •  post-approval restrictions or conditions, including post-approval study commitments;
 

 
•  post-market surveillance regulations, which apply when necessary to protect the public health or to provide additional safety and effectiveness

data for the device;
 

 
•  the FDA’s recall authority, whereby it can ask, or under certain conditions order, device manufacturers to recall from the market a product that is

in violation of governing laws and regulations;
 

 •  regulations pertaining to voluntary recalls; and
 

 •  notices of corrections or removals.

Advertising and promotion of medical devices, in addition to being regulated by the FDA, are also regulated by the Federal Trade Commission and by
state regulatory and enforcement authorities. Recently, promotional activities for FDA-regulated products of other companies have been the subject of
enforcement action brought under healthcare reimbursement laws and consumer protection statutes. In addition, under the federal Lanham
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Act and similar state laws, competitors and others can initiate litigation relating to advertising claims. Accordingly, we may not market or promote our
Magellan and Sensei systems for any off-label use. For example, we are not permitted to promote our Sensei system in the United States for use with any other
mapping catheter other than the two specified in our 510(k) clearance, use with any ablation catheters, or in any other procedure such as ablation procedures.
The FDA has specifically indicated that the commercial distribution of these devices for use in ablation procedures will require us to obtain a new 510(k)
clearance or, more likely, PMA approval with significant clinical data. Nonetheless, physicians are using our devices off-label for these indications within
their practice of medicine. It is our understanding that all or nearly all of the procedures performed using our technology have involved a combination of
mapping and ablation. If the FDA determines that our promotional materials or training constitutes promotion of an unapproved use, it could request that we
modify our training or promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter,
injunction, seizure, civil fine or criminal penalties. It is also possible that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they
consider our promotional or training materials to constitute promotion of an unapproved use, which could result in significant fines or penalties under other
statutory authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement. In that event, our reputation could be damaged and adoption of the products
would be impaired.

Furthermore, our products could be subject to voluntary recall if we or the FDA determine, for any reason, that our products pose a risk of injury or are
otherwise defective. Moreover, the FDA can order a mandatory recall if there is a reasonable probability that our device would cause serious adverse health
consequences or death.

The Medical Device Reporting regulation (21 CFR 803), or MDR regulation, requires device manufacturers to report to the FDA whenever they receive or
become aware of information that reasonably suggests that a device marketed by the manufacturer “may have caused or contributed to a death or serious
injury” or has malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, likely would cause or contribute to a death or serious injury (21 CFR 803.50(a)). Adverse
event reporting, under the MDR regulation, is subject to two different time frames and report types, depending on the nature of the event. Once reportable
events have been identified, we must decide which individual adverse event report to file: a five-day report or a 30-day report. For events involving deaths,
serious injuries or malfunctions that require remedial action to prevent an unreasonable risk of substantial harm to the public health, a five-day report must be
filed. If remedial action is not necessary, a 30-day report must be filed. MDRs are disclosed to the public via the Manufacturer and User Facility Device
Experience (MAUDE) database, which is maintained by the FDA. If we fail to report MDRs to the FDA within the required timeframes, or at all, the FDA
could take enforcement action against us.

The FDA has broad post-market and regulatory enforcement powers. We are subject to unannounced inspections by the FDA to determine our
compliance with the QSR and other regulations, and these inspections may include the manufacturing facilities of some of our subcontractors. In particular,
we and our suppliers are required to comply with FDA’s Quality System Regulations, or QSR, and International Standards Organization, or ISO, regulations
for the manufacture of our products and other regulations which cover the methods and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality
assurance, labeling, packaging, storage and shipping of any product for which we obtain clearance or approval. The failure by us or one of our suppliers to
comply with applicable statutes and regulations administered by the FDA and other regulatory bodies, or the failure to timely and adequately respond to any
adverse inspectional observations or product safety issues, could result in, among other things, enforcement actions. We underwent an FDA inspection, which
employed QSIT, in July 2010 and received 2 inspectional observations. The agency accepted our responses and the inspection was closed.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown problems with our robotic systems, including unanticipated adverse events or adverse events of
increasing severity or frequency, whether resulting from the use of the device within the scope of its clearance or off-label by a physician in the practice of
medicine, or observations found during a future inspection, could result in enforcement action by the FDA or other regulatory authorities.
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Foreign Regulation
In order for us to market our products in other countries, we must comply with extensive safety and quality regulations in other countries. These

regulations, including the requirements for approvals, clearance, or grant of CE Certificates of Conformity and the time required for regulatory review, vary
from country to country. Failure to obtain regulatory approval, clearance, or CE Certificates of Conformity in any foreign country in which we plan to market
our products may harm our ability to generate revenue and harm our business.

The primary regulatory environment in Europe is that European Economic Area (EEA), which is comprised of the 28 Member States of the European
Union (EU), Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway. In the EEA, our devices are required to comply with the Essential Requirements laid down in Annex I to the
Medical Devices Directive. We are also required to ensure compliance with the relevant quality system requirements laid down in the Annexes to the Medical
Devices Directive. Compliance with these requirements entitles us to affix the CE mark to our medical devices, without which they cannot be commercialized.
To demonstrate compliance with the Essential Requirements laid down in Annex I of the Medical Devices Directive and obtain the right to affix the CE mark to
our medical devices, we must undergo a conformity assessment procedure, which varies according to the type of medical device and its classification. With
the exception of low risk medical devices (Class I devices with no measuring function and which are not sterile), in relation to which the manufacturer may
issue an EC Declaration of Conformity based on a self-assessment of the conformity of its products with the Essential Requirements laid down in the Medical
Devices Directive, a conformity assessment procedure requires the intervention of a Notified Body. This is an organization designated by the competent
authorities of an EEA country to conduct conformity assessments. Depending on the relevant conformity assessment procedure, the Notified Body would
typically audit and examine products’ Technical File and the quality system for the manufacture, design and final inspection of our devices before issuing a
CE Certificate of Conformity. This Certificate demonstrates compliance with the relevant Essential Requirements laid down in Annex I of the Medical Devices
Directive or the relevant quality system requirements laid down in the Annexes to the Directive. Companies compliant with ISO requirements such as “EN ISO
13485: 2003 Medical devices — Quality management systems — Requirements for regulatory purposes” benefit from a presumption of conformity with the
relevant quality system requirements laid down in the Annexes to the Medical Devices Directive. The Notified Body issues a CE Certificate of Conformity
following successful completion of a conformity assessment procedure conducted in relation to the medical device and its manufacturer and their conformity
with the Essential Requirements and quality system requirements. This Certificate entitles the manufacturer to affix the CE mark to its medical devices after
having prepared and signed a related EC Declaration of Conformity. In September 2006, we received CE Certificate of Conformity from our Notified Body
permitting us to affix the CE mark and market our Sensei system in the EEF. In May 2007 we received a CE Certificate of Conformity for our Artisan Control
Catheter which allows us to affix the CE mark to market our system for ablation procedures and to market it in the EEA. In July 2010, we obtained a CE
Certificate of Conformity from our Notified Body enabling us to affix the CE mark to our Lynx catheter, and in February 2013, our Notified Body issued a
further CE Certificate of Conformity for our Artisan Extend Control Catheter. In July 2011, we affixed the CE mark for sale of our Magellan Robotic System
after having received a CE Certificate of Conformity from our Notified Body and, in October 2011, we received another CE Certificate of Conformity
permitting us to affix the CE mark to our Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories. If we modify existing products or develop new products in the
future, including new devices, we will need to notify our Notified Body and go through a conformity assessment procedure before having the right to affix the
CE mark to such products. We will be subject to regulatory audits, currently conducted biannually, in order to maintain any CE Certificates of Conformity
that have been issued by our Notified Body. We cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain CE Certificates of Conformity for new or modified products or
that we will continue to meet the quality, safety and efficacy requirements necessary to maintain the CE Certificates of Conformity that we have already
received. If we are unable to maintain our existing CE Certificates of Conformity for our products, we will no longer be able to affix the CE mark to them and
sell our products in EEA countries. We will evaluate regulatory approval in other foreign countries on an opportunistic basis.
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Anti-Kickback Statutes and False Claims Acts
In the United States, there are federal and state anti-kickback laws that generally prohibit the payment or receipt of kickbacks, bribes or other

remuneration in exchange for the referral of patients or other health-related business. For example, the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute
prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully offering, paying soliciting or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, in exchange for
or to induce either the referral of an individual, or the purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease, or order of any
healthcare item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under federal healthcare program such as the Medicare and Medicaid
programs. The statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between medical device manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers and purchasers on
the other. The definition of “remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value, including, among other things, gifts, discounts, the
furnishing of supplies or equipment, credit arrangements, payments of cash and waivers of payments. Several courts and the OIG have interpreted the
statute’s intent requirement to mean that if one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of items or services for which payment
may be made under a federal healthcare program, the statute has been violated. In addition, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act clarified that a
person or entity need not have actual knowledge of the federal Anti-kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it. Penalties for violations of the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute include imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetary penalties and exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal
healthcare programs. In addition, under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, any claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the
Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims Act, discussed in more detail below.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and prohibits many arrangements and practices that are permissible in businesses outside of the healthcare
industry. Recognizing that the Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and may technically prohibit innocuous or beneficial arrangements, Congress enacted statutory
exceptions and authorized the OIG to issue “safe harbors” regulations, which it did beginning in July of 1991. These statutory exceptions and regulatory safe
harbors set forth provisions that, if an arrangement or transaction satisfies all applicable requirements, will protect the participants from prosecution or other
regulatory sanctions under the Anti-Kickback Statute. The failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within one or more safe harbors does not
necessarily mean that it is illegal or that prosecution will be pursued. However, transactions and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy a safe harbor
may be subject to scrutiny by government enforcement authorities such as the OIG.

Many states have adopted laws similar to the Anti-Kickback Statute. Some of these state prohibitions apply to referral of patients for healthcare items or
services reimbursed by any source, not only federal healthcare programs like Medicare and Medicaid.

Another trend affecting the healthcare industry is the increased use of the federal False Claims Act which imposes penalties against individuals or
entities for, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment of government funds that are false or fraudulent, or
knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay money to the government, or knowingly
concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. The False Claims Act has
been used to assert liability on the basis of inadequate care, improper referrals, and improper use of Medicare numbers when detailing the provider of services,
as well as allegations as to misrepresentations with respect to the services rendered and promotion of products for off-label uses. The False Claims Act also
includes “whistleblower” or “qui tam” provisions that allow a private individual to bring actions for violations on behalf of the government. In recent years,
the number of suits brought against manufacturers and others by private individuals has increased dramatically. In addition, various states have enacted laws
modeled after the federal False Claims Act and some states’ laws may apply more broadly to claims for items or services reimbursed regardless of payer.
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Federal civil False Claims Act violations may result in treble monetary damages, civil penalties of between $5,500 to $11,000 for each separate false or
fraudulent claim and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. There are also criminal penalties, including imprisonment and criminal
fines, for making or presenting a false or fictitious or fraudulent claim to the federal government. We are unable to predict whether we could be subject to
actions under the federal civil False Claims Act or any comparable state laws, or the impact of such actions. However, the costs of defending claims under the
False Claims Act or any comparable state laws, as well as sanctions imposed under the Act, could significantly affect our financial performance. Civil
liability under the federal False Claims Act or misdemeanor violations of federal health care laws gives the OIG the discretion to exclude a company’s products
from reimbursement by federal healthcare programs. It is the discretion to exclude that leads companies to negotiate Corporate Integrity Agreements with the
OIG so their products may continue to receive reimbursement. There are also criminal penalties, including imprisonment and criminal fines, for making or
presenting a false or fictitious or fraudulent claim to the federal government. Moreover, the federal criminal false statements statute prohibits knowingly and
willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact, making any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation, or making or
using any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry in connection with the
delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. Conviction under any of the aforementioned federal criminal statutes requires mandatory
exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs.

Our activities relating to the reporting of wholesale or estimated retail prices for our products, the reporting of discount and rebate information and other
information affecting federal, state and third-party reimbursement of our products, and the sale and marketing of our products, may be subject to scrutiny
under these laws.

Government officials have focused their enforcement efforts on marketing of healthcare services and products, among other activities, and recently have
brought cases against sales personnel who allegedly offered unlawful inducements to potential or existing customers in an attempt to procure their business. As
part of our compliance program, we have reviewed our sales contracts and marketing materials and practices to assure compliance with these federal and state
laws, and inform employees and marketing representatives of the Anti-Kickback Statute and their obligations thereunder. However, we cannot rule out the
possibility that the government or other third parties could interpret these laws differently and challenge our practices under one or more of these laws. If our
past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws, we could be subject to civil and criminal penalties, which could hurt our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Interactions between medical device manufacturers and physicians are also governed by strict laws, regulations, industry self-regulation codes of
conduct and physicians’ codes of professional conduct in the individual EEA countries. The provision of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or
encourage the prescription, recommendation, endorsement, purchase, supply, order or use of medical devices is prohibited in the EEA. The provision of
benefits or advantages to physicians is also governed by the national anti-bribery laws of the EEA countries. One example is the UK Bribery Act 2010. This
Act applies to any company incorporated in or “carrying on business” in the UK, irrespective of where in the world the alleged bribery activity occurs. This
Act could have implications for our interactions with physicians both in and outside the UK. Violation of these laws could result in substantial fines and
imprisonment.

Payments made to physicians in certain EU Member States must be publically disclosed. Moreover, agreements with physicians must often be the
subject of prior notification and approval by the physician’s employer, his/her competent professional organization, and/or the competent authorities of the
individual EEA country. These requirements are provided in the national laws, industry codes, or professional codes of conduct, applicable in the EEA
countries. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative penalties, fines or imprisonment.
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Federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act and state marketing and disclosure laws
As of August 1, 2013, the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, being implemented as the Open Payments Program, requires certain medical device

manufacturers to engage in extensive tracking of payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals, maintenance of a database
containing such data, and public reporting of such data. Medical device manufacturers with products for which payment is available under Medicare,
Medicaid or the State Children’s Health Insurance Program are required to track and report such payments. We began tracking applicable payments and
transfers of value on August 1, 2013 and must begin reporting payment data to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services by March 31, 2014 and
annually thereafter. Failure to comply with the reporting obligations may result in civil monetary penalties.

Several states now require medical device manufacturers to report expenses relating to the marketing and promotion or require them to implement
compliance programs or marketing codes. For example, California, Connecticut and Nevada mandate implementation of corporate compliance programs,
while Massachusetts and Vermont impose more detailed restrictions on device manufacturer marketing practices and tracking and reporting of gifts,
compensation and other remuneration to health care providers.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created two new federal crimes: healthcare fraud and false statements

relating to healthcare matters. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program,
including private payors. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines, imprisonment or exclusion from government sponsored programs. The
false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement or representation or making or using any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement or entry in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. A violation of this statute is a felony and
may result in fines or imprisonment.

In addition to creating the two new federal healthcare crimes, HIPAA, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, also establish uniform standards for
certain covered entities governing the conduct of certain electronic healthcare transactions and protecting the security and privacy of protected health
information, or PHI, maintained or created by healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses. Implementing regulations have been
promulgated under HIPAA, including: the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information (the “Privacy Rule”), which restrict the use
and disclosure of PHI and establish standards for the privacy of PHI; the Standards for Electronic Transactions, which establish standards for the content
and format of certain common healthcare transactions, such as claims information, plan eligibility, and payment information; the Security Standards for the
Protection of Electronic PHI (“Security Rule”), which require covered entities to implement and maintain certain security measures to safeguard electronic PHI;
the Breach Notification Rule, which imposes standards related to the reporting of breaches of PHI; and the Enforcement Rule, which establishes standards for
the enforcement of HIPAA.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, or ARRA, commonly referred to as the economic stimulus package, was signed into law on
February 17, 2009. The legislation includes a section called the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act. HITECH,
among other things, introduced sweeping changes to HIPAA’s Privacy and Security Rules and expanded the scope of HIPAA enforcement and introduced a
breach notification requirement. The new law makes many of HIPAA’s privacy and security standards directly applicable to covered entities’ “business
associates” — independent contractors of covered entities that create, receive, maintain or transmit protected health information in connection with providing a
service for or on their behalf. HITECH also increased the civil and criminal penalties that may be imposed for violations of HIPAA and gave state attorneys
general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce HIPAA and in certain circumstances seek attorney fees and
costs
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associated with pursuing federal civil actions. On January 25, 2013, the Office for Civil Rights of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
published a final rule implementing most of the HITECH Act privacy and security modifications to HIPAA, and strengthening the breach reporting
requirements introduced under HITECH. The final rule was effective March 26, 2013, with a compliance deadline of September 23, 2013 for most provisions
of the final rule applicable to covered entities and business associates.

Although we believe we are not a covered entity under HIPAA, we expect that our customers generally will be covered entities and they may obligate us to
contractually comply with certain aspects of HIPAA. While the government intended this legislation to reduce administrative expenses and burdens for the
healthcare industry, to the extent we contractually agree to comply with certain provisions of HIPAA we may experience significant costs. If we fail to comply
with the standards that we have agreed to contractually, we may be subject to liability for violation of related contractual obligations we have with our
customers. Pursuant to the HITECH Act and its implementing regulations, to the extent we are a business associate of our covered entity customers, we will be
obligated to enter into certain agreements-business associate agreements- and directly subject to the HIPAA Security Rule, Breach Notification Rule and
portions of the Privacy Rule and can be directly liable to HHS for noncompliance. Our compliance with these standards may entail significant costs for us and
we cannot predict the effect of increased enforcement efforts in this area. To the extent we are subject to HIPAA, noncompliance can result in civil or criminal
enforcement. Even if we are not directly subject to HIPAA, we could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain or disclose individually
identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA.

In addition to federal regulations issued under HIPAA, many states have enacted privacy and security statutes or regulations that regulate the use and
disclosure of health information, including state medical privacy laws, state breach notification laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws. In some
cases, these laws are more stringent than those issued under HIPAA and are not preempted. It may be necessary to modify our planned operations and
procedures to comply with applicable state laws. If we fail to comply with applicable state laws and regulations, we could be subject to additional sanctions.

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
The federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1997 and other similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their

intermediaries from providing money or anything of value to officials of foreign governments, foreign political parties, or international organizations with the
intent to obtain or retain business or seek a business advantage. Recently, there has been a substantial increase in anti-bribery law enforcement activity by
U.S. regulators, with more frequent and aggressive investigations and enforcement proceedings by both the Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission. A determination that our operations or activities are not, or were not, in compliance with United States or foreign laws or regulations
could result in the imposition of substantial fines, interruptions of business, loss of supplier, vendor or other third-party relationships, termination of
necessary licenses and permits, and other legal or equitable sanctions. Other internal or government investigations or legal or regulatory proceedings, including
lawsuits brought by private litigants, may also follow as a consequence. Violations of these laws may result in criminal or civil sanctions, which could
disrupt our business and result in a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations or financial condition.

Certificate of Need Laws
In approximately two-thirds of the states, a certificate of need or similar regulatory approval is required prior to the acquisition of high-cost capital items

or various types of advanced medical equipment, such as our system. At present, many of the states in which we expect to sell our system have laws that
require institutions located in those states to obtain a certificate of need in connection with the purchase of our system, and we anticipate that some of our
purchase orders may be conditioned upon our customer’s receipt of necessary certificate of need approval. Certificate of need laws were enacted to contain
rising healthcare costs, prevent the
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unnecessary duplication of health resources, and increase patient access for health services. In practice, certificate of need laws have prevented hospitals and
other providers who have been unable to obtain a certificate of need from acquiring new equipment or offering new services. A further increase in the number of
states regulating our business through certificate of need or similar programs could adversely affect us. Moreover, some states may have additional
requirements. For example, we understand that California’s certificate of need law also incorporates seismic safety requirements which must be met before a
hospital can acquire our system.

Employees
As of December 31, 2013, we had 171 employees, 31 of whom were engaged directly in research and development, 15 in regulatory, clinical affairs and

quality activities, 42 in sales and marketing activities, 9 in customer service and support, 47 in manufacturing and 27 in general administrative and
accounting activities. None of our employees is covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and we consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Additional Information

Hansen Medical, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 2002 under the name AutoCath, Inc. We file reports and other information with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC, including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and proxy or
information statements. Those reports and statements as well as all amendments to those documents filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (1) are available at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549, (2) are
available at the SEC’s internet site (www.sec.gov), which contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC and (3) are available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after electronic filing with, or furnishing
to, the SEC. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

Our website address is www.hansenmedical.com. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference nor otherwise included in this report. Our
principal executive offices are located at 800 East Middlefield Road, Mountain View, California 94043 and our telephone number is (650) 404-5800.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business

Our efforts to commercialize our Magellan Robotic System and Sensei system may encounter obstacles and delays which could significantly
harm our ability to generate revenue.

Our ability to generate revenues depends upon the successful commercialization of our Magellan Robotic System and Sensei system. These
commercialization efforts may not succeed for a number of reasons, including those set forth in this Item 1A and that:
 

 •  our systems may not be accepted by physicians or hospitals;
 

 
•  we may not be able to sell our systems and associated catheters in volumes and at prices that allow us to meet the revenue targets necessary to

generate revenue necessary to achieve profitability;
 

 
•  the use of our systems by customers may not achieve more predictable procedure times, enable more complex cases or result in other physician or

clinical benefits that we believe will drive adoption of our products;
 

 
•  we, or the investigators of our products, may not be able to generate sufficient information regarding outcomes with our systems to satisfy

potential purchasers;
 

 •  the availability and perceived advantages of alternative treatments may hinder acceptance of our systems;
 

 
•  our assumptions regarding the economic value proposition of our systems for hospitals, including the reimbursement rates that hospitals may

achieve for procedures using our systems, may not be sufficiently accurate to drive adoption in acceptable quantities;
 

 •  any rapid technological change may make our products obsolete;
 

 •  we may not be able to manufacture our systems or catheters in commercial quantities or at an acceptable cost;
 

 •  we may not have adequate financial or other resources to complete the commercialization of our systems or the development of new products; and
 

 •  we may not obtain regulatory clearance for the applications for which many physicians wish to use our systems.

If we are not successful in the commercialization of our Sensei system for uses other than for mapping in electrophysiology procedures or the
development and commercialization of our Magellan Robotic System, we may never achieve sustained profitability and may be forced to cease operations.

Successful commercialization of our Magellan Robotic System is subject to manufacturing, marketing, sales and customer service risks which
could significantly harm our ability to generate revenue.

We have limited experienced in manufacturing our Magellan Robotic System, Magellan Robotic Catheters and related accessories in commercial
quantities and we may encounter unexpected manufacturing problems when scaling up the production of these new products. While we have experience
marketing and selling the Sensei system following its initial regulatory approvals in 2007, the marketing and sales effort for our Magellan Robotic System
involves different customers, value propositions and purchasing processes, and we are only beginning to gain experience in marketing and selling our
Magellan Robotic System. Our Magellan Robotic System is a novel device, and hospitals are traditionally slow to adopt new products and treatment practices.
Our Magellan Robotic System is an expensive capital equipment purchase which slows the sales process. Since the Magellan Robotic System has only recently
been commercially introduced, our Magellan Robotic System has limited product and brand recognition. Furthermore, we do not believe hospitals will
purchase our products unless the physicians at those hospitals express a strong desire to use our products and we cannot predict whether
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or not they will do so in sufficient numbers. The ability to obtain market acceptance of a new product such as the Magellan Robotic System is highly variable
and subject to many risks. As a result, our commercialization plans may be delayed, incomplete or unsuccessful. While we have prepared new training
materials specifically for our Magellan Robotic System, these materials have not been used extensively and only a limited number of clinical cases have been
performed with our Magellan Robotic System. As a result, with greater physician experience with our Magellan Robotic System, we may identify areas where
further training is required. In addition, commercial introduction of new products sometimes results in the identification of latent or new product defects or
quality issues that were not evident in the testing of the products. If we encounter any of these new product introduction issues with our Magellan Robotic
System, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

We may not be able to further develop our Magellan Robotic System as planned, which could significantly harm our ability to achieve future
regulatory approvals and market acceptance.

We intend to further develop our Magellan Robotic System, including our Magellan Robotic Catheters and related accessories. Due to the advanced
electrical, mechanical, and software capabilities of this new robotic platform, we may encounter challenges in designing, engineering and manufacturing future
enhancements to the platform, which may lead to compatibility obstacles with operating room and catheter laboratory layouts, equipment quality or
performance issues, unmet customer expectations regarding features or functionality or other defects in future versions of the platform. Any such difficulties
could result in delays in our submissions to regulatory agencies, delays in achieving or the failure to achieve additional regulatory approvals or clearances for
enhancements to the system, lack of physician adoption of our system, higher than expected service claims, litigation and negative press coverage.

If we are unable to manufacture our systems and catheters in a manner that yields sufficient gross margins, we will be unable to achieve
profitable commercialization.

We do not have significant experience in manufacturing, assembling or testing our current products on a commercial scale. Our products contain
expensive materials and are expensive to manufacture, particularly in limited quantities. In addition to increasing sales to increase manufacturing overhead
absorption, we need to reduce the variable manufacturing costs of our catheters in order to achieve our operational and financial goals. We face challenges in
order to produce disposable catheters effectively, to appropriately phase in new products and designs, to efficiently utilize our manufacturing facility and to
achieve planned manufacturing cost reductions. If we are unable to effectively manage these issues, our costs of producing our products will negatively affect
our gross margins which will negatively impact our business.

We are a company with a limited history of operations, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict.
We are a medical device company with a limited operating history and first recognized revenues in the second quarter of 2007. We have been engaged in

research and product development since our inception in late 2002. Our Sensei Robotic Catheter System, or Sensei system, received U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, clearance in May 2007 and our corresponding disposable Artisan Control Catheter and Artisan Extend Control Catheter received
FDA clearance in May 2007 and August 2012, respectively, for commercialization to facilitate manipulation, positioning and control of certain mapping
catheters during electrophysiology procedures. We also received the CE Mark in Europe for our Sensei system in September 2006, for our Artisan Control
Catheter in May 2007, for our Lynx catheter in July 2010, for our Magellan Robotic System in July 2011, for our Magellan Robotic Catheter in October 2011
and for our Artisan Extend Control Catheter in December 2012. We received FDA clearance for the commercialization of our Magellan Robotic System
including the catheter and accessories in June 2012 and we received FDA clearance for the marketing of our Magellan 6Fr Robotic Catheter in February 2014,
and we have also received regulatory approvals for our Sensei system and/or our Magellan Robotic System in several countries outside of the U.S, including
Canada. Our Canadian license for the Sensei system, which was issued in December 2011, is conditioned upon our providing
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yearly safety and effectiveness data for a period of three years for post-market use of the system, including marketing history, a clinical literature review, and
up-to-date data on our randomized clinical study. Failure to provide these reports may result in suspension of our license.

The future success of our business will depend on our ability to design and obtain regulatory approval for new products, manufacture and assemble our
current and future products in sufficient quantities in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements and at lower costs, increase product sales and
successfully support and service our products, all of which we may be unable to do. We have a limited history of operations upon which you can evaluate our
business and our operating expenses have fluctuated significantly. We have only recently introduced our Magellan Robotic System and do not have experience
selling different systems for different applications. Our lack of a significant operating history also limits your ability to make a comparative evaluation of us,
our products and our prospects. If we are unable to successfully operate our business, our business and financial condition will be harmed.

We have incurred substantial losses since inception and anticipate that we will incur continued losses through at least the next year, we may not
be able to raise additional financing to fund future losses.

We have experienced substantial net losses since our inception in late 2002. As of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $352.7 million.
We have funded our operations to date principally from the sale of our securities, the issuance of debt and through partnering and the licensing of intellectual
property. As of December 31, 2013, our cash, cash equivalents, short-investments and restricted cash total was $35.3 million. We incurred an operating loss
of $55.7 million and had negative cash flows from operations of $42.8 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. In addition, we are also subject to
minimum liquidity requirements under our existing borrowing arrangement with White Oak Global Advisors, LLC that requires us to maintain $15.0 million
in liquidity, consisting of at least $13.0 million in cash and investments, of which $5.0 million is requcired to be restricted subject to lenders’ control, and up
to $2.0 million in certain accounts receivable. In order to meet our long-term anticipated cash requirements, we need to obtain additional financing or adopt
additional cost-cutting measures. There can be no assurance, however, that such a financing will be successfully completed on terms acceptable to us or that
we can implement cost cutting measures sufficient to meet our long-term anticipated cash requirements. We may seek additional financing at any time by
selling additional equity or debt securities, licensing core or non-core intellectual property assets, entering into future research and development funding
arrangements, refinancing or restructuring existing debt arrangements, or entering into a credit facility. If we seek additional funding in the future by selling
additional equity or debt securities or entering into debt or credit facilities, such additional funding may result in substantial dilution to existing stockholders,
may contain unfavorable terms or may not be available on any terms. Conditions in the global financial and credit markets may limit our ability to raise
additional funds. We cannot guarantee that future equity or debt financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Further, even if
financing is available, the cost to us may be significantly higher than in the past. Our ability to access the capital markets and raise funds required for our
operations may be severely restricted by general market conditions at a time when we would like, or need, to do so, which could have an adverse effect on our
ability to meet our current and future funding requirements and on our flexibility to react to changing economic and business conditions. This could leave us
without adequate financial resources to fund our operations as presently conducted or as we plan to conduct them in the future. If adequate funds are not
available, we may be required to adopt additional cost-cutting measures, including additional reductions in our work force, reducing the scope of, delaying or
eliminating some or all of our planned research, development and commercialization activities and/or reducing marketing, customer support or other resources
devoted to our products. If we seek additional funding through partnering and licensing transactions, we could be required to license to third parties the rights
to commercialize products or technologies that we would otherwise seek to commercialize ourselves or on terms that are less attractive than they might otherwise
be. Any of these factors could materially harm our business and may negatively impact our ability to continue to operate as a going concern.

We expect to incur substantial additional net losses for at least the next year. Because we may not be successful in significantly increasing sales of our
products, the extent of our future losses and the timing of
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achieving sustained profitability are highly uncertain, and we may never achieve sustained profitable operations. If we require more time than we expect to
generate significant revenue and achieve sustained profitability, we may not be able to continue our operations. Even if we achieve significant revenues, we
may never become profitable on a sustained basis.

We have a debt facility with White Oak Global Advisors, LLC that shall requires us to meet certain restrictive covenants that may limit our
operating flexibility.

In August 2013, we entered into an amended and restated $33.0 million loan and security agreement with White Oak Global Advisors, LLC, or White
Oak, as a lender and as collateral agent for the lenders under the loan agreement. We are obligated to pay only interest on the loan until the loan’s maturity date,
which is December 30, 2017. At our option, we may prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal balance, subject to paying a prepayment fee of 3.5%
of the principal amount of the loan prepaid if our prepayment is made on or before the third anniversary of the funding of the loan or 1.0% of the principal
amount of the loan prepaid if our prepayment is made after the fourth anniversary of the funding of the loan. We are also required to make mandatory
prepayments upon certain events of loss and certain dispositions of our assets as described in the loan agreement.

The loan agreement contains customary events of default, including if we fail to make a payment on its due date, fail to perform specified obligations,
fail to comply with certain covenants in the loan agreement, experience a material adverse change, or becomes insolvent. We have granted the lenders a first
priority security interest in substantially all of our assets, excluding any of our intellectual property, now owned or hereafter acquired, and all proceeds and
products thereof. Two of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, AorTx, Inc. and Hansen Medical International, Inc., have guaranteed our obligations under the loan
and have granted first priority security interests in their assets, excluding any of their intellectual property, to secure their guarantee obligations. Under the loan
agreement, neither we nor Aortx, Inc. and Hansen Medical International, Inc. may grant a lien on any intellectual property to third parties. We have also pledged
to the lenders shares of each of our direct and indirect subsidiaries as collateral for the loan. We are also subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants,
including a requirement to maintain $15.0 million of liquidity, consisting of at least $13.0 million in cash and investments of which $5.0 million of which
shall be restricted funds subject to lenders’ control, and up to $2.0 million in certain accounts receivable. We are subject to limitations on our ability to:
undergo certain change of control events; convey, sell, lease, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of our assets; create, incur, assume, or be liable with respect
to certain indebtedness; grant liens; pay dividends and make certain other restricted payments; make loans, acquisitions, or certain investments; create
subsidiaries or enter into joint ventures; repurchase certain equity interests; make payments on any subordinated debt; make material changes to our core
business or the core business of any of our subsidiaries; enter into transactions with any of our affiliates outside of the ordinary course of business; or permit
our subsidiaries to do the same.

As of December 31, 2013, we were in compliance with all financial covenants. In the event we were to violate any covenants or if White Oak believes
that we have violated any covenants, and such violations are not cured pursuant to the terms of the loan and security agreement, we would be in default under
the loan and security agreement, which would entitle White Oak to exercise their remedies, including the right to accelerate the debt, upon which we may be
required to repay all amounts then outstanding under the loan and security agreement. Complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to
successfully execute our business strategy.

If Philips is unable to develop or license new products or applications for the FOSSL technology, or such products are not commercially viable,
we may not realize the full benefits of our agreements with Philips which would harm our results of operations and could delay and or impair
our ability to successfully commercialize that technology.

The realization of the full potential benefits of our agreements with Philips, including the receipt of any of the up to $78.0 million in future payments
associated with the successful commercialization by Philips or its
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collaborators of products containing the FOSSL technology, requires the development of new products and applications of technology that are subject to
design, engineering and manufacturing challenges, potential safety and regulatory issues that could delay, suspend or terminate clinical studies, regulatory
approvals or sales, and our reliance on third parties to develop, obtain regulatory approval for, manufacture, market and sell products containing FOSSL
technology. Approximately two-thirds of the up to $78.0 million of potential future payments could arise from Philips’ sublicensing the FOSSL technology,
but Philips has no obligations to do so. Under certain circumstances, we have the right to reacquire certain of the rights licensed to Philips for an amount
which in the aggregate would be greater than the upfront payment amounts received by us from Philips in connection with the agreements related to the FOSSL
technology, however, there can be no assurance that we would have the capital resources to exercise such rights or that we could find another commercial
partner or develop commercially such technologies. In addition, Philips’ sales of products containing the FOSSL technology could be sufficient to result in our
not having any rights to reacquire any of the rights licensed to Philips, yet too low to result in any royalty payments to us. If any of these events occurred, we
would be unable to realize the full financial benefits of our agreements with Philips and may be delayed or unable to monetize the FOSSL technology in other
areas, harming our research and development efforts and adversely affecting our business.

We may be unable to complete our clinical trial for the treatment of atrial fibrillation or other future trials, or we may experience significant
delays in completing our clinical trials, which could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our Sensei system for expanded uses and impair
our financial position.

We have received IDE approval to investigate the use of our Sensei system and Artisan Control and Artisan Extend catheters in the treatment of atrial
fibrillation in a clinical study designed to support the expansion of our current labeling in the U.S. beyond mapping. The study was planned to involve
approximately 300 patients and involves the treatment of atrial fibrillation. We enrolled our first patient in May 2010 and approximately 50 patients have been
enrolled to date. A proposed modification to the study protocol was submitted to FDA for review in January 2013, to change the study design and reduce the
required sample size. The modified study, which plans to enroll a minimum of 125 additional subjects, was approved by the FDA in August 2013 and 19
additional patients have been enrolled to date. The study includes a seven-day follow-up for safety and a one-year follow-up for efficacy at intervals of 90,
180, and 365 days. The first patients were successfully enrolled in the new study in August 2013.

Enrollment of additional patients in the trial could be delayed for a variety of reasons, including:
 

 •  reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective clinical trial sites;
 

 •  obtaining additional institutional review board approval to conduct the trial at prospective sites; and
 

 
•  obtaining sufficient patient enrollment, which is a function of many factors, including the size of the patient population, the nature of the protocol,

the willingness of patients to participate in a clinical trial, the proximity of patients to clinical sites and the eligibility criteria for the trial.

In addition, the completion of the trial, and any future clinical trials, could be delayed, suspended or terminated for several reasons, including:
 

 
•  ongoing discussions with regulatory authorities regarding the scope or design of our preclinical results or clinical trial or requests for supplemental

information with respect to our preclinical results or clinical trial results;
 

 •  our failure or inability to conduct the clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements;
 

 
•  sites participating in the trial may drop out of the trial, which may require us to engage new sites or petition the FDA for an expansion of the

number of sites that are permitted to be involved in the trial;
 

 •  patients may not enroll in, remain in or complete the clinical trial at the rates we expect;
 

 
•  patients in either the control or test arm of the trial may experience serious adverse events or side effects during the trial, which, whether or not

related to our products, could cause the FDA or other regulatory authorities to place the clinical trial on hold; and
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•  clinical investigators may not perform our clinical trials on our anticipated schedule or consistent with the clinical trial protocol and good clinical

practices.

If our clinical trials are delayed it will take us longer to commercialize a product for the treatment of atrial fibrillation and generate revenues from such
product. Moreover, our development costs will increase if we have material delays in our clinical trials or if we need to perform more or larger clinical trials
than planned.

Even if we complete our trial for the treatment of atrial fibrillation or other clinical trials, these trials may not produce results that are sufficient
to support approval of a PMA or 510(k) application.

We will consider our Sensei system to be effective if the trial for the treatment of atrial fibrillation meets target performance goals based upon the manual
control of the NaviStar Thermocool catheter, but there is a risk that, even if we achieve our trial endpoints, the FDA may not approve our Sensei system for
use in the treatment of atrial fibrillation. In addition, there is a risk that the FDA may require us to conduct a larger or longer clinical trial, submit additional
follow-up data, or engage in other costly and time consuming activities that may delay the FDA’s clearance or approval of the Sensei system for use in atrial
fibrillation. Although we plan to file a 510(k) application based on data from our trial for the use of Sensei system in the treatment of atrial fibrillation, the
FDA may require us to file a PMA, which is more time consuming and costly. If our clinical trials fail to produce sufficient data to support a PMA or 510(k)
application, it will take us longer to ultimately commercialize a product for the treatment of atrial fibrillation, or any other intended treatment, and generate
revenue or the delay could result in our being unable to do so. Moreover, our development costs will increase if we need to perform more or larger clinical trials
than planned.

We have incurred substantial management and employee turnover and we may lose additional key personnel or fail to attract and retain
additional personnel needed for us to operate our business effectively.

We hired a new Vice President of Marketing and Business Development in April 2012, a new Chief Operating Officer in December 2012 and a new
Senior Vice President of Global Sales in January 2013. In addition, In February 2014, our President and Chief Executive Officer departed and we appointed an
interim Chief Executive Officer. If we are unable to recruit and retain qualified individuals, including a new Chief Executive Officer, our product development
and commercialization efforts could be materially delayed or be unsuccessful. We have periodically reduced our work force and we may undertake additional
actions to reduce our work force in the future. These reductions in force may make it more difficult to retain and attract the qualified personnel required,
placing a significant strain on our management. Accordingly, retaining such personnel and recruiting necessary new employees in the future will be critical to
our success. There is intense competition from other companies and research and academic institutions for qualified personnel in the areas of our activities. If
we fail to identify, attract, retain and motivate these highly skilled management and personnel, we may be unable to continue our development and
commercialization activities and our business will be harmed.

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management and scientific staff. We do not carry “key person” insurance covering any
members of our senior management. Each of our officers and key employees may terminate his employment at any time without notice and without cause or
good reason. The loss of any of these persons could prevent the implementation and completion of our objectives, including the development and introduction
of our products, and could require the remaining management members to direct immediate and substantial attention to seeking a replacement.

Credit, financial market and general economic conditions could delay or prevent potential customers from purchasing our products, which
would adversely affect our sales, financial condition and results of operation.

The sale of our systems often represents a significant capital purchase for our customers and many customers finance their purchase of our systems
through a credit facility or other financing. If prospective
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customers that need to finance their capital purchases are not able to access the credit or capital markets on terms that they consider acceptable, they may
decide to postpone or cancel a potential purchase of one of our systems. Potential customers with limited capital budgets may decide to spend those dollars on
other technologies rather than on our products. Also, even customers with sufficient financial resources to make such purchases without resorting to the credit
and capital markets may be less likely to make capital purchases during periods when they view the overall economic conditions unfavorably or with
uncertainty. Many potential customers have delayed making a decision to purchase a Sensei system, which has significantly impacted our sales, financial
condition and results of operations. If we are unable to obtain market acceptance for our products’ value proposition, potential customers may not make these
significant capital purchases and our sales, financial condition and results of operations would be harmed.

We have limited sales, marketing and distribution experience and capabilities, which could impair our ability to achieve sustained profitability.
In the second quarter of 2007, we received clearance to market, sell and distribute our Sensei system for use in the mapping of electrophysiology

procedures in the United States and Europe. We had no prior experience as a company in undertaking these efforts. We received CE Mark approval to market,
sell and distribute our Magellan Robotic System in Europe in the third quarter of 2011 and FDA clearance to market, sell and distribute our Magellan Robotic
System in the United States in the second quarter of 2012. In the United States, we market our systems and catheters through a direct sales force of regional
sales employees, supported by clinical sales representatives who provide training, clinical support and other services to our customers. Our direct sales force
competes against the experienced and well-funded sales organizations of our competitors. Our revenues will depend largely on the effectiveness of our sales
force. We face significant challenges and risks related to our direct sales force and the marketing of our current and future products, including, among others:
 

 
•  the ability of sales personnel to obtain access to or persuade adequate numbers of hospitals to purchase our system and catheters or physicians to

use our system and catheters;
 

 •  our ability to retain, properly motivate, recruit and train adequate numbers of qualified sales and marketing personnel;
 

 •  our ability to successfully integrate new management, including our interim Chief Executive Officer;
 

 
•  the costs associated with an independent sales and marketing organization, hiring, maintaining and expanding an independent sales and

marketing organization; and
 

 
•  our ability to promote our products effectively while maintaining compliance with government regulations and labeling restrictions with respect to

the healthcare industry.

Outside the United States, primarily in the European Union, we are establishing a combination of a direct sales force and distributors to market, sell
and support our current and future products. If we fail to select and maintain appropriate distributors, appropriately disengage from unsuccessful distributors
or effectively use our distributors or sales personnel and coordinate our efforts for distribution of our systems and catheters in the European Union or if their
and our sales and marketing strategies are not effective in generating sales of our system, our revenues would be adversely affected and we may never become
profitable on a sustained basis.

We have limited experience in manufacturing and assembling our products and may encounter problems at our manufacturing facilities or
otherwise experience manufacturing delays that could result in lost revenue or diminishing margins.

We do not have significant experience in manufacturing, assembling or testing our current products on a commercial scale. In addition, for our Sensei
system and Magellan Robotic System, we subcontract the manufacturing of major components and complete the final assembly and testing of those
components in-house. We face challenges in order to produce our Sensei system and disposable catheters effectively, to appropriately
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phase in new products such as the Magellan Robotic System and product designs, to efficiently utilize our manufacturing facility and to achieve planned
manufacturing cost reductions. These challenges include equipment design and automation, material procurement, low or variable production yields on
catheters and quality control and assurance. The costs resulting from these challenges have had and will continue to have a significant impact on our gross
margins and may result in significant fluctuations of gross margins from quarter to quarter. We may not successfully complete required manufacturing
changes or planned improvements in manufacturing efficiency on a timely basis or at all. For example, as we were increasing our manufacturing capacity for
Artisan catheters, we shipped a limited number in late 2007 and early 2008 that were later identified as having a potential leak. Although no patient is known
or suspected to have experienced any consequences associated with this possible leak nor has it significantly impacted our business, these events were reported
to the FDA in accordance with applicable regulations and we subsequently initiated a voluntary recall of the affected devices. This recall was closed in June
2008. Also, following the introduction of a new catheter in the fall of 2009, some of the new catheters experienced a leak in the flush assembly. Although no
patient is known or suspected to have experienced any consequences associated with the new catheters, we voluntarily recalled all of the catheters and reported
the events to the FDA in accordance with applicable regulations. Subsequently, we returned to our prior design of the flush assembly. Any catheter redesign or
other manufacturing issues may result in our being unable to meet the expected demand for our catheters or our systems, maintain control over our expenses or
otherwise successfully manage our manufacturing capabilities. If we are unable to satisfy demand for our systems or catheters, our ability to generate revenue
could be impaired and hospitals may instead purchase, or physicians may use, our competitors’ products. Since our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic
System require the use of disposable Artisan catheters and Magellan Robotic Catheters, respectively, our failure to meet demand for catheters from hospitals
that have purchased our systems could adversely affect the market acceptance of our products and damage our commercial reputation.

In addition, all of our operations are conducted at our facilities leased in Mountain View, California. We could encounter problems at these facilities,
which could delay or prevent us from manufacturing, assembling or testing our products or maintaining our manufacturing capabilities or otherwise
conducting operations.

Our reliance on third-party manufacturers and on suppliers, and in one case, a single-source supplier, could harm our ability to meet demand
for our products in a timely manner or within budget, and could cause harm to our business and financial condition.

We depend on third-party manufacturers to produce most of the components of our systems and other current products, and have not entered into formal
agreements with several of these third parties. We also depend on various third-party suppliers for various components we use in our systems and for our
catheters and sheaths. For example, Force Dimension Sàrl, a single-source supplier, manufactures customized motion controllers that are a part of our Sensei
system and Magellan Robotic System. We also obtain the motors for our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System from a single supplier, Maxon Motor
AG, from whom we purchase on a purchase order basis, and we generally do not maintain large volumes of inventory. In September 2013, we terminated our
supply agreement with Plexus Services Corp. in favor of a new supplier for certain components to our robotic systems.

Our reliance on third parties involves a number of risks, including, among other things, the risk that:
 

 
•  suppliers may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or make errors in manufacturing components that could negatively affect the efficacy

or safety of our products or cause delays in or prevent shipments of our products;
 

 •  we may not be able to respond to unanticipated changes and increases in customer orders;
 

 •  we may be subject to price fluctuations due to a lack of long-term supply arrangements for key components with our suppliers;
 

 
•  we may lose access to critical services and components, resulting in an interruption in the manufacture, assembly and shipment of our systems

and other products;
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•  our suppliers manufacture products for a range of customers, and fluctuations in demand for products these suppliers manufacture for others

may affect their ability to deliver components to us in a timely manner;
 

 •  our suppliers may wish to discontinue supplying goods or services to us;
 

 
•  we may not be able to find new or alternative components for our use or reconfigure our system and manufacturing processes in a timely manner

if the components necessary for our system become unavailable; and
 

 
•  our suppliers may encounter financial hardships unrelated to our demand for components, which could inhibit their ability to fulfill our orders

and meet our requirements.

If any of these risks materialize, it could significantly increase our costs and impact our ability to meet demand for our products.

In addition, if these manufacturers or suppliers stop providing us with the components or services necessary for the operation of our business, we may
not be able to identify alternative sources in a timely fashion. Any transition to alternative manufacturers or suppliers or a decision to discontinue our
relationship with a current manufacturer or supplier could result in operational problems, increased expenses or write-down of capitalized assets that would
adversely affect operating results and could delay the shipment of, or limit our ability to provide, our products. We cannot assure you that we would be able to
enter into agreements with new manufacturers or suppliers on commercially reasonable terms on a timely basis or at all. Additionally, obtaining components
from a new supplier may require qualification of a new supplier in the form of a new or supplemental filing with applicable regulatory authorities and
clearance or approval of the filing before we could resume purchasing components for inclusion in our products. Any disruptions in product supply may
harm our ability to generate revenues, lead to customer dissatisfaction, damage our reputation and result in additional costs or cancellation of orders by our
customers. We currently purchase a number of the components for our systems in foreign jurisdictions. Any event causing a disruption of imports, including
the imposition of import restrictions, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition.

If we fail to maintain necessary FDA clearances/approvals and the CE Certificates of Conformity marks for our medical device products, or if
future clearances, approvals or the delivery of CE Certificates of Conformity are delayed, we will be unable to commercially distribute and
market our products.

The process of seeking regulatory clearance, approval or CE Certificates of Conformity to market a medical device is expensive and time-consuming
and clearance, approval and grant of CE Certificates of Conformity is never guaranteed and, even if granted or obtained, clearance, approval or CE
Certificates of Conformity may be suspended, withdrawn or revoked. In May 2007, we received FDA clearance in the United States to commercialize our
Sensei system and Artisan catheters only to facilitate manipulation, positioning and control, for collecting electrophysiological data within the heart atria with
electro-anatomic mapping and recording systems using two specified mapping catheters. We received FDA clearance to commercialize our Magellan Robotic
System including the catheter and accessories in June 2012 and we received FDA clearance for the marketing of our Magellan 6Fr Robotic Catheter in
February 2014. Because the FDA has determined that there is a reasonable likelihood that our Sensei system and Artisan catheters could be used by
physicians for uses not encompassed by the scope of the present label and that such uses may cause harm, we are required to label these products to state that
their safety and effectiveness for use with cardiac ablation catheters in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias including atrial fibrillation have not been
established. Accordingly, the scope of the current label may be an obstacle to our ability to successfully market and sell our electrophysiology products in the
United States to a broader group of potential customers. We will be required to seek a separate 510(k) clearance or PMA approval to market our Sensei system
for uses other than those in the current label. We cannot assure you that the FDA would not impose a more burdensome level of premarket review on other
intended uses or modifications to approved products. We plan to seek future approval of our Sensei system for other indications,
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including atrial fibrillation and other cardiac ablation procedures. We have received IDE approval to investigate the use of our Artisan family of catheters in the
treatment of atrial fibrillation in a clinical study designed to support the expansion of our current labeling in the U.S. beyond mapping. The study was
planned to involve approximately 300 patients and involves the treatment of atrial fibrillation. We enrolled our first patient in May 2010 and approximately 50
patients were enrolled as of January 2013. A proposed modification to the study protocol was submitted to FDA for review in January 2013. The modified
study, which plans to enroll a minimum of 125 additional subjects, was approved by the FDA in August 2013 and 19 additional patients have been enrolled
to date. The study will include a seven-day follow-up for safety and a one-year follow-up for efficacy at intervals of 90, 180, and 365 days. We cannot assure
the timing or potential for success of those efforts. We cannot assure you that the study will be completed at all or in a timely manner, nor that the study will
be executed in a manner consistent with FDA requirements or yield sufficient data to support approval. Clinical studies are subject to FDA audits under the
Bioresearch Monitoring program, and if our study execution or that of our participating sites and investigators is found to be deficient, this may result in
delays in approval or could prevent approval from being obtained. Any significant violations can also result in further enforcement action, as outlined above.

With regard to our Sensei system, our Magellan Robotic System, or other products, the FDA can delay, limit or deny clearance of a 510(k), or PMA
approval, for many reasons, including:
 

 •  our inability to demonstrate safety or effectiveness to the FDA’s satisfaction;
 

 •  the data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support approval;
 

 •  the facilities of our third-party manufacturers or suppliers may not meet applicable requirements;
 

 •  our compliance with preclinical, clinical or other regulations;
 

 
•  our inability to meet the FDA’s statistical requirements or changes in statistical tests or significance levels the FDA requires for approval of a

medical device, including ours; and
 

 
•  changes in the FDA approval policies, expectations with regard to the type or amount of scientific data required or adoption of new regulations

may require additional data or additional clinical studies.

Furthermore, in order to market our products outside of the United States, we will need to establish and comply with the numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries regarding quality, safety and efficacy. We received a CE Certificate of Conformity in the EEA for our Sensei system
in September 2006, for our Artisan catheters in May 2007, for our Lynx catheters in September 2010, for our Magellan Robotic System in July 2011 for our
Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories designed for use with the Magellan Robotic System in October 2011, and for our Artisan Extend catheters in
February 2013. However, we may be required to go through new conformity assessment procedures with our Notified Body in the EEA in order to market our
products for any additional uses. Regulatory approvals or CE Certificates of Conformity may be difficult and costly to obtain, or may not be granted or
obtained at all. If we are unable to maintain our regulatory clearances and CE Certificates of Conformity and obtain future clearances and CE Certificates of
Conformity for our products, our financial condition and cash flow may be adversely affected, and our ability to grow domestically and internationally may
be limited.

If physicians and hospitals do not believe that our Sensei system and Artisan catheters are a viable alternative to existing mapping technologies
used in atrial fibrillation and other cardiac ablation procedures, or if they do not believe that our Magellan Robotic System and Magellan
Robotic Catheters are a viable alternative for vascular diseases, they may choose not to use our products.

We believe that physicians will not use, and hospitals will not purchase, our systems unless they determine that they provide a safe and effective
alternative to existing treatments. Since we have received FDA clearance to market our Sensei system and disposable Artisan catheters only for guiding
catheters to map the heart anatomy, we will not be able to label or promote these products, or train physicians, for use in guiding catheters for cardiac
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ablation until such clearance or approval is obtained. Currently, there is only limited clinical data on our Sensei system with which to assess its safety and
efficacy in any procedure, including atrial fibrillation and other cardiac ablation procedures. A number of studies have been published since the commercial
launch of our Sensei system in 2007 on the efficacy, safety and efficiency of our products, especially by comparison to manual techniques. While we believe
many of those studies have demonstrated the benefits of our products, some of these studies have been cited by our competitors to portray our products in an
unfavorable light. A number of additional studies are underway both in the United States and Europe assessing the clinical experience with our products and
continuing to compare usability and success of treatment between procedures performed with our Sensei system and manual technique. If these studies, or
other clinical studies performed by us or others, or clinical experience indicate that procedures with our Sensei system or the type of procedures that can be
performed with the Sensei system are not effective or safe for such uses, physicians may choose not to use our Sensei system. Reluctance by physicians to use
our Sensei system or to perform procedures enabled by the Sensei system would harm sales. Furthermore, we commenced the commercialization of our
Magellan Robotic System and Magellan Robotic Catheters for the treatment of vascular diseases, but there is very little clinical data for the system’s safety and
efficacy. Reluctance by physicians to use our Magellan Robotic System or to perform procedures enabled by the Magellan Robotic System would harm these
sales. Further, unsatisfactory patient outcomes or patient injury in either of our major products could cause negative publicity for our products, particularly in
the early phases of product introduction. In addition, physicians may be slow to adopt our products if they perceive liability risks arising from the use of
these new products. It is also possible that as our products become more widely used, latent or other defects could be identified, creating negative publicity and
liability problems for us, thereby adversely affecting demand for our products. If physicians do not adopt the use of our products in their practices, we likely
will not become profitable on a sustained basis and our business will be harmed.

In addition, our research and development efforts and our marketing strategy depend heavily on obtaining support and collaboration from highly
regarded physicians at leading hospitals. If we are unable to gain or maintain such support and collaboration, our ability to market our Sensei system and
Magellan Robotic System and, as a result, our business and results of operations, could be harmed.

We expect to derive substantially all of our revenues from sales of our Sensei system, our recently-introduced Magellan Robotic System and the
associated catheters and accessories. If hospitals do not purchase our systems, we may not generate sufficient revenues to continue our
operations.

Our initial commercial offering consisted primarily of two products, our Sensei system and our corresponding disposable Artisan catheters. The Sensei
system has been supplemented by an optional CoHesion Module and, in the third quarter of 2010, we introduced our Lynx catheter in Europe. In order for us
to achieve sales, hospitals must purchase our Sensei system and Artisan and Lynx catheters. We also received the CE Mark in Europe for our Magellan
Robotic System in July 2011 and for the Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories designed for use with the Magellan Robotic System in October
2011. We received FDA clearance to commercialize our Magellan Robotic System including the catheter and accessories in June 2012 and we received FDA
clearance for the marketing of our Magellan 6Fr Robotic Catheter in February 2014. Because we have shipped only slightly more than 110 Sensei systems and
our Magellan Robotic System has only recently been commercially introduced, our systems have limited product and brand recognition. Furthermore, we do
not believe hospitals will purchase our products unless the physicians at those hospitals express a strong desire to use our products and we cannot predict
whether or not they will do so. If hospitals do not widely adopt our Sensei system or Magellan Robotic System, or if they decide that our systems are too
expensive to purchase or operate, we may never achieve significant revenue or become profitable. Such a failure to adequately sell our Sensei system or
Magellan Robotic System would have a materially detrimental impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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We may incur significant liability if it is determined that we are promoting off-label use of our products in violation of federal, state and
countries regulations in the United States or elsewhere.

Our promotional materials and training methods regarding physicians must comply with FDA limitations and other applicable laws and regulations.
Both our Magellan and Sensei systems are cleared by the FDA and CE marked in the EEA for defined uses. We believe that the specific procedures for which
our products are marketed fall within the scope of the applications that have been cleared by the FDA or are CE marked in the EEA. If the FDA or the
competent authorities of the EEA countries determine that our promotional materials or training constitutes promotion of an use which has not been approved
or does not fall within the scope of the current CE mark, they could request that we modify our training or promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or
enforcement actions, including the issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine and criminal penalties.

We have received FDA clearance to market our Sensei system and Artisan catheters only to facilitate manipulation, positioning and control for collecting
electrophysiological data within the heart atria with two specified mapping catheters, which is a critical step in the identification of the heart tissue generating
abnormal heart rhythms that may require ablation or other treatment. Because the FDA has determined that there is a reasonable likelihood that physicians
may choose to use our products off-label, and that harm may result, we are required to label these products to state that their safety and effectiveness for use
with cardiac ablation catheters in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias including atrial fibrillation have not been established. We have commenced a clinical
trial for the use of our Sensei system and Artisan catheter with an ablation catheter in the treatment of atrial fibrillation as part of our process to expand our
current labeling in the U.S. beyond mapping. Thus, efforts are underway to eventually seek regulatory clearance or approval for the use of our Sensei system
in atrial fibrillation procedures. We may subsequently seek regulatory clearance for use of our Sensei system for use with other catheters. The future of our
electrophysiology business will depend primarily on the use of our Sensei system in the treatment of atrial fibrillation and other cardiovascular procedures, for
which we do not yet, and may never, have FDA clearance or approval.

Unless and until we receive regulatory clearance or approval for use of our Sensei system with ablation catheters or in these procedures, uses in these
procedures will be considered off-label uses of our Sensei system. Under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other similar laws, we are prohibited
from labeling or promoting our products, or training physicians, for such off-label uses. This prohibition means that the FDA could deem it unlawful for us
to make claims about the quality, safety or effectiveness of our Sensei system for use with ablation catheters and in cardiac ablation procedures and that we
may not proactively discuss or provide information or training on the use of our product in cardiac ablation procedures or use with unapproved catheters, with
very limited exceptions. We presently believe that to date, all of the procedures in which our products have been used in the United States have included off-
label uses such as cardiac ablation, for which our Sensei system and Artisan catheters have not been cleared by the FDA.

In 2012, FDA cleared our Magellan Robotic System for use to facilitate navigation to anatomical targets in the peripheral vasculature. Our FDA cleared
labeling does not further specify the scope of the targets within the peripheral vasculature that are encompassed in the 510(k) clearance. The FDA could
disagree with our interpretation of the scope of this clearance. If the FDA concludes that our promotional materials exceed the scope of this clearance, the agency
may retroactively require us to seek 510(k) clearance or PMA approval and such uses could be considered off-label use subject to the same restrictions as the
use of the Sensei system in cardiac ablation procedures. The FDA also can require us to cease marketing for any claims beyond the scope of the clearance, and
can take other enforcement actions as outlined above.

The FDA and other competent authorities and agencies actively enforce regulations prohibiting promotion of off-label uses and the promotion of products
for which marketing clearance, approval or CE Certificates of Conformity has not been obtained. Moreover, scrutiny of such practices by the FDA and other
competent authorities and agencies has recently increased. In the United States, promotional activities for FDA regulated
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products of other companies have been the subject of enforcement action brought under healthcare reimbursement laws and consumer protection statutes. A
company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability, including civil and administrative remedies under the
Federal False Claims Act and various other federal and state laws, as well as criminal sanctions. Administrative, civil and criminal sanctions can also be
imposed in foreign countries.

For all of our products, including both the Sensei and Magellan systems, we believe that the way in which they are marketed is consistent with the FDA
clearance. However, the FDA could disagree and require us to stop promoting our products for certain procedures until we obtain FDA clearance and the
intended purposes for which they have been CE marked. However, the FDA and the competent authorities in the EEA countries could disagree and require us
to stop promoting our products for certain procedures until we obtain FDA clearance or approval or a specific CE Certificate of Conformity for them and/or
could require us to initiate corrective actions that could include issuing corrective advertising. In addition, the FDA and the competent authorities in the EEA
countries could require us to generate and submit significant quality, safety and efficacy data to support use in those procedures for which the agency or the
competent authorities of the EEA countries require clearance, approval or a specific CE Certificate of Conformity. If we are perceived not to be in compliance
with all of the restrictions limiting the promotion of our products for off-label use, we could be subject to various enforcement measures, including
investigations, administrative proceedings and country, federal and state court litigation, which would likely be costly to defend and harmful to our business.
If the FDA or another competent authority ultimately concludes we are not in compliance with such restrictions, we could be subject to significant liability,
including civil and administrative remedies, injunctions against sales for off-label uses, significant monetary and punitive penalties and criminal sanctions,
any or all of which would be harmful to our business and in certain instances may cause us to have to cease operations.

The training required for physicians to use our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System could reduce the market acceptance of our system
and reduce our revenue.

It is critical to the success of our sales efforts to ensure that there are a sufficient number of physicians familiar with, trained on and proficient in the use
of our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System. Convincing physicians to dedicate the time and energy necessary for adequate training in the use of our
systems is challenging, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in these efforts.

It is our policy to train U.S. physicians to only insert, navigate, map and remove catheters using our Sensei system. Physicians must obtain training
elsewhere to learn how to ablate cardiac tissue to treat atrial fibrillation, which is an off-label procedure with our Sensei system. This training may be provided
in the U.S. by third parties, such as hospitals and universities and through independent peer-to-peer training among doctors. We cannot assure you that a
sufficient number of U.S. physicians will become aware of training programs or that physicians will dedicate the time, funds and energy necessary for
adequate training in the use of our system for these off label procedures. Additionally, we will have no control over the quality of these training programs. If
physicians are not properly trained, they may misuse or ineffectively use our products. This may result in unsatisfactory outcomes, patient injury, negative
publicity or lawsuits against us, any of which could negatively affect our reputation and sales of our products. Furthermore, our inability to educate and train
U.S. physicians to use our Sensei system for cardiac ablation procedures may lead to inadequate demand for our products and have a material adverse impact
on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

We monitor our training to ensure that off-label use is not promoted or enabled. However, from time to time, we may sponsor third party training. There
is a risk that independent peer-to-peer interaction between physicians and other third party training may include discussion or observation of off-label
procedures because most procedures performed to date using the Sensei system involve both mapping and cardiac ablation. If any such activities are attributed
to us, the FDA or other governmental entities could conclude that we have engaged in off-label promotion of our products, which could subject us to significant
liability.
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Because our markets are highly competitive, customers may choose to purchase our competitors’ products, which would result in reduced
revenue and harm our financial results.

Our Sensei system is still considered a new technology and must compete with established manual interventional methods and methods of our
competitors, such as Stereotaxis, Inc., in remote navigation. Conventional manual methods are widely accepted in the medical community, have a long history
of use and do not require the purchase of additional, expensive capital equipment. The Stereotaxis Niobe  system, which has been in the market since 2003,
four years earlier than our Sensei system, has been adopted by a number of leading clinicians. Similarly, our Magellan Robotic System is a new technology
and must compete with established manual interventional techniques. In addition, many of the medical conditions that can be treated using our products can
also be treated with existing drugs or other medical devices and procedures. Many of these alternative treatments are widely accepted in the medical community
and have a long history of use.

We also face competition from companies that are developing drugs or other medical devices or procedures to treat the conditions for which our products
are intended. The medical device and pharmaceutical industries make significant investments in research and development and innovation is rapid and
continuous. If new products or technologies emerge that provide the same or superior benefits as our products at equal or lesser cost, they could render our
products obsolete or unmarketable. We cannot be certain that physicians will use our products to replace or supplement established treatments or that our
products will be competitive with current or future products and technologies.

Most of our competitors enjoy several competitive advantages over us, including:
 

 •  significantly greater name recognition;
 

 •  longer operating histories;
 

 •  established relations with healthcare professionals, customers and third-party payors;
 

 •  established distribution networks;
 

 
•  additional lines of products, and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer higher discounts or incentives to gain a competitive

advantage;
 

 
•  greater experience in conducting research and development, manufacturing, clinical trials, obtaining regulatory clearance for products and

marketing approved products; and
 

 •  greater financial and human resources for product development, sales and marketing, and patent litigation.

In addition, as the markets for medical devices develop, additional competitors could enter the market. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be
able to compete successfully against existing or new competitors. Our revenues would be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and market products
that are more effective and less expensive than our products.

We expect to continue to experience extended and variable sales cycles, which could cause significant variability in our results of operations for
any given quarter.

Our systems have a lengthy sales cycle because they involve a relatively expensive capital equipment purchase, which generally requires the approval of
senior management at hospitals, inclusion in the hospitals’ budget process for capital expenditures and, in some instances, a certificate of need from the state
or other regulatory clearance. We continue to estimate that this sales cycle may take between six and 18 months, though we have seen sales cycles lengthen
towards the longer end of this range as many potential customers have postponed purchase decisions. Additionally, the majority of our revenue is often
shipped in the last weeks of a given quarter. Any disruption in our supply chain during those critical weeks or an inability to fulfill our deliverables during
that compressed time frame could significantly impact the timing of our ability to recognize
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revenue on those items. These factors have contributed in the past and may contribute in the future to substantial fluctuations in our quarterly operating
results, particularly in the near term and during any other periods in which our sales volume is relatively low. As a result, in future quarters our operating
results could differ from our announcements of guidance regarding future operating or financial results or may fail to meet the expectations of securities
analysts or investors, in which event our stock price would likely decrease. These fluctuations also mean that you will not be able to rely upon our operating
results in any particular period as an indication of future performance. In addition, the introduction of new products such as our Magellan Robotic System
and Magellan Robotic Catheters could adversely impact our sales cycle, as customers take additional time to assess the benefits of new investments in capital
products.

The use of our products could result in product liability claims that could be expensive, divert management’s attention and harm our reputation
and business.

Our business exposes us to significant risks of product liability claims that are inherent in the testing, manufacturing and marketing of medical devices.
Moreover, the FDA has expressed concerns regarding the safety and efficacy of our Sensei system for ablation and other therapeutic indications, including for
the treatment of atrial fibrillation and has specifically instructed that our products be labeled to inform our customers that the safety and effectiveness of our
technology for use with cardiac ablation catheters in the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, including for atrial fibrillation, have not been established. We
presently believe that to date, all of the procedures in which our Sensei system has been used in the United States have included off-label uses such as cardiac
ablation, for which our Sensei system and Artisan catheters have not been cleared by the FDA and which therefore could increase the risk of product liability
claims. The medical device industry has historically been subject to extensive litigation over product liability claims. We may be subject to claims by
consumers, healthcare providers, third-party payors or others selling our products if the use of our products were to cause, or merely appear to cause, injury
or death. Any weakness in training and services associated with our products may also result in product liability lawsuits. Although we maintain clinical trial
liability and product liability insurance, the coverage is subject to deductibles and limitations, and may not be adequate to cover future claims. Additionally,
we may be unable to maintain our existing product liability insurance in the future at satisfactory rates or adequate amounts. A product liability claim,
regardless of its merit or eventual outcome could result in:
 

 •  decreased demand for our products;
 

 •  injury to our reputation;
 

 •  diversion of management’s attention;
 

 •  withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
 

 •  significant costs of related litigation;
 

 •  payment of substantial monetary awards to patients;
 

 •  product recalls or market withdrawals;
 

 •  loss of revenue; and
 

 •  the inability to commercialize our products under development.

We may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of our existing and anticipated products without additional funding.
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts on research and

development. We expect to spend significant additional amounts on the continuing commercialization of our products and the development and introduction of
new products. Net cash used in operating activities was $42.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. We expect that our cash
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used in operations will be significant in each of the next several years, and we will need additional funds to continue the commercialization of both our Sensei
system and our Magellan Robotic System in addition to ongoing product expansions.

Additional financing may not be available on a timely basis on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Furthermore, even if financing becomes available, the
cost to us may be significantly higher than in the past. Any additional financing may be dilutive to stockholders or may require us to grant a lender a security
interest in our intellectual property assets. The amount of funding we will need will depend on many factors, including:
 

 •  the success of our research and product development efforts;
 

 •  the expenses we incur in selling and marketing our products;
 

 •  the costs and timing of future regulatory clearances;
 

 •  the revenue generated by sales of our current and future products;
 

 •  the gross margins generated by our revenues and cost of sales;
 

 •  the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other development activities;
 

 •  the emergence of competing or complementary technological developments;
 

 •  the cost of legal fees relating to shareholder lawsuits and government investigations;
 

 
•  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights, or participating in litigation-

related activities;
 

 •  the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish; and
 

 •  the acquisition of businesses, products and technologies.

If adequate funds are not available, we may have to delay development or commercialization of our products or license to third parties the rights to
commercialize products or technologies that we would otherwise seek to commercialize. We also may have to reduce marketing, customer support or other
resources devoted to our products. Any of these factors could harm our financial condition.

Our products and related technologies can be applied in different applications, and we may fail to focus on the most profitable areas or we may
be unable to address successfully financial and technology risks associated with new applications, including applications for the vascular
market.

We may be unable to develop or commercialize our technology for additional applications. The technology underlying our systems is designed to have
the potential for applications beyond electrophysiology and vascular disease which require a control catheter to approach diseased tissue. We further believe
that the technology underlying our system can provide multiple opportunities to improve the speed and capability of many diagnostic and therapeutic
procedures. However, we may be unable, due to limited financial or managerial resources, to develop these applications and seek a separate 510(k) clearance
or PMA approval from the FDA for these applications of our technology. Also, due to our limited financial and managerial resources, we may be required to
focus on products in selected applications and to forego efforts with regard to other products and industries including expansion of our electrophysiology and
vascular applications as well as the development of other applications. Failure to capitalize on other applications for our technology may limit the addressable
market for our products and our ability to grow our revenues and expand our operations.

We are dedicating significant resources to the development and commercialization of our Magellan Robotic System, Magellan Robotic Catheters and
associated accessories. These efforts may not produce viable commercial products and may divert our limited resources from more profitable market
opportunities. Moreover, we may devote resources to developing products in additional areas but may be unable to justify the value
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proposition or otherwise develop a commercial market for products we develop in these areas, if any. In that case, the return on investment in these additional
areas may be limited, which could negatively affect our results of operations.

If we fail to maintain collaborative relationships with providers of imaging and visualization technology on terms favorable to us, or at all, our
Sensei system may not be able to gain market acceptance and our business may be harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to continually enhance and broaden our product offerings in response to changing technologies, customer demands
and competitive pressures. We believe that integrating our Sensei system with key imaging and visualization technologies using an open architecture approach
is a key element in establishing our Sensei system as important for complex interventional procedures. Our Sensei system currently utilizes a variety of
imaging means to visualize and assist in navigating our catheters. These imaging systems include fluoroscopy, intravascular ultrasound and electro-anatomic
mapping systems, as well as pre-operatively acquired three-dimensional computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. We believe that in the future,
as imaging companies develop increasingly sophisticated three-dimensional imaging systems, we will need to integrate advanced imaging into our Sensei
system in order to compete effectively. There can be no assurance that we can timely and effectively integrate these systems or components into our Sensei
system in order to remain competitive. We expect to face competition from companies that are developing new approaches and products for use in interventional
procedures and that have an established presence in the field of interventional cardiology, including the major imaging, capital equipment and disposables
companies that are currently selling products in the electrophysiology laboratory. We may not be able to acquire or develop three-dimensional imaging and
visualization technology for use with our Sensei system. In addition, developing or acquiring key imaging and visualization technologies could be expensive
and time-consuming and may not integrate well with our Sensei system. If we are unable to timely acquire, develop or integrate imaging and visualization
technologies, or any other changing technologies, effectively, our revenue may decline and our business will suffer.

In April 2007, we entered into agreements with St. Jude Medical, Inc., or St. Jude, to integrate our Sensei system with St. Jude’s Ensite system and to co-
market the integrated product. We are not obligated to undertake any other development projects except for the integration of the Sensei system with the EnSite
system. We are solely responsible for gaining regulatory approvals for, and all costs associated with, our portion of the integrated products developed under the
arrangement. At the end of the second quarter of 2008, the FDA cleared for marketing in the United States our CoHesion Module, which provides an interface
between our Sensei system and the EnSite system; however, there can be no assurance that we will successfully maintain necessary regulatory clearances or
that we and St. Jude will maintain compatibility of our products under the collaboration or that the CoHesion Module will gain market acceptance. In August
2010, we entered into an agreement with St. Jude permitting us to integrate St. Jude’s EnSite Velocity Cardiac Mapping System with our CoHesion Module to
provide physicians the ability to visualize, locate and robotically control catheters within the heart to diagnose heart rhythm disorders. This Agreement was
amended in February 2014, and will expire in December 2014 unless extended by mutual agreement of the parties. If the agreement is not extended, we may be
unable to maintain our ability to offer integration with the EnSite Velocity System with new system sales, or to maintain compatibility with updated or
upgraded versions of EnSite Velocity, which could adversely affect our revenues.

We have had material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting in the past and cannot assure you that additional material
weaknesses will not be identified or develop in the future. If our internal control over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures
are not effective, there may be errors in our financial statements that could require a restatement or our filings may not be timely and investors
may lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could lead to a decline in our stock price.

We evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures in association with our assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2013 and determined internal control was effective as of that date, as more fully set forth in Item 9A of this Form 10-K. We cannot assure
you, however,
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that significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will not exist in the future. Any failure to maintain or
implement new or improved controls, or any difficulties we encounter in their implementation, could result in significant deficiencies or material weaknesses,
cause us to fail to timely meet our periodic reporting obligations, or result in material misstatements in our periodic reports, including the financial statements
included in such reports. Any such failure could also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual auditor attestation reports
regarding disclosure controls and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and the rules promulgated thereunder. The existence of a significant deficiency or material weakness could result in errors in our financial statements that
could result in a restatement of financial statements, cause us to fail to timely meet our reporting obligations and cause investors to lose confidence in our
reported financial information, which in turn could lead to a decline in our stock price shareholder litigation, regulatory action and other adverse consequences.

Indemnification obligations to our current and former directors and officers and contractual indemnification obligations to underwriters of
our securities offerings could adversely affect our ability to defend claims for which we may be liable, our results of operations, our financial
condition and our cash flows.

Under Delaware law, our charter documents and certain indemnification agreements, we may have an obligation to indemnify our current and former
officers, employees and directors in relation to these matters. In addition, we have contractual indemnification obligations to the underwriters and placement
agents in our prior public and private offerings, as applicable, of our equity securities. Some of these advancement and indemnification obligations may not be
covered by our directors’ and officers’ insurance policies or may exceed the coverage limits of those policies. If we incur significant uninsured advancement or
indemnity obligations, this could have a material adverse effect on our ability to defend claims for which we may be liable, our results of operations, our
financial condition and our cash flows.

Future acquisitions could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition and operating results.
Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to expand our offerings and markets and grow our business in response to changing technologies,

customer demands and competitive pressures. In some circumstances, we may determine to do so through the acquisition of complementary businesses,
solutions or technologies rather than through internal development. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and
costly, and we may not be able to successfully complete identified acquisitions. Furthermore, even if we successfully complete an acquisition, we may not be
able to successfully assimilate and integrate the business, technologies, solutions, personnel or operations of the company that we acquired, particularly if key
personnel of an acquired company decide not to work for us. In addition, we may issue equity securities to complete an acquisition, which would dilute our
stockholders’ ownership and could adversely affect the price of our common stock. Acquisitions may also involve the entry into geographic or business
markets in which we have little or no prior experience. Consequently, we may not achieve anticipated benefits of the acquisitions which could harm our
operating results.

Software defects may be discovered in our products which would damage our ability to sell our products, our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Our systems incorporate sophisticated computer software. Complex software frequently contains errors, especially when first introduced. Because our
products are designed to be used to perform complex interventional procedures, we expect that physicians and hospitals will have an increased sensitivity to
the potential for software and other defects. We cannot assure you that our software will not experience errors or performance problems in the future. If we
experience software errors or performance problems, we would likely also experience:
 

 •  loss of revenue;
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 •  an increase in reportable adverse events to applicable authorities such as the FDA;
 

 •  delay in market acceptance of our products;
 

 •  damage to our reputation;
 

 •  additional regulatory filings;
 

 •  product recalls;
 

 •  increased service or warranty costs; and/or
 

 •  product liability claims relating to the software defects.

Our costs could substantially increase if we receive a significant number of service claims which would harm our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

We typically provide post-contract customer service for each of our products against defects in materials and workmanship for a period of
approximately 12 months from the delivery or acceptance of our product by a customer which is normally when the system is installed. The associated
expenses are charged to cost of revenues as incurred. We have a limited history of commercial placements of our Sensei systems and a very limited history of
commercial placements of our Magellan Robotic Systems from which to judge our rate of claims against our service contracts. Our obligation under these
service contracts may be impacted by product failure rates, material usage and service costs. Unforeseen exposure under these post-contract customer service
contracts could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Hospitals or physicians may be unable to obtain coverage or reimbursement from third-party payors for procedures using our Sensei system
and Magellan Robotic System, which could affect the adoption or use of our systems and may cause our revenues to decline.

We anticipate that third-party payors will continue to reimburse hospitals and physicians under existing billing codes for the vast majority of the
procedures involving our products. We expect that healthcare facilities and physicians in the United States will continue to bill various third-party payors,
such as Medicare, Medicaid, other governmental programs and private insurers, for services performed using our products. We believe that procedures
targeted for use with our products are generally already reimbursable under government programs and most private plans. Accordingly, we believe providers in
the United States will generally not be required to obtain new billing authorizations or codes in order to be compensated for performing medically necessary
procedures using our products on insured patients.

There can be no assurance, however, that coverage, coding and reimbursement policies of third-party payors will not change in the future with respect to
some or all of the procedures that would use our systems. Additionally, in the event that a physician uses our Sensei system or Magellan Robotic System for
indications not approved by the FDA, there can be no assurance that the coverage or reimbursement policies of third-party payors will be comparable to FDA-
approved uses. Future legislation, regulation or coverage, coding and reimbursement policies of third-party payors may adversely affect the demand for our
products currently under development and limit our ability to profitably sell our products. For example, in prior years, certain regulatory changes were made to
the methodology for calculating payments for inpatient procedures in certain hospitals, resulting in a decrease to Medicare payment rates for surgical and
cardiac procedures, including those procedures for which our products are targeted. The majority of the procedures performed with our Sensei system and
Artisan catheter are done on an in-patient basis and thus are paid under the Medicare severity diagnosis related group, or MS-DRG system.

We believe that the majority of procedures performed using our Sensei technology fall under MS-DRG 251,  percutaneous cardiovascular procedures
without coronary artery stent or acute myocardial infarction without major cardiovascular complication . The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
updates the MS-DRG
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payment rates annually effective October 1 through September 30 of the following year. Because hospital inpatient reimbursement is largely dependent on
geographical location and other hospital-specific factors, an individual hospital’s revenues from using our technology can vary significantly. At this time,
although payments for these cardiac procedures have not undergone further reductions, we cannot predict the full impact any future rate changes, including
rate reductions, will have on our revenues or business. We do not currently know which MS-DRGs will apply to procedures performed with our Magellan
Robotic System or whether reimbursement amounts will be considered favorable by hospitals.

Our success in international markets also depends upon the eligibility of our products for coverage and reimbursement by government-sponsored
healthcare payment systems and third-party payors. Recent legislative initiatives in the United States to reform healthcare and government insurance programs
have included a focus on healthcare costs which could limit the coverage and reimbursement for procedures utilizing our products. In both the United States
and foreign markets, healthcare cost-containment efforts are prevalent and are expected to continue and may increase. The failure of our customers to obtain
sufficient reimbursement could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and harm our business.

Legislative reforms to the United States healthcare system may adversely affect our revenues and business.
From time to time, legislative reform measures are proposed or adopted that would impact healthcare expenditures for medical services, including the

medical devices used to provide those services. For example, in March 2010, U.S. President Barack Obama signed the Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, collectively referred to as the Affordable Care Act, which makes a number of
substantial changes in the way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers and the way that Medicare providers are reimbursed. Among
other things, the Affordable Care Act requires certain medical device manufacturers and importers to pay an excise tax equal to 2.3% of the price for which
such medical devices are sold, beginning January 1, 2013.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. On August 2, 2011, the President
signed into law the Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among other things, created the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend to Congress
proposals in spending reductions. The Joint Select Committee did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through
2021, triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes reductions to Medicare payments to providers of 2.0% per
fiscal year. On January 2, 2013, President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, or the ATRA, which delayed for another two
months the budget cuts mandated by these sequestration provisions of the Budget Control Act of 2011. On March 1, 2013, the President signed an executive
order implementing sequestration, and on April 1, 2013, the 2% Medicare payment reductions went into effect. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2013, enacted on
December 26, 2013, extends these cuts to 2023. The ATRA also, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals,
imaging centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three
to five years. We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that
federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our products or additional pricing
pressure.

Government and private sector initiatives to limit the growth of health care costs, including price regulation, competitive pricing, coverage and payment
policies, comparative effectiveness reviews of therapies, technology assessments, and managed-care arrangements, are continuing. Government programs,
including Medicare and Medicaid, private health care insurance and managed-care plans have attempted to control costs by limiting the amount of
reimbursement they will pay for particular procedures or treatments, tying reimbursement to outcomes, and other mechanisms designed to constrain utilization
and contain costs, including delivery reforms such as expanded bundling of services. Hospitals are also seeking to reduce costs through a variety of
mechanisms, which may increase price sensitivity among customers for our products, and adversely affect sales,
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pricing, and utilization of our products. Some third-party payors must also approve coverage for new or innovative devices or therapies before they will
reimburse health care providers who use the medical devices or therapies. We cannot predict the potential impact of cost-containment trends on future operating
results.

New regulations related to conflict minerals could adversely impact our business.
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act contains provisions to improve transparency and accountability concerning the

supply of certain minerals, known as conflict minerals, originating from the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and adjoining countries. As a result, in
August 2012 the SEC adopted annual disclosure and reporting requirements for those companies who use conflict minerals mined from the DRC and
adjoining countries in their products. These new requirements required due diligence efforts in 2013 and 2014, with initial disclosure requirements beginning
in May 2014. There have been and will be costs associated with complying with these disclosure requirements, including for diligence to determine the sources
of conflict minerals used in our products and other potential changes to products, processes or sources of supply as a consequence of such verification
activities. The implementation of these rules could adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of materials used in our products. As there may be only a
limited number of suppliers offering “conflict free” conflict minerals, we cannot be sure that we will be able to obtain necessary conflict minerals from such
suppliers in sufficient quantities or at competitive prices. Also, we may face reputational challenges if we determine that certain of our products contain
minerals not determined to be conflict free or if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins for all conflict minerals used in our products through the
procedures we may implement.

If we do not effectively manage our growth, we may be unable to successfully develop, market and sell our products.
Our future revenue and operating results will depend on our ability to manage the possible future growth of our business. We have experienced periods of

significant growth in the scope of our operations. This growth has placed significant demands on our management, as well as our financial and operations
resources. In order to achieve our business objectives, however, we will need to continue to grow, which presents numerous challenges, including:
 

 •  implementing appropriate operational and financial systems and controls;
 

 •  expanding manufacturing capacity, increasing production and improving margins;
 

 •  developing our sales and marketing infrastructure and capabilities;
 

 •  identifying, attracting and retaining qualified personnel in our areas of activity; and
 

 •  training, managing and supervising our personnel worldwide.

Any failure to effectively manage our growth could impede our ability to successfully develop, market and sell our products and our business will be
harmed.

We sell our systems internationally and are subject to various risks relating to such international activities which could adversely affect our
international sales and operating performance.

A portion of our current and future revenues will come from international sales. To expand internationally, we will need to hire, train and retain
additional qualified personnel. Engaging in international business inherently involves a number of difficulties and risks, including:
 

 •  required compliance with existing and changing foreign regulatory requirements and laws;
 

 •  export or import restrictions and controls relating to technology;
 

 •  pricing pressure;
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 •  laws and business practices favoring local companies;
 

 •  longer payment cycles;
 

 •  shipping delays;
 

 •  difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;
 

 •  political and economic instability;
 

 •  potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs and other trade barriers;
 

 •  international terrorism and anti-American sentiment;
 

 •  difficulties in penetrating markets in which our competitors’ products are more established;
 

 •  difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations; and
 

 •  difficulties in enforcing intellectual property rights.

If one or more of these risks are realized, it could require us to dedicate significant resources to remedy the situation, and if we are unsuccessful at
finding a solution, our revenue may decline.

Our financial results are subject to currency fluctuations as a result of our international operations which could decrease our revenues.
In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 50% of our total revenues were generated outside the United States. While some of these

revenues were denominated in U.S. dollars, approximately 10% of our total revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 were generated in other
currencies. We translate results of transactions denominated in local currencies into U.S. dollars using market conversion rates applicable to the period in
which the transaction is reported. As a result, changes in exchange rates during a period can unpredictably and adversely affect our consolidated operating
results and our asset and liability balances, even if the underlying value of the item in its original currency has not changed. A hypothetical 5% increase in the
United States dollar exchange rate used would have resulted in an immaterial decrease in revenues in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Our business may be harmed by a natural disaster, terrorist attacks or other unanticipated problems.
Our manufacturing and office facilities are located in Mountain View, California. Despite precautions taken by us, a natural disaster such as fire or

earthquake, a terrorist attack or other unanticipated problems at our facilities could interrupt our ability to manufacture our products or operate our business.
These disasters or problems may also destroy our product inventories. While we carry insurance for certain natural disasters and business interruption, any
prolonged or repeated disruption or inability to manufacture our products or operate our business could result in losses that exceed the amount of coverage
provided by this insurance, and in such event could harm our business.

We may be liable for contamination or other harm caused by materials that we handle, and changes in environmental regulations could cause
us to incur additional expense.

Our research and development, manufacturing and clinical processes involve the handling of potentially harmful biological materials as well as other
hazardous materials. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, handling, storage and disposal of hazardous and
biological materials and we incur expenses relating to compliance with these laws and regulations. If violations of environmental, health and safety laws occur,
we could be held liable for damages, penalties and costs of remedial actions. These expenses or this liability could have a significant negative impact on our
financial condition. We may violate environmental, health and safety laws in the future as a result of human error, equipment failure or other causes.
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Environmental laws could become more stringent over time, imposing greater compliance costs and increasing risks and penalties associated with violations.
We are subject to potentially conflicting and changing regulatory agendas of political, business and environmental groups. Changes to or restrictions on
permitting requirements or processes, hazardous or biological material storage or handling might require an unplanned capital investment or relocation. Failure
to comply with new or existing laws or regulations could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes to existing accounting pronouncements or taxation rules or practices may affect how we conduct our business and affect our
reported results of operations.

Significant new accounting pronouncements and taxation rules or practices and updated interpretations of existing accounting pronouncements and
taxation rules or practices have occurred in the past and may occur in the future. A change in accounting pronouncements or taxation rules or practices can
have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective. In addition, a review
of existing or prior accounting practices may result in a change in previously reported amounts. For example, the FASB has recently issued new accounting
principles around revenue recognition and the SEC is considering adoption of international financial reporting standards. These changes to existing rules,
future changes, if any, or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to protect the intellectual property contained in our products from use by third parties, our ability to compete in the market will
be harmed.

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining patent and other intellectual property protection for the technologies contained in our products,
and on successfully defending our patents and other intellectual property against third party challenges. We expect to incur substantial costs in obtaining
patents and, if necessary, defending our proprietary rights. The patent positions of medical device companies, including ours, can be highly uncertain and
involve complex and evolving legal and factual questions. We do not know whether we will be able to obtain the patent protection we seek, or whether the
protection we do obtain will be found valid and enforceable if challenged. We also do not know whether we will be able to develop additional patentable
proprietary technologies. If we fail to obtain adequate protection of our intellectual property, or if any protection we obtain is reduced or eliminated, others could
use our intellectual property without compensating us, resulting in harm to our business. We may also determine that it is in our best interests to voluntarily
challenge a third party’s products or patents in litigation or administrative proceedings, including patent interferences or reexaminations. In the event that we
seek to enforce any of our owned or exclusively licensed patents against an infringing party, it is likely that the party defending the claim will seek to
invalidate the patents we assert, which, if successful could result in the loss of the entire patent or the relevant portion of our patent, which would not be
limited to any particular party. Any litigation to enforce or defend our patent rights, even if we were to prevail, could be costly and time-consuming and could
divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. Our competitors may independently develop similar or alternative
technologies or products without infringing any of our patent or other intellectual property rights, or may design around our proprietary technologies.

We cannot assure you that we will obtain the patent protection we seek, that any protection we do obtain will be found valid and enforceable if challenged
or that such patent protection will confer any significant commercial advantage. United States patents and patent applications may also be subject to
interference proceedings and United States patents may be subject to reexamination proceedings and, starting in 2012, post grant and inter partes review in the
United States Patent and Trademark Office, and foreign patents may be subject to opposition or comparable proceedings in the corresponding foreign patent
offices, which proceedings could result in either loss of the patent or denial of the patent application, or loss or reduction in the scope of one or more of the
claims of, the patent or patent application. In addition, such interference, reexamination, post grant
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review, inter partes review, and opposition proceedings may be costly. Some of our technology was, and continues to be, developed in conjunction with third
parties, and thus there is a risk that such third parties may claim rights in our intellectual property. Thus, any patents that we own or license from others may
provide limited or no protection against competitors. Our pending patent applications, those we may file in the future, or those we may license from third
parties, may not result in patents being issued. If issued, they may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages against competitors
with similar technology.

Non-payment or delay in payment of patent fees or annuities, whether intentional or unintentional, may result in loss of patents or patent rights
important to our business. Many countries, including certain countries in Europe, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be
compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies
or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of the patent. In
addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States, particularly in the
field of medical products and procedures.

Our trade secrets, nondisclosure agreements and other contractual provisions to protect unpatented technology provide only limited and possibly
inadequate protection of our rights. As a result, third parties may be able to use our unpatented technology, and our ability to compete in the market would be
reduced. In addition, employees, consultants and others who participate in developing our products or in commercial relationships with us may breach their
agreements with us regarding our intellectual property, and we may not have adequate remedies for the breach.

Third parties may assert that we are infringing their intellectual property rights which may result in litigation.
Successfully commercializing our Sensei system, our Magellan Robotic System and any other products we may develop, will depend in part on our not

infringing patents held by third parties. It is possible that one or more of our products, including those that we have developed in conjunction with third
parties, infringes existing patents. From time to time, we have received, and likely will continue to receive, communications from third parties inviting us to
license their patents or accusing us of infringement. There can be no assurance that a third party will not take further action, such as filing a patent
infringement lawsuit, including a request for injunctive relief, to bar the manufacture and sale of our Sensei system in the United States or elsewhere or the
sale of our Magellan Robotic System in Europe. We may also choose to defend ourselves by initiating litigation or administrative proceedings to clarify or seek
a declaration of our rights. As competition in our market grows, the possibility of a patent infringement claim against us or litigation we will initiate increases.

There may be existing patents which may be broad enough to cover aspects of our future technology. In addition, because patent applications in many
countries such as the United States are maintained under conditions of confidentiality and can take many years to issue, there may be applications now
pending of which we are unaware and which may later result in issued patents that our products infringe. We do not know whether any of these patents, if
challenged, would be upheld as valid, enforceable and infringed by our products or technology. From time to time, we receive, and likely will continue to
receive, letters from third parties accusing us of infringing their patents or inviting us to license their patents. We may be sued by, or become involved in an
administrative proceeding with, one or more of these or other third parties. We cannot assure you that a court or administrative body would agree with any
arguments or defenses we may present concerning the invalidity, unenforceability or non-infringement of any third-party patent. In addition to the issued
patents of which we are aware, other parties may have filed, and in the future are likely to file, patent applications covering products that are similar or
identical to ours. We cannot assure you that any patents issuing from applications will not cover our products or will not have priority over our own products
and patent applications.
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We may not be able to maintain or obtain all the licenses from third parties necessary or advisable for promoting, manufacturing and selling
our Sensei system and our Magellan Robotic System, which may cause harm to our business, operations and financial condition.

We rely on technology that we license from others, including technology that is integral to our Sensei system and our Magellan Robotic System, such as
patents and other intellectual property that we have co-exclusively licensed from Intuitive Surgical, or “Intuitive”. Under our agreement with Intuitive, we
received the right to apply Intuitive’s patent portfolio in the field of intravascular approaches for the diagnosis or treatment of cardiovascular, neurovascular
and peripheral vascular diseases. To the extent that we develop or commercialize robotic capability outside the field of use covered by our license with Intuitive,
which we may choose to do at some time in the future, we may not have the patent protection and the freedom to operate outside the field which is afforded by
the license inside the field. Although we believe that there are opportunities for us to operate outside the licensed field of use without using Intuitive’s intellectual
property, Intuitive from time to time has told us that it believes certain of our past activities that have fallen outside the licensed field have infringed its
intellectual property rights. Although we disagree with Intuitive’s position, we presently remain focused within our licensed field and so have agreed to inform
Intuitive before commencing any further outside clinical investigations for endoluminal applications or engaging in external technology exhibitions at non-
intravascular conferences. There can be no assurance that Intuitive will not challenge any activities we engage in outside the intravascular space, and we
cannot assure you that in the event of such a challenge we would be able to reach agreement with Intuitive on whether activities outside our licensed field may
be conducted without the use of the Intuitive’s intellectual property. If Intuitive asserts that any of our activities outside the licensed field are infringing their
patent or other intellectual property rights or commences litigation against us, we will incur significant costs defending against such claims or seeking an
additional license from Intuitive, and we may be required to limit use of our systems or future products and technologies within our licensed intravascular
field if any of our activities outside the licensed field are judged to infringe Intuitive’s intellectual property, any of which could cause substantial harm our
business, operations and financial condition. Although Intuitive is restricted in how it can terminate our license, if Intuitive were ever to successfully do so,
and if we are unable to obtain another license from Intuitive, we could be required to abandon use of our existing product technology completely and could have
to undergo a substantial redesign and design-around effort, which we cannot assure you would be successful. In October 2012, we signed an updated license
agreement with Intuitive. Under the terms of the agreement, Intuitive’s existing co-exclusive rights to our patent portfolio to certain non-vascular procedures
have been extended to include patents filed or conceived by us subsequent to the original 2005 agreement up to and including the period three years subsequent
to the amendment. We retain the right to use our intellectual property for all clinical applications, both vascular and non-vascular.

The medical device industry is characterized by patent litigation and we could become subject to litigation that could be costly, result in the
diversion of management’s attention, require us to pay damages and discontinue selling our products.

The medical device industry is characterized by frequent and extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over patent and other intellectual
property rights. Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often difficult to predict, and the
outcome may be uncertain until the Court has entered final judgment and all appeals are exhausted. Our competitors may assert, and have asserted in the past,
that our products or the use of our products are covered by United States or foreign patents held by them. This risk is heightened due to the numerous issued
and pending patents relating to the use of robotic and catheter-based procedures in the medical technology field. For example, we have received correspondence
from a third party indicating it believes it holds a patent that our Sensei system may infringe. While we do not believe that the Sensei system infringes this
patent, there can be no assurance that the third party will not take further action, such as filing a patent infringement lawsuit, including a request for
injunctive relief, to bar the manufacture and sale of our Sensei system in the United States.

If relevant patents are upheld as valid and enforceable and we are found to infringe, we could be prevented from selling our system unless we can obtain
a license to use technology or ideas covered by such patent or are
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able to redesign our products to avoid infringement. A license may not be available at all or on commercially reasonable terms, and we may not be able to
redesign our products to avoid infringement. Modification of our products or development of new products could require us to conduct additional clinical trials
and to revise our filings with the FDA and other regulatory bodies, which would be time-consuming and expensive. If we are not successful in obtaining a
license or redesigning our products, we may be unable to sell our products and our business could suffer. In addition, our patents may be subject to various
invalidity attacks, such as those based upon earlier filed patent applications, patents, publications, products or processes, which might invalidate or limit the
scope of the protection that our patents afford.

Infringement actions, validity challenges and other intellectual property claims and proceedings, whether with or without merit, may cause us to incur
substantial costs and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management from our business and harm our
reputation. We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, substantial costs in obtaining patents and expect to incur substantial costs defending our
proprietary rights. Incurring such costs could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

We cannot be certain that we will successfully defend our patents from infringement or claims of invalidity or unenforceability, or that we will
successfully defend against allegations of infringement of third-party patents. In addition, any public announcements related to litigation or administrative
proceedings initiated or threatened by us, or initiated or threatened against us, could cause our stock price to decline.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that our employees or we have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their
former employers.

Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other medical device companies, including our competitors or potential competitors.
We could in the future be subject to claims that these employees, or we, have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary
information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending against such claims, a court could
order us to pay substantial damages and prohibit us from using technologies or features that are essential to our products, if such technologies or features are
found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. An inability to incorporate technologies or
features that are important or essential to our products would have a material adverse effect on our business, and may prevent us from selling our products. In
addition, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A loss of key research personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our
ability to commercialize certain potential products, which could severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, such
litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. Incurring such costs could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flow.

Additional Risks Related to Regulatory Matters
If we fail to obtain regulatory clearances in other countries for existing products or products under development, we will not be able to
commercialize these products in those countries.

In order to market our products outside of the United States, we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other
countries regarding quality, safety and efficacy of our products. Approval and CE marking procedures vary among countries and can involve additional
product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval or CE Certificate of Conformity in other countries might
differ from that required to obtain FDA clearance. The regulatory approval or CE marking process in other countries may include all of the risks detailed
above regarding FDA clearance in the United States. Regulatory approval or the CE marking of a product in one country does not ensure regulatory approval
in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval or a CE Certificate of Conformity in one country
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may negatively impact the regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval or a CE Certificate of Conformity in other countries or any delay
or setback in obtaining such approval could have the same adverse effects described above regarding FDA clearance in the United States.

For example, in the EEA, our devices are required to comply with the Essential Requirements laid down in Annex I to the Medical Devices Directive. We
are also required to ensure compliance with the relevant quality system requirements laid down in the Annexes to the Medical Devices Directive. Companies
compliant with ISO requirements such as “EN ISO 13485: 2003 Medical devices — Quality management systems — Requirements for regulatory purposes”
benefit from a presumption of conformity with the relevant Essential Requirements or the quality system requirements laid down in the Annexes to the Medical
Devices Directive. Following successful completion of a conformity assessment procedure conducted in relation to the medical device and its manufacturer and
their conformity with the Essential Requirements and quality system requirements, the Notified Body issues a CE Certificate of Conformity. This Certificate
entitles the manufacturer to affix the CE mark to its medical devices after having prepared and signed a related EC Declaration of Conformity. We received a
CE Certificate of Conformity for our Artisan catheters in May 2007, our Lynx catheters in July 2010, our Magellan Robotic System in July 2011, our
Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories designed for use with the Magellan Robotic System in October 2011, and our Artisan Extend catheters in
February 2013. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in meeting and continuing to meet the requirements of the Medical Devices Directive in the
EEA.

We may fail to comply with continuing postmarket regulatory requirements of the FDA and other authorities and become subject to substantial
penalties, or marketing experience may show that our device is unsafe, forcing us to recall or withdraw it permanently from the market.

We must comply with continuing regulation by the FDA and other authorities, including the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, requirements,
labeling and promotional requirements and medical device adverse event and other reporting requirements. If the adverse event reports we file with the FDA
regarding death, serious injuries or malfunctions indicate or suggest that the device presents an unacceptable risk to patients, including when used off-label by
physicians, we may be forced to recall the device and/or modify the device or its labeling, or withdraw it permanently from the market. The FDA has
expressed concerns regarding the safety of the Sensei system when used with catheters and in procedures not specified in the current label, such as ablation
catheters and ablation procedures, and we have already filed Medical Device Reports reporting adverse events during procedures utilizing our technology.
Physicians may be using our device off-label with ablation catheters in ablation procedures, as well as in other electrophysiology procedures for which we have
not collected safety data, and we therefore cannot assure you that clinical experience will demonstrate that the device is safe for these uses.

Any failure to comply, or any perception that we are not complying, with continuing regulation by the FDA or other authorities, including restrictions
regarding off-label promotion, could result in enforcement action that may include suspension or withdrawal of regulatory clearances approvals, or CE
Certificates of Conformity, recalling products, ceasing product marketing, seizure and detention of products, paying significant fines and penalties, criminal
prosecution and similar actions that could limit product sales, delay product shipment and harm our profitability and reputation.

In many foreign countries in which we market our products, we are subject to regulations affecting, among other things, product standards, packaging
requirements, labeling requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. Many of these regulations are similar to those of the
FDA. In addition, in many countries the national health or social security organizations require our products to be qualified before procedures performed using
our products become eligible for coverage and reimbursement. Failure to receive, or delays in the receipt of, relevant foreign qualifications could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In September 2012, the European Commission adopted a Proposal for a
Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on medical devices which will, once adopted by the European Parliament and by the Council,
replace the existing the Medical Devices Directive. This proposal is
 

6 6



Table of Contents

intended to strengthen the current rules further harmonizing regulatory system in the different EU Member States. In October 2013, the European Parliament
voted an amended draft of the Regulation. The proposed text is currently being discussed by the Council of the European Union. The European Commission
expects the proposals to be definitively adopted by early 2014 in advance of the European Parliament elections in May 2014. If it proves possible to adhere to
this time line the Regulation on medical devices would enter into force from 2015. Adapting our business to changing regulatory systems could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be
subject to fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory clearances and CE Certificates of Conformity, product recalls, seizure of products, operating
restrictions and criminal prosecution.

If we or our contract manufacturers fail to comply with the FDA’s Quality System Regulations, California Department of Health Services
requirements or EEA quality system requirements, our manufacturing operations could be interrupted and our product sales and operating
results could suffer.

Our manufacturing processes, and those of some of our contract manufacturers, are required to comply with the FDA’s Quality System Regulations, or
QSR, which cover the procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage
and shipping of our devices. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic inspections of manufacturing facilities. We and our contract manufacturers are
subject to such inspections. Similar quality system requirements also apply in the EEA. If our manufacturing facilities or those of any of our contract
manufacturers fail to take satisfactory corrective action in response to an adverse quality system inspection, the FDA, the Notified Body, the competent
authorities in the EEA could take enforcement action, including any of the following sanctions, which could have a material impact on our operations:
 

 •  untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;
 

 •  unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions;
 

 •  customer notifications for repair, replacement, refunds;
 

 •  recall, detention or seizure of our products;
 

 •  operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
 

 •  refusing or delaying our requests for 510(k) clearance or premarket approval of new products or modified products;
 

 •  operating restrictions;
 

 •  withdrawing 510(k) clearances or IDE/PMA approvals that have already been granted;
 

 •  suspension or withdrawal of our CE Certificates of Conformity;
 

 •  refusal to grant export approval or issue export documentation for our products; or
 

 •  criminal prosecution.

We underwent an FDA inspection, which employed QSIT, in July 2010 and received two inspectional observations. The agency has accepted our
responses and the inspection has been closed.

We are subject to the licensing requirements of the California Department of Health Services, or CDHS. We have been inspected and licensed by the
CDHS and remain subject to re-inspection at any time. Failure to maintain a license from the CDHS or to meet the inspection criteria of the CDHS would
disrupt our manufacturing processes. If an inspection by the CDHS indicates that there are deficiencies in our manufacturing process, we could be required to
take remedial actions at potentially significant expense, and our facility may be temporarily or permanently closed.
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If our products cause or contribute to a death or a serious injury, or malfunction in certain ways, we will be subject to medical device reporting
regulations, which can result in voluntary corrective actions or agency enforcement actions. An increased frequency of filing Medical Device
Reports, or MDRs, or Manufacturers’ Incident Reports in the EEA concerning adverse events occurring during procedures performed with
our technology could result in increased regulatory scrutiny of our products and could delay or prevent the adoption of our products.

Under the FDA medical device reporting regulations, medical device manufacturers are required to report to the FDA when the manufacturer becomes
aware of information from any source that alleges that a device marketed by the manufacturer has or may have caused or contributed to a death or serious
injury or has malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction of the device or one of our similar
devices were to recur. A manufacturer may determine that an event may not meet the FDA’s reporting criteria so that an MDR is not necessary. However, the
FDA can review a manufacturer’s decision and may disagree. We have made decisions that certain types of events are not MDR reportable. In the EEA, similar
reporting requirements are imposed on medical device manufacturers. When a medical device is suspected to be a contributory cause of an event that led or
might have led to death of or the serious deterioration of the health of a patient, or user or of other person, its manufacturer or authorized representative in the
EU must report the event to the Competent Authority of the EEA country where the incident occurred. There can be no assurance that the FDA or the competent
authorities in the EEA country will agree with our decisions. If we fail to report MDRs to the FDA within the required timeframes, or at all, or if the FDA or the
competent authorities of the EEA countries disagree with any of our determinations that events are not reportable, the FDA could take enforcement action
against us. Any such adverse event involving our products also could result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as products withdrawals and recalls
or customer notifications, or agency action, such as inspection or enforcement action. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary, as well as
defending ourselves in a lawsuit, will require the dedication of our time and capital, distract management from operating our business, and may harm our
reputation and financial results.

We have filed Medical Device Reports, or MDRs, and Manufacturer’s Incident Reports reporting adverse events during procedures utilizing our
technology and have developed internal systems and processes that are designed to evaluate future events that may require adverse event reporting to the FDA
or the competent authorities if the EEA countries. As the frequency of use of our technology in electrophysiology and vascular procedures increases, we are
experiencing, and anticipate continuing to experience, it being necessary to file an increased number of MDRs and Manufacturer’s Incident Reports. An
increased frequency of filing MDRs and Manufacturer’s Incident Reports or a failure to timely file MDRs may result in requests for further information from
the FDA or the competent authorities of the EEA countries, which could delay other matters that we may have pending before the FDA, the competent
authorities of the EEA or our Notified Body or result in additional regulatory action. An increased frequency of MDRs and Manufacturer’s Incident Reports
could also reduce confidence in the safety of our products and delay or prevent the acceptance of our products by physicians and hospitals, which would
harm our business and cause our stock price to decline.

Our products may in the future be subject to product recalls that could harm our reputation, business and financial results. As a
manufacturer we are sometimes required to make decisions about whether to take corrective action in the field and whether to report that
activity to the FDA or the competent authorities of the EEA countries. If the FDA or the competent authorities of the EEA countries disagrees
with those decisions, we may be subject to enforcement action and our product sales and operating results could suffer.

The FDA and similar foreign competent authorities have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material
deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture. In the case of the FDA, the authority to require a recall must be based on an FDA finding that there is a
reasonable probability that the device would cause serious injury or death. In addition, foreign competent authorities have the authority to require the recall of
our products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design, manufacture or
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performance of the products and inadequacy in the labeling or Instruction for Use. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by us or one of our distributors
could occur as a result of component failures, manufacturing errors, design or labeling defects or other deficiencies and issues. We have conducted voluntary
recalls in the past. Recalls of any of our products would likely divert managerial and financial resources and could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

The FDA requires that certain classifications of recalls be reported to the FDA within 10 working days after the recall is initiated. Companies are
required to maintain certain records of recalls, even if they are not reportable to the FDA or other competent authorities. We have in the past initiated voluntary
actions involving our products that we determined did not require notification of the FDA, and we may in the future initiate additional voluntary actions that
we determine do not require notification of the FDA. If the FDA or the competent authorities of the EEA countries disagree with our determinations, they could
require us to report those actions as recalls. Additionally, we have, and may again in the future, take actions in the field that we do not consider to be recalls. If
the FDA or other competent authorities disagree with our determinations, they could require us to treat these actions as recalls, issue communications, or report
those actions to FDA. The agency may also initiate other enforcement action if they disagree with our recall decisions, including but not limited to issuing
warning letters, or more serious actions such as civil or criminal penalties. A future recall announcement or enforcement action could harm our reputation with
customers and negatively affect our sales. In addition, the FDA or other competent authorities could take enforcement action for failing to treat certain actions
as recalls and report the recalls when they were conducted.

Modifications to our products may, and in some instances, will, require new regulatory clearances, approvals or CE Certificates of Conformity
and may require us to recall or cease marketing our products until clearances, approvals or CE Certificates of Conformity are obtained.

Modifications to our products may require new regulatory approvals or clearances, including 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals, or PMAs, and
may require us to recall or cease marketing the modified devices until these clearances or approvals are obtained. The FDA requires device manufacturers to
initially make and document a determination of whether or not modifications require a new approval, supplement or clearance. A manufacturer of a 510(k)
cleared product is required to obtain 510(k) clearance for device modifications that could significantly affect the safety or effectiveness of the device, or
constitute a major change in the intended use of the subject device. Accordingly, a manufacturer may determine that a modification could not significantly
affect safety or efficacy and does not represent a major change in its intended use so that no new 510(k) clearance is necessary. However, the FDA can review
a manufacturer’s decision and may disagree. The FDA may also on its own initiative determine that a new clearance or approval is required.

For those products sold in the EEA, we must notify and await completion of the review of our Notified Body, before introducing substantial changes to
the products or to our quality system. Following its review, our Notified Body will decide whether our existing CE Certificates of Conformity can be
maintained or varied, or whether new certificate are required.

We have made modifications to our products in the past and may make additional modifications in the future that we believe do not or will not require
additional review, clearances or approvals. There can be no assurance that the FDA, our Notified Body or the competent authorities of the EEA countries will
agree with our approach in such matters or that, if required, subsequent requests for 510(k) clearance, PMA approval or CE Certificates of Conformity will
be received in a timely fashion, if at all. The FDA, our Notified Body or the competent authorities of the EEA countries may require us to cease supply, recall
and to stop marketing our products as modified or to disable features pending clearance or approval or the granting of a CE Certificate of Conformity which
would significantly harm our ability to sell our products and cause harm to our existing customer relationships and business. Even if we are not required to
take such action, delays in obtaining clearances, approvals or CE Certificate of Conformity for features would adversely affect our ability to introduce
enhanced products in a timely manner and would harm our revenue and operating results. The FDA our Notified
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Body or the competent authorities of the EEA countries could also take other enforcement action, including but not limited to, issuing a warning letter relating
to our decision to implement features and other product modifications without submission of a new 510(k) notice or PMA and suspension or withdrawal of
our existing CE Certificates of Conformity.

Clinical trials necessary to support any future 510(k), PMA application or CE marking of our products will be expensive and may require the
enrollment of large numbers of clinical sites and patients, and suitable patients may be difficult to identify and recruit. Delays or failures in our
clinical trials may prevent us from commercializing any modified or new products and will adversely affect our business, operating results and
prospects.

Initiating and completing clinical trials necessary to support a 510(k), PMA application or CE marking for expanded indications for use of our existing
products, will be time consuming and expensive and the outcome uncertain. Moreover, the results of early clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future
results, and any product we advance into clinical trials may not have favorable results in later clinical trials.

Conducting successful clinical studies may require the enrollment of large numbers of clinical sites and patients, and suitable patients may be difficult
to identify and recruit. Patient enrollment in clinical trials and completion of patient participation and follow-up depends on many factors, including the size of
the patient population, the nature of the trial protocol, the attractiveness of, or the discomforts and risks associated with, the treatments received by enrolled
subjects, the availability of appropriate clinical trial investigators, support staff, and proximity of patients to clinical sites and ability to comply with the
eligibility and exclusion criteria for participation in the clinical trial and patient compliance. For example, patients may be discouraged from enrolling in our
clinical trials if the trial protocol requires them to undergo extensive post-treatment procedures or follow-up to assess the safety and effectiveness of our
products or if they determine that the treatments received under the trial protocols are not attractive or involve unacceptable risks or discomforts. Patients may
also not participate in our clinical trials if they choose to participate in contemporaneous clinical trials of competitive products or they can obtain the treatment
without participating in our trial through physicians who use the product off-label. We received IDE approval for an approximately 300 patient study for the
treatment of atrial fibrillation and enrolled our first patient in May 2010 and approximately 50 patients were enrolled as of January 2013. A proposed
modification to the study protocol was submitted to FDA for review in January 2013. The modified study, which plans to enroll as few as 125 subjects, was
approved by the FDA in August 2013 and 19 additional patients have been enrolled to date. The study includes a seven-day follow-up for safety and a
one-year follow-up for efficacy at intervals of 90, 180, and 365 days.

Development of sufficient and appropriate clinical protocols to demonstrate quality, safety and efficacy may be required and we may not adequately
develop such protocols to support clearance or approval. Delays in patient enrollment or failure of patients to consent or continue to participate in a clinical trial
may cause an increase in costs and delays in the approval and attempted commercialization of our products or result in the failure of the clinical trial. In
addition, despite considerable time and expense invested in our clinical trials, FDA, our Notified Body or the competent authorities of the EEA countries may
not consider our data adequate to demonstrate quality, safety and efficacy. Such increased costs and delays or failures could adversely affect our business,
operating results and prospects.

If we fail to comply with healthcare laws and regulations, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations and financial
condition could be adversely affected.

Our activities, and the activities of our agents, including some contracted third parties, are subject to extensive government regulation and oversight both
in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions. Our interactions in the U.S. or abroad with physicians and other potential referral sources who prescribe or purchase
our products are subject to government regulation designed to prevent health care fraud and abuse. Relevant U.S. laws include:
 

 
•  the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting,

offering, paying or receiving remuneration, directly or
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indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual, for an item or service or the purchasing, leasing, ordering or
arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease or order of any item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, by
federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid;

 

 
•  federal civil False Claims Act which prohibits, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented,

claims for payment of government funds that are false or fraudulent, and which may apply to entities like us which provide coding and billing
advice to customers or whose products are frequently used off-label;

 

 
•  the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits, among other things, executing a scheme to

defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters and which also imposes certain obligations
relating to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

 

 
•  the federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1997, which makes it illegal to offer or provide money or anything of value to officials of foreign

governments, foreign political parties, or international organizations with the intent to obtain or retain business or seek a business advantage and
 

 

•  state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply to items or services
reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers, state breach notification laws, and state laws governing the privacy and
security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by
HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts. In addition, there has been a recent trend of increased federal and state regulation of payments made
to physicians. Some states, such as California, Massachusetts and Nevada, mandate implementation of commercial compliance programs and/or
impose restrictions on device manufacturer marketing practices and tracking and reporting of gifts, compensation and other remuneration to
physicians.

The FDA, the Office of Inspector General for the Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of Justice, states’ Attorneys General and
other governmental authorities actively enforce the laws and regulations discussed above. In the U.S., pharmaceutical and device manufacturers have been the
target of numerous government prosecutions and investigations alleging violations of law, including claims asserting impermissible off-label promotion of
pharmaceutical and medical device products, payments intended to influence the referral of federal or state health care business, and submission of false or
fraudulent claims for government payments. The Affordable Care Act also clarified that a person or entity need not have actual knowledge of the Anti-
Kickback Statute or specific intent in order to violate it. In addition, the Affordable Care Act provides that the government may assert that a claim including
items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims
Act or federal civil money penalties statute. As part of our compliance program, we have reviewed our sales contracts and marketing materials and practices to
assure compliance with these federal and state laws, and inform employees and marketing representatives of the Anti-Kickback Statute and their obligations
thereunder. Although compliance programs can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws, the risks cannot be entirely
eliminated. We cannot rule out the possibility that the government or other third parties could interpret these laws differently and challenge our practices under
one or more of these laws.

The Affordable Care Act also imposes new tracking and disclosure requirements on device manufacturers for any “transfer of value” made or
distributed to physicians and teaching hospitals. Device manufacturers with products for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the State
Children’s Health Insurance Program were required to begin tracking such payments on August 1, 2013 and submit reports to CMS by March 31, 2014, and
by the 90th day of each subsequent calendar year.

If our past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us,
we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion of our products from reimbursement under federal healthcare
programs like Medicare
 

71



Table of Contents

and Medicaid and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. The risk of our being found in violation of these laws is increased by the fact that
many of them have not been fully interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of interpretations. Any action
against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s
attention from the operation of our business. Moreover, to achieve compliance with applicable federal and state privacy, security, and electronic transaction
laws, we may be required to modify our operations with respect to the handling of patient information. Implementing these modifications may prove costly. At
this time, we are not able to determine the full consequences to us, including the total cost of compliance, of these various federal and state laws.

Our international operations expose us to liability under global anticorruption laws.
We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or “FCPA” and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions which

generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to government officials and/or other persons for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business. Because of the predominance of government-sponsored healthcare systems around the world, many of our customer
relationships outside of the United States involve governmental entities and are therefore subject to such anti-bribery laws. Our policies mandate compliance
with these anti-bribery laws. Despite our training and compliance programs, our internal control policies and procedures may not protect us from negligent,
reckless or criminal acts committed by our employees or agents. Moreover, even a perceived or alleged violation could result in costly investigations or
proceedings that could harm our financial position and reputation.

The application of state certificate of need regulations and compliance by providers with federal and state licensing requirements, as well as
accreditation requirements, could substantially limit our ability to sell our products and grow our business.

Some states require healthcare providers to obtain a certificate of need or similar regulatory approval prior to the acquisition of high-cost capital items
such as our Sensei and Magellan systems. In many cases, a limited number of these certificates are available and, as a result, hospitals and other healthcare
providers may be unable to obtain a certificate of need for the purchase of our Sensei and Magellan systems. Further, our sales cycle for our system is
typically longer in certificate of need states due to the time it takes our customers to obtain the required approvals. In addition, our customers must meet
various federal and state regulatory and/or accreditation requirements in order to receive reimbursement from government-sponsored healthcare programs such
as Medicare and Medicaid and other third-party payors. Any lapse by our customers in maintaining appropriate licensure, certification or accreditation, or the
failure of our customers to satisfy the other necessary requirements under government-sponsored healthcare programs, could cause our sales to decline.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and is likely to be volatile in the future.

The trading price of our common stock has been highly volatile. Further, our common stock has a limited trading history. Since our initial public
offering in November 2006 through February 28, 2014, our closing stock price has fluctuated from a low of $1.15 to a high of $38.87. The market price for
our common stock may be affected by a number of factors, including those set forth in this Item 1A as well as:
 

 
•  the announcement of our operating results, including the number of systems sold during a period and our revenue for the period, and the

comparison of these results to the expectations of analysts and investors;
 

 •  the receipt, denial or timing of regulatory clearances, approvals or actions of our products or competing products;
 

 •  sales of common stock or other debt or equity securities by us or our stockholders in the future;
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 •  the success of any collaborations we may undertake with other companies;
 

 •  our ability to develop, introduce and market new or enhanced versions of our products on a timely basis;
 

 •  additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;
 

 •  the pace of enrollment or results of our clinical trial of at least 125 patients or any other clinical trials;
 

 •  changes in policies affecting third-party coverage and reimbursement in the United States and other countries;
 

 •  ability of our products to achieve market success;
 

 •  the performance of third-party contract manufacturers and component suppliers;
 

 •  our ability to develop sales and marketing capabilities;
 

 •  our ability to manufacture our products to meet commercial and regulatory standards;
 

 •  our ability to manage costs and improve margins;
 

 •  actual or anticipated variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors;
 

 •  announcements of new products, technological innovations or product advancements by us or our competitors;
 

 •  announcements of acquisitions or dispositions by us or our competitors;
 

 •  developments with respect to patents and other intellectual property rights;
 

 
•  disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our

technologies;
 

 •  trading volume of our common stock;
 

 
•  our announcements of guidance regarding future operating or financial results which fails to meet investor or analyst expectations or which differs

from our previously-announced guidance;
 

 
•  changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, failure to obtain analyst coverage of our common stock or our failure to

achieve analyst earnings estimates;
 

 •  public statements by analysts or clinicians regarding their perceptions of the effectiveness of our products;
 

 •  developments in our industry;
 

 •  general market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our competitors; and
 

 •  the impact of shareholder lawsuits and governmental investigations both on us and on our public perception.

The stock prices of many companies in the medical device industry have experienced wide fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating
performance of these companies. Following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders have often instituted class action
securities litigation against those companies. Additional class action securities litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of our management resources, which could significantly harm our business.

Securities analysts may not continue, or additional securities analysts may not initiate, coverage for our common stock or may issue negative
reports, and this may have a negative impact on the market price of our common stock.

Currently, several securities analysts provide research coverage of our common stock. Several analysts have already published statements that do not
portray our technology, products or procedures using our products in a
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positive light and others may do so in the future. If we are unable to educate those who publicize such reports about the benefits we believe our technology
provides, or if one or more of the analysts who elects to cover us downgrades our stock, our stock price would likely decline rapidly. If one or more of these
analysts ceases coverage of our company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. The trading market for
our common stock may be affected in part by the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our business. If sufficient
securities analysts do not cover our common stock, the lack of research coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. It may be
difficult for companies such as ours, with smaller market capitalizations, to attract and maintain sufficient independent financial analysts that will cover our
common stock. This could have a negative effect on the market price of our stock.

Our principal stockholders, directors and management own a large percentage of our voting stock, which allows them to exercise significant
influence over matters subject to stockholder approval.

Based on our review of publicly available filings as of February 28, 2014, our five largest stockholders together with our executive officers and directors
beneficially own or control approximately 46.5 percent of our outstanding common stock and the ownership or control by these stockholders may increase to
over 50 percent of our outstanding common stock following the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock held by such
stockholders. Two of these beneficial owners hold warrants to purchase up to 13,969,630 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of either $1.50 a
share or $2.00 a share. Upon exercise of these warrants, our five largest stockholders together with our executive officers and directors would beneficially own
or control approximately 53.9 percent of our outstanding common stock. Accordingly, our principal stockholders and our executive officers and directors have
substantial influence over the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, any merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assets or any other significant corporate transaction. These stockholders may also delay or prevent a change of control or
otherwise discourage a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, even if such a change of control would benefit our other stockholders. This
significant concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock due to investors’ perception that conflicts of interest
may exist or arise.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future, and any return on investment may be limited to the
value of our common stock.

We have never paid dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The
payment of dividends on our common stock will depend on our earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting us at such
time as our Board of Directors may consider relevant. If we do not pay dividends, our common stock may be less valuable because a return on your
investment will only occur if our stock price appreciates. Pursuant to our loan agreement, we must obtain the lenders’ prior written consent in order to pay any
dividends on our common stock.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by
others, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could
make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders. These provisions:
 

 
•  permit our Board of Directors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may

designate, including the right to approve an acquisition or other change in our control;
 

 •  provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of the Board of Directors;
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•  provide that all vacancies, including newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote of a

majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;
 

 •  divide our Board of Directors into three classes;
 

 
•  require that any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and not be

taken by written consent;
 

 
•  provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at a

meeting of stockholders must provide notice in writing in a timely manner, and also specify requirements as to the form and content of a
stockholder’s notice;

 

 
•  do not provide for cumulative voting rights, therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any

election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose;
 

 
•  provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the Board, our chief executive officer or by the Board of

Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors; and
 

 
•  provide that stockholders will be permitted to amend our amended and restated bylaws only upon receiving at least 66 2/3 percent of the votes

entitled to be cast by holders of all outstanding shares then entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in
any broad range of business combinations with any stockholder who owns, or at any time in the last three years owned, 15 percent or more of our outstanding
voting stock for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an interested stockholder. This provision could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control, whether or not it is desired by or beneficial to our stockholders.

Future sales or issuances of shares of our common stock, the announcement to undertake such sales or issuances, or the perception that such
sales or issuances may occur, may dilute our existing stockholders and depress the market price of our common stock.

Sales of our common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for our common stock by us or by our stockholders, announcements of the
proposed sales of our common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for our common stock or the perception that sales may be made, could cause
the market price of our common stock to decline. We may issue additional shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for our
common stock in follow-on offerings to raise additional capital or in connection with acquisitions, corporate alliances or settlements with third parties and we
plan to issue additional shares to our employees, directors or consultants in connection with their services to us. For example, in August 2013 we sold
28,455,284 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 34,146,339 shares of our common stock in a private placement. The
purchasers in the private placement have signed contractual lock-up agreements preventing them from trading in our securities until August 2014, however, the
issuance of the shares of common stock resulted in immediate dilution to our stockholders and the on-going exercises of outstanding warrants has caused, and
may continue to cause, further dilution to our stockholders in the future.

Our financial results may vary significantly from period to period, which may reduce our stock price.
Our financial results may fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control, which may cause the market price of

our common stock to fall. For these reasons, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on
our past results as an indication of our future performance. Our financial results may be negatively affected by any of the risk factors listed in this “Risk
Factors” section.
 

75



Table of Contents

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial time to new
compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently
implemented by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and the Nasdaq Global Market, have imposed various new requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices.
Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and
financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We lease approximately 63,000 square feet of manufacturing, laboratory and office space in Mountain View, California. We extended the term of this

lease until January 2020, with an option to extend the lease for another five years. We also lease approximately 3,300 square feet of office space in London,
England. That lease ends in June 2020, but we have an option to exit the lease in 2015.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, we are involved in litigation that we believe is of the type common to companies engaged in our line of business, including

commercial disputes and employment issues. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than as descried below, we are not involved in any
pending legal proceedings that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. From time to time,
we may pursue litigation to assert our legal right and such litigation may be costly and divert the efforts and attention of our management and technical
personnel which could adversely affect our business.

Following our October 19, 2009 announcement that we would restate certain of our financial statements, a securities class action lawsuit was filed on
October 23, 2009 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, naming us and certain of our now former officers. Curry v.
Hansen Medical, Inc. et al., Case No. 09-05094. The complaint asserts claims for violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
on behalf of a putative class of purchasers of Hansen stock between May 1, 2008 and October 18, 2009, inclusive, and alleged, among other things, that
defendants made false and/or misleading statements and/or failed to make disclosures regarding our financial results and compliance with GAAP while
improperly recognizing revenue; that these misstatements and/or nondisclosures resulted in overstatement of our revenue and financial results and/or
artificially inflated our stock price; and that following our October 19, 2009 announcement, the price of our stock declined. On November 4, 2009 and
November 13, 2009, substantively identical complaints were filed in the Northern District of California by other purported Hansen stockholders asserting the
same claims on behalf of the same putative class of Hansen stockholders. Livingstone v. Hansen Medical, Inc. et al., Case No. 09-05212 and Prenter v.
Hansen Medical, Inc., et al., Case No. 09-05367. All three complaints seek certification as a class action and unspecified compensatory damages plus interest
and attorneys fees. On December 22, 2009, two purported Hansen stockholders, Mina and Nader Farr, filed a joint application for appointment as lead
plaintiffs and for consolidation of the three actions. On February 25, 2010, the Court issued an order granting Mina and Nader Farr’s application for
appointment as lead plaintiffs and consolidating the three securities class actions. On July 15, 2010, the Court entered an order granting lead plaintiffs’
motion for leave to file a second amended complaint. Lead plaintiffs’ second amended complaint, in addition to alleging that shareholders suffered damages as
a result of the decline in our stock price following the October 19, 2009 announcement, also alleges that shareholders suffered additional damages as the result
of share price declines on July 28, 2009, July 31, 2009, January 8, 2009, July 6, 2009, and August 4, 2009, all of which lead plaintiffs allege were caused
by the disclosure of what they claim was previously misrepresented information. The Defendants filed their motion to dismiss the second amended complaint
on October 13, 2010. The Court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss with leave to amend on August 25, 2011. Plaintiffs’ third amended complaint was
filed on October 18, 2011. Defendants filed their motion to dismiss on January 9, 2012. On August 10, 2012, the Court denied in part and granted in part
Defendants’ motions to dismiss. On January 4, 2013, lead plaintiffs sought leave to amend their complaint to add certain of our current and former directors
and former auditor. We filed an opposition to lead plaintiffs’ motion on February 11, 2013.

On May 9, 2013, the parties entered into a stipulation of settlement pursuant to which the plaintiffs would receive an aggregate of $8.5 million,
$4.0 million of which would be funded in cash by our insurer and other sources. We would fund the remaining portion by issuing $4.25 million worth of our
common stock, the number of shares to be determined based on the average closing price of the common stock for the 10 trading days preceding final Court
approval of the settlement of the class action, and paying $250,000 in cash. On July 25, 2013, the Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement and
on December 5, 2013, the Court granted final approval of the settlement. In connection with the final court approval of the settlement, all defendants, including
Hansen, received a full and complete release of all claims in the previously disclosed securities class action. On December 19, 2013, the Company issued
2,298,539 shares, as determined by the average closing price of the Company’s common stock for the 10 trading days preceding final court approval of the
settlement, which average was $1.8490 per share.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
Market For Our Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “HNSN.”

As of February 28, 2014, there were approximately 185 holders of record of our common stock and 110,755,536 shares of common stock
outstanding. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers or other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the
total number of stockholders represented by the record holders. No dividends have been paid on our common stock to date, and we do not anticipate paying
any dividends in the foreseeable future. Our $33 million loan and security agreement with White Oak limits our ability to pay dividends and make certain
other payments.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing price of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market for each period
indicated:
 

   2013    2012  
   High    Low    High    Low  
First quarter   $ 2.70    $1.92    $ 3.90    $ 2.39  
Second quarter   $ 2.09    $ 1.42    $ 3.20    $ 2.09  
Third quarter   $1.92    $1.15    $2.53    $ 1.43  
Fourth quarter   $ 2.13    $ 1.53    $ 2.41    $1.65  

The closing price for our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market on February 28, 2014 was $2.34 per share.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan
See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for information regarding securities

authorized for issuance.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Uses of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Securities
Not applicable.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
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Performance Graph
The following graph shows a comparison of cumulative total return for our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index, and the Nasdaq Medical

Equipment Index. Such returns are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance. The graph assumes $100 was invested in
our common stock and in each of the indexes on December 31, 2008.

Data for the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Medical Equipment Index assume reinvestment of dividends. We have never paid dividends on
our common stock and have no present plans to do so.

The stockholder return shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future performance, and we do not make or endorse any predictions as
to future stockholder returns.
 

 

  
December 31,

2008   
December 31,

2009   
December 31,

2010   
December 31,

2011   
December 31,

2012   
December 31,

2013  
Hansen Medical, Inc  $ 100.00   $ 41.97   $ 20.64   $ 35.73   $ 28.81   $ 23.96  
Nasdaq Composite  $ 100.00   $ 145.32   $ 171.50   $ 170.08   $ 199.76   $ 279.90  
Nasdaq Medical Equipment  $ 100.00   $ 136.80   $ 143.32   $ 142.14   $ 163.46   $ 226.72  
 
 This Section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into

any filing of Hansen Medical under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or
after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table sets forth certain financial data with respect to our business. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results

of future operations and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in
Item 7 and the financial statements and related notes thereto in Item 8. The operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and the
financial position data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, the audited consolidated financial
statements that are included in this Form 10-K. The remaining financial data are derived from audited, consolidated financial statements which are not
included in this Form 10-K.
 
   2013(1)   2012(2)   2011(3)   2010(4)   2009  
   (In thousands, except per share data)  
Operations:       

Revenues   $ 16,982   $ 17,636   $ 22,129   $ 16,634   $ 22,203  
Loss from operations    (48,903)   (18,503)   (15,666)   (35,005)   (51,296) 
Net loss    (55,722)   (22,145)   (16,712)   (37,895)   (52,449) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share    (0.70)   (0.35)   (0.30)   (0.78)   (1.55) 
Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per

share    79,052    62,472    55,362    48,881    33,892  
Financial Position:       

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 27,995   $ 32,749   $ 36,520   $ 25,769   $ 9,553  
Short-term investments    1,945    8,424    15,690    2,264    18,726  
Working capital    38,988    43,238    54,349    21,535    21,004  
Total assets    61,159    64,092    76,759    57,944    60,741  
Debt    33,358    29,417    29,147    6,238    9,803  
Accumulated deficit    (352,664)   (296,942)   (274,797)   (258,085)   (220,190) 
Stockholders’ equity    16,876    24,739    33,481    30,772    33,753  

 
(1) Loss from operations, net loss and basic and diluted net loss per share for 2013 include the impact of the loss on settlement of the derivative litigation of

$4.5 million.
(2) Loss from operations, net loss and basic and diluted net loss per share for 2012 include the impact of the gain on the licensing of intellectual property of

$20.0 million.
(3) Loss from operations, net loss and basic and diluted net loss per share for 2011 include the impact of the gain on sale of intellectual property of $23.0

million.
(4) Loss from operations, net loss and basic and diluted net loss per share for 2010 include the impact of the gain on the settlement of the litigation with

Luna Innovations, Inc. of $10.0 million.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations,” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These
forward-looking statements include, among others, statements regarding our strategies and expectations regarding, our future revenues, cost of
revenues and other expenses and losses. The factors listed in Item 1A “Risk Factors,” as well as any cautionary language in this Form 10-K, provide
examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those projected. Except as may be required by
law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events after the date of this report.

Overview
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements

and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

We develop, manufacture and sell a new generation of medical robotics designed for accurate positioning, manipulation and stable control of catheters
and catheter-based technologies. Our Sensei  Robotic Catheter System, or Sensei system, is designed to allow physicians to instinctively navigate flexible
catheters with solid stability and control in electrophysiology procedures. Our Magellan™ Robotic System is designed to allow physicians to instinctively
navigate flexible catheters in the vasculature. We believe our systems and the corresponding disposable catheters will enable physicians to perform procedures
that historically have been too difficult or time consuming to accomplish routinely with manually-controlled, hand-held catheters and catheter-based
technologies, or that we believe could be accomplished only by the most skilled physicians. We believe that our systems have the potential to benefit patients,
physicians, hospitals and third-party payors by improving outcomes and permitting complex procedures to be performed interventionally.

From inception to December 31, 2013, we have incurred losses totaling approximately $352.7 million and have not generated positive cash flows from
operations. We expect such losses to continue through at least the year ended December 31, 2014 as we continue to commercialize our technologies and develop
new applications and products. We have financed our operations primarily through the sale of public and private equity securities, the issuance of debt,
partnering and the licensing of intellectual property.

We market our products in the United States primarily through a direct sales force of regional sales employees, supported by clinical account managers
who provide training, clinical support and other services to our customers. Outside the United States, we use a combination of a direct sales force and
distributors to market, sell and support our products.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgments
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In doing so, we have

to make estimates and assumptions that affect our reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as related disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities. In many cases, we could reasonably have used different accounting policies and estimates. In some cases, changes in the accounting
estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period. Accordingly, actual results could differ materially from our estimates. We base our estimates on
our past experience and on other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. To
the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our financial condition or results of operations will be affected.
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While our significant accounting policies are fully described in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policies and estimates are most critical to a full understanding and evaluation of our
reported financial results.

Revenue Recognition
Our revenues are primarily derived from the sale of the Sensei system and the Magellan Robotic System and the associated catheters as well as the sale

of customer service contracts. Under our revenue recognition policy, revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery to the
customer has occurred or the services have been fully rendered, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is probable.
 

 

•  Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement . Persuasive evidence of an arrangement for sales of systems is generally determined by a sales contract
signed and dated by both the customer and us, including approved terms and conditions and the receipt of an approved purchase order. Evidence
of an arrangement for the sale of disposable products is determined through an approved purchase order from the customer. Evidence of an
arrangement for the sale of post-contract customer service is determined through either a signed sales contract or an approved purchase order from
the customer. Sales to customers are generally not subject to any acceptance, performance, cancellation, termination or return rights.

 

 •  Delivery.
 

 
•  Systems and Disposable Products. Typically, ownership of systems, catheters and other disposable products passes to customers upon

shipment, at which time delivery is deemed to be complete.
 

 
•  Customer Service Revenue. We recognize customer service revenue from the sale of product maintenance plans. Revenue from customer

services, whether sold individually or as a separate unit of accounting in a multi-element arrangement, is deferred and amortized over the
service period, which is typically one year.

 

 

•  Multiple-element Arrangements. It is common for the sale of Sensei and Magellan systems to include multiple elements which qualify as
separate units of accounting. These elements commonly include the sale of the system and a product maintenance plan, in addition to
installation of the system and initial training. Less commonly, these elements may include the sale of certain disposable products or other
elements. Generally, under multiple-element arrangements, the systems are delivered at the beginning of the arrangement and the related
revenue is recognized at that time. Installation and training is generally completed within 90 days at which time the revenue is recognized.
Customer service revenue associated with the product maintenance plan is recognized ratably over the service period, which is typically
one year. Other elements are recognized once delivered in accordance with contract terms. In arrangements that include multiple elements,
we allocate revenue to the various elements based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”) of the elements if VSOE
exists. VSOE for each element is based on the price for which the item is sold separately, determined based on historical evidence of stand-
alone sales of these elements or stated renewal rates for the element. If VSOE does not exist for an element, we allocate revenue based on
third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price for the elements if TPE exists. TPE is the price of our or any competitor’s largely
interchangeable products or services in standalone sales to similarly-situated customers. If neither VSOE nor TPE exist for a specific
element, we allocate revenue to the various elements based on our best estimate of the selling price for that element or estimated selling price
(“ESP”) using a top-down approach, which takes into account our target prices and overall pricing objectives. In situations where we have
delivered certain elements but not delivered other elements, we defer
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revenue for the undelivered elements after we have allocated revenue to the various elements under the relative selling price method based on
VSOE, TPE or ESP, defers revenue for the undelivered elements. Because we have neither VSOE nor TPE for our systems, the allocation
of revenue is based on ESP for the systems sold. We determine ESP for our systems by considering multiple factors, including, but not
limited to, features and functionality of the system, geographies, type of customer, and market conditions. We regularly review ESP and
maintain internal controls over the establishment and updates of these estimates.

 

 

•  Sales Price Fixed or Determinable.  We assess whether the sales price is fixed or determinable at the time of the transaction. Sales prices are
documented in the executed sales contract or purchase order received prior to shipment. Our standard terms do not allow for contingencies, such
as trial or evaluation periods, refundable orders, payments contingent upon the customer obtaining financing or other contingencies which would
impact the customer’s obligation. In situations where these or other contingencies are included, all related revenue is deferred until the contingency
is resolved. In the third quarter of 2012, we began shipping systems under a limited commercial evaluation program to allow certain strategic
accounts to install and utilize systems for a limited trial period while the purchase opportunity is being evaluated by the hospital. Systems under
this program remain our property and are recorded in inventory and a sale only occurs upon the issuance of a purchase order from the customer.

 

 

•  Collectability. We assess whether collection is probable based on a number of factors, including the customer’s past transaction history and credit
worthiness. If collection of the sales price is not deemed probable, the revenue is deferred and recognized at the time collection becomes probable,
which is usually upon receipt of cash. Our sales contracts generally do not allow the customer the right of cancellation, refund or return, except as
provided under our standard warranty. If such rights were allowed, all related revenues would be deferred until such rights expired.

Significant management judgments and estimates are made in connection with the determination of revenue to be recognized and the period in which it is
recognized. If different judgments and estimates were utilized, the amount of revenue to be recognized and the period in which it is recognized could differ
materially from the amounts reported.

Short-Term Investments
We determine the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and evaluate such designation as of each balance sheet date. We

classify all investments with maturities greater than three months at the time of purchase as short-term investments as they are subject to use within one year in
current operations. We make investments based on specific guidelines approved by our board of directors with a view to liquidity and capital preservation and
regularly review our investments for performance. As of December, 31, 2013, all our investments have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried on
the balance sheet at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, if any, included in other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity. Any unrealized
losses which are determined to be other than temporary will be included in earnings. Realized gains and losses are recognized on the specific identification
method.

We periodically evaluate our investments for impairment. In the event that the carrying value of an investment exceeds its fair value and the decline in
fair value is determined to be other than temporary, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis for the investment is established. In order to
determine whether a decline in value is other than temporary, we evaluate many factors, including the following: the duration and extent to which the fair value
has been less than the carrying value; our financial condition and business outlook, including key operational and cash flow metrics, current market
conditions and future trends in the industry; and our intent and ability to retain the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery in fair value. During the third quarter of 2010, we determined that the impairment of our investment in Luna Innovations, Incorporated common
stock was other than temporary. As such, we permanently wrote down the value of that investment and recorded a loss of $1.9 million in other expense on the
consolidated
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statement of operations. In the fourth quarter of 2011, we further permanently wrote down the value of the Luna investment and recorded an additional loss of
$0.3 million in other expense on the consolidated statement of operations. In the first quarter of 2013, the Company recorded an additional write down of the
investment and recorded an additional loss of $0.6 million in other expense on the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Significant management
judgment is required in determining whether an other-than-temporary decline in the fair value of an investment exists. Changes in our assessment of the
valuation of our investments could materially impact our future operating results and financial position.

Inventories
Inventory, which includes material, labor and overhead costs is stated at standard cost, which approximates actual cost, determined on a first-in, first-

out basis, not in excess of market value. We record reserves, when necessary, to reduce the carrying value of excess or obsolete inventories to their net realizable
value. These reserves are based on our best estimates after considering projected future demand. In the event that actual demand for our inventory differs from
our best estimates or we fail to receive the necessary regulatory approvals, increases to inventory reserves may become necessary.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets in accordance with authoritative accounting guidance . When events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, we recognize such impairment if the net book value of such assets exceeds the
future undiscounted cash flows attributable to such assets. Should an impairment exist, the impairment loss would be measured based on the excess carrying
value of the asset over the asset’s fair value or discounted estimates of future cash flows attributable to the assets. As of December 31, 2013, we had $3.6
million of property and equipment, net. If estimates or the related assumptions change in the future, we may record impairment charges to reduce the carrying
value of certain groups of these assets. Changes in the valuation of long-lived assets could materially impact our operating results and financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation
Under the fair value recognition provisions of authoritative guidance related to stock-based compensation, stock-based payment expense is estimated at

the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period of the award. The recording of
compensation expense related to stock-based awards is significant to our financial statements but does not result in the payment of cash by us. Determining the
appropriate fair value model used to calculate the fair value of stock-based awards requires significant management judgment. Additionally, the calculation of
the fair value of stock-based awards requires us to make significant estimates and judgments, including the expected volatility, the expected term of the award,
risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. If we had chosen a different fair value model or made different estimates in the calculation of fair value, the amount
or timing of stock-based compensation recorded could have differed materially from the amounts reported.

We have selected the Black-Scholes option valuation model as the most appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value for our stock-based
awards. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions in determining the fair value of stock-based awards,
including the expected volatility of the underlying stock, expected term, risk-free interest rate and the dividend yield.
 

 •  Expected Volatility. Our estimate of volatility is based on the historical volatilities of our stock price.
 

 
•  Expected Term. We estimate the expected term based on our historical settlement experience related to vesting and contractual terms while giving

consideration to awards that have life cycles less than the contractual terms and vesting schedules in accordance with authoritative guidance.
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•  Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate that we use in the Black-Scholes option valuation model is the implied yield in effect at the time

of option grant based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to the expected term of our option grants. For ESPP
grants, we use the 6-month Constant Maturity Treasury (“CMT”) rate.

 

 
•  Dividend Yield. We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the

foreseeable future. Consequently, we use a dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

In addition to the Black-Scholes assumptions noted above, we also estimate a forfeiture rate for our stock-based awards. We estimate our forfeiture rate
based on an analysis of our actual forfeitures based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover behavior and other factors. The impact from
any forfeiture rate adjustment would be recognized in full in the period of adjustment and if the actual number of future forfeitures differs from our estimates,
we might be required to record adjustments to stock-based compensation in future periods.

To the extent that future evidence regarding these variables is available and provides estimates that we determine are more indicative of actual trends, we
may refine or change our approach to deriving these input estimates. These changes could significantly impact the stock-based compensation expense recorded
in the future.

Loss Contingencies
We evaluate potential loss contingencies as circumstances dictate. Should a specific loss contingency meet the definition of a liability under authoritative

accounting guidance, we would record a loss and a liability. As of December 31, 2013, we had not recorded any loss contingencies as liabilities. However, if
estimates and assumptions change in the future, we may record charges to our financial statements. This could materially impact our operating results and
financial position.

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
We make certain judgments and estimates in determining and valuing deferred tax assets. These judgments arise from differences in timing of

recognizing certain expenses for tax purposes and in the calculation of credit and net operating loss carryforwards.

At December 31, 2013, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $242.0 million and $205.3 million, respectively. At
December 31, 2012, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $195.1 million and $169.0 million, respectively. These net
operating loss carryforwards will expire in varying amounts from 2014 through 2033 if not utilized. We maintained a full valuation allowance against our
deferred tax asset totaling $130.4 million and $109.0 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The determination to maintain an allowance is
highly subjective. The factors we considered in making this determination include, but are not limited to (i) our historical cumulative net losses, after
adjustment for permanent tax differences, over the previous three years through 2013; (ii) our dependence on continued high growth rates in achieving
forecasted profitability; (iii) operation in an industry subject to rapid technological changes; and (iv) the unknown impact of current negative macroeconomic
factors on our forecasted results of operations. Based on our consideration of these factors, we believe there is sufficient uncertainty regarding our ability to
generate future taxable income. We will retain a full valuation allowance until such time that we determine it is more likely than not that we will recognize the
benefit of the deferred tax assets. Throughout 2014, we will continually evaluate these, and other, factors, and the impact any changes in these factors has on
our judgment regarding the realization of the deferred tax assets.

Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, provide for annual limitations on the utilization of net operating loss and
research and experimentation credit carryforwards if we were to undergo
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an ownership change, as defined in Section 382. As the result of the sale of 11,700,000 shares of common stock in April 2009, the sale of 16,100,000 shares
of common stock in April 2010, the sale of 4,785,000 shares of common stock in November 2011, the sale of 5,291,000 shares of common stock in October
2012 and the August 2013 sale of 28,455,284 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 34,146,339 shares of common stock, such
an ownership change may have occurred. Accordingly, our utilization of net operating loss and credit carryforwards which existed at that time could be
limited. We have not completed a study to assess whether an ownership change has occurred or whether there have been multiple ownership changes since we
became a “loss corporation” under the Code. We have evaluated and will continue to evaluate alternative analyses permitted under Section 382 and IRS notices
to determine whether or not any ownership changes have occurred and may occur (and if so, when they occurred) that would result in limitations on our
NOLs or certain other tax attributes.

Financial Overview
Revenues

Our product revenues primarily consist of sales of Magellan Robotic and Sensei systems, catheters and other disposables. Our service revenue primarily
consists of system service and customer training, which are typically entered into at the time systems are sold. These service contracts have been generally
renewed at the end of the service period. In the third quarter of 2012, we began shipping systems under a limited commercial evaluation program to allow
certain strategic accounts to install and utilize systems for a limited trial period while the purchase opportunity is being evaluated by the hospital. Systems
under this program remain our property and are recorded in inventory and a sale only occurs upon the issuance of a purchase order from the customer.
Customers with evaluation systems must purchase catheters from us, which catheters are required for the use of our systems.

Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues consists primarily of materials, direct labor, depreciation, overhead costs associated with manufacturing, training and installation

costs, royalties, provisions for inventory valuation, warranty expenses and the cost associated with our post-contract customer service.

Research and Development Expenses
Our research and development expenses primarily consist of engineering, software development, product development, quality assurance and clinical

and regulatory expenses, including costs to develop our Sensei system, Magellan Robotic System and their respective disposable catheters. Research and
development expenses include employee compensation, including stock-based compensation expense, consulting services, outside services, materials,
supplies, depreciation and travel. We expense research and development costs as they are incurred.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for executive, finance, sales, legal and administrative personnel,

including sales commissions and stock-based compensation. Other significant expenses include costs associated with attending medical conferences,
professional fees for legal services (including legal services associated with our efforts to obtain and maintain broad protection for the intellectual property
related to our products) and accounting services, consulting fees and travel expenses.

Gain on Licensing of Intellectual Property
Gain on licensing of intellectual property consists of licensing fees received in connection with our updated license agreement with Intuitive Surgical.
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Gain on Sale of Intellectual Property
Gain on sale of intellectual property consists of amounts received in exchange for patent and technology license, sublicense and purchase agreements

with Philips to allow them to develop and commercialize the non-robotic applications of the FOSSL technology in the non-robotic vascular, endoluminal and
orthopedic fields.

Loss on Settlement of Litigation
On May 9, 2013, we and the plaintiff parties entered into a stipulation of settlement in the matter Curry v. Hansen Medical, Inc. et al., Case No. 09-

05094 and consolidated actions, pursuant to which the plaintiffs receive an aggregate of $8.5 million, $4.0 million of which was funded in cash by our
insurer and other sources. We funded the remaining portion by issuing $4.25 million worth of our common stock, and paying $250,000 in cash. We recorded
a loss on litigation settlement of $4.5 million in first quarter of 2013.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt
In the third quarter of 2013 we fully repaid and extinguished our previous loan obligation to Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank. In

connection with the early repayment of debt, we incurred a loss on extinguishment of $1.9 million that primarily included a prepayment penalty of $0.9
million, an additional end of term payment of $0.5 million and a write-off of the unamortized discount from warrants and capitalized issuance costs of $0.5
million.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Cost of revenues, research and development and selling, general and administrative expense included stock-based compensation expense for stock-based

awards as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Year ended

December 31,  
   2013    2012    2011  
Cost of revenues   $ 402    $ 319    $ 805  
Research and development    1,320     444     1,703  
Selling, general and administrative    3,167     2,119     4,168  

Total   $4,889    $ 2,882    $6,676  

Total stock-based compensation for 2012 includes a $740,000 reduction in expense recorded in the first quarter of 2012 resulting from an out of period
adjustment related to compensation recorded in 2011 and prior periods for our employee stock purchase plan. This out of period correction is not material to
2012 or to prior periods. Net of this adjustment, the increase in stock-based compensation in 2013 compared to 2012 was primarily due to the impact of the
Company’s new equity awards granted.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2013 to the year ended December 31, 2012:

Revenues
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2013    2012    $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Product   $ 11,790    $ 12,303    $ (513)   (4)% 
Service    5,192     5,333     (141)   (3)% 

Total revenues   $16,982    $17,636    $(654)   (4)% 
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Product revenue in 2013 included the recognition of revenue on a total of 12 robotic systems, including seven Magellan and five Sensei systems, as well
as monthly rental income from the conversion of two Magellan evaluation systems and 2,857 catheters. 2012 product revenue included the recognition of
revenue on 13 robotic systems, including four Magellan and nine Sensei systems, eight of which were shipped within the period, and five were shipped prior
to 2012, and 2,807 catheters. The decrease in product revenue was due to an 8% decrease in systems recognized in revenue coupled with 2% decrease in the
average selling prices of systems, partially offset by a 2% increase in catheters sold and a 5% increase in the average selling prices of catheters. The decrease
in systems recognized in revenue in 2013 as compared to 2012 was largely the result of the recognition of $2.6 million of revenue in 2012 on five systems that
were sold prior to 2012. The decrease in average system selling prices was driven primarily by price discounts on strategic sales of two systems in two new
international markets, partially offset by a higher mix of our Magellan Systems in 2013, which typically has a higher selling price than our Sensei systems.
Increases in catheter sales were due primarily to a larger installed base of systems and growth in overall procedure volume. Service revenue decreased in 2013
compared to 2012 due primarily to the timing of service contracts recognized in revenue.

We have experienced significant fluctuations in quarterly revenues, primarily attributable to being in the early stages of our commercial launch and
difficult general economic and capital market conditions, slower than expected macro-economic recovery and uncertainty created by the Affordable Care Act
that has impacted capital purchases by healthcare providers. We expect these fluctuations to continue through 2014.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
   2013   2012   $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Product   $11,150   $11,990   $ (840)   (7)% 
Service    2,331    2,036    295    14% 

Total cost of revenues   $ 13,481   $ 14,026   $(545)   (4)% 
As a percentage of revenues    79.4%   79.5%   
Gross profit   $ 3,501   $ 3,610   $ (109)   (3)% 
As a percentage of revenues    20.6%   20.5%   

Gross profit for 2013 was $3.5 million, or 21% of revenues, compared to $3.6 million, or 21% of revenues in 2012. Gross profit margins in 2013 were
negatively impacted by an 8% decrease in the number of robotic systems recognized as revenue in 2013, price discounts on strategic sales of two systems in
two new international markets and lower service margins, offset by improvements in the manufacturing costs including lower materials, labor and scrap
which primarily resulted from the Company’s efforts to implement lean manufacturing concepts and other cost reduction initiatives. We expect that cost of
revenues and gross profit, both as a percentage of revenues and on a dollar basis, may continue to vary from quarter to quarter in 2014 due, among other
things, to fluctuations in shipments and revenue levels, average selling prices, the mix of products sold, manufacturing levels and manufacturing yields.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development

 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2013    2012    $        %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Research and development   $16,139    $16,126    $13     0% 
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Research and development expenses in 2013 were flat compared to 2012 primarily due to a decrease of $0.7 million due to reduced development costs
associated with our Magellan Robotic System and other product development initiatives offset by a $0.7 million increase in clinical trial costs and prototype
material costs for the 6Fr Magellan Catheter. We expect research and development expenses for 2014 to increase moderately over 2013 levels due to development
of new clinical programs and new product and technology development initiatives.

Selling, General and Administrative
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2013    2012    $        %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Selling, general and administrative   $31,765    $25,987    $5,778     22% 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $5.8 million in 2013 compared to 2012. The increase was primarily due to $2.8 million of legal
costs associated with securities litigation, patent and financing related matters, $1.4 million of increased costs from the development of our global sales
organization and other marketing activities, and $1.5 million of insurance reimbursement proceeds received in connection with the securities litigation in 2012.
We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses for 2014 to increase moderately due to increased commissions on expected increases in sales levels,
and marginal growth of our sales force compared to 2013.

Gain on Licensing of Intellectual Property
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change

    2013    2012    $   %
   (Dollars in thousands)
Gain on licensing of intellectual property   $—      $20,000    $(20,000)  N/A

In October 2012, we signed an updated license agreement with Intuitive Surgical Operations, Inc. and Intuitive Surgical, Inc. (collectively, “Intuitive
Surgical”), under which Intuitive Surgical paid us a $20 million licensing fee, and a stock purchase agreement to sell 5,291,005 shares of our common stock
to Intuitive Surgical for a purchase price of $10 million. The amendment of the license agreement is an update to the co-exclusive cross license agreement
signed by the companies in 2005. Under the terms of the amended agreement, Intuitive Surgical’s existing co-exclusive rights to our patent portfolio to certain
non-vascular procedures have been extended to include patents filed or conceived by us subsequent to the original 2005 agreement up to and including the
period three years subsequent to the amendment. We retain the right to use our intellectual property for all clinical applications, both vascular and non-
vascular.

The $20.0 million of upfront payments for the licensing of intellectual property was recognized immediately in net loss. The $10.0 million associated
with the stock purchase agreement was recorded to common stock and additional paid-in capital on the balance sheet.

Loss on Settlement of Litigation
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change
   2013    2012    $    %
   (Dollars in thousands)
Loss on settlement of litigation   $4,500    $—      $4,500    N/A
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On May 9, 2013, we and the plaintiff parties entered into a stipulation of settlement in the matter Curry v. Hansen Medical, Inc. et al., Case No. 09-
05094 and consolidated actions, pursuant to which the plaintiffs would receive an aggregate of $8.5 million, $4.0 million of which would be funded in cash
by our insurer and other sources. We recorded a loss on litigation settlement of $4.5 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2013. On December 5, 2013,
the Court granted final approval of the settlement. We funded the remaining portion by issuing $4.25 million worth of our common stock, the number of
shares was determined based on the average closing price of the common stock for the 10 trading days preceding final Court approval of the settlement of the
class action, which average was $1.8490 per share, and paying $250,000 in cash.

Interest Income
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
       2013           2012           $          %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Interest income   $ 25    $ 78    $(53)   (68)% 

Interest income from cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments decreased in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due lower average effective
interest rates on the mix of lower average invested balances. We expect interest income in 2014 to remain consistent compared to 2013 levels.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change
   2013   2012    $   %
   (Dollars in thousands)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   $(1,935)  $—      $(1,935)  N/A

In the third quarter of 2013 we fully repaid and extinguished our previous loan obligation to Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank. In
connection with the early repayment of debt, we incurred a loss on extinguishment of $1.9 million that primarily included a prepayment penalty of $0.9
million, an additional end of term payment of $0.5 million and a write-off of the unamortized discount from warrants and capitalized issuance costs of $0.5
million.

Interest Expense
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
   2013   2012   $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Interest expense   $(3,952)  $(3,511)  $ (441)   13% 

Interest expense increased in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due to an increase in interest expense due to costs associated with higher outstanding
balances on debt coupled with higher interest rates in connection with the new debt. We expect interest expense in 2014 to increase compared to 2013 levels due
to the new White Oak debt facility executed in 2013.

Other Expense, net
 

   

Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
       2013          2012      $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Other expense, net   $ (842)  $ (95)  $(747)   N/A  
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Other expense, net increased in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due to the $0.6 million write down of our equity investment in Luna Innovations
recorded in the first quarter of 2013.

Income Tax Expense
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
   2013   2012       $          %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Income tax expense   $(115)  $(114)  $ (1)   N/A  

Income tax expense was flat in 2013 compared to 2012 and was primarily due to taxable income in foreign jurisdictions.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2012 to the year ended December 31, 2011
Revenues

 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2012    2011    $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Product   $ 12,303    $ 16,720    $(4,417)   (26)% 
Service    5,333     5,409     (76)   (1)% 

Total revenues   $17,636    $22,129    $(4,493)   (20)% 

2012 product revenue included the recognition of revenue on 13 robotic systems and 2,807 catheters. 2011 product revenue included the recognition of
revenue on 23 robotic systems and 2,787 catheters. The decline in product revenue was due to a 43% decrease in systems sold, partially offset by an 11%
increase in the average selling prices of systems, a 1% increase in catheters sold and a 4% increase in the average selling prices of catheters. The decrease in
systems sold was largely the result of the recognition of more systems from deferred revenue in 2011 as compared to 2012, as 2012 revenue included the
recognition of revenue on five systems that were previously in deferred revenue, while 2011 revenue included 12 such systems. The improvement in average
system selling prices was driven by a higher percentage of systems sold to end users, which were typically sold at higher prices than units sold through
distributors, and sales of our Magellan Robotic System in 2012, which is typically sold at higher selling price than our Sensei system. Increases in catheter
sales were due primarily to a larger installed base of systems purchasing our catheters, increased utilization of EP catheters and, to a lesser extent, sales of
Magellan Robotic Catheters. Service revenue decreased in 2012 compared to 2011 due primarily to a 15% decrease in the number of systems with active
service contracts due to a delay in the renewals of service contracts, partially offset by a 16% increase in the average amount per service contract.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
   2012   2011   $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Product   $11,990   $ 14,600   $(2,610)   (18)% 
Service    2,036    2,611    (575)   (22)% 

Total cost of revenues   $ 14,026   $17,211   $(3,185)   (19)% 
As a percentage of revenues    79.5%   77.8%   
Gross profit   $ 3,610   $ 4,918   $ (1,308)   (27)% 
As a percentage of revenues    20.5%   22.2%   
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Gross profit for 2012 was $3.6 million, or 21% of revenues, compared to $4.9 million, or 22% of revenues in 2011. The decrease in gross margin
percentage was driven by a decline in system unit volume compared to an increase in catheter volume in 2012, as systems have higher gross margins,
partially offset by lower costs to manufacture our products, improved average system selling prices and higher margins on service revenue. Specifically, the
number of robotic systems recognized as revenue decreased 43% in 2012 compared to 2011. The number of catheters sold increased by 1% in 2012 compared
to 2011. The improvement in average system selling prices was driven by a higher percentage of systems sold to end users, which were typically sold at higher
prices than units sold through distributors, and sales of our Magellan Robotic System in 2012, which typically has a higher selling price than our Sensei
system. Higher margins on service revenue are primarily driven by lower service costs in 2012. The lower cost to manufacture our products has been driven
by efforts by the Company to improve manufacturing processes through the implementation of lean manufacturing concepts and the reduction of material and
labor costs.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development

 

   

Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2012    2011    $        %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Research and development   $16,126    $12,156    $3,970     33% 

Research and development expenses in 2011 included the recognition of $10.6 million of funded development credits from our since-completed work
under the Philips agreement which were recorded as a reduction of expense. Excluding these credits, research and development expenses in 2012 decreased
compared to 2011 primarily due to a decrease of $3.8 million in materials related to reduced development costs associated with our Magellan Robotic System
and decreases in employee-related expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2012    2011    $       %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Selling, general and administrative   $25,987    $31,428    $(5,441)   (17)% 

The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses in 2012 compared to 2011 was primarily due to a decrease of $4.1 million in professional
service fees, primarily due to the receipt of $1.5 million insurance reimbursement and decreased litigation expenses, and a decrease of $2.0 million in stock-
based compensation expense, partially offset by an increase in bad debt expense.

Gain on Licensing of Intellectual Property
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change
   2012    2011    $        %    
   (Dollars in thousands)
Gain on licensing of intellectual property   $20,000    $—      $20,000    N/A

In October 2012, we signed an updated license agreement with Intuitive Surgical Operations, Inc. and Intuitive Surgical, Inc. (collectively, “Intuitive
Surgical”), under which Intuitive Surgical paid us a $20 million licensing fee, and a stock purchase agreement to sell 5,291,005 shares of our common stock
to Intuitive Surgical
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for a purchase price of $10 million. The amendment of the license agreement is an update to the co-exclusive cross license agreement signed by the companies
in 2005. Under the terms of the amended agreement, Intuitive Surgical’s existing co-exclusive rights to our patent portfolio to certain non-vascular procedures
have been extended to include patents filed or conceived by us subsequent to the original 2005 agreement up to and including the period three years subsequent
to the amendment. We retain the right to use our intellectual property for all clinical applications, both vascular and non-vascular.

The $20.0 million of upfront payments for the licensing of intellectual property was recognized immediately in net loss. The $10.0 million associated
with the stock purchase agreement was recorded to common stock and additional paid-in capital on the balance sheet.

Gain on Sale of Intellectual Property
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
    2012    2011    $   %  
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Gain on sale of intellectual property   $—      $23,000    $(23,000)   (100)% 

In February 2011, we entered, directly and through a wholly-owned subsidiary, into patent and technology license, sublicense and purchase agreements
with Philips to allow them to develop and commercialize the non-robotic applications of the FOSSL technology. Under the terms of the agreements, Philips has
the exclusive right to develop and commercialize the FOSSL technology in the non-robotic vascular, endoluminal and orthopedic fields. Philips also receives
non-exclusive rights in other non-robotic medical device fields, but not to any multi-degree of freedom robotic applications. If Philips does not meet certain
specified commercialization obligations, we have the rights to re-acquire the licenses granted to Philips for pre-determined payments. The agreement also
contains customary representations, warranties and indemnification provisions by each party. Each party may terminate the agreements for material breach by
the other party. Philips also has the right to terminate the agreement and its rights under the agreement if we are acquired by a competitor of the relevant
business unit of Philips. In connection with the licensing of the technology, we received an upfront nonrefundable payment of $23.0 million which was
recognized immediately in operating income. We will be eligible to receive up to an additional $78.0 million in future payments associated with the successful
commercialization by Philips or its collaborators of products containing FOSSL technology. Approximately two-thirds of these potential future payments could
arise from Philips’ sublicensing the FOSSL technology and approximately one-third of the potential future payments are based on Philips’ royalty obligations
on its sales of products containing the FOSSL technology. We would receive less than half of Philips’ proceeds for its sublicensing FOSSL technology, if and
following Philips entering into an applicable sublicensing transaction. Philips’ FOSSL-related royalty obligations are calculated on a consistent annual basis
between 2014 and 2020 and arise in any year only to the extent that Philips achieves a substantial number of commercial placements of FOSSL-enabled
products in the calendar year.

Interest Income
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change  
   2012    2011        $          %     
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Interest income   $78    $150    $(72)   (48)% 

Interest income from cash, cash equivalents and investments and the note receivable from Luna decreased in 2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to
the receipt of interest on our note receivable from Luna in 2011 which note was fully paid off in 2011.
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Interest Expense
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
   2012   2011   $   %  
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Interest expense   $(3,511)  $(573)  $(2,938)   513% 

Interest expense increased in 2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase in interest expense related to our fourth quarter 2011 debt agreement.

Other Expense, net
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,   Change  
   2012   2011   $    %  
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Other expense, net   $(95)  $(623)  $528     (85)% 

Other expense, net in 2011 included a $0.3 million write down of our equity investment in Luna and a loss on the settlement of the Luna note receivable.
The remaining variance is due to changes in unrealized losses on the valuation of the Luna warrants and foreign exchange losses.

Income Tax Expense
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,    Change
   2012   2011    $   %
   (Dollars in thousands)
Income tax expense   $(114)  $—      $(114)  N/A

Income tax expense increased in 2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase in taxable income in foreign jurisdictions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
   2013   2012   2011  
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 27,995   $ 32,749   $ 36,520  
Short-term investments    1,945    8,424    15,690  
Restricted cash    5,394    —     —   

Total cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash   $ 35,334   $ 41,173   $ 52,210  
Cash used in operating activities   $(42,755)  $ (40,785)  $(36,391) 
Cash provided by investing activities    760    25,796    12,661  
Cash provided by financing activities    37,241    11,218    34,481  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ (4,754)  $ (3,771)  $ 10,751  

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short-Term Investments and Restricted Cash
Our cash, cash equivalent, short-term investment balances and restricted cash are held primarily in money market funds in addition to corporate equity

securities. Cash in excess of immediate requirements is invested in
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accordance with our investment policy primarily with a view towards liquidity and capital preservation. Pursuant to our secured term loan agreement executed
in 2013, the Company is obligated to maintain $5.0 million of restricted cash subject to lenders’ control.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities for the years presented primarily reflects the net loss for those periods adjusted for the loss on settlement of litigation

in 2013, the gain on licensing of intellectual property in 2012 and the gain on sale of intellectual property in 2011, partially offset by non-cash charges such as
loss on extinguishment of debt, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, provision for doubtful accounts, loss of disposal of fixed assets
and net unrealized losses on investments. Additionally, net cash used in operations in 2013 was negatively impacted by an increase of $3.1 million in
inventory and an increase of $1.4 million in long-term accounts receivable included in other assets. Net cash used in operations in 2012 was negatively
impacted by an increase of $2.7 million in inventory and decreases of $0.9 million in accrued liabilities and $3.7 million deferred revenue. Net cash used in
operations in 2011 was negatively impacted by increases in accounts receivable and inventory balances due to higher shipments at the end of 2011 and a slight
build in inventory related to our Magellan Robotic System and by a decrease in deferred revenue.

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities in 2013 primarily relates to the proceeds from the net maturities of short-term investments as we manage our

portfolio to provide liquidity and interest income for our operations partially offset by a provision for restricted cash of $5.0 million as required under the
White Oak loan agreement. Net cash provided by investing activities in 2012 primarily relates to the proceeds from the licensing of intellectual property and
net maturities of short-term investments as we manage our portfolio to provide liquidity and interest income for our operations. Net cash provided by investing
activities in 2011 primarily relates to the proceeds from the sale of intellectual property and the collection of the note receivable from Luna, partially offset by
net purchases of short-term investments. Investing activities for each of these periods were also negatively impacted by the purchase of property and equipment
as we invested in the infrastructure of our company.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities in 2013 primarily relates to gross proceeds of $39.3 million received upon completion of the private placement

equity financing less $2.1 million of related costs, gross proceeds of $33.0 million related to the White Oak debt financing less debt issuance costs of $1.5
million, proceeds related to the exercise of stock options and from purchases under our employee stock purchase plan, partially offset by $32.1 million of
principal payments and final repayment fees related to the extinguishment of the Oxford Loan. Net cash provided by financing activities in 2012 is primarily
due to cash received from the sale of stock to Intuitive Surgical. Net cash provided by financing activities in 2011 is primarily due to the proceeds from our
new loan agreement, partially offset by the repayment of the existing loan balance. The remaining cash provided by financing activities was mainly due to
cash receipts from our employee stock purchase plan and from the exercises of stock options, partially offset by scheduled debt repayments.

Historical Financing Activities
We have incurred significant losses since our inception in September 2002 and, as of December 31, 2013 we had an accumulated deficit of $352.7

million. We have financed our operations to date principally through the sale of capital stock, debt financing, interest earned on investments and the sale of our
products and, beginning in 2009 through partnering and licensing of intellectual property. In November 2011, we sold approximately 4,785,000 shares of our
common stock, resulting in approximately $10.0 million of net proceeds. In October 2012, we sold 5,291,005 shares of our common stock, resulting in
approximately $10.0 million of net proceeds. In July 2013, we sold approximately 28,455,284 shares of our common stock in a private placement
transaction, resulting in approximately $37.2 of net proceeds.
 

9 5



Table of Contents

Oxford Loan
In December 2011, we entered into a $30.0 million loan and security agreement with Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank (the “Oxford Loan”).

Under the loan agreement, we were obligated to pay interest only payments on the Oxford Loan through June 30, 2013, following which time the Oxford Loan
required interest and principal payments through January 1, 2016. The Oxford Loan accrued interest at a stated rate of 9.45% and included an additional
final interest payment of 3.95% of the original principal amount. The Oxford Loan provided for a prepayment option that allowed us to prepay all of the
outstanding principal balance, subject to a pre-payment fee.

In connection with the Oxford Loan, we issued warrants to purchase 660,793 shares of common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $2.27
per share and expire in December 2018. The fair value of the warrants was estimated at $0.9 million using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the
following assumptions: expected volatility of 58.0%, risk free interest rate of 1.41%, expected life of 7 years and zero dividend yield. The fair value of the
warrants was recorded as a discount to the loan and was amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method over the term of the loan. A total of
$0.2 million and $0.3 million was amortized to interest expense in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In August 2013, the Oxford Loan was fully repaid and extinguished under the loan agreement’s prepayment option. We paid a final interest balloon of
$1.2 million plus accrued interest and recognized a prepayment penalty of $0.9 million. We recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.9 million that
includes a prepayment penalty of $0.9 million, an additional end of term payment of $0.5 million and a write-off of the unamortized discount from warrants
and capitalized issuance costs $0.5 million.

White Oak Loan
In July 2013, we executed a secured term loan agreement with White Oak Global Advisors, LLC (“White Oak”), as a lender and agent for several

lenders. On August 23, 2013, the loan agreement was amended and restated and funded. The amended loan agreement provides for term loan debt financing of
$33.0 million with a single principal balloon payment due at maturity on December 30, 2017. Cash interest accrues at an 11.0% per annum rate and is payable
quarterly. Additionally, a 3.0% per annum payment-in-kind accrues quarterly and is accretive to the principal amount owed under the agreement. Substantially
all of the proceeds from the loan were used to fully repay and extinguish the prior Oxford Loan. In connection with the loan, we incurred costs of
approximately $1.5 million including payments to the lender agent totaling $0.7 million and the placement agent totaling $0.3 million that in aggregate are
accounted for as debt issuance costs and amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan. Under the amended loan agreement, we are obligated to pay
White Oak certain servicing, administration and monitoring fees of $32,000 annually. We may prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal balance,
subject to paying a prepayment fee of 3.5% of the principal amount of the loan if the prepayment is made on or before the third anniversary of the funding of
the loan or 1.0% of the principal amount of the loan if the prepayment is made after the third anniversary and on or before the fourth anniversary of the
funding of the loan. We are also required to make mandatory prepayments upon certain events of loss and certain dispositions of our assets as described in the
amended loan agreement.

The loan is collateralized by substantially all of our assets then owned or thereafter acquired, other than our intellectual property, and all proceeds and
products thereof. Two of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, AorTx, Inc. and Hansen Medical International, Inc., have entered into agreements to guarantee our
obligations under the amended loan agreement and have granted first priority security interests in their assets, excluding any of their intellectual property, to
secure their guarantee obligations. Under the amended loan agreement, neither us nor AorTx, Inc. and Hansen Medical International, Inc. may grant a lien on
any intellectual property to third parties. We additionally agreed to pledge to lenders shares of each of our direct and indirect subsidiaries as collateral for the
loan. Pursuant to the loan agreement, we are subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants and also to minimum liquidity requirements which require
us to maintain $15.0 million in liquidity, consisting of at least $13 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments, of which $5.0 million is required to be
restricted subject to
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lenders’ control, and up to $2 million in certain accounts receivable. The loan also limits our ability to (a) undergo certain change of control events;
(b) convey, sell, lease, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of any of our assets; (c) create, incur, assume, or be liable with respect to certain indebtedness,
not including, among other items, subordinated debt; (d) grant liens; (e) pay dividends and make certain other restricted payments; (f) make certain
investments; (g) make payments on any subordinated debt; or (g) enter into transactions with any of our affiliates outside of the ordinary course of business,
or permit our subsidiaries to do the same. We are also required to make mandatory prepayments upon certain events of loss and certain dispositions of our
assets as described in the amended loan agreement. In the event we were to violate any covenants or if White Oak has reason to believe that we have violated
any covenants including a significant adverse event clause, and such violations are not cured pursuant to the terms of the loan and security agreement, we
would be in default under the loan and security agreement, which would entitle lenders to exercise their remedies, including the right to accelerate the debt, upon
which we may be required to repay all amounts then outstanding under the loan and security agreement. As of December 31, 2013, we were in compliance with
all financial covenants.

Future Capital Requirements
We recognized our first revenues in 2007, have not achieved profitability and have not generated net income to date. We have experienced significant

fluctuations in quarterly shipments and revenues and, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008, we saw many potential customers lengthen their sales cycles
and postpone purchase decisions. We anticipate that we will continue to incur substantial net losses for at least the next year as we continue to commercialize
our products, maintain and develop the infrastructure required to manufacture and sell our products, pursue additional applications for our technology
platform including our Sensei system and Magellan Robotic System, continue to develop new products and operate as a publicly traded company. We
anticipate our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances and the interest income we earn on these balances and the amounts received
through the sale of our products and services will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next twelve months. As of
December 31, 2013, our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash balances were $35.3 million. In accordance with terms of the
private placement financing completed in the third quarter of 2013, as of February 28, 2014, 11.4 million Series A warrants were exercised for total proceeds
of $14.0 million, and we had remaining outstanding warrants exercisable for up to 22.8 million shares of common stock, which if exercised in full would
yield gross proceeds of up to approximately $39.8 million. In order to meet our anticipated cash requirements, we may raise additional funding at any time by
selling equity or debt securities, licensing core or non-core intellectual property assets, entering into future research and development funding arrangements,
refinancing or restructuring existing debt arrangements or entering into a credit facility in order to meet our continuing cash needs. If such financing, licensing,
funding or credit arrangements do not meet our longer term needs or if future sales do not meet our current forecast, we may be required to extend our existing
liquidity by adopting additional cost-cutting measures, including reductions in our work force, reducing the scope of, delaying or eliminating some or all of
our planned research, development and commercialization activities and/or reducing marketing, customer support or other resources devoted to our products.
Any of these factors could harm our financial condition. Failure to raise additional funding or manage our spending may adversely impact our ability to
achieve our long term intended business objectives. We will continue to evaluate the extent of our implemented cost-saving measures based upon changing
future economic conditions and the achievement of estimated revenue and will consider the implementation of additional cost reductions if and as
circumstances warrant.

If we seek additional funding in the future by selling additional equity or debt securities, refinancing or restructuring existing debt arrangements or
entering into a credit facility, such additional funding may result in substantial dilution to existing stockholders, may contain unfavorable terms or may not be
available on any terms. If we are unable to obtain any needed additional funding, we may be required to reduce the scope of, delay, or eliminate some or all of,
our planned research, development and commercialization activities or to license to third parties the rights to commercialize products or technologies that we
would otherwise seek to
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commercialize ourselves or on terms that are less attractive than they might otherwise be, any of which could materially harm our business. The timing and
exact amounts of our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including but not limited to the following:
 

 •  our ability to maintain compliance with debt covenants;
 

 •  the cash collected from and the revenue and margins generated by sales of our current and future products;
 

 •  the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish;
 

 •  the success of our research and development efforts;
 

 •  our ability to generate revenue in a time of overall economic uncertainty;
 

 •  the expenses we incur in manufacturing, marketing and selling our products, developing new products and operating our company;
 

 •  our ability to achieve and maintain manufacturing cost reductions;
 

 •  our ability to achieve and maintain operating cost reductions;
 

 •  the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other development activities;
 

 •  the cost and timing of future regulatory actions;
 

 
•  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property or other legal rights, or participating in

litigation-related activities;
 

 •  the costs of defending against lawsuits brought against us or individuals indemnified by us;
 

 •  the emergence of competing or complementary technological developments; and
 

 •  the acquisition of businesses, products and technologies.

We cannot guarantee that future equity or debt financing or credit facilities will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. This could
leave us without adequate financial resources to fund our operations as presently conducted or as we plan to conduct them in the future.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our outstanding contractual obligations as of December 31, 2013 and the effect those obligations are expected to have on

our liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in thousands):
 
   Payments Due by Period  

Contractual Obligations   Total    
Less than

1 Year    1-3 Years    3-5 years    Thereafter 
Operating leases—real estate   $12,888    $ 2,149    $ 4,119    $ 2,205   $ 4,415  
Debt, including interest    53,432     3,763     7,888     41,781    —   
Total   $66,320    $5,912    $12,007    $43,986    $ 4,415  

The table above reflects only payment obligations that are fixed and determinable. Our commitments for operating leases relate principally to the lease for
our corporate headquarters in Mountain View, California and our sales office in London, England. Future debt payments relate to principal and interest
payments related to the $33.0 million we have borrowed under our loan agreement with White Oak in 2013.

Additionally, we have minimum royalty obligations of $100,000 per year under a license agreement with Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories, Inc.
which reduces to $55,000 per year if the license becomes non-exclusive. The royalty obligation expires in 2018. We also have minimum royalty obligations of
$200,000 per
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year under the terms of our cross license agreement with Intuitive Surgical. We also have royalty obligations under the amended joint development agreement
with Philips which provides for the payment of royalties to Philips through October 2017. As of December 31, 2013, we had $3.9 million in uncertain tax
positions. If it is determined in some future period that these amounts are not allowed to be deducted for tax purposes and if we do not have credits or
carryforwards to cover these amounts, they could result in payments by us to taxing authorities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements under the caption “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” for a discussion of new accounting
pronouncements. We do not expect that any new pronouncements or interpretations upon adoption will have a material impact on our results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2013, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
In the normal course of business, our financial position is subject to a variety of risks, including market risk associated with interest rate movements

and foreign currency exchange risk. We regularly assess these risks and have established policies and business practices to protect against these and other
exposures. As a result, we do not anticipate material potential losses in these areas.

The primary objective for our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. This is
accomplished by investing in widely diversified short-term investments, consisting primarily of investment grade securities. As of December 31, 2013, the fair
value of our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash was approximately $35.3 million. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in
interest rates would not result in a material decrease or increase in our interest income nor in the fair value of our available-for-sale securities. We have no
investments denominated in foreign country currencies and therefore our investments are not subject to foreign currency exchange risk.

A portion of our operations consist of sales activities outside of the United States and, as such, we have foreign currency exposure to non-United States
dollar revenues and accounts receivable. Currently, we sell our products mainly in United States dollars, Euros and Great Britain Pounds although we may in
the future transact business in other currencies. Future fluctuations in the exchange rates of these currencies may impact our revenues. In the past, we have not
hedged our exposures to foreign currencies or entered into any other derivative instruments and we have no current plans to do so. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, sales denominated in foreign currencies were approximately 10% of total revenue. A hypothetical 5% increase in the United States dollar
exchange rate used would have resulted in an immaterial decrease to revenues for 2013.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hansen Medical, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hansen Medical, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2013
and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the financial statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Hansen Medical, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework  (1992) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 13, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touch LLP
San Francisco, California
March 13, 2014
 

102



Table of Contents

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share data)
 
   December 31,  
   2013   2012  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 27,995   $ 32,749  
Short-term investments    1,945    8,424  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $554 at December 31, 2013 and 2012    5,114    5,235  
Inventories    12,203    9,134  
Prepaids and other current assets    1,914    1,932  

Total current assets    49,171    57,474  

Property and equipment, net    3,641    6,040  
Restricted cash    5,394    —   
Other assets    2,953    578  

Total assets   $ 61,159   $ 64,092  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

Current liabilities:    
Accounts payable   $ 3,337   $ 3,056  
Accrued liabilities    3,934    3,322  
Current portion of deferred revenue    2,912    2,702  
Current portion of long-term debt    —      5,156  

Total current liabilities    10,183    14,236  

Deferred rent, net of current portion    310    354  
Deferred revenue, net of current portion    203    68  
Long-term debt, net of current portion    33,358    24,261  
Other long-term liabilities    229    434  

Total liabilities    44,283    39,353  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)    

Stockholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001:

Authorized: 10,000 shares
Issued and outstanding: none    —     —   

Common stock, par value $0.0001:
Authorized: 200,000 shares
Issued and outstanding: 99,014 and 67,078 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively    10    7  

Additional paid-in capital    369,170    322,252  
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income    360    (578) 
Accumulated deficit    (352,664)   (296,942) 

Total stockholders’ equity    16,876    24,739  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 61,159   $ 64,092  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

 
   Years ended December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  
Revenues:     

Product   $ 11,790   $ 12,303   $ 16,720  
Service    5,192    5,333    5,409  

Total revenues    16,982    17,636    22,129  
Cost of revenues:     

Product    11,150    11,990    14,600  
Service    2,331    2,036    2,611  

Total cost of revenues    13,481    14,026    17,211  
Gross profit    3,501    3,610    4,918  
Operating expenses:     

Research and development    16,139    16,126    12,156  
Selling, general and administrative    31,765    25,987    31,428  
Loss on settlement of litigation (Note 7)    4,500    —     —   

Total operating expenses    52,404    42,113    43,584  
Gain on licensing of intellectual property (Note 5)    —     20,000    —   
Gain on sale of intellectual property (Note 6)    —     —     23,000  

Loss from operations    (48,903)   (18,503)   (15,666) 
Interest income    25    78    150  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (1,935)   —     —   
Interest expense    (3,952)   (3,511)   (573) 
Other expense, net    (842)   (95)   (623) 

Loss before income taxes    (55,607)   (22,031)   (16,712) 
Income tax expense    (115)   (114)   —   
Net loss   $(55,722)  $(22,145)  $ (16,712) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (0.70)  $ (0.35)  $ (0.30) 
Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share    79,052    62,472    55,362  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands)
 
   Years ended December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  
Net loss   $(55,722)  $(22,145)  $ (16,712) 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net:     

Change in unrealized gains and losses on investments    276    (716)   491  
Amounts reclassified to other income (expense)    627    —      —    
Foreign currency translation adjustment    35    19    (5) 

Change in other comprehensive income (loss)    938    (697)   486  
Comprehensive loss   $ (54,784)  $ (22,842)  $(16,226) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
 
  Common Stock   

Additional Paid-
In Capital  

 Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

 

Accumulated
Deficit  

 Total
Stockholders

’
Equity    Shares   Amount     

Balances, January 1, 2011   53,901   $ 5   $ 289,219   $ (367)  $ (258,085)  $ 30,772  
Exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee equity

incentive plan   886    —      831    —      —      831  
Withholding taxes paid on vested restricted stock units   —      —      (303)   —      —      (303) 
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee stock purchase plan   334    —      536    —      —      536  
Issuance of common stock pursuant to private placement   4,785    1    9,959    —      —      9,960  
Issuance of common stock for technology acquired   75    —      367    —      —      367  
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt   —      —      868    —      —      868  
Employee share-based compensation expense   —      —      6,676    —      —      6,676  
Net loss   —      —      —      —      (16,712)   (16,712) 
Change in unrealized loss on investments   —      —      —      491    —      491  
Translation adjustment   —      —      —      (5)   —      (5) 
Balances, December 31, 2011   59,981    6    308,153    119    (274,797)   33,481  
Exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee equity

incentive plan   1,449    —      548    —      —      548  
Withholding taxes paid on vested restricted stock units   —      —      (14)   —      —      (14) 
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee stock purchase plans   357    —      684    —      —      684  
Issuance of common stock pursuant to private placement   5,291    1    9,999    —      —      10,000  
Non-employee stock-based compensation   —      —      9    —      —      9  
Employee share-based compensation expense   —      —      2,873    —      —      2,873  
Net loss   —      —      —      —      (22,145)   (22,145) 
Change in unrealized loss on investments   —      —      —      (716)   —      (716) 
Translation adjustment   —      —      —      19    —      19  
Balances, December 31, 2012   67,078    7    322,252    (578)   (296,942)   24,739  
Exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee equity

incentive plan   788    —      114    —      —      114  
Withholding taxes paid on vested restricted stock units   —      —      (18)   —      —      (18) 
Issuance of common stock pursuant to the employee stock purchase plan   394    —      560    —      —      560  
Issuance of common stock and warrants pursuant to private placement   28,455    3    37,123    —      —      37,126  
Issuance of common shares in connection with the litigation settlement   2,299    —      4,250    —      —      4,250  
Employee share-based compensation expense   —      —      4,889    —      —      4,889  
Net loss   —      —      —      —      (55,722)   (55,722) 
Change in unrealized loss on investments   —      —      —      276    —      276  
Amounts reclassified to other income (expense)   —      —      —      627    —      627  
Translation adjustment   —      —      —      35    —      35  
Balances, December 31, 2013   99,014   $ 10   $ 369,170   $ 360   $ (352,664)  $ 16,876  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
 
   Years Ended December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  
Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss   $(55,722)  $(22,145)  $(16,712) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:     

Loss on settlement of litigation    4,500   —      —    
Gain on licensing of intellectual property    —      (20,000)   —    
Gain on sale of intellectual property    —      —      (23,000) 
Depreciation and amortization    2,949    3,265    3,359  
Stock-based compensation    4,889    2,882    6,676  
Issuance of common stock for technology acquired    —      —      367  
Amortization of common stock warrants    195    270    15  
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets    —      (15)   9  
Net realized gains and losses on investments    677    40    370  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    1,935    —      —    
Provision (benefit) for doubtful accounts    —      554    (3) 
Loss on settlement of note receivable    —      —      190  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivable    120    (296)   (1,283) 
Inventories    (3,069)   (2,735)   (1,398) 
Deferred cost of revenues    18    1,406    1,704  
Prepaids and other current assets    297    116    215  
Other assets    (1,280)   68    (137) 
Accounts payable    226    112    (213) 
Accrued liabilities    568    (886)   (712) 
Deferred revenue    345    (3,668)   (5,199) 
Other long-term liabilities    597    247    (639) 

Net cash used in operating activities    (42,755)   (40,785)   (36,391) 
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property and equipment    (550)   (772)   (550) 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments    6,704    17,363    13,216  
Purchase of investments    —      (10,860)   (26,633) 
Proceeds from licensing of intellectual property    —      20,000    —    
Proceeds from sale of intellectual property    —      —      23,000  
Collection of note receivable    —      —      3,628  
Changes in restricted cash    (5,394)   6 5    —    

Net cash provided by investing activities    760    25,796    12,661  
Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants    39,268   10,000    10,000  
Costs related to issuance of common stock and warrants    (2,087)   —      (40) 
Proceeds from loans    33,000   —      30,000  
Costs related to issuance of loans    (1,538)   —      (305)
Repayments of loan principal    (30,000)   —      (6,238) 
Final loan repayment fees    (2,058)   —      —    
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options    114   548    831  
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan    560    684    536  
Withholding taxes paid on vested restricted stock units    (18)   (14)   (303) 

Net cash provided by financing activities    37,241    11,218    34,481  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (4,754)   (3,771)   10,751  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    32,749    36,520    25,769  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 27,995   $ 32,749   $ 36,520  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information     
Cash paid during the period for interest   $ 5,207   $ 2,599   $ 1,199  

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities     
Equity issuance costs not yet paid    5 5   —      —    
Issuance of common stock warrants    —      —      868  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

107





Table of Contents

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
1. The Company

Nature of Operations
Hansen Medical, Inc. (the “Company”) develops, manufactures and markets a new generation of medical robotics designed for accurate positioning,

manipulation and stable control of catheters and catheter-based technologies. The Company was incorporated in the state of Delaware on September 23, 2002.
The Company is headquartered in Mountain View, California. In March 2007, the Company established Hansen Medical UK Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary located in the United Kingdom and, in May 2007, the Company established Hansen Medical, GmbH, a wholly-owned subsidiary located in
Germany. Both subsidiaries are engaged in marketing the Company’s products in Europe.

Need to Raise Additional Capital
From inception to December 31, 2013, the Company has incurred losses totaling approximately $352.7 million and has not generated positive cash

flows from operations. The Company expects such losses to continue through at least the year ended December 31, 2014 as it continues to commercialize its
technologies and develop new applications and products. The Company anticipates its existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances
along with interest income earned in addition to estimated amounts that are expected to be received through the sale of its products and services will be
sufficient to meet its anticipated cash requirements for the next twelve months. As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, short-term
investments and restricted cash were $35.3 million. In accordance with terms of the private placement financing completed in the third quarter of 2013, as of
February 28, 2014, 11.4 million Series A warrants were exercised for total proceeds of $14.0 million, and the Company had remaining outstanding warrants
exercisable for up to 22.8 million shares of common stock, which if exercised in full would yield gross proceeds of up to approximately $39.8 million. The
Company may need to raise additional funding and may attempt to do so at any time by selling equity or debt securities, licensing core or non-core intellectual
property assets, entering into future research and development funding arrangements or entering into a credit facility in order to meet its continuing cash needs.
Failure to meet projected revenue levels, raise additional funding or manage spending may adversely impact the Company’s ability to achieve its long term
intended business objectives. The Company will continue to evaluate its financial condition based upon changing future economic conditions and the
achievement of estimated revenue and will consider the implementation of additional cost reductions if and as circumstances warrant.
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The Company has prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the

United States of America (“GAAP”). The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates relate to the recognition of revenue, the evaluation of customer credit risk,
the valuation of investments, inventory valuations, the determination of impairment of assets, stock-based compensation, loss contingencies and the valuation
of our deferred tax assets, among others. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenues are primarily derived from the sale of the Sensei system and the Magellan Robotic System and the associated catheters as well

as the sale of customer service contracts. Under the Company’s revenue recognition policy, revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery to the customer has occurred or the services have been fully rendered, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is
probable.
 

 

•  Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement . Persuasive evidence of an arrangement for sales of systems is generally determined by a sales contract
signed and dated by both the customer and the Company, including approved terms and conditions and the receipt of an approved purchase order.
Evidence of an arrangement for the sale of disposable products is determined through an approved purchase order from the customer. Evidence of
an arrangement for the sale of customer service is determined through either a signed sales contract or an approved purchase order from the
customer. Sales to customers are generally not subject to any performance, cancellation, termination or return rights.

 

 •  Delivery.
 

 
•  Systems and Disposable Products.  Typically, ownership of systems, catheters and other disposable products passes to customers upon

shipment, at which time delivery is deemed to be complete.
 

 
•  Customer Service Revenue.  The Company recognizes customer service revenue from the sale of product maintenance plans. Revenue

from customer services, whether sold individually or as a separate unit of accounting in a multi-element arrangement, is deferred and
amortized over the service period, which is typically one year.

 

 

•  Multiple-element Arrangements.  It is common for the sale of Sensei and Magellan systems to include multiple elements which qualify as
separate units of accounting. These elements commonly include the sale of the system and a product maintenance plan, in addition to
installation of the system and initial training. Less commonly, these elements may include the sale of certain disposable products or other
elements. Generally, under multiple-element arrangements, the systems are delivered at the beginning of the arrangement and the related
revenue is recognized at that time. Installation and training is generally completed within 90 days at which time the revenue is recognized.
Customer service revenue associated with the product maintenance plan is recognized ratably over the service period, which is typically
one year. Other elements are recognized once delivered in accordance with contract terms. In arrangements that include multiple elements,
the Company allocates revenue to the various elements based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”) of the elements
if VSOE exists. VSOE for each element is based on the price for which the item is sold separately, determined based on historical evidence
of stand-alone sales of these elements or stated renewal rates for the element. If VSOE does not exist for an element, the Company allocates
revenue based on third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price for the elements if TPE exists. TPE is the price of the Company’s or any
competitor’s largely interchangeable products or services in standalone sales to similarly-situated customers. If neither VSOE nor TPE
exist for a specific element, the Company allocates revenue to the various elements based on its best estimate of the selling price for that
element or estimated selling price (“ESP”) using a top-down approach, which takes into account the Company’s target prices and overall
pricing objectives. In situations where the Company has delivered certain elements but not delivered other elements, the Company, after it
has allocated revenue to the various elements under the relative selling price method based on VSOE, TPE or ESP, defers revenue for the
undelivered elements. Because the Company has neither VSOE nor TPE for its systems, the allocation of revenue is based on ESP for the
systems sold. The Company determines ESP for its systems by considering multiple factors, including, but not limited to, features and
functionality of the system, geographies, type of customer, and market conditions. The Company regularly reviews ESP and maintains
internal controls over the establishment and updates of these estimates.
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•  Sales Price Fixed or Determinable.  The Company assesses whether the sales price is fixed or determinable at the time of the transaction. Sales
prices are documented in the executed sales contract or purchase order received prior to shipment The Company’s standard terms do not allow for
contingencies, such as trial or evaluation periods, refundable orders, payments contingent upon the customer obtaining financing or other
contingencies which would impact the customer’s obligation. In situations where these or other contingencies are included, all related revenue is
deferred until the contingency is resolved. In the third quarter of 2012, the Company began shipping systems under a limited commercial
evaluation program to allow certain strategic accounts to install and utilize systems for a limited trial period while the purchase opportunity is
being evaluated by the hospital. Systems under this program remain the property of the Company and are recorded in inventory and a sale only
occurs upon the issuance of a purchase order from the customer.

 

 

•  Collectability. The Company assesses whether collection is probable based on a number of factors, including the customer’s past transaction
history and credit worthiness. If collection of the sales price is not deemed probable, the revenue is deferred and recognized at the time collection
becomes probable, which is usually upon receipt of cash. The Company’s sales contracts generally do not allow the customer the right of
cancellation, refund or return, except as provided under the Company’s standard warranty. If such rights were allowed, all related revenues would
be deferred until such rights expired.

Significant management judgments and estimates are made in connection with the determination of revenue to be recognized and the period in which it is
recognized. If different judgments and estimates were utilized, the amount of revenue to be recognized and the period in which it is recognized could differ
materially from the amounts reported.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,

short-term investments and accounts receivable. Cash and cash equivalents are deposited in demand and money market accounts at two financial institutions.
At times, such deposits may be in excess of insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents.

The Company had three customers who constituted 26%, 22%, and 10%, respectively of the Company’s net accounts receivable at December 31, 2013.
The Company had three customers who constituted 22%, 20%, and 16%, respectively of the Company’s net accounts receivable at December 31, 2012. One
customer accounted for 10% of revenues in 2013. One customer accounted for 14% of revenues in 2012. One customer accounted for 15% of revenues in
2011. The Company carefully monitors the creditworthiness of potential customers. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has not experienced any
significant losses on its accounts receivable.

Most of the products developed by the Company require clearance from the FDA or corresponding foreign regulatory agencies prior to commercial sales.
The Company received CE Mark approval to market its Sensei system in Europe in the fourth quarter of 2006 and received CE Mark approval to market its
Artisan Control Catheter in Europe in May 2007. The Company received FDA clearance for the marketing of its Sensei system and Artisan catheters for
manipulation, positioning and control of certain mapping catheters during electrophysiology procedures in the United States in May 2007. The Company
received CE Mark approval to market its Lynx catheter in Europe in July 2010. The Company received CE Mark approval for its Magellan Robotic System in
July 2011 and received CE Mark approval for the Magellan Robotic Catheter and related accessories designed for use with the Magellan Robotic System in
October 2011. The Company received FDA clearance for marketing its Magellan Robotic System, including the catheter and accessories in June 2012 and
Magellan 6Fr Robotic Catheter in February 2014. However, there can be no assurance that current products or any new products the Company develops in the
future will receive the clearances necessary to allow the Company to market those products in certain desirable markets. If the Company is denied clearance or
clearance is delayed, it could have a material adverse impact on the Company.
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The medical device industry is characterized by frequent and extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over patent and other intellectual
property rights. Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often difficult to predict, and the
outcome may be uncertain until the court has entered final judgment and all appeals are exhausted. The Company’s competitors may assert, and have asserted
in the past, that its products or the use of the Company’s products are covered by United States or foreign patents held by them. This risk is heightened due to
the numerous issued and pending patents relating to the use of catheter-based procedures in the medical technology field.

Loss Contingencies
The Company evaluates potential loss contingencies as circumstances dictate. Should a specific loss contingency meet the definition of a liability under

authoritative accounting guidance, the Company would record a loss and a liability. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had not recorded any loss
contingencies as liabilities. However, if estimates and assumptions change in the future, the Company may record charges to its financial statements. This
could materially impact its operating results and financial position.

Foreign Currency
The functional currency of the Company’s domestic and foreign operations is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, the effects of foreign currency transactions,

and of remeasuring the financial condition and results of operations from local currencies into the functional currency, are included in other expense, net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Remeasurement and foreign currency transaction losses, net, for fiscal years ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011 were immaterial.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and

other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short maturities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and

cash equivalents, and restricted cash include money market funds and various deposit accounts, which are readily convertible to cash and are stated at cost,
which approximates market. Pursuant to the Company’s secured term loan agreement executed in 2013, the Company is obligated to maintain $5.0 million of
restricted cash subject to lenders’ control.

Short-Term Investments
Available-for-sale investments. The Company determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and evaluates such

classification as of each balance sheet date. The Company classifies all investments with maturities greater than three months at the time of purchase as short-
term investments as they are subject to use within one year in current operations. The Company makes investments based upon specific guidelines approved
by its board of directors with a view to liquidity and capital preservation and regularly reviews its investments for performance. As of December 31, 2013, all
of the Company’s investments have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried on the balance sheet at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses,
if any, included in other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity. Any unrealized losses which are determined to be other than temporary are
included in earnings. Realized gains and losses are recognized on the specific identification method.
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Other-than-temporary impairment.  The Company periodically evaluates its investments for impairment. In the event that the carrying value of an
investment exceeds its fair value and the decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis
for the investment is established. In order to determine whether a decline in value is other than temporary, the Company evaluates many factors, including the
following: the duration and extent to which the fair value has been less than the carrying value; the company’s financial condition and business outlook,
including key operational and cash flow metrics, current market conditions and future trends in the industry; and the Company’s intent and ability to retain
the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. In fiscal 2010 and 2011, the Company determined that the
impairment of its investment in Luna Innovations, Incorporated (together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, “Luna”) common stock was other than temporary
and as such, permanently wrote down the value of that investment and recorded a loss of $1.9 million $0.3 million, respectively in other expense on the
consolidated statement of operations. In the first quarter of 2013, the Company recorded an additional write down of the investment and recorded an additional
loss of $0.6 million in other expense on the condensed consolidated statement of operations. The carrying value of the Luna investment as of December 31,
2013 was $1.9 million. Significant management judgment is required in determining whether an other-than-temporary decline in the fair value of an
investment exists. Changes in the Company’s assessment of the valuation of investments could materially impact future operating results and financial
position.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company establishes allowances for doubtful accounts based on a review of the credit profiles of customers, contractual terms and conditions,

current economic trends and historical collection experience. The allowance for doubtful accounts is reassessed each period. If different judgments and
estimates were utilized in establishing the allowance, the amount or timing of bad debt expense or revenue recognized could differ materially from the amounts
reported. In the Company’s limited historical experience, actual losses and credits related to accounts receivable have been consistent with the recorded
provisions. If, however, actual future receipts differ materially from the current assessments due, among other things, to unexpected events or significant
changes in trends, additional provisions may be necessary and future cash flows and statements of operations could be materially negatively impacted.
Provisions for doubtful accounts as a percentage of revenues have been immaterial for all periods presented.

Inventories
Inventory, which includes material, labor and overhead costs, is stated at standard cost, which approximates actual cost, determined on a first-in, first-

out basis, not in excess of market value. The Company records reserves, when necessary, to reduce the carrying value of excess or obsolete inventories to their
net realizable value. These reserves are based on our best estimates after considering projected future demand. In the event that actual demand for our inventory
differs from our best estimates or we fail to receive the necessary regulatory approvals, increases to inventory reserves may become necessary.

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of two to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of their
useful life or the term of the lease. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting
gain or loss is recognized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation expense was $2.9 million, $3.3 million and $3.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets in accordance with authoritative accounting guidance. When events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value of long-lived
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assets may not be recoverable, the Company recognizes such impairment if the net book value of such assets exceeds the future undiscounted cash flows
attributable to such assets. Should an impairment exist, the impairment loss would be measured based on the excess carrying value of the asset over the asset’s
fair value or discounted estimates of future cash flows attributable to the assets. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $3.6 million of property and
equipment, net. If estimates or the related assumptions change in the future, the Company may record impairment charges to reduce the carrying value of
certain groups of these assets. Changes in the valuation of long-lived assets could materially impact the Company’s operating results and financial position.

Advertising Expense
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs are recorded in general, sales and marketing expenses within the accompanying

Consolidated Statements of Operations and were immaterial for fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Stock-Based Compensation
Under the fair value recognition provisions of authoritative guidance related to stock-based compensation, stock-based payment expense is estimated at

the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period of the award. The recording of
compensation expense related to stock-based awards is significant to the Company’s financial statements but does not result in the payment of cash by the
Company. Determining the appropriate fair value model used to calculate the fair value of stock-based awards requires significant management judgment.
Additionally, the calculation of the fair value of stock-based awards requires the Company to make significant estimates and judgments, including the
expected volatility, the expected term of the award, risk-free interest rate and the dividend yield. If the Company had chosen a different fair value model or
made different estimates in the calculation of fair value, the amount or timing of stock-based compensation recorded could have differed materially from the
amounts reported.

The Company selected the Black-Scholes option valuation model as the most appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value for stock-
based awards. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions in determining the fair value of stock-based awards,
including the expected volatility of the underlying stock, the award’s expected term, risk-free interest rate and the dividend yield.
 

 •  Expected Volatility. The Company’s estimate of volatility is based on the historical volatilities of its stock price.
 

 
•  Expected Term. The Company estimates the expected term based on its historical settlement experience related to vesting and contractual terms

while giving consideration to awards that have life cycles less than the contractual terms and vesting schedules in accordance with authoritative
guidance.

 

 
•  Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate that the Company uses in the Black-Scholes option valuation model is the implied yield in

effect at the time of option grant based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to the expected term of its option
grants. For ESPP grants, the Company uses the 6-month Constant Maturity Treasury (“CMT”) rate.

 

 
•  Dividend Yield. The Company has never paid any cash dividends on its common stock and it does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in

the foreseeable future. Consequently, the Company uses a dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

In addition to the Black-Scholes assumptions noted above, the Company also estimates a forfeiture rate for its stock-based awards. The Company
estimates its forfeiture rate based on an analysis of its actual forfeitures based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover behavior and other
factors. The impact from any forfeiture rate adjustment would be recognized in full in the period of adjustment and if the actual number of future forfeitures
differs from its estimates, the Company might be required to record adjustments to its stock-based compensation in future periods.
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To the extent that future evidence regarding these variables is available and provides estimates that the Company determines are more indicative of actual
trends, the Company may refine or change its approach to deriving these input estimates. These changes could significantly impact the stock-based
compensation expense recorded in the future.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred. Research and development costs include, but are not limited to, payroll and other

personnel expenses, prototype materials, laboratory supplies, and consulting costs.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax asset and liability account balances are determined based on

differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets when management estimates, based on available
objective evidence, that it is more likely than not that the benefit will not be realized for the deferred tax assets. The Company accounts for uncertainty in
income taxes using a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of
related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized
upon settlement. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31,
2013, the Company has no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The Company does not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits
will significantly change due to the settlement of audits and the expiration of statute of limitations periods in 2014.

Comprehensive Loss
The Company follows the accounting standards for the reporting and presentation of comprehensive income (loss) and its components. In June 2011,

the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new accounting guidance that revised the manner in which entities present comprehensive income
in their financial statements. The new guidance requires entities to present comprehensive income either in a continuous statement of comprehensive income,
which replaces the statement of operations, or in two separate, consecutive statements. The new guidance does not change the items that must be reported in
other comprehensive income, nor does it require new disclosures. On January 1, 2012 The Company adopted new accounting guidance and presents
comprehensive income (loss) in a separate statement. Comprehensive loss includes all changes in stockholders’ equity during a period from non-owner
sources. Comprehensive loss for each of the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was equal to net loss adjusted for unrealized gains and losses on
investments, reclassifications of realized gains and losses on investments to other income (expense) and foreign currency translation adjustments.

Net Loss Per Share
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net

loss per share is based on the weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period plus dilutive potential common shares. Such dilutive potential
shares are excluded when the effect would be to reduce a net loss per share. The Company’s dilutive potential shares, which include outstanding common
stock options, warrants, estimated shares to be issued under the Company’s employee stock purchase plan and unvested restricted stock, have not been
included in the computation of diluted net loss per share for all yearly periods as the result would be anti-dilutive.
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Retirement Plan
The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering all employees. There have been no employer contributions to the plan since

inception.

Segment Reporting
The Company has determined that it operates in one segment.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2013-02,  Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income. This update requires entities to disclose items reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income and into net income in a
single location within the financial statements. This new guidance was effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted.
The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2013. The adoption of ASU 2013-02 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial position or results of operations.

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2013-11,  Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. The standard will be
effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2014. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of adoption, but does not anticipate it will have a
significant impact upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
3. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

The amortized cost and fair value of assets, along with gross unrealized gains and losses, were as follows (in thousands):
 

 

 

Amortized
Cost  

 
Gross

Unrealized
Gains  

 
Gross

Unrealized
Losses  

 

Fair
Value  

 Balance Sheet Classification  

     

Cash and
cash

Equivalents   
Short-term
Investments  

Restricted
Cash  

December 31, 2013:        
Cash  $ 1,665   $ —    $ —     $ 1,665   $ 1,665   $ —     $ —    
Money market funds   31,724    —      —      31,724    26,330    —      5,394  
Corporate equity securities   1,572    373    —      1,945    —      1,945    —    

 $34,961   $ 373   $ —     $ 35,334   $27,995   $ 1,945   $5,394  
December 31, 2012:        

Cash  $ 1,283   $ —     $ —     $ 1,283   $ 1,283   $ —     $ —    
Money market funds   31,466    —      —      31,466    31,466    —      —    
Corporate debt and commercial paper   6,704    —      —      6,704    —      6,704    —    
Corporate equity securities   2,158    132    (661)   1,629    —      1,629    —    

 $41,611   $ 132   $ (661)  $ 41,082   $ 32,749   $ 8,333   $ —    

The Company periodically assesses whether significant facts and circumstance have arisen to indicate that an impairment, which is other than
temporary, of the fair value of any underlying investment has occurred. In fiscal 2010 and 2011, the Company determined that the impairment of its
investment in Luna Innovations’ common stock was other than temporary and as such wrote down the value of that investment and recorded a loss of $1.9
million and $0.3 million, respectively in other expense on the consolidated statement of operations. In the first quarter of 2013, the Company recorded an
additional write down of the investment and recorded an additional loss of $0.6 million in other expense on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
No investments have been in an unrealized loss position for longer than twelve months.
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Fair Value Measurements
GAAP defines fair value as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, authoritative guidance establishes a three-tier value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
 

•    Level 1 Inputs   Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•    Level 2 Inputs   Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly.

•    Level 3 Inputs   Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require us to develop our own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value.
Investment instruments valued using Level 1 inputs include money market securities and certain of the corporate equity securities which were obtained by the
Company as part of the Luna litigation settlement for which there is now not a significant non-marketability issue.

Investment instruments valued using Level 2 inputs include investment-grade corporate debts, such as bonds and commercial paper and U.S.
governmental agency securities. The fair value of these investments is determined based on modeling techniques that include inputs such as the credit rating of
the company issuing the debt and the observable market value of similarly-termed corporate debts with similar credit ratings.

The warrants to purchase corporate equity securities obtained as a part of the Luna litigation settlement and certain of the corporate equity securities
obtained upon the exercise of certain of those warrants are valued using Level 3 inputs. The warrant to purchase corporate equity securities was valued based
on an estimate of the number of shares which will be issued over the initial three-year life of the warrant, which were then valued utilizing the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The corporate equity securities obtained upon the exercise of certain of those warrants are initially unregistered and their valuation
consists of the quoted stock price adjusted for the impact of the non-marketability during the period in which they are unregistered. The non-marketability
discount was determined based primarily on an analysis utilizing the Black-Scholes model to value a hypothetical put option to approximate the cost of
hedging the restricted stock over the expected period of non-marketability, which was then corroborated by reviewing published restricted stock studies. The
inputs used to determine the value of these securities are subjective. Changes in these unobservable inputs would have an impact on the reported value of these
securities.
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The fair value hierarchy of the Company’s assets is as follows (in thousands):
 

   Fair Value Measurements Using      

   

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1 Inputs)    

Significant other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2 Inputs)    

Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 3 Inputs)   Total  
December 31, 2013:         

Money market funds   $ 31,724    $ —      $ —      $ 31,724  
Corporate equity securities    1,945     —       —       1,945  

  $ 33,669    $ —      $ —      $33,669  
December 31, 2012:         

Money market funds   $ 31,466    $ —      $ —      $ 31,466  
Corporate debt and commercial paper    —       6,704     —       6,704  
Corporate equity securities    1,629     —       —       1,629  
Warrants to purchase corporate equity

securities    —       —       91     91  
  $ 33,095    $ 6,704    $ 91    $ 39,890  

The following tables present a reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for
the years ended December 31, 2012 (in thousands):
 

   

Investments Valued Using Level
3 Inputs for the Year Ended

December 31,
2012  

Balance at beginning of period   $ 153  
Total gains and losses:   

Included in other expense, net    (41) 
Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss    1  

Transfers out    (22) 
Balance at end of period   $ 91  

The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was estimated to be $33.1 million as of December 31, 2013 based on an internal valuation model that
utilized the then-current rates available to the Company for debt of a similar term and remaining maturity, which constitutes Level 2 inputs under the fair
value hierarchy. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the fair value estimate presented
herein is not necessarily indicative of the amount that the Company or holders of the instruments could realize in a current market exchange. The use of
different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value. See Note 8 for further information regarding the
Company’s long-term debt.
 
4. Balance Sheet Components

Inventories (in thousands)
 

   December 31,  
   2013    2012  
Raw materials   $ 4,167    $ 3,333  
Work in process    5,285     3,644  
Finished goods    2,751     2,157  
Inventories   $12,203    $ 9,134  

 
117



Table of Contents

Property and equipment, net (in thousands)
 

   December 31,  
   2013   2012  
Furniture and leasehold improvements   $11,466   $ 11,451  
Laboratory equipment    10,209    9,985  
Computer equipment and software    2,850    2,640  

   24,525    24,076  
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization    (20,884)   (18,036) 
Property and equipment, net   $ 3,641   $ 6,040  

Accrued liabilities (in thousands)
 

   December 31,  
   2013    2012  
Accrued salaries, commission, bonus and benefits   $1,867    $1,455  
Accrued royalties    796     481  
Accrued legal and other professional fees    183     144  
Accrued other expenses    1,088     1,242  
Total   $ 3,934    $ 3,322  

 
5. Updated Agreements with Intuitive Surgical

In October 2012, the Company signed an updated license agreement with Intuitive Surgical Operations, Inc. and Intuitive Surgical, Inc. (collectively,
“Intuitive Surgical”), under which Intuitive Surgical paid the Company a $20 million licensing fee, and a stock purchase agreement to sell 5,291,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock to Intuitive Surgical for an aggregate purchase price of $10 million. The amendment of the license agreement is an update to
the co-exclusive cross license agreement signed by the companies in 2005. Under the terms of the amended agreement, Intuitive Surgical’s existing co-exclusive
rights to the Company’s patent portfolio to certain non-vascular procedures have been extended to include patents filed or conceived by the Company
subsequent to the original 2005 agreement up to and including the period three years subsequent to the amendment though the Company has no obligations to
conduct any research activities under the amendment. The Company retains the right to use its intellectual property for all clinical applications, both vascular
and non-vascular.

The Company has concluded that the value associated with patents filed or conceived in the three years subsequent to the amendment is de minimis and
therefore the $20.0 million upfront payments for the licensing of intellectual property was recognized immediately in the statement of operations. The $10.0
million associated with the stock purchase agreement was recorded to common stock and additional paid-in capital on the balance sheet.
 
6. Agreements with Philips

In February 2011, the Company entered, directly and through a wholly-owned subsidiary, into patent and technology license, sublicense and purchase
agreements with Philips to allow them to develop and commercialize the non-robotic applications of the Company’s Fiber Optic Shape Sensing and
Localization (“FOSSL”) technology. Under the terms of the agreements, Philips has the exclusive right to develop and commercialize the FOSSL technology in
the non-robotic vascular, endoluminal and orthopedic fields. Philips also receives non-exclusive rights in other non-robotic medical device fields, but not to
any multi-degree of
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freedom robotic applications. If Philips does not meet certain specified commercialization obligations, the Company has the rights to re-acquire the licenses
granted to Philips for pre-determined payments, which payments in the aggregate would be greater than the upfront payment amounts received by the
Company from Philips in connection with the agreements related to the FOSSL technology. The agreement also contains customary representations, warranties
and indemnification provisions by each party. Each party may terminate the agreements for material breach by the other party. Philips also has the right to
terminate the agreement and its rights under the agreement if the Company is acquired by a competitor of the relevant business unit of Philips.

Also in February 2011, the Company amended its extended joint development agreement with Philips, increasing the amount of funding provided by
Philips for the development of the Vascular System and potentially extending and increasing certain royalty fees to be paid to Philips based on sales of the
Vascular System, subject to caps based on the amounts Philips contributes to the development of the system. Under the amendment, the Company will be
eligible to receive up to an additional $78.0 million in future payments associated with the successful commercialization by Philips or its collaborators of
products containing FOSSL technology. Approximately two-thirds of these potential future payments could arise from Philips’ sublicensing the FOSSL
technology and approximately one-third of the potential future payments are based on Philips’ royalty obligations on its sales of products containing the
FOSSL technology. The Company would receive less than half of Philips’ proceeds for its sublicensing FOSSL technology, if and following Philips entering
into an applicable sublicensing transaction. Philips’ FOSSL-related royalty obligations are calculated on a consistent annual basis between 2014 and 2020 and
arise in any year only to the extent that Philips achieves a substantial number of commercial placements of FOSSL-enabled products in the calendar year. The
Company received arrangement consideration of $29.0 million and recognized $23.0 million immediately in net loss and $6.0 million as a reduction of
research and development costs in 2011.
 
7. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
The Company rents its office and laboratory facilities in Mountain View, California under an operating lease which has been extended until January

2020, with an option to extend the lease for another five years. We also lease approximately 3,300 square feet of office space in London, England. That lease
ends in June 2020, but the Company has an option to exit the lease in 2015. Rent expense on a straight-line basis was as follows (in thousands):
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2013    2012    2011  
Rent expense   $2,310    $2,280    $2,231  

At December 31, 2013, future minimum payments under the leases are as follows (in thousands):
 

Years ended December 31,   
Future Minimum

Lease Payments  
2014   $ 2,149  
2015    1,979  
2016    2,140  
2017    2,205  
Thereafter    4,415  
Total   $ 12,888  

Warranties
The Company generally provides one year of post-contract customer service on the sale of its systems. Post-contract customer service revenue is

recognized ratably over the term of the service period and associated
 

119



Table of Contents

expenses are charged to cost of revenues as incurred. The Company provides a limited warranty on the sale of catheters and records a warranty reserve at the
time of sale to cover the estimated warranty costs. The Company’s warranty obligation may be impacted by product failure rates, material usage and service
costs associated with its warranty obligations. The Company periodically evaluates and adjusts the warranty reserve to the extent actual warranty expense
differs from the original estimates. Movement in the warranty liability was as follows (in thousands):
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
         2013              2012       
Balance at beginning of period   $ 9   $ 12  
Warranties issued during the period    105    112  
Warranty costs incurred during the period    (105)   (115) 
Balance at end of period   $ 9   $ 9  

Other
The Company has minimum royalty obligations of $100,000 per year under a license agreement with Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories, Inc.

which reduces to $55,000 per year if the license becomes non-exclusive. The royalty obligation expires in 2018. The Company also has minimum royalty
obligations of $200,000 per year under the terms of its cross license agreement with Intuitive Surgical. Additionally, the Company also has royalty obligations
under the amended joint development agreement with Philips which provides for the payment of royalties to Philips through October 2017. As of December 31,
2013, the Company had $3.9 million in uncertain tax positions. If it is determined in some future period that these amounts are not allowed to be deducted for
tax purposes and if the Company does not have credits or carryforwards to cover these amounts, they could result in payments by the Company to taxing
authorities.

Indemnification
The Company has agreements with each member of its board of directors, its Interim Chief Executive Officer, its former President and Chief Executive

Officer, and its Chief Financial Officer indemnifying them against liabilities arising from actions taken against the Company. To date, the Company has not
incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications and has not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying financial
statements.

The Company has agreements with certain customers indemnifying them against liabilities arising from legal actions relating to the customer’s use of
intellectual property owned by the Company. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications and has not
accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying financial statements.

Legal Proceedings
Following the Company’s October 19, 2009 announcement that it would restate certain of its financial statements, a securities class action lawsuit was

filed on October 23, 2009 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, naming the Company and certain of its now former
officers. Curry v. Hansen Medical, Inc. et al., Case No. 09-05094. The complaint asserted claims for violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 on behalf of a putative class of purchasers of Hansen stock between May 1, 2008 and October 18, 2009, inclusive, and alleged, among
other things, that defendants made false and/or misleading statements and/or failed to make disclosures regarding the Company’s financial results and
compliance with GAAP while improperly recognizing revenue; that these misstatements and/or nondisclosures resulted in overstatement of Company revenue
and financial results and/or artificially inflated the Company’s stock price; and that following the Company’s October 19, 2009 announcement, the price of
the Company’s
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stock declined. On November 4, 2009 and November 13, 2009, substantively identical complaints were filed in the Northern District of California by other
purported Hansen stockholders asserting the same claims on behalf of the same putative class of Hansen stockholders. Livingstone v. Hansen Medical, Inc. et
al., Case No. 09-05212 and Prenter v. Hansen Medical, Inc., et al., Case No. 09-05367. All three complaints sought certification as a class action and
unspecified compensatory damages plus interest and attorneys fees. On December 22, 2009, two purported Hansen stockholders, Mina and Nader Farr, filed
a joint application for appointment as lead plaintiffs and for consolidation of the three actions. On February 25, 2010, the Court issued an order granting
Mina and Nader Farr’s application for appointment as lead plaintiffs and consolidating the three securities class actions. On July 15, 2010, the Court entered
an order granting lead plaintiffs’ motion for leave to file a second amended complaint. Lead plaintiffs’ second amended complaint, in addition to alleging that
shareholders suffered damages as a result of the decline in the Company’s stock price following the October 19, 2009 announcement, also alleged that
shareholders suffered additional damages as the result of share price declines on July 28, 2009, July 31, 2009, January 8, 2009, July 6, 2009, and August 4,
2009, all of which lead plaintiffs alleged were caused by the disclosure of what they claim was previously misrepresented information. The Defendants filed
their motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on October 13, 2010. The Court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss with leave to amend on
August 25, 2011. Plaintiffs’ third amended complaint was filed on October 18, 2011. Defendants filed their motions to dismiss on January 9, 2012. On
August 10, 2012, the Court denied in part and granted in part Defendants’ motions to dismiss. On January 4, 2013, lead plaintiffs sought leave to amend
their complaint to add certain of Hansen’s current and former directors and Hansen’s former auditor. Hansen filed an opposition to lead plaintiffs’ motion on
February 11, 2013.

On May 9, 2013, the parties entered a stipulation of settlement pursuant to which the plaintiffs would receive an aggregate of $8.5 million, $4.0 million
of which would be funded in cash by the Company’s insurer and other sources. The Company would fund the remaining portion by issuing $4.25 million
worth of the Company’s common stock, the number of shares to be determined based on the average closing price of the common stock for the 10 trading days
preceding final Court approval of the settlement of the class action, and paying $250,000 in cash. The Company recorded a loss on litigation settlement of
$4.5 million in its first quarter ended March 31, 2013. On December 5, 2013, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California granted final
approval of a settlement. On December 19, 2013, the Company issued 2,298,539 shares, as determined by the average closing price of the Company’s
common stock for the 10 trading days preceding final court approval of the settlement, which average was $1.8490 per share.
 
8. Long-term Debt

Oxford Loan
In December 2011, the Company entered into a $30.0 million loan and security agreement with Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank (the

“Oxford Loan”). Under the agreement, the Company was obligated to pay interest only payments on the Oxford Loan through June 30, 2013, following which
time the Oxford Loan required interest and principal payments through January 1, 2016. The Oxford Loan accrued interest at a stated rate of 9.45% and
included an additional final interest payment of 3.95% of the original principal amount. The Oxford Loan provided for a prepayment option that allowed the
Company to prepay all of the outstanding principal balance, subject to a pre-payment fee.

In connection with the Oxford Loan, the Company issued warrants to purchase 660,793 shares of common stock. The warrants have an exercise price
of $2.27 per share and expire in December 2018. The fair value of the warrants was estimated at $0.9 million using the Black-Scholes valuation model with
the following assumptions: expected volatility of 58.0%, risk free interest rate of 1.41%, expected life of 7 years and no dividends. The fair value of the
warrants was recorded as a discount to the loan and was amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method over the term of the loan. A total of
$0.2 million was amortized to interest expense in 2013. A total of $0.3 million was amortized to interest expense in 2012.
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In August 2013, the Oxford Loan was fully repaid and extinguished under the loan agreement’s prepayment option. The Company paid a final interest
balloon of $1.2 million plus accrued interest and a prepayment penalty of $0.9 million. The Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.9
million that included a prepayment penalty of $0.9 million, an additional end of term payment of $0.5 million and write-off of the unamortized discount from
warrants and capitalized issuance costs of $0.5 million.

White Oak Loan
In July 2013, the Company executed a secured term loan agreement with White Oak Global Advisors, LLC (“White Oak”), as a lender and agent for

several lenders. On August 23, 2013, the loan agreement was amended and restated and the loan was funded. The amended loan agreement provides for term
loan debt financing of $33.0 million with a single principal balloon payment due at maturity on December 30, 2017. Cash interest accrues at an 11.0% per
annum rate and is payable quarterly. Additionally, a 3.0% per annum payment-in-kind accrues quarterly and is accretive to the principal amount owed under
the agreement. Substantially all of the proceeds from the loan were used to fully repay and extinguish the prior Oxford Loan. In connection with the loan, the
Company incurred costs of approximately $1.5 million including payments to the lender agent totaling $0.7 million and the placement agent totaling $0.3
million that in aggregate are accounted for as debt issuance costs and amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan. Under the amended loan agreement,
the Company is obligated to pay White Oak certain servicing, administration and monitoring fees of $32,000 annually. The Company may prepay all or a
portion of the outstanding principal balance, subject to paying a prepayment fee of 3.5% of the principal amount of the loan prepaid if the prepayment is made
on or before the third anniversary of the funding of the loan or 1.0% of the principal amount of the loan prepaid if the prepayment is made after the third
anniversary and on or before the fourth anniversary of the funding of the loan. The Company is also required to make mandatory prepayments upon certain
events of loss and certain dispositions of the Company’s assets as described in the amended loan agreement. In 2013, the Company recognized expense of
$0.1 million for the amortization of debt issuance costs related to the White Oak loan.

The loan is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets then owned or thereafter acquired, other than its intellectual property, and all
proceeds and products thereof. Two of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, AorTx, Inc. and Hansen Medical International, Inc., have entered into
agreements to guarantee the Company’s obligations under the amended loan agreement and have granted first priority security interests in their assets,
excluding any of their intellectual property, to secure their guarantee obligations. Under the amended loan agreement, neither the Company nor AorTx, Inc. and
Hansen Medical International, Inc. may grant a lien on any intellectual property to third parties. The Company additionally agreed to pledge to lenders shares
of each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries as collateral for the loan. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the Company is subject to certain affirmative and
negative covenants and also to minimum liquidity requirements which require the Company to maintain $15.0 million in liquidity at all times, consisting of
at least $13.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments, of which $5.0 million is required to be restricted subject to lenders’ control, and up to $2.0
million in certain accounts receivable. The loan also limits the Company’s ability to (a) undergo certain change of control events; (b) convey, sell, lease,
transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of any of its assets; (c) create, incur, assume, or be liable with respect to certain indebtedness, not including, among
other items, subordinated debt; (d) grant liens; (e) pay dividends and make certain other restricted payments; (f) make certain investments; (g) make
payments on any subordinated debt; or (g) enter into transactions with any of its affiliates outside of the ordinary course of business, or permit its
subsidiaries to do the same. In the event the Company were to violate any covenants or if White Oak has reason to believe that the Company has violated any
covenants including a significant adverse event clause, and such violations are not cured pursuant to the terms of the loan and security agreement, the
Company would be in default under the loan and security agreement, which would entitle lenders to exercise their remedies, including the right to accelerate the
debt, upon which the Company may be required to repay all amounts then outstanding under the loan and security agreement. As of December 31, 2013, the
Company was in compliance with all financial covenants.
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Future annual payments due on the debt outstanding as of December 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):
 

2014   $ 3,763  
2015    3,879  
2016    4,009  
2017    41,781  
Total remaining payments    53,432  
Less: Amount representing interest    (20,074) 

   33,358  
Less: Current portion of long-term debt    —   
Long-term debt, net of current portion   $ 33,358  

 
9. Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Option and Equity Incentive Plans
2002 Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 2002 Stock Option Plan (the “2002 Plan”) was created for the purpose of issuing stock options to employees, directors and consultants
of the Company. Options granted under the 2002 Plan were either incentive stock options (“ISO”) or nonqualified stock options (“NSO”). ISOs may be
granted only to Company employees (including officers and directors), whereas NSOs may be granted to Company employees and consultants. Options expire
on terms as determined by the board of directors but not more than ten years after the date of grant. The Company reserved a total of 4,579,009 shares of its
common stock for issuance under its 2002 Plan. Upon effectiveness of the Company’s IPO in November 2006, the Company ceased issuing stock options
under the 2002 Plan. At that time, all shares remaining available for grant under the 2002 Plan became available for grant instead under the 2006 Equity
Incentive Plan. However, cancelled shares under the 2002 Plan do not become available for grant under the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. All outstanding options
granted under the 2002 Plan continue to be administered under the 2002 Plan.

Stock options granted under the 2002 Plan provided employee option holders the right to elect to exercise unvested options in exchange for restricted
common stock. Unvested shares were subject to a repurchase right held by the Company at the original issuance price in the event the optionees’ employment
is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily. For exercises of employee options, this right usually lapsed 25% on the first anniversary of the vesting start
date and in 36 equal monthly amounts thereafter. These repurchase terms were considered to be a forfeiture provision and did not result in variable accounting.
As of December 31, 2013, there were no unvested shares outstanding.

2006 Equity Incentive Plan
In August 2006, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”) to be effective on the date of the

Company’s IPO. The 2006 Plan provides for the grant of ISOs, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, stock
appreciation rights, performance-based stock awards, and other forms of equity compensation, or collectively, stock awards, and performance-based cash
awards, all of which may be granted to employees, including officers, non-employee directors and consultants. Options expire on terms as determined by the
board of directors but not more than ten years after the date of grant.

The Company initially reserved a total of 2,000,000 shares for issuance under the 2006 Plan in addition to those shares which remained available for
grant under the 2002 Plan. In addition, the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan automatically increases on
January 1  each year by the lowest of (a) 4% of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding on December 31st of the
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preceding calendar year, (b) 3,500,000 shares, or (c) a number determined by the board of directors that is less than (a) or (b). At December 31, 2013,
2,806,000 shares were available for grant under the 2006 Plan.

Option activity under both the 2002 Plan and the 2006 Plan for 2013 is as follows:
 

  Shares   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
  (in thousands)     (in years)   (in thousands) 
Balance at January 1, 2013   7,176   $ 3.97    5.12   $ 182  
Granted   2,249   $ 1.97    
Exercised   (53)  $ 2.13    
Cancelled   (1,593)  $ 6.86    
Balance at December 31, 2013   7,779   $ 3.24    4.76   $ 169  
Options vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2013   7,620   $ 3.20    4.79   $ 156  
Options vested at December 31, 2013   4,167   $ 4.12    3.89   $ 5 6  

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted in 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1.25, $1.31 and $1.32 per share, respectively. The
total fair value of options that vested in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $2.6 million, $1.5 million and $3.0 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, total
unamortized stock-based compensation related to unvested stock options was $4.4 million, with a weighted-average remaining recognition period of 2.33 years.

The intrinsic value of exercised stock options is calculated based on the difference between the exercise price and the quoted market price of the
Company’s common stock as of the close of the exercise date. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $19 thousand,
$0.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

The options outstanding, vested and currently exercisable by exercise price under both the 2002 Plan and the 2006 Plan at December 31, 2013 are as
follows:
 
   Options Outstanding    Options Exercisable and Vested  

Exercise Price   
Number of

Options    

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life    
Number of

Options    

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life  
       (in years)            (in years)  
$0.40-$4.88    7,259     5.02     3,647    $ 2.37     4.29  
$6.65-$12.69    155     2.35     155    $ 8.54     2.35  
$15.25-$20.25    340     0.55     340    $ 19.31     0.55  
$24.60-$31.20    25     0.76     25    $ 27.37     0.76  

   7,779     4.76     4,167    $ 4.12     3.89  

Restricted stock unit activity under the 2006 Plan is as follows:
 

   
Restricted Stock

Units   

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value 

   (in thousands)     
Balance at January 1, 2013    1,365   $ 3.03  
Awarded    1,317   $ 2.01  
Vested    (745)  $ 2.61  
Cancelled    (619)  $ 2.42  
Balance at December 31, 2013    1,318   $ 1.99  
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The fair value of restricted stock units is the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock as of the close of the grant date. The total fair value
of shares vested pursuant to restricted stock units in 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $2.6 million, $2.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013, total unamortized stock-based compensation related to unvested restricted stock units was $0.5 million, with a weighted-average
remaining recognition period of 0.8 years.

Stock-based Compensation Associated with Awards to Employees
Stock-based compensation expense charged to operations for options and restricted stock units granted to employees in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $4.9

million, $2.9 million and $6.7 million, respectively.

In 2011, the Company modified stock option agreements with an existing employee. The modification consisted of acceleration of vesting. The
modifications resulted in the recording of additional employee stock compensation expense of $634,000 in 2011.

The estimated grant date fair values of the employee stock options were calculated using the following assumptions:
 

 
  Years Ended December 31,
  2013   2012   2011

Expected volatility   77%-89%   61%-90%   60%-61%
Risk-free interest rate   0.6%-1.5%   0.5%-1.0%   0.9%-2.3%
Expected term (in years)   4.38-4.57   4.29-4.75   4.50-4.75
Dividend yield   0%   0%   0%

Stock-Based Compensation for Non-employees
Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to non-employees is recognized on an accelerated basis as the stock options are

earned. The final measurement occurs at the later of a performance commitment or when performance is complete. The Company believes that the fair value of
the stock options is more reliably measurable than the fair value of the services received. The fair value of the stock options granted is calculated at each
reporting date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Stock-based compensation expense charged to operations for options granted to non-employees for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
was immaterial.

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In August 2006, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock Purchase Plan”) which became

effective upon the Company’s IPO. Commencing on January 1, 2007, the Stock Purchase Plan allows participating employees to contribute up to 15% of their
earnings, up to a maximum of $25,000, to purchase shares of the Company’s stock at a price per share equal to the lower of (a) 85% of the fair market value
of a share of our common stock on the first date of the offering period, or (b) 85% of the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of
purchase. The Company’s board of directors may specify offerings with durations of not more than 27 months, and may specify shorter purchase periods
within each offering. Each offering will have one or more purchase dates on which shares of the Company’s common stock will be purchased for employees
participating in the offering.

The Company initially reserved a total of 625,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the Stock Purchase Plan. In addition, the plan provides
for automatic increases on January 1st, from January 1, 2007 through January 1, 2016, by the lesser of (a) 2% of the total number of shares of common
stock outstanding on December 31st of the preceding calendar year, (b) 750,000 shares of common stock or (c) a number determined by the board of directors
that is less than (a) and (b).
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The estimated fair values of the shares issued under the Stock Purchase Plan were calculated using the following assumptions:
 

 
  Years Ended December 31,
  2013   2012   2011

Expected volatility   57%-99%   62%-110%   74%-110%
Risk-free interest rate   0.1%   0.1%   0.1%-0.2%
Expected term (in years)   0.50   0.50   0.50
Dividend yield   0%   0%   0%

Total Stock-based Compensation
Total stock-based compensation expense was allocated to cost of revenues, research and development and selling, general and administrative expense as

follows (in thousands):
 

 
  Years Ended December 31,  
  2013    2012    2011  

Cost of revenues   $ 402    $ 319    $ 805  
Research and development    1,320     444     1,703  
Selling, general and administrative    3,167     2,119     4,168  
Total   $4,889    $ 2,882    $6,676  

Total stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2012 includes a $740,000 reduction in expense recorded in the first quarter of 2012
resulting from an out of period adjustment related to compensation recorded in 2011 and prior periods for the Company’s employee stock purchase plan. This
out of period correction is not material to the year ended December 31, 2012 or to prior periods.

Equity Transactions
In March 2013, the Company executed an “at the market” agreement pursuant to which the Company may have offered to sell shares of common stock

up to an aggregate offering price of up to $25.0 million. In July 2013, the Company exercised its right to terminate the agreement. No shares were offered or
sold pursuant to the agreement.

On July 30, 2013, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement to sell an aggregate of 28,455,284 shares of its common stock at a per
share price of $1.23 and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 34,146,339 shares of common stock at a per warrant price of $0.125 in a private placement
transaction. The warrants were comprised of the following three series: Series A warrants exercisable for an aggregate 11,382,113 shares of common stock,
with an exercise price equal to $1.23; Series B warrants exercisable for an aggregate 11,382,113 shares of common stock, with an exercise price equal to
$1.50 per share; and Series C warrants exercisable for an aggregate 11,382,113 shares of common stock, with an exercise price equal to $2.00 per share.
Series A warrants were subject to mandatory exercise subsequent to the receipt of regulatory approval for the new 6Fr Magellan catheter in the U.S., which
occurred in February 2014. The financing resulted in gross proceeds to the Company of approximately $39.3 million prior to placement fees and offering costs
of approximately $2.1 million. At the closing of the private placement financing, the Company entered into an investor rights agreement with the purchasers of
the shares and warrants in which the Company agreed to file a registration statement covering resales of the shares and the purchasers agreed not to transact in
any shares of the Company’s common stock for a one-year period following the closing, subject to certain exceptions. As of December 31, 2013, all of the
warrants were outstanding. As of February 28, 2014, 11.4 million Series A warrants were exercised for total proceeds of $14.0 million, and the Company had
remaining outstanding warrants exercisable for up to 22.8 million shares of common stock, which if exercised in full would yield gross proceeds of up to
approximately $39.8 million.
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10. Income Taxes

The Company’s pre-tax loss consists of the following (in thousands):
 

 
  Years Ended December 31,  
  2013   2012   2011  

Domestic   $(55,877)  $ (22,343)  $(16,888) 
Foreign    270    312    176  
Pre-tax loss   $(55,607)  $(22,031)  $(16,712) 

The Company’s tax provision for 2013 of $115,000 consisted of $13,000 in state taxes and $102,000 in foreign taxes. The Company’s effective tax rate
differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows:
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
       2013          2012          2011     
Federal tax benefit at statutory rate    (34)%   (34)%   (34)% 
Permanent difference due to non-deductible expenses    1%   1%   10% 
State tax benefit, net of federal impact    —  %   —  %   (5)% 
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance    33%   32%   34% 
General business credits    —  %   —  %   (5)% 
Effective tax rate    —  %   (1)%   —  % 

The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
 

 
  December 31,  
  2013   2012  

Net operating loss carryforwards   $ 93,744   $ 75,929  
Research and development credits    9,682    8,366  
Capitalized research and development    19,107    17,151  
Fixed assets    2,222    1,957  
Stock-based compensation    2,478    2,200  
Accruals, reserves and other    2,061    2,158  
Intangibles    1,092    1,273  

   130,386    109,034  
Less: Valuation allowance    (130,386)   (109,034) 
Net deferred tax asset   $ —    $ —   

At December 31, 2013, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $242.0 million and $205.3 million,
respectively, available to offset future taxable income. These net operating loss carryforwards will expire in varying amounts from 2014 through 2033 if not
utilized. The net operating loss carryforwards include $1.5 million which relates to stock option deductions that will be recognized through additional paid-in
capital when utilized. As such, these deductions are not reflected in our deferred tax assets. The Company also has federal and California research and
development tax credit carryforwards of $8.2 million and $7.1 million, respectively, available to offset future taxes payable. The federal credits begin to expire
in 2023, while the state credits have no expiration.

Due to uncertainty surrounding realization of the deferred tax assets in future periods, the Company has placed a 100% valuation allowance against its
net deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance increased by $21.4 million, $5.9 million and $5.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011,
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respectively. At such time as it is determined that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets are realizable, the valuation allowance will be reduced.
Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, provide for annual limitations on the utilization of net operating loss and research
and experimentation credit carryforwards if the Company were to undergo an ownership change, as defined in Section 382. In general, an ownership change
occurs whenever the percentage of the shares of a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by 5-percent shareholders, as defined in Section 382, increases by
more than 50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of the shares of such corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by such 5-percent shareholders at
any time over the preceding three years. As the result of the sale of 11,700,000 shares of common stock in April 2009, the sale of 16,100,000 shares of
common stock in April 2010, the sale of 4,785,000 shares of common stock in November 2011, the sale of 5,291,000 shares of common stock in October
2012, the sale of 28,455,284 shares of common stock in August 2013, such an ownership change may have occurred. Accordingly, the Company’s
utilization of net operating loss and credit carryforwards which existed at that time could be limited. The Company has not completed a study to assess
whether an ownership change has occurred or whether there have been multiple ownership changes since the Company became a “loss corporation” under the
Code. The Company has and will continue to evaluate alternative analyses permitted under Section 382 and IRS notices to determine whether or not any
ownership changes have occurred and may occur (and if so, when they occurred) that would result in limitations on its NOLs or certain other tax attributes.

The Company has not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes on any undistributed earnings from non-U.S. operations because
such earnings are intended to be reinvested indefinitely outside of the United States. If these earnings were distributed, foreign tax credits may become available
under current law to reduce or eliminate the resulting U.S. income tax liability. As of December 31, 2013, there is $1.3 million in cumulative foreign earnings
upon which U.S. income taxes have not been provided.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States, various state jurisdictions and in the countries of United Kingdom and Germany. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company’s federal tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2010 through the current period and most state returns for the years
ended December 31, 2009 through the current period are open to examination. In addition, all of the net operating loss and research and development credit
carryforwards that may be used in future years are still subject to adjustment. The Company is also subject to examination in the United Kingdom and
Germany for the years ended December 31, 2010 through the current period. There are no tax examinations currently in progress.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2013    2012    2011  
Balance at beginning of period   $3,358    $1,697    $ 1,498  
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year    301     122     199  
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years    205     1,539     —   
Reduction for tax positions of prior years    —      —      —   
Balance at end of period   $3,864    $ 3,358    $1,697  

If the Company is able to eventually recognize these uncertain tax positions, a total of $3.3 million of the unrecognized benefit would affect the
Company’s effective tax rate. The Company currently has a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax asset which would impact the timing of the
effective tax rate benefit should any of these uncertain tax positions be favorably settled in the future. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome of
any particular uncertain tax position, management does not believe that it is reasonably possible that the estimates of unrecognized tax benefits will change
significantly in the next twelve months.
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We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2013, we have no accrued interest or
penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The Company does not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to the settlement
of audits and the expiration of statute of limitations period to December 31, 2014.
 
11. Net Loss per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share data):
 
   Years Ended December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  
Net loss   $(55,722)  $(22,145)  $(16,712) 
Shares used to calculated basic and diluted net loss per share    79,052    62,472    55,362  
Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (0.70)  $ (0.35)  $ (0.30) 

The following securities that could potentially dilute basic net loss per share are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because to do
so would be anti-dilutive as of the end of each period presented (in thousands):
 
   December 31,  
   2013    2012    2011  
Stock options outstanding    7,779     7,176     6,827  
Unvested restricted stock units    1,318     1,365     1,631  
Estimated shares to be issued under the employee stock purchase plan    41     31     35  
Warrants    34,807     661     661  
 
12. Segment Information

The Company operates its business in one operating segment: the development and marketing of medical devices. The Company’s chief operating
decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer who reviews the financial information presented on a consolidated basis for the purpose of making operating
decisions and assessing financial performance.

The Company attributes revenues to different geographic areas on the basis of the location of the customer and attributes long-lived assets to different
geographic areas based on the location of those assets. Information regarding geographic areas is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
United
States    Belgium    

Saudi
Arabia    Other (1)    Total  

2013:           
Revenues   $ 8,580    $1,656    $1,965    $4,781    $16,982  
Long-lived assets    3,569     —      —      72     3,641  

2012:           
Revenues   $ 8,197    $ 1,687    $ 119    $7,633    $ 17,636  
Long-lived assets    6,351     —      —      267     6,618  

2011:           
Revenues   $10,477    $ 2,089    $ 1,816    $7,747    $ 22,129  
Long-lived assets    8,775     —      —      262     9,037  

 
(1) No single location within other accounts for greater than 10% of revenues.
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13. Quarterly Data (unaudited)
The following table represents certain unaudited quarterly information for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2013. This data has been derived from

unaudited consolidated financial statements that, in the opinion of the Company’s management, include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of such information when read in conjunction with the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report. These operating results are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period (in
thousands, except per share data):
 

   

First
Quarter

(1)   
Second

Quarter   
Third

Quarter   

Fourth
Quarter

(2)  
2013:      

Revenues   $ 2,951   $ 3,343   $ 5,068   $ 5,620  
Gross profit    469    576    1,340    1,116  
Net loss    (17,187)   (13,446)   (13,201)   (11,888) 
Basic net loss per share    (0.26)   (0.20)   (0.16)   (0.12) 
Diluted net loss per share    (0.26)   (0.20)   (0.16)   (0.12) 

2012:      
Revenues   $ 4,654   $ 3,535   $ 5,103   $ 4,344  
Gross profit    732    753    1,257    868  
Net income (loss)    (11,811)   (11,476)   (8,431)   9,537  
Basic net income (loss) per share    (0.20)   (0.19)   (0.14)   0.15  
Diluted net income (loss) per share    (0.20)   (0.19)   (0.14)   0.15  

 
(1) Net income and basic and diluted net income per share for the first quarter of 2013 include the impact of the loss on settlement of litigation of $4.5

million.
(2) Net income and basic and diluted net income per share for the fourth quarter of 2012 include the impact of the gain on licensing of intellectual property

of $20.0 million.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our senior management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15e and
15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s
management, including its principal executive officer or officers and principal financial officer or officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management, including our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as defined under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2013. Based on this evaluation, our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at reasonable assurance levels as of December 31, 2013.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-

15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:
 

 
i. Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets of the

company;
 

 
ii. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP,

and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and

 

 
iii. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets

that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Also
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making its assessment of internal
control over financial reporting, management used the criteria described in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (1992)  issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on our assessment under this framework, our management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.
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The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firm who has also audited our consolidated financial statements. Deloitte & Touche LLP’s report on our internal control over
financial reporting is included below.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management, including our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated our “internal control over financial reporting” as

defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) to determine whether any changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the fourth quarter of
2013 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, there were no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations of the Effectiveness of Controls
We are committed to continuing to improve our internal control processes and will continue to diligently review our financial reporting controls and

procedures in order to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the related rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission. However, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, any control system, regardless of how well designed, operated and
evaluated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control objectives will be met. The design of any system of controls is based, in part,
on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hansen Medical, Inc.:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Hansen Medical, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2013, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework  (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on
the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework  (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013 of the Company and our report dated March 13, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
San Francisco, California
March 13, 2014
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this Item concerning our directors and executive officers is incorporated herein by reference to information contained in the

sections of our Proxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 (the “2014 Proxy Statement”) entitled “Proposal 1 Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance — Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics,” “Corporate Governance — Audit Committee,” “Executive Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of our 2014 Proxy Statement entitled “Executive Compensation,”

“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Corporate Governance — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Compensation
Committee Report” and “Corporate Governance — 2013 Director Compensation Table.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections of our 2014 Proxy Statement entitled “Securities Authorized for

Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans,” “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Executive Compensation.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section of our 2014 Proxy Statement entitled “Certain Relationships and

Related Party Transactions.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section of our 2014 Proxy Statement entitled “Proposal 2 Ratification of

Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Principal Accountant Fees and Services.”
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PART IV.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS and FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules:  Financial Statements for the three years ended December 31, 2013 are included in Part II, Item 8. All schedules
are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits: The list of exhibits on the Exhibit Index on pages 139 through 142 of this report is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

  By:  /S/ CHRISTOPHER P. LOWE
Dated: March 13, 2014

   

    Interim Chief Executive Officer
    (Principal Executive Officer)

POWERS OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Christopher P. Lowe and
Peter J. Mariani, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his
name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents
in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them or their substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title  Date

/S/ CHRISTOPHER P. LOWE
Christopher P. Lowe   

Interim Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)  

March 13, 2014

/S/ PETER J. MARIANI
Peter J. Mariani   

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)  

March 13, 2014

/S/ MICHAEL L. EAGLE
Michael L. Eagle   Chairman of the Board  

March 13, 2014

/S/ MARJORIE L. BOWEN
Marjorie L. Bowen   Director  

March 13, 2014

/S/ KEVIN HYKES
Kevin Hykes   Director  

March 13, 2014

/S/ STEPHEN L. NEWMAN, M.D.
Stephen L. Newman, M.D.   Director  

March 13, 2014

/S/ WILLIAM R. ROHN
William R. Rohn   Director  

March 13, 2014

 
137



Table of Contents

Signature   Title  Date

/S/ JACK W. SCHULER
Jack W. Schuler   Director  

March 13, 2014

 
Will K. Weinstein   Director  

March 13, 2014

/S/ NADIM YARED
Nadim Yared   Director  

March 13, 2014
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 

Exhibit
Number   Description of Document

3.1(1)   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

3.2(2)   Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.

3.3(3)   Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

4.1(4)   Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

4.2(5)
  

Stock Purchase Agreement, by and among the Registrant and Oracle Partners, LP, Oracle Institutional Partners, LP and Oracle Ten
Fund Master, LP., dated November 7, 2011.

4.3(5)   Stock Purchase Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Jack W. Schuler., dated November 7, 2011.

4.4(6)   Form of Warrant to Purchase Stock, issued to the Lenders, dated as of December 8, 2011.

4.5(7)   Stock Purchase Agreement, by and between Registrant and Intuitive Surgical Operations, Inc., dated as of October 26, 2012.

4.6(8)   Form of Warrant, dated as of August 8, 2013.

4.7(9)   Investor Rights Agreement, dated August 8, 2013, by and among the Registrant and each purchaser identified therein.

10.1(10)+   Form of Indemnity Agreement for Executive Officers.

10.2(11)+   Form of Amended and Restated Indemnity Agreement for certain Directors.

10.3(10)+   2002 Stock Plan.

10.4(7)+   2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended December 11, 2012.

10.5.1(10)+   Form of Option Grant Notice and Form of Option Agreement under 2006 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.5.2(7)+
  

Form of Option Grant Notice and Form of Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended December 11, 2012.

10.6(12)+   2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10.7(10)+   Form of Offering Document under 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10.8(10)*   Cross License Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Intuitive Surgical, Inc., dated September 1, 2005.

10.9(10)*   License Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Mitsubishi Electric Research Laboratories, Inc., dated March 7, 2003.

10.10(10)   Development and Supply Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Force Dimension, dated November 10, 2004.

10.11(13)   Office Lease, by and between the Registrant and MTV Research, LLC, dated July 18, 2007.

10.12(14)+   Hansen Medical, Inc. Management Cash Incentive Plan, dated April 7, 2008.

10.13   First Amendment to Office Lease, dated June 27, 2008, by and between the Registrant and BP MV Research Park LLC.

10.14(15)*   Development and Supply Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Luna Innovations Incorporated, dated January 12, 2010.
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10.15(15)*   License Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Luna Innovations Incorporated, dated January 12, 2010.

10.16(15)*   Cross License Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Intuitive Surgical, Inc., dated January 12, 2010.

10.17(16)*
  

Amendment No. 1 to Development and Supply Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Luna Innovations Incorporated, dated
February 17, 2010.

10.18(16)*
  

Amendment No. 2 to Development and Supply Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Luna Innovations Incorporated, dated
April 2, 2010.

10.19(16)+   Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Bruce J Barclay, dated May 26, 2010.

10.20(16)+   Retention Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Bruce J Barclay, dated May 26, 2010.

10.21(16)+   Non-Plan Option Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Bruce J Barclay, dated June 9, 2010.

10.22(17)+   Form of Retention Agreement for executive officers.

10.23(17)+   Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Rita V. Jacob, executed October 29, 2010.

10.24(18)*
  

Patent and Technology License and Purchase Agreement, by and among the Registrant, Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. and
Philips Medical Systems Nederland B.V., dated February 2, 2011.

10.25(18)*
  

Sublicense Agreement, by and among ECL7, LLC, Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. and Philips Medical Systems Nederland
B.V., dated February 3, 2011.

10.26(18)*   Assignment and License Agreement, by and among the Registrant and ECL7, LLC, dated February 3, 2011.

10.27(18)*
  

Security Agreement, by and among ECL7, LLC, Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V., and Philips Medical Systems Nederland B.V.,
dated February 3, 2011.

10.28(18)
  

Patent License Security Agreement, by and between ECL7, LLC, Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. and Philips Medical Systems
Nederland B.V., dated February 3, 2011.

10.29(18)*
  

Amendment No. 1 to Patent and Technology License and Purchase Agreement, by and between the Registrant, Koninklijke Philips
Electronics N.V. and Philips Medical Systems Nederland B.V., dated April 7, 2011.

10.30(19)*
  

Amendment No. 3 to Development and Supply Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Luna Innovations Incorporated, dated as
of May 18, 2011.

10.31(19)+   Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Peter Mariani, dated as of May 31, 2011.

10.32(19)+   Non-Plan Option Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Peter Mariani, dated as of June 20, 2011.

10.33+   Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Susan Leonard, dated December 13, 2011.

10.34(20)+   Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Joseph Guido, dated as of March 19, 2012.

10.35(21)+   Amendment of Stock Option Agreement for option grants to non-employee directors.

10.36(7)
  

First Amendment to Cross License Agreement, by and between Registrant and Intuitive Surgical Operations, Inc., dated as of October
26, 2012.

10.37(7)+   Offer Letter, by and between Registrant and William Sutton, dated as of November 12, 2012.
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10.38(7)   Amendment of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.

10.39(7)+   Form of Amendment to Amended and Restated Indemnity Agreement for certain Directors.

10.40(7)+   Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors Approved November 9, 2012.

10.41(7)+   Non-Employee Director Compensation Arrangements, effective as of January 1, 2013.

10.42+   Offer Letter, by and between the Registrant and Robert Cathcart, dated January 10, 2013.

10.43(22)+   Waiver by Bruce J Barclay, dated March 27, 2013.

10.44(22)+   Form of Retention Agreement for executive officers.

10.45(4)
  

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 23, 2013, by and among the Registrant, White Oak Global
Advisors, LLC and each lender identified therein.

10.46   Second Amendment to Office Lease, dated December 13, 2013, by and between the Registrant and BXP Research Park LP.

21.1   List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1   Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1   Powers of Attorney. Reference is made to the signature page to this report.

31.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e).

31.2   Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e).

32.1**
  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
Unites States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350).

32.2**
  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
Unites States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350).

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
 
(1) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 28, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
(2) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 16, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
(3) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 9, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(4) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 8, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(5) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 7, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
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(6) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 9, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
(7) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 18, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(8) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 31, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(9) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 8, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(10) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended, originally filed on August 16, 2006 and incorporated

herein by reference.
(11) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 15, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(12) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed on May 8, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.
(13) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 2, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
(14) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 9, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.
(15) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 16, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.
(16) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 6, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.
(17) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 16, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
(18) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
(19) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 8, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
(20) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 7, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(21) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 9, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(22) Previously filed as an exhibit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit.
** The certifications attached hereto as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the U.S. Securities

and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Hansen Medical, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-K, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Exhibit 10.13
HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.

FIRST AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE, (the “ First Amendment”) is made and entered into as of June 27, 2008 by and between BP MV
RESEARCH PARK LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”), and HANSEN MEDICAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (“ Tenant”).

R E C I T A L S:
 

A. MTV Research, LLC, predecessor-in-interest to Landlord, and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease (the “ Lease”) dated July 18, 2007 (the
“Lease”), whereby Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases from Landlord approximately 63,131 rentable square feet of office space (the
“Premises”), located at 800 East Middlefield Road located in Mountain View, California 94043 (the “ Building”), which building is owned by Landlord.

 

B. Tenant has entered into a Sublease dated August 10, 2004 (the “ Sublease”) with PalmOne, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Sublessor”), pursuant to
which Tenant subleases 28,069 rentable square feet of space (the “ 380 Bernardo Building”) comprising that certain building located at 380 North
Bernardo Avenue, Mountain View, California 94043 (the “Temporary Premises”).

 

C. Tenant desires to rent the Temporary Premises for one month after the expiration of Sublessor’s lease, and Landlord is willing to rent the Temporary
Premises to Tenant, subject to certain terms and conditions.

A G R E E M E N T:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.

1. Defined Terms. All terms defined in the Lease when used herein shall have the same meaning as is given such terms in the Lease unless expressly
superseded by the terms of this First Amendment.

2. Temporary Premises Term. The term of the Lease as to the Temporary Premises shall be for one month, commencing July 1, 2008 and ending
July 31, 2008.

3. Acceptance by Tenant. Tenant has determined that the Temporary Premises are acceptable for Tenant’s use and Tenant acknowledges that neither
Landlord nor any broker or agent has made any representations or warranties in connection with the physical condition of the Premises or their fitness for
Tenant’s use upon which Tenant has relied directly or indirectly for any purpose, and Tenant accepts the Temporary Premises “as is.”



4. Rent. Upon execution of this First Amendment, Tenant shall pay to Landlord Base Rent for the Temporary Premises Term in the amount of Sixty
Three Thousand One Hundred Fifty Five and 25/100 U.S. Dollars ($63,155.25) and Additional Rent for the Temporary Premises in the amount of Twelve
Thousand Four Hundred Twenty Two and 33/100 U.S. Dollars ($12,422.33). Tenant is solely responsible for payment of its own telephone,
telecommunications, internal and data communication charges.

5. Inapplicability of Certain Lease Terms. The following provisions of the Lease are not applicable to the lease of the Temporary Premises: Article
1, Term; Article 2, Possession; Article 3, Rent; Article 4, Rental Adjustment; Article 8, Brokers; Article 9, Holding Over, Surrender; Article 11, Condition of
Premises; Article 12, Alterations; Article 13, Repairs; Article 21, Damage or Destruction; Article 22, Eminent Domain; Article 24, Assignment and Subletting;
Article 31, Surrender of Premises (which shall be governed by Section 6.3 below); Article 34, Rights and Options Personal; Article 38, Parking; Article 50,
Option to Renew; Article 51, Hazardous Materials (which shall continue to be governed by the provisions of the Sublease, except as otherwise set forth in this
Amendment); and Article 56, Satellite Dish.

6. Miscellaneous.

6.1 Brokers. Tenant hereby warrants that it has had no dealings with any real estate broker, agent or finder in connection with the
negotiation of this First Amendment, and agrees to indemnify and defend Landlord against and hold it harmless from any and all claims, demands, losses,
liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) with respect to any leasing commission or
equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of the indemnifying party’s dealings with any real estate broker, agent or finder. The terms of this
Paragraph 6.1 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.

6.2 Holding Over. If Tenant holds over in the Temporary Premises or any part thereof after expiration of the Temporary Premises Term,
such holding over shall, at Landlord’s option, constitute a month-to-month tenancy, at a rent equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Base Rent and
one hundred percent (100%) of the Additional Rent in effect immediately prior to such holding over and shall otherwise be on all the other terms and conditions
of this Lease. The provisions of this Section 6.2 shall not be construed as Landlord’s permission for Tenant to hold over. Acceptance of Rent by Landlord
following expiration or termination of the Temporary Premises Term shall not constitute a renewal of the Lease or extension of the Temporary Premises Term. If
Tenant fails to surrender the Temporary Premises upon expiration or earlier termination of the Lease as to such Temporary Premises, Tenant shall indemnify
and hold Landlord harmless from and against all loss or liability resulting from or arising out of Tenant’s failure to surrender the Temporary Premises,
including, but not limited to, any amounts required to be paid to any tenant or prospective tenant who was to have occupied the Temporary Premises after the
expiration or earlier termination of the Lease as to such Temporary Premises and any related attorneys’ fees and brokerage commissions.



6.3 Surrender.

6.3.1 Upon the termination of the Lease as to the Temporary Premises, Tenant will surrender the Temporary Premises broom clean,
together with all keys, in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted.

6.3.2 All articles of personal property and all business and trade fixtures, machinery and equipment, furniture and movable partitions
owned by Tenant or installed by Tenant in the Temporary Premises shall be and remain the property of Tenant and may be removed by Tenant at any time
during the Temporary Premises Term. If Tenant shall fail to remove all of its effects from the Temporary Premises upon termination the this Lease as to the
Temporary Premises for any cause whatsoever, Landlord may, at its option, remove the same in any reasonable manner that Landlord shall choose, and store
said effects without liability to Tenant for loss thereof. In such event, Tenant agrees to pay Landlord upon demand any and all reasonable expenses incurred in
such removal, including court costs and attorneys’ fees and storage charges on such effects for any length of time that the same shall be in Landlord’s
possession. Landlord may, at its option, but with prior written notice to Tenant, sell said effects, or any of the same, at private sale and without legal process,
for such price as Landlord may obtain and apply the proceeds of such sale upon any amounts due under this Lease from Tenant to Landlord and upon the
expense incident to the removal and sale of said effects.

6.3.3 Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall be responsible for removing any and all alterations or improvements installed in the
Temporary Premises by Tenant under the Sublease and shall restore the Temporary Premises to its condition immediately prior to the alteration or
improvement. Specifically, Tenant shall be responsible for the restoration and other surrender items as noted on the attached Exhibit A. Landlord
acknowledges that the shed/overhang that connects the two buildings was present when Tenant took occupancy of the Temporary Premises pursuant to the
Sublease, and that Tenant shall not be responsible for removing same.

6.4 Alterations. Tenant shall make no alterations, additions or improvements in or to the Temporary Premises.

6.5 Repairs. By entry, Tenant accepts the Temporary Premises as being in good and sanitary order, condition and repair. Tenant, at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall continue to keep, maintain and preserve the Temporary Premises in the same manner and to the same extent as set forth
in the Sublease. Tenant acknowledges, agrees and affirms that Landlord has made no representations to Tenant respecting the condition of the Premises or the
Building. Without limiting the foregoing, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole expense, be responsible for repairing any area damaged by Tenant, Tenant’s agents,
employees, invitees and visitors. All repairs and replacements by Tenant shall be made and performed: (a) at Tenant’s cost and expense and at such time and
in such manner as Landlord may reasonable designate, (b) by contractors or mechanics approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld, (c) so that same shall be at least equal in quality, value and utility to the original work or installation, (d) in a manner and using equipment and
materials that will not interfere with or



impair the operations, use or occupation of the Building or any of the mechanical, electrical, plumbing or other systems in the Building, and (e) in accordance
with the Rules and Regulations attached to the Lease as EXHIBIT D and all Applicable Laws. In the event Tenant fails, in the reasonable judgment of
Landlord, to maintain the Premises in accordance with the obligations under the Lease, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, to enter the
Temporary Premises and perform such maintenance, repairs or refurbishing at Tenant’s sole cost and expense (including a sum for overhead to Landlord
equal to ten percent (10%) of the cost of the maintenance, repairs or refurbishing).

Landlord shall repair and maintain the exterior and structural parts of the 380 Bernardo Building including without limitation the foundations,
structural load-bearing columns and walls of the Building, the roof, roof structure, roof membranes and exterior walls; the utility pipes, wiring and conduits
to their point of connection to the Temporary Premises; the sidewalks; and the structural or capital aspects of the parking area so that all of the foregoing are
kept in good order and repair.

6.6 Casualty. If the Temporary Premises should be damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, Tenant shall give immediate notice to
Landlord, and Landlord shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to terminate the Lease effective upon the occurrence of such damage, in which
event the Rent on the Temporary Premises shall be abated from the date Tenant vacates the Temporary Premises. Tenant shall be responsible for and shall pay
to Landlord any deductible or retention amount payable under the property insurance for the Temporary Premises.

6.7 Assignment and Subletting.  Tenant shall not voluntarily assign or encumber its interest in the Lease as to the Temporary Premises,
or sublease all or any part of the Temporary Premises, or allow any other person or entity to occupy or use all or any part of the Temporary Premises, without
first obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent, which may be withheld in Landlord’s sold and absolute discretion. Any assignment, encumbrance or
sublease of the Temporary Premises without Landlord’s prior written consent shall be voidable, at Landlord’s election, and shall constitute a default and at the
option of the Landlord shall result in a termination of the Lease as to the Temporary Premises.

6.8 Parking. The use by Tenant, its employees and invitees, of the parking facilities of the 380 Bernardo Building shall be on the terms
and conditions set forth in EXHIBIT E to the Lease. Tenant, its employees and invitees shall be entitled to use all of the parking located at the 380 Bernardo
Building.

7. Building Renovations . Tenant hereby acknowledges that Landlord intends to commence renovating, improving, altering, or modifying
the 380 Bernardo and 350 Bernardo buildings (such work is collectively, the “Renovations”). Tenant hereby agrees that such Renovations shall in no way
constitute a constructive eviction of Tenant nor entitle Tenant to any abatement of Rent. Landlord shall have no responsibility and shall not be liable to Tenant
for any injury to or interference with Tenant’s business arising from the Renovations, nor shall Tenant be entitled to any compensation or damages from
Landlord for loss of the use of the whole or any part of the Premises or of Tenant’s personal property or improvements resulting from the Renovations, or for
any inconvenience or annoyance occasioned by such Renovations.



8. Building Access. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord is actively marketing the Premises and agrees that Landlord and landlord’s authorized
agents, which shall specifically include Landlord’s employees, leasing agents, any other broker or prospective tenant accompanying them, Landlord’s
contractors, subcontractors, shall have access to the Premises during normal business hours upon a minimum of one hour’s notice to Tenant, which notice
may be by telephone. Tenant may, at Tenant’s option, provide an escort to accompany any such person(s) while within the Premises.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this First Amendment has been executed as of the day and year first above written.
 
TENANT:

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC., a Delaware corporation

BY: 

 Name:  Steve Van Dick

 Its:  CFO

BY: 

 Name:  GARY RESTANI

 Its:  COO

LANDLORD:

BP MV RESEARCH PARK LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company

BY:  BP OFFICE FUND REIT, INC., a
 Maryland corporation, its
sole member and manager 

BY:  
 Bob Pester
 Senior Vice President and Regional Manager



Exhibit A
Specific Restoration and Surrender Requirements

 

•  Remove all hazardous materials from premises, following all regulations and requirements for proper and safe disposal.
 

•  Remove all paints, toners and solvents, following all regulations and requirements for proper and safe disposal.
 

•  Remove all boxes, pallets, packing and packaging materials from premises.
 

•  Remove all portable storage containers and boxes from the property.
 

•  Properly close the hazmat business plan with the City’s CUPA. (Certified Uniform Program Agency)
 

•  Provide completed and proper Hazmat closure plan and final sign off from CUPA.
 

•  Remove 4” telecom PVC and cabling connecting 350 to 380 Bernardo and have Alliance Roofing repair the roofing penetrations at each location.
 

•  Repair the roof where it has been modified
 

•  Provide copies of the HVAC records maintenance and repair records for the past 12 months.
 

•  Remove all copper piping/system for the labs and other systems.
 

•  Patch all walls with holes that are equal to or larger then one half inch in diameter.
 

•  Remove all phone and data cabling, includes the cabling that connects 350 and 380 Bernardo.
 

•  Remove all furniture, equipment, partition walls and labs
 

•  Repair the ceiling tile grid that has been drilled into or otherwise damaged.
 

•  Replace all ceiling tiles that have been cut into for the installation of copper and cabling etc.
 

•  Remove all signs from doors, interior walls, and monument sign
 

•  Broom clean the space
 

•  Clear out the back loading dock area



Exhibit 10.33
 

December 13, 2011

Susan Leonard
735 Gilbert Avenue
Menlo Park, CA 94025

Dear Susan,

Hansen Medical, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to offer you employment on the following terms:

1. Position: Your title will be Vice President Human Resources. This position will report to Peter J. Mariani, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and is a
full-time position contingent upon successful completion of a background check. While you render services to the Company, you will not engage in any other
employment, consulting or other business activity (whether full-time or part-time) that would create a conflict of interest with the Company. By signing this
letter agreement, you confirm to the Company that you have no contractual commitments or other legal obligations that would prohibit you from performing
your duties for the Company.

2. Cash Compensation: The Company will pay you a starting salary of $210,000 per year, payable in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll
schedule. This salary will be subject to adjustment pursuant to the Company’s employee compensation policies in effect from time to time.

3. Bonus Plan: Subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors, you will be eligible to participate in an Executive Incentive bonus plan with an
annual target payout of up to 25,200 Restricted Stock Units.

4. Employee Benefits: As a regular employee of the Company, you will be eligible to participate in a number of Company-sponsored benefits. In addition, you
will be entitled to three weeks paid vacation in accordance with the Company’s vacation policy.

5. Stock Options: Subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee, you will be granted an option to purchase
150,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. The exercise price per share will be equal to the fair market value per share on the date the option is
granted.

The option will be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to options granted under the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), as
described in the Plan and the applicable Stock Option Agreement. You will vest in 25% of the option shares after 12 months of continuous service, and the
balance will vest in equal monthly installments over the next 36 months of continuous service, as described in the applicable Stock Option Agreement.



Susan Leonard
December 13, 2011
Page 2
 
6. Total Compensation: Your total compensation package is estimated as follows:
 

Base Salary:   $ 210,000    
RSU Bonus   $ 63,000    (based on share price of $2.50)
Option Value:   $186,000    (based on Black-Scholes value)
Insurance Benefits   $ 20.000    (estimated premiums paid by Hansen)
Total Compensation:   $ 479,000    

7. Retention Agreement:  The Company will offer you the opportunity to enter into a Retention Agreement in the form of the document attached hereto as
Exhibit A.

8. Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement : Like all Company employees, you will be required, as a condition of your employment with the
Company, to sign the Company’s standard Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

9. Employment Relationship : Employment with the Company is for no specific period of time. Your employment with the Company will be “at will,”
meaning that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, with or without cause. Any contrary representations
that may have been made to you are superseded by this letter agreement. This is the full and complete agreement between you and the Company on this term.
Although your job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the
“at will” nature of your employment may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company (other
than you).

10. Taxes: All forms of compensation referred to in this letter agreement are subject to reduction to reflect applicable withholding and payroll taxes and other
deductions required by law. You agree that the Company does not have a duty to design its compensation policies in a manner that minimizes your tax
liabilities, and you will not make any claim against the Company or its Board of Directors related to tax liabilities arising from your compensation.

11. Interpretation, Amendment and Enforcement : This letter agreement and Exhibits A and B constitute the complete agreement between you and the
Company, contain all of the terms of your employment with the Company and supersede any prior agreements, representations or understandings (whether
written, oral or implied) between you and the Company. This letter agreement may not be amended or modified, except by an express written agreement signed
by both you and a duly authorized officer of the Company. The terms of this letter agreement and the resolution of any disputes as to the meaning, effect,
performance or validity of this letter agreement or arising out of, related to, or in any way connected with, this letter agreement, your employment with the
Company or any other relationship between you and the Company (the “Disputes”) will be governed by California law, excluding laws relating to conflicts or
choice of law. You and the Company submit to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of the federal and state courts located in Santa Clara County, California, in
connection with any Dispute or any claim related to any Dispute.



Susan Leonard
December 13, 2011
Page 3
 

* * * * *

Susan, we are excited about the possibility of you joining our Company. You may indicate your agreement with these terms and accept this offer by
signing and dating both the enclosed duplicate original of this letter agreement, the Retention Agreement, and the enclosed Proprietary Information and
Inventions Agreement and returning them to me. This offer, if not accepted, will expire at the close of business on December 19, 2011. As required by law,
your employment with the Company is contingent upon your providing legal proof of your identity and authorization to work in the United States. Your
employment is also contingent upon your starting work with the Company on January 2, 2012.

If you have any questions, please call me at 650-404-2712.

Very truly yours,
 
HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.

By:  Peter J. Mariani

Title:  Chief Financial Officer

I have read and accept this employment offer:
 

Susan Leonard

Dated:  12/28/11

Attachment

Exhibit A: Retention Agreement

Exhibit B: Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement



Exhibit 10.42

January 10, 2013

Robert O. Cathcart
5 Hidden Acres Drive
Kinnelon, NJ. 07405

Dear Bob,

Hansen Medical, Inc. (the “Company”) is pleased to offer you employment on the following terms:

1. Position: Your title will be Senior Vice President of Global Sales. This position will report to Bruce Barclay, the Company’s President and Chief Executive
Officer, and is a full-time position contingent upon successful completion of reference and background checks. While you render services to the Company,
you will not engage in any other employment, consulting or other business activity (whether full-time or part-time) that would create a conflict of interest with
the Company. By signing this letter agreement, you confirm to the Company that you have no contractual commitments or other legal obligations that would
prohibit you from performing your duties for the Company.

2. Cash Compensation: The Company will pay you a starting salary of $240,000 per year, payable in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll
schedule. This salary will be subject to adjustment pursuant to the Company’s employee compensation policies in effect from time to time. You will also
receive a monthly car allowance of $600, or $7,200 annually.

3. Variable Compensation: Your annual variable compensation is targeted at $265,000 and is summarized in the 2013 Target Compensation Summary in
the form of the document attached hereto as Exhibit A.

4. Corporate Incentive Bonus Plan:  Subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors, you will be granted 12,500 Restricted Stock Units under
the Company’s 2013 Corporate Incentive Bonus Plan. Vesting of these units is contingent upon performance against Corporate and Department objectives as
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors during the first quarter of 2014.

5. Employee Benefits: As a regular employee of the Company, you will be eligible to participate in a number of Company-sponsored benefits. In addition,
you will be entitled to three weeks paid vacation in accordance with the Company’s vacation policy.

6. Stock Options: Subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee, you will be granted an option to purchase
300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. The exercise price per share will be equal to the fair market value per share on the date the option is granted.



Robert O. Cathcart
January 10, 2013
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The option will be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to options granted under the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), as
described in the Plan and the applicable Stock Option Agreement. You will vest in 25% of the option shares after 12 months of continuous service, and the
balance will vest in equal monthly installments over the next 36 months of continuous service, as described in the applicable Stock Option Agreement.

7. Retention Agreement:  The Company will offer you the opportunity to enter into a Retention Agreement in the form of the document attached hereto as
Exhibit B.

8. Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement : Like all Company employees, you will be required, as a condition of your employment with the
Company, to sign the Company’s standard Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

9. Employment Relationship : Employment with the Company is for no specific period of time. Your employment with the Company will be “at will,”
meaning that either you or the Company may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, with or without cause. Any contrary representations
that may have been made to you are superseded by this letter agreement. This is the full and complete agreement between you and the Company on this term.
Although your job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the
“at will” nature of your employment may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company (other
than you).

10. Taxes: All forms of compensation referred to in this letter agreement are subject to reduction to reflect applicable withholding and payroll taxes and other
deductions required by law. You agree that the Company does not have a duty to design its compensation policies in a manner that minimizes your tax
liabilities, and you will not make any claim against the Company or its Board of Directors related to tax liabilities arising from your compensation.

11. Interpretation, Amendment and Enforcement : This letter agreement and Exhibits A and B constitute the complete agreement between you and the
Company, contain all of the terms of your employment with the Company and supersede any prior agreements, representations or understandings (whether
written, oral or implied) between you and the Company. This letter agreement may not be amended or modified, except by an express written agreement signed
by both you and a duly authorized officer of the Company. The terms of this letter agreement and the resolution of any disputes as to the meaning, effect,
performance or validity of this letter agreement or arising out of, related to, or in any way connected with, this letter agreement, your employment with the
Company or any other relationship between you and the Company (the “Disputes”) will be governed by California law, excluding laws relating to conflicts or
choice of law. You and the Company submit to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of the federal and state courts located in Santa Clara County, California, in
connection with any Dispute or any claim related to any Dispute.
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* * * * *

Bob, we are excited about the possibility of you joining our Company. You may indicate your agreement with these terms and accept this offer by
signing and dating both the enclosed duplicate original of this letter agreement, the 2013 Target Compensation Summary, the Retention Agreement, and the
enclosed Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement and returning them to me. This offer, if not accepted, will expire at the close of business on
January 14, 2013. As required by law, your employment with the Company is contingent upon your providing legal proof of your identity and authorization to
work in the United States, Your employment is also contingent upon your starting work with the Company on or before January 16, 2013.

If you have any questions, please call me at 650-404-5804.
 
Very truly yours,

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.

By:  Bruce J Barclay

Title:  President and CEO

I have read and accept this employment offer:

Robert O. Cathcart

Dated:  1/12/2013

Attachments

Exhibit A: 2013 Target Compensation Summary

Exhibit B: Retention Agreement

Exhibit C: Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement



2013 Target Compensation Plan

Hansen Medical – Senior Vice President, Global Sales (Total Comp)

Name: Bob Cathcart
 

   Amount   Est Achievement   Annual Estimate 
Systems Revenue- U.S.   $20,000,000     
Systems Revenue- EMEA/AP/ANZ   $ 8,788,000     
Base Salary   $ 240,000    1    $ 240,000  
Commission on Systems Sales at Plan    0.75%   1    $ 215,910  
Commission on Systems Revenue > Plan    1.50%   0    $ 0  
Quarterly Catheter Bonus   $ 6,250    4    $ 25,000  
Quarterly Procedure Bonus   $ 6,250    4    $ 25,000  
Car Allowance   $ 7,200    1    $ 7,200  
2013 Corporate Bonus Plan (note 1)   $ 26,000    1    $ 26,000  
New Hire Options (note 2)   $ 420,000    1    $ 420,000  

Total Target Comp.     $ 959,110  

Commission on systems is paid at a rate of 0.75% on plan revenue and at a rate of 1.5 % on revenue over plan. Plan revenue is defined as all systems, and
new service contracts which are both booked and shipped in the month within the defined territory. Revenue on CoHesion upgrades is added to base revenue
and commission is paid at a rate of .5%. Discretionary discounts, educational grants, rebates, and free trainings reduce the amount used to calculate total base
revenue. Commissions are paid on a monthly basis on a one month lag. In addition, any systems booked and shipped before June 30, 2013 will earn an extra
0.5% commission payment.

You will be eligible to participate in Procedure, Catheter bonuses for 2013. Procedure and Catheter bonuses are targeted at a total of $6,250 per quarter based
upon procedure and catheter goals set forth mutually by the CEO and you each quarter by the 15 th day of the first month of the quarter. The actual payout is
based upon the percentage of procedures performed and catheters sold in relation to the target based on the table below. Procedure and Catheter bonuses are paid
out on a quarterly basis with a one month lag. Actual percent to goal will be rounded to the nearest whole percent for payout calculation.
 

Percent to Goal   % Payout  Procedure Payout   Catheter Payout 
0%-79%    0%  $ —      $ —    
80%-89%    0%  $ —      $ —    
90-94%    60%  $ 3,750    $ 3,750  
95%-99%    75%  $ 4,688    $ 4,688  
100%-109%    100%  $ 6,250    $ 6,250  
110% and beyond    115%  $ 7,188    $ 7,188  

 
Objectives   Q1    Q2    Q3    Q4    Total  
Global Procedure Target    864     938     913     1,077     3,792  
Global Catheter Target    960     1,043     1,015     1,197     4,215  

You must be employed at time of payout to receive any commission and bonus payments. Payout will occur on the last of the month following each month or
quarter of earned commissions. The CEO and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors reserves the right to make adjustments to the objectives and
compensation plan within its sole discretion.



Note (1) You will be eligible to participate in the 2013 Corporate Bonus Plan. Payment of this bonus is made in the form restricted stock units (RSU’s).
Subject to the approval of Hansen’s Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee, you will be granted 12,500 RSU’s on or before March 18, 2013.
RSU’s granted under this plan have an assumed value of $2.08 per share. The actual vesting of these shares will be based on performance against Department
and Company milestones as determined by Management and the Board of Directors during the first quarter of 2014.

Note (2) Subject to and following approval by the Board of Directors, the Company will grant you an option to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock at the fair market value as determined by the Board as of the date of grant (the “Option”). The Option will be subject to the terms and
conditions of the Company’s Stock Plan (the “Plan”) and your grant agreement. Your grant agreement will include a four year vesting schedule, under which
25% of your. Option will vest after 12 months and l/48th of the total will vest at the end of each month thereafter, until either the Option is fully vested or your
employment ends, whichever occurs first. For purposes of your 2013 target compensation, these options are valued at $420,000 using a Black-Scholes value
of $1.40 per share and assuming an exercise price of $2.15 per share.
 

  
Bob Cathcart   Bruce J Barclay, President & CEO
1/12/2013   1-11-13



RETENTION AGREEMENT

This Retention Agreement (the “ Agreement”) is entered into as of January 10, 2013 by and between Robert O. Cathcart and Hansen Medical, Inc. (the
“Corporation”).

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the promises and mutual covenants set forth herein, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement, unless the context requires a different meaning, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth herein:

(a) “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Corporation

(b) “Cause” shall mean any of the following: (i) an intentional unauthorized use or disclosure of the Corporation’s confidential information or
trade secrets, which use or disclosure causes material harm to the Corporation, (ii) a material breach of any agreement between Executive and the Corporation,
(iii) a material failure to comply with the Corporation’s written policies or rules, (iv) conviction of, or plea of “guilty” or “no contest” to, a felony under the
laws of the United States or any state thereof, (v) gross negligence or willful misconduct or (vi) a continued failure to perform assigned duties after receiving
written notification of such failure from the Board. Executive shall not be deemed to have been terminated for Cause unless and until there shall have been
delivered to Executive a Notice of Termination and copy of a resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of those members of
the Board who are not then employees of the Corporation at a meeting of the Board called and held for the purpose (after reasonable notice to Executive and an
opportunity for Executive, together with Executive’s counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board, Executive was
guilty of the conduct set forth in the first sentence of this Section 1(b) and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.

(c) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(i) a transaction or series of transactions (other than an offering of the Corporation’s Common Stock to the general public through a
registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission) whereby any “person” or related “group” of “persons”, as such terms are used in
Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act (other than the Corporation, any of its subsidiaries, an employee benefit plan maintained by the Corporation
or any of its subsidiaries or a “person” that, prior to such transaction, directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the
Corporation) directly or indirectly acquires beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of securities of the Corporation
possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of the Corporation’s securities outstanding immediately after such acquisition; or

(ii) During any period of two consecutive years, individuals who, at the beginning of such period, constitute the Board together with any
new director(s) (other than a director designated by a person who shall have entered into an agreement with the Corporation to



effect a transaction described in Section 1(c)(i) or Section 1(c)(iii)) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Corporation’s stockholders
was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the two-year period or whose
election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or

(iii) The consummation by the Corporation (whether directly involving the Corporation or indirectly involving the Corporation through
one or more intermediaries) of (x) a merger, consolidation, reorganization, or business combination or (y) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of
the Corporation’s assets in any single transaction or series of related transactions, in each case, other than a transaction:

(A) Which results in the Corporation’s voting securities outstanding immediately before the transaction continuing to represent
(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the Corporation or the person that, as a result of the
transaction, controls, directly or indirectly, the Corporation or owns, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of the Corporation’s
assets or otherwise succeeds to the business of the Corporation (the Corporation or such person, the “ Successor Entity”)) directly or
indirectly, at least a majority of the combined voting power of the Successor Entity’s outstanding voting securities immediately after the
transaction, and

(B) After which no person or group beneficially owns voting securities representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of
the Successor Entity; provided, however, that no person or group shall be treated for purposes of this Section 1(c)(iii)(B) as beneficially
owning 50% or more of combined voting power of the Successor Entity solely as a result of the voting power held in the Corporation prior
to the consummation of the transaction.

(d) “COBRA” shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.

(e) “COBRA Coverage” shall mean the coverage under the Corporation’s medical, dental and/or vision benefit plans that Executive and/or
Executive’s eligible dependents participates following a termination of employment pursuant to COBRA.

(f) “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(g) “Covered Termination” shall mean (i) an Involuntary Termination Without Cause or (ii) a voluntary termination of employment by Executive
for Good Reason, provided that in either case, the termination constitutes a Separation from Service.

(h) “Date of Termination” shall mean (i) if Executive’s employment is terminated due to Executive’s death, the date of Executive’s death; and (ii) if
Executive’s employment is terminated for any reason other than death, the date specified in the Notice of Termination.
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(i) “Employment Commencement Date” means the date Executive’s employment commenced with the Corporation.

(j) “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(k) “First Payment Date” shall mean the 60th day after the Date of Termination or, if such day is not a business day, the next business day
thereafter.

(l) “Good Reason” shall mean Executive’s resignation due to any of the following events which occurs without Executive’s written consent,
provided that the requirements regarding advance notice and an opportunity to cure set forth below are satisfied: (i) a material diminution of Executive’s base
salary and target bonus, other than in connection with an across-the-board reduction in the compensation (which, for avoidance of doubt, may include the
elimination of any bonus opportunity) of the Company’s senior management that does not disproportionately affect Executive, (ii) a material diminution of
Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities, or (iii) a material change in the geographic location at which Executive must perform services for the
Corporation (each of (i), (ii) and (iii), a “ Good Reason Condition”). In order for Executive to resign for Good Reason, Executive must provide written notice to
the Corporation of the existence of the Good Reason Condition within 90 days of the initial existence of such Good Reason Condition. Upon receipt of such
notice of the Good Reason Condition, the Corporation will be provided with a period of 30 days during which it may remedy the Good Reason Condition and
not be required to provide for the payments and benefits described herein as a result of such proposed resignation due to the Good Reason Condition specified
in the Notice of Termination. If the Good Reason Condition is not remedied within the period specified in the preceding sentence, Executive may resign based
on the Good Reason Condition specified in the Notice of Termination effective no later than 180 days following the initial existence of such Good Reason
Condition.

(m) “Involuntary Termination Without Cause” shall mean termination of Executive’s employment by the Corporation other than for Cause. For
purposes of this Agreement, an Involuntary Termination Without Cause shall only include a termination by the Corporation where the Executive was willing
and able to continue performing services within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(n)(1).

(n) “Notice of Termination” shall mean a notice from Executive or the Corporation to the other party regarding the intent to terminate Executive’s
employment. To the extent applicable, the Notice of Termination shall indicate the specific termination provision in this Agreement (if any) relied upon and
shall set forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of Executive’s employment under the provision so
indicated.

(o) “Release” shall mean a release by Executive of all claims arising out of Executive’s employment with the Corporation or the termination thereof,
in a form reasonably acceptable to the Corporation.

(p) “Separation from Service” means Executive’s termination of employment or service which constitutes a “separation from service” within the
meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h).
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2. Notice.

(a) Notice of Termination. Any termination of Executive’s employment by the Corporation or by Executive (other than termination due to
Executive’s death, which shall terminate Executive’s employment automatically) shall be communicated by a written Notice of Termination to the other party
hereto in accordance with Section 2(b) and shall set forth the Date of Termination, which shall not be earlier than the date on which the Notice of Termination
is provided.

(b) Manner of Notice. For purposes of this Agreement, a Notice of Termination, as well as other notices and communications provided for in this
Agreement, shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered or mailed by United States certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the Corporation at its principal office or to Executive at the address in the Corporation’s payroll records,
provided that all notices to the Corporation shall be directed to the attention of its Secretary, or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the
other in writing in accordance herewith, except that notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.

3. Compensation upon Certain Terminations.

(a) Termination for Any Reason. Upon Executive’s termination of employment with the Corporation for any reason, Executive shall be paid all
amounts earned or accrued but unpaid as of the Executive’s termination of employment, including (i) base salary, (ii) reimbursement for reasonable and
necessary expenses incurred by the Executive on behalf of the Corporation during the period ending on the date of termination, (iii) pay for unused vacation
time, (iv) any bonuses and incentive compensation earned through the date of termination, and (v) reimbursement for any unused amounts deposited in the
Corporation’s ESPP.

(b) Covered Termination Prior to a Change in Control or More Than Twelve Months After a Change in Control . If Executive’s employment with
the Corporation is terminated not less than six (6) months after the Employment Commencement Date due to a Covered Termination which occurs prior to a
Change in Control or more than twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, and Executive executes and does not revoke a Release as described in
Section 3(d) below, then Executive shall be entitled to the following severance benefits:

(i) Severance Payment. If the Date of Termination is less than one (1) year but not less than six (6) months after the Employment
Commencement Date, Executive shall be entitled to severance payments equal to three (3) months’ worth of the Executive’s then- current annual base salary
(commencing as of the Date of Termination), and if the Date of Termination is not less than one (1) year after the Employment Commencement Date, Executive
shall be entitled to severance payments equal to six (6) months’ worth of the Executive’s then-current annual base salary (commencing as of the Date of
Termination). Severance payments
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shall be paid in accordance with the Corporation’s normal payroll procedures beginning on the First Payment Date, except that any payments that would
otherwise have been made before the First Payment Date shall be made on the First Payment Date.

(ii) Continued Benefits. If the Date of Termination is less than one (1) year but not less than six (6) months after the Employment
Commencement Date, the Corporation shall pay COBRA Coverage for Executive and Executive’s dependents for the period beginning on the Date of
Termination and extending through the earlier of either (A) three (3) months from the Date of Termination, or (B) the first day of Executive’s eligibility to
participate in a comparable group health plan maintained by a subsequent employer, the Corporation shall pay COBRA Coverage for Executive and
Executive’s dependents. If the Date of Termination is not less than one (1) year after the Employment Commencement Date, the Corporation shall pay COBRA
Coverage for Executive and Executive’s dependents for the period beginning on the Date of Termination and extending through the earlier of either (A) three
(3) months from the Date of Termination, or (B) the first day of Executive’s eligibility to participate in a comparable group health plan maintained by a
subsequent employer, the Corporation shall pay COBRA Coverage for Executive and Executive’s dependents.

(c) Covered Termination Within Twelve Months After a Change in Control. If Executive’s employment with the Corporation is terminated due to a
Covered Termination which occurs within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, and Executive executes and does not revoke a Release as
described in Section 3(d) below, then Executive shall be entitled to the following severance benefits:

(i) Acceleration of Equity Awards. Executive shall become vested with respect to one hundred percent (100%) of the unvested portion of
any options to purchase the Corporation’s capital stock that Executive then holds and the restrictions with respect to one hundred percent (100%) of any
restricted share award, restricted stock unit award or other equity award with regard to the Corporations’ capital stock that Executive then holds shall
immediately lapse.

(ii) Severance Payment. Executive  shall be entitled to severance payments equal to six (6) months worth of the Executive’s then-current
annual base salary (commencing as of the Date of Termination) and a pro rated portion of Executive’s annual target bonus for the same period, which
payments shall be paid in accordance with the Corporation’s normal payroll procedures beginning on the First Payment Date, except that any payments that
would otherwise have been made before the First Payment Date shall be made on the First Payment Date.

(iii) Continued Benefits. For the period beginning on the Date of Termination and extending through the earlier of either (A) six (6) months
from the Date of Termination, or (B) the first day of Executive’s eligibility to participate in a comparable group health plan maintained by a subsequent
employer, the Corporation shall pay COBRA Coverage for Executive and Executive’s dependents.
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(d) Release. As a condition to Executive’s receipt of any benefits described in this Section 3 (other than in Section 3(a)), Executive shall be required
to execute a Release within fifty (50) days following the Date of Termination and not revoke such Release within any period permitted under applicable law.
Such Release shall specifically relate to all of Executive’s rights and claims in existence at the time of such execution but shall exclude any continuing
obligations the Corporation may have to Executive following the date of termination under this Agreement or any other agreement providing for obligations to
survive Executive’s termination of employment.

4. Section 409A. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, if Executive is deemed by the Corporation at the time of his
Separation from Service to be a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, to the extent delayed commencement of any portion
of the benefits to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a prohibited distribution under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
Code, such portion of Executive’s benefits shall not be provided to Executive prior to the earlier of (a) the expiration of the six-month period measured from the
date of Executive’s Separation from Service or (b) the date of Executive’s death. Upon the first business day following the expiration of the applicable Code
Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) period, all payments deferred pursuant to this Section 4 shall be paid in a lump sum to Executive, and any remaining payments due
under the Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code (including, without limitation, for purposes of
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii)), Executive’s right to receive any installment payments payable hereunder shall be treated as a right to receive
a series of separate payments and, accordingly, each such installment payment shall at all times be considered a separate and distinct payment.

5. Excise Tax Limitation.

(a) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the benefits provided by this Agreement, together with
all other payments and the value of any benefits received or to be received by Executive (“ Payments”), constitute “parachute payments” within the meaning of
Section 280G of the Code, and, but for this Section 5, would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “ Excise Tax”), then the
Payments shall be made to Executive either (i) in full or (ii) as to such lesser amount as would result in no portion of the Payments being subject to the Excise
Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the receipt by
Executive on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of benefits, notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payments may be subject to the Excise Tax.
The Corporation shall reduce or eliminate the Payments by first reducing or eliminating cash payments and then by reducing those payments or benefits
which are not payable in cash, in each case in reverse order beginning with payments or benefits which are to be paid the farthest in time from the
Determination (as hereinafter defined).

(b) Unless the Corporation and Executive otherwise agree in writing, an initial determination as to whether the Payments shall be reduced and the
amount of such reduction shall be made, at the Corporation’s expense, by the accounting firm that is the Corporation’s independent accounting firm as of the
date of the Change in Control (the “Accounting Firm”). The Accounting Firm shall provide its determination (the “ Determination”), together with
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detailed supporting calculations and documentation, to the Corporation and Executive within twenty (20) days of the Date of Termination if applicable, or
such other time as requested by the Corporation or by Executive (provided Executive reasonably believes that Executive will receive Payments which may be
subject to the Excise Tax), and if the Accounting Firm determines that there is substantial authority (within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code) that no
Excise Tax is payable by Executive with respect to a Payment or Payments, it shall furnish Executive with an opinion reasonably acceptable to Executive that
no Excise Tax will be imposed with respect to any such Payment or Payments. Within ten (10) days of the delivery of the Determination to Executive,
Executive shall have the right to dispute the Determination (the “ Dispute”). If there is no Dispute, the Determination shall be binding, final and conclusive
upon the Corporation and Executive.

(c) As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Sections 4999 and 280G of the Code, it is possible that the Payments to be made to, or
provided for the benefit of, Executive either will be greater (an “ Excess Payment”) or less (an “Underpayment”) than the amounts provided for by the limitation
contained in Section 5(a).

(i) If it is established pursuant to a final determination of a court or an Internal Revenue Service (the “ IRS”) proceeding which has been
finally and conclusively resolved that an Excess Payment has been made, such Excess Payment shall be deemed for all purposes to be a loan to Executive
made on the date Executive received the Excess Payment and Executive shall repay the Excess Payment to the Corporation on demand (but not less than ten
(10) days after written notice is received by Executive) together with interest on the Excess Payment at the “Applicable Federal Rate” (as defined in
Section 1274(d) of the Code) from the date of Executive’s receipt of such Excess Payment until the date of such repayment.

(ii) In the event that it is determined by (A) the Accounting Firm, the Corporation (which shall include the position taken by the
Corporation, or together with its consolidated group, on its federal income tax return) or the IRS, (B) pursuant to a determination by a court, or (C) upon the
resolution to Executive’s satisfaction of the Dispute that an Underpayment has occurred, the Corporation shall pay an amount equal to the Underpayment to
Executive within ten (10) days of such determination or resolution, together with interest on such amount at the Applicable Federal Rate from the date such
amount would have been paid to Executive until the date of payment.

6. Successors; Binding Agreement .

(a) The Corporation shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Corporation to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that the Corporation would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. Unless expressly provided otherwise, “Corporation” as used
herein shall mean the Corporation as defined in this Agreement and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Executive and Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors,
administrators,
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successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. If Executive should die while any amount would still be payable to Executive hereunder had Executive
continued to live, all such amounts, unless otherwise provided herein, shall be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement to Executive’s devisee,
legatee or other designee or, if there is no such designee, to Executive’s estate.

7. Miscellaneous.

(a) Modification or Amendment . No provision of this Agreement may be modified or amended unless such modification or amendment is agreed to
in writing and signed by Executive and an authorized officer of the Corporation as may be specifically designated by the Board or a committee thereof.

(b) Waiver. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of or compliance with, any condition or provision
of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or
subsequent time.

(c) Complete Agreement . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Executive and the Corporation and is the complete, final and
exclusive embodiment of their agreement with regard to this subject matter, and this Agreement shall supersede any prior or contemporaneous written or oral
agreements regarding this subject matter. No agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the subject matter hereof have
been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this Agreement.

(d) Non-Exclusivity of Rights . Notwithstanding Section 7(c), nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Executive’s continuing or future
participation in any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Corporation (except for any severance or termination policies, plans,
programs or practices) and for which Executive may qualify, nor shall anything herein limit or reduce such rights as Executive may have under any other
agreements with the Corporation (except for any severance, termination or other agreement regarding the subject matter of this Agreement). Amounts which are
vested benefits or which Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under any plan or program of the Corporation shall be payable in accordance with such plan
or program, except as explicitly modified by this Agreement.

(e) Governing Law. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
California without regard to its conflicts of law principles.

(f) Statutory References. All references to sections of the Exchange Act or the Code shall be deemed also to refer to any successor provisions to
such sections.

(g) Tax Withholding. Any payments provided for hereunder shall be paid net of any applicable withholding required under federal, state or local
law.

(h) Section Headings. The section headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience only, and shall not affect the interpretation of this
Agreement.
 

8



(i) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other
provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

(j) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument,

8. Arbitration. The parties hereby agree that any and all claims or controversies regarding this Agreement shall be resolved, to the fullest extent permitted
by law, by final, binding and confidential arbitration in Palo Alto, California conducted before a single arbitrator by Judicial Arbitration and Mediation
Services/Endispute (“JAMS”) or its successor, under the then applicable JAMS rules. By agreeing to this arbitration procedure, both parties waive the right to
resolve any such dispute through a trial by jury or judge or by administrative proceeding. The arbitrator shall: (a) have the authority to compel adequate
discovery for the resolution of the dispute and to award such relief as would otherwise be permitted by law; and (b) issue a written arbitration decision
including the arbitrator’s essential findings and conclusions and a statement of the award. The Corporation shall pay all of JAMS’ arbitration fees. Nothing in
this Agreement shall prevent either party from obtaining injunctive relief in court if necessary to prevent irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any
arbitration.

9. Fees and Expenses. In connection with a Covered Termination which occurs within twelve (12) months after a Change in Control, the Corporation
shall pay all reasonable legal fees and related expenses (including the costs of experts, evidence and counsel) incurred by Executive as they become due as a
result of (a) Executive seeking to obtain or enforce any right or benefit provided by this Agreement (including, but not limited to, any such fees and expenses
incurred in connection with the Dispute whether as a result of any applicable government taxing authority proceeding, audit or otherwise), and (b) Executive’s
hearing before the Board as contemplated in Section 1(b) of this Agreement. To the extent that any reimbursements payable to Executive pursuant to this
Section 9 are subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, such reimbursements shall be paid to Executive no later than December 31 of the year
following the year in which the cost was incurred, the amount of expenses reimbursed in one year shall not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement in any
subsequent year, and Executive’s right to reimbursement under this Section 9 will not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

10. Settlement of Claims. The Corporation’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any circumstances, including, without limitation, any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which the
Corporation may have against Executive or others.

11. At-Will Employment. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall (a) confer upon Executive any right to continue in the employ of the Corporation,
(b) constitute any contract or agreement of employment, or (c) interfere in any way with the at-will nature of Executive’s employment with the Corporation.
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12. Miscellaneous. The Corporation shall not be required to fund or otherwise segregate assets to be used for the payment of any benefits under this
Agreement. The Corporation shall make such payments only out of its general corporate funds, and therefore its obligation to make such payments shall be
subject to any claims of its other creditors having priority as to its assets.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.
 

EXECUTIVE

 1/12/2013
Robert O. Cathcart

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.

By:  Bruce J Barclay
 President and CEO
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Exhibit 10.46

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC.

SECOND AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO OFFICE LEASE, (the “ Second Amendment”) is made and entered into as of December 18, 2013 by and between
BXP RESEARCH PARK LP, a Delaware limited partnership, formerly known as BXP RESEARCH PARK LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and
successor-in-interest to MTV RESEARCH, LLC, a Delaware liability company (“ Landlord”), and HANSEN MEDICAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (
“Tenant”).

R E C I T A L S:
 
A. Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Office Lease dated July 18, 2007, and as amended by that First Amendment to Office Lease dated

June 27, 2008 (collectively, the “Original Lease”), whereby Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases from Landlord approximately 63,131 rentable
square feet of office space (the “Premises”), located at 800 East Middlefield Road in Mountain View, California 94043 (the “ Building”), which Building
is owned by Landlord.

 

B. Landlord and Tenant desire to (i) extend the term of the Original Lease for the Premises for a period of five (5) years and (ii) make certain other
modifications to the Original Lease, and in connection therewith Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Original Lease on the terms and conditions
contained herein.

A G R E E M E N T:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.

1. Defined Terms. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as is given such terms in the Original Lease. From
and after the date hereof, all references in the Original Lease and herein to the “Lease” shall mean and refer to the Original Lease as amended hereby.

2. Extended Term. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that the Lease Term for the Premises is scheduled to expire on November 30, 2014 (the
“Scheduled Expiration Date”) pursuant to the terms of the Original Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Lease, the term of Tenant’s lease
of the Premises shall expire on November 30, 2020 (the “ Extended Term Expiration Date”), unless sooner terminated in the Lease. The period of time
commencing on December 1, 2014 (the “ Extended Term Commencement Date”) and terminating on the Extended Term Expiration Date shall be referred to
as the “Extended Term.” Effective upon the Extended Term Commencement Date, all references in the Lease to the “Lease Term” shall mean and refer to the
Extended Term, and all references to the “Lease Expiration Date” shall mean and refer to the “Extended Term Expiration Date.”
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3. Base Rent.

3.1 Base Rent. Commencing on the Extended Term Commencement Date, and continuing throughout the Extended Term, Tenant shall pay Base
Rent for the Premises in accordance with the following schedule:
 

Period During Extended Term   Annual Base Rent   
Monthly Installment of

Base Rent  
December 1, 2014 – November 30, 2015   $ 2,083,323.00    $ 173,610.25  
December 1, 2015 – November 30, 2016   $2,145,822.69    $ 178,818.56  
December 1, 2016 – November 30, 2017   $ 2,210,197.37    $ 184,183.11  
December 1, 2017 – November 30, 2018   $ 2,276,503.29    $ 189,708.61  
December 1, 2018 – November 30, 2019   $ 2,344,798.39    $ 195,399.87  

3.2 Abated Base Rent. Provided that Tenant is not then in default of the Lease, then during the last two (2) full calendar months of the Extended
Term (the “Rent Abatement Period”), Tenant shall not be obligated to pay any Base Rent otherwise attributable to the Premises during such Rent Abatement
Period (the “Rent Abatement”). Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that the aggregate amount of the Rent Abatement equals Three Hundred Ninety Thousand
Seven Hundred Ninety-Nine and 74/100 Dollars ($390,799.74). Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the foregoing Rent Abatement has been granted to
Tenant as additional consideration for entering into this Second Amendment, and for agreeing to pay the rental and performing the terms and conditions
otherwise required under the Lease. If Tenant shall be in default under the Lease during the Rent Abatement Period and shall fail to cure such default within the
notice and cure period, if any, permitted for cure pursuant to the Lease, then the Rent Abatement as of the date of such default shall terminate effective
immediately and Tenant shall immediately be obligated to recommence paying Base Rent for the Premises in full and Tenant shall have no further right to any
Rent Abatement hereunder.

4. Option to Renew.  Article 50 of the Original Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

50. Option Term.

50.1 Option Right. Landlord hereby grants to the originally named Tenant herein (“ Original Tenant”) one (1) option to extend the Lease Term for
a period of five (5) years (the “Option Term”), which option shall be irrevocably exercised only by written notice delivered by Tenant to Landlord by
March 1, 2019, provided that the following conditions (the “ Option Conditions”) are satisfied: (i) as of the date of delivery of such notice, Tenant is not in
default under this Lease; (ii) as of the end of the Lease Term, Tenant is not in default under this Lease; (iii) Tenant has not previously been in monetary or
material non-monetary default under
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this Lease more than once; and (iv) the Lease then remains in full force and effect and Original Tenant occupies the entire Premises at the time the option to
extend is exercised and as of the commencement of the Option Term. Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, exercised in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion,
waive any of the Option Conditions in which case the option, if otherwise properly exercised by Tenant, shall remain in full force and effect. Upon the proper
exercise of such option to extend, and provided that Tenant satisfies all of the Option Conditions (except those, if any, which are waived by Landlord), the
Lease Term, as it applies to the Premises, shall be extended for a period of five (5) years. The rights contained in this Section 50.1 shall be personal to
Original Tenant and any Approved Assignee (as defined in Article 34) and may be exercised by Original Tenant or an Approved Assignee only.

50.2 Option Rent. The annual Rent payable by Tenant during the Option Term (the “Option Rent”) shall be equal to the “Fair Rental Value,” as
that term is defined below, for the Premises as of the commencement date of the Option Term. The “ Fair Rental Value,” as used in this Lease, shall be equal
to the annual rent per rentable square foot (including additional rent and considering any “base year” or “expense stop” applicable thereto), including all
escalations, at which tenants (pursuant to leases consummated within the twelve (12) month period preceding the first day of the Option Term), are leasing
non-sublease, non-encumbered, non-equity space which is not significantly greater or smaller in size than the subject space, for a comparable lease term, in an
arm’s length transaction, which comparable space is located in the “Comparable Buildings,” as that term is defined in this Section 50.2, below (transactions
satisfying the foregoing criteria shall be known as the “ Comparable Transactions”), taking into consideration the following concessions (the
“Concessions”): (a) rental abatement concessions, if any, being granted such tenants in connection with such comparable space; (b) tenant improvements or
allowances provided or to be provided for such comparable space, and taking into account the value, if any, of the existing improvements in the subject space,
such value to be based upon the age, condition, design, quality of finishes and layout of the improvements and the extent to which the same can be utilized by
a general office user other than Tenant; and (c) other reasonable monetary concessions being granted such tenants in connection with such comparable space;
provided, however, that in calculating the Fair Rental Value, no consideration shall be given to (i) the fact that Landlord is or is not required to pay a real estate
brokerage commission in connection with Tenant’s exercise of its right to extend the Lease Term, or the fact that landlords are or are not paying real estate
brokerage commissions in connection with such comparable space, and (ii) any period of rental abatement, if any, granted to tenants in comparable
transactions in connection with the design, permitting and construction of tenant improvements in such comparable spaces. The Fair Rental Value shall
additionally include a determination as to whether, and if so to what extent, Tenant must provide Landlord with financial security, such as a letter of credit or
guaranty, for Tenant’s Rent obligations in connection with Tenant’s lease of the Premises during the Option Term. Such determination shall be made by
reviewing the extent of financial security then generally being imposed in Comparable Transactions from tenants of comparable financial condition and credit
history to the then existing financial condition and credit history of Tenant (with appropriate adjustments to account for differences in the then-existing
financial condition of Tenant and such other tenants). The Concessions (A) shall be reflected in the effective rental rate (which effective rental rate shall take
into consideration the total dollar value of such Concessions as amortized on a
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straight-line basis over the applicable term of the Comparable Transaction (in which case such Concessions evidenced in the effective rental rate shall not be
granted to Tenant)) payable by Tenant, or (B) at Landlord’s election, all such Concessions shall be granted to Tenant in kind. The term “Comparable
Buildings” shall mean the buildings in the Project and other office and research and development buildings which are located within a 5 mile radius (the
“Comparable Area”).

50.3 Determination of Option Rent . In the event Tenant timely and appropriately exercises an option to extend the Lease Term, Landlord shall
notify Tenant of Landlord’s determination of the Option Rent on or before the date that is six (6) months prior to the Lease Expiration Date. If Tenant, on or
before the date which is thirty (30) days following the date upon which Tenant receives Landlord’s determination of the Option Rent, in good faith objects to
Landlord’s determination of the Option Rent, then Landlord and Tenant shall attempt to agree upon the Option Rent using their best good-faith efforts. If
Landlord and Tenant fail to reach agreement within thirty (30) days following Tenant’s objection to the Option Rent (the “ Outside Agreement Date”), then
each party shall make a separate determination of the Option Rent, as the case may be, within five (5) days, and such determinations shall be submitted to
arbitration in accordance with Sections 50.3.1 through 50.3.8, below.

50.3.1 Landlord and Tenant shall each appoint one arbitrator who shall be, at the option of the appointing party, a real estate broker,
appraiser or attorney who shall have been active over the five (5) year period ending on the date of such appointment in the leasing or appraisal, as the case
may be, of commercial properties in the Comparable Area. The determination of the arbitrators shall be limited solely to the issue of whether Landlord’s or
Tenant’s submitted Option Rent is the closest to the actual Option Rent, taking into account the requirements of Section 50.2 of this Lease, as determined by
the arbitrators. Each such arbitrator shall be appointed within fifteen (15) days after the Outside Agreement Date. Landlord and Tenant may consult with their
selected arbitrators prior to appointment and may select an arbitrator who is favorable to their respective positions. The arbitrators so selected by Landlord and
Tenant shall be deemed “Advocate Arbitrators .”

50.3.2 The two (2) Advocate Arbitrators so appointed shall be specifically required pursuant to an engagement letter within ten (10) days
of the date of the appointment of the last appointed Advocate Arbitrator to agree upon and appoint a third arbitrator (“ Neutral Arbitrator”) who shall be
qualified under the same criteria set forth hereinabove for qualification of the two Advocate Arbitrators, except that neither the Landlord or Tenant or either
parties’ Advocate Arbitrator may, directly or indirectly, consult with the Neutral Arbitrator prior or subsequent to his or her appearance. The Neutral Arbitrator
shall be retained via an engagement letter jointly prepared by Landlord’s counsel and Tenant’s counsel.

50.3.3 The three arbitrators shall, within thirty (30) days of the appointment of the Neutral Arbitrator, reach a decision as to whether the
parties shall use Landlord’s or Tenant’s submitted Option Rent, and shall notify Landlord and Tenant thereof.

50.3.4 The decision of the majority of the three arbitrators shall be binding upon Landlord and Tenant.
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50.3.5 If either Landlord or Tenant fails to appoint an Advocate Arbitrator within fifteen (15) days after the Outside Agreement Date, then
either party may petition the presiding judge of the Superior Court of Santa Clara County to appoint such Advocate Arbitrator subject to the criteria in
Section 50.3.1 of this Lease, or if he or she refuses to act, either party may petition any judge having jurisdiction over the parties to appoint such Advocate
Arbitrator.

50.3.6 If the two (2) Advocate Arbitrators fail to agree upon and appoint the Neutral Arbitrator, then either party may petition the presiding
judge of the Superior Court of Santa Clara County to appoint the Neutral Arbitrator, subject to criteria in Section 50.3.2 of this Lease, or if he or she refuses to
act, either party may petition any judge having jurisdiction over the parties to appoint such arbitrator.

50.3.7 The cost of the arbitration shall be paid by Landlord and Tenant equally.

50.3.8 In the event that the Option Rent shall not have been determined pursuant to the terms hereof prior to the commencement of the
Option Term, Tenant shall be required to pay the Option Rent initially provided by Landlord to Tenant, and upon the final determination of the Option Rent,
the payments made by Tenant shall be reconciled with the actual amounts of Option Rent due, and the appropriate party shall make any corresponding
payment to the other party.

5. Possession of Premises; Renovations .

(a) Possession of Premises. Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that it is currently in possession of the Premises, and that Landlord has no
obligation to alter, modify, remodel or otherwise improve the Premises, it being agreed between Landlord and Tenant that Tenant shall accept the Premises in its
current “AS-IS “WHERE-IS” condition, without representation or warranty from Landlord other than already provided in the Original Lease.

(b) Tenant’s Intended Renovations; Landlord’s Contribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord acknowledges that Tenant intends to refurbish
the Premises, including, without limitation, modifications of interior improvements (collectively, “ Tenant’s Intended Renovations”). Tenant acknowledges
that Tenant’s Intended Renovations shall be subject to Landlord’s approval and all requirements contained in the Lease, including without limitation, Article
12 of the Original Lease, and shall be at Tenant’s sole cost and expense; provided, however, that Landlord shall, as an improvement contribution (
“Landlord’s Contribution”), provide up to a maximum amount of One Hundred Eight Nine Thousand Three Hundred Ninety-Three and No/100 Dollars
($189,393.00) or Three Dollars and No/100 Dollars ($3.00) per rentable square foot of the Premises (the “ Renovation Allowance Maximum Amount ”).
Landlord’s Contribution shall be payable only upon satisfaction of all of the following conditions precedent: (i) the satisfactory completion of Tenant’s
Intended Renovations, (ii) Tenant’s submission to Landlord of California statutory forms of unconditional waiver and release of lien upon final payment
executed by, as applicable, the general contractor, all subcontractors performing any portion of Tenant’s Intended Renovations and all suppliers or materialmen
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supplying any materials for Tenant’s Intended Renovations and (iii) proof of Tenant’s payment of all costs incurred in connection with Tenant’s Intended
Renovation. Landlord’s Contribution shall be used only for costs relating to permanent improvements to the Premises (collectively, “ Allowable Costs”),
excluding the cost of furniture, fixtures and equipment installed in the Premises by Tenant. Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that it will complete
Tenant’s Intended Renovations not later than twelve (12) months after the Extended Term Commencement Date. In the event that the Tenant Improvement
Allowance is not fully disbursed by Landlord to, or on behalf of, Tenant on or before the date that is twelve (12) months after the Extended Term
Commencement Date, then such unused amounts shall revert to Landlord, and Tenant shall have no further rights with respect thereto. Upon request by
Tenant at the time of Tenant’s request for Landlord’s consent to any Tenant’s Intended Renovations, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether the applicable
Tenant’s Intended Renovation will be required to be removed in accordance with Article 12 of the Lease.

6. Disclosure.  Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Landlord hereby notifies Tenant that as of the date of this Second Amendment, the
Premises has not undergone inspection by a “Certified Access Specialist” to determine whether the Premises meet all applicable construction-related
accessibility standards under California Civil Code Section 55.53.

7. Brokers. Landlord and Tenant hereby warrant to each other that they have had no dealings with any real estate broker or agent other than Jones Lang
LaSalle (“Tenant’s Broker”) or Cassidy Turley Northern California (“Landlord’s Broker”) (collectively, “Brokers”) in connection with the negotiation of
this Second Amendment and that they know of no real estate broker or agent, other than Brokers, who are entitled to a commission in connection with this
Second Amendment. Each party agrees to indemnify and defend the other party against and hold the other party harmless from any and all claims, demands,
losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) with respect to any leasing
commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings with any real estate broker or agent, other than Brokers, occurring by,
through, or under the indemnifying party. The terms of this Paragraph 7 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Second Amendment.

9. No Further Modification. Except as specifically set forth in this Second Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Lease shall remain
unmodified and in full force and effect. In the event of any conflict between the terms and conditions of the Lease, and the terms and conditions of this Second
Amendment, the terms and conditions of this Second Amendment shall prevail.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Second Amendment has been executed as of the day and year first above written.
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TENANT:

HANSEN MEDICAL, INC., a Delaware corporation

BY: 

 Name:  Bruce J Barclay

 Its:  CEO

BY: 

 Name:  Peter J. Mariani

 Its:  CFO

 

LANDLORD:

BXP RESEARCH PARK LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

BY: BOSTON PROPERTIES
 LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

 
a Delaware limited partnership,
its manager

 

BY:

 

BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.,
a Delaware corporation,
its general partner

  BY: 
     Name:  Bob Pester
     Title:  Senior Vice President and Regional Manager



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries

AorTx, Inc. (Delaware)
ECL7, LLC (Delaware)
Hansen Medical Deutschland, GmbH (Germany)
Hansen Medical International, Inc. (Delaware)
Hansen Medical UK Ltd. (United Kingdom)



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-192216, 333-192218, 333-180547 and 333-178930 on Form S-3 and
Registration Statement Nos. 333-187342, 333-159088, 333-168671, 333-172848, 333-178931, 333-150606, 333-143320 and 333-138969 on Form S-8, of
our reports dated March 13, 2014, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Hansen Medical, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), and the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
San Francisco, California
March 13, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Christopher P. Lowe certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Hansen Medical, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

March 13, 2014
 
/s/ CHRISTOPHER P. LOWE
Interim Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter J. Mariani, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Hansen Medical, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

March 13, 2014
 
/s/ PETER J. MARIANI
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Christopher P. Lowe, in his capacity as Interim Chief Executive Officer of Hansen
Medical, Inc., hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

(i) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the
“Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

(ii) that the information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of Hansen
Medical, Inc.

March 13, 2014
 

/S/  CHRISTOPHER P. LOWE        
Interim Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

This certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Hansen Medical, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (whether
made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Peter J. Mariani, in his capacity as Chief Financial Officer of Hansen Medical, Inc.,
hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge;

(i) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.2 (the
“Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

(ii) that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of Hansen
Medical, Inc.

March 13, 2014
 

/S/  PETER J. MARIANI         
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

This certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Hansen Medical, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (whether
made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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